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EXPLANATORY NOTE ON THE CONTENT OF THIS DOCUMENT

This Share Registration Document (SRD) has been drawn up in accordance with the terms of Annex I
of Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 and should be read in conjunction with the cross references contained
in this SRD to the following reports:

— Audit report and consolidated financial statements for 2016.

— Directors' Report for 2016.

— Annual corporate governance report for 2016.

— Balance sheet and income statement of Banco Santander, S.A. for 2016.
— Annual directors' remuneration report for 2016.

Attached to this SRD are copies of all the aforementioned documents, which can also be found on the
Group's website: www.santander.com. This SRD also includes various direct links to referenced
information contained in the aforementioned documents.

The following documents are incorporated by reference (not as enclosed documents) and can be found
on the Group's website (www.santander.com), and on the website of the CNMV (www.cnmv.es). Links
to these documents are as follows:

— Audit report and consolidated financial statements for 2015.

— Audit report and consolidated financial statements for 2014.
— Directors' Report for 2015.
— Directors' Report for 2014.

— Additional information in response to CNMYV requirements in relation to the 2015 and 2014
financial statements.

— Additional information in response to CNMV requirements in relation to the annual corporate
governance report for 2015.

— Material fact containing earnings estimates at 30 June 2017
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RISK FACTORS

Banco Santander, S.A. declares that the instructions and recommendations received, where
appropriate, from the prudential supervisors -European Central Bank and Banco de Espafia- and which
may have some impact on the financial statements and risks described below, have been taken into
account in the preparation of the information contained in this Registration Document.

If any of the described risks materialises, the business, results and financial position of the Bank or
of any of the entities in the company group of which the Bank is the parent may be adversely and
materially affected. Likewise, it is to be noted that those risks may have an adverse effect on the Bank's
share price, which may lead to a loss of all or part of the investment made.

These risks are not the only risks which the Bank may face. In future there might materialise other
risks that are currently unknown or not regarded as significant. For the purposes of the risk factors
described below, all references to the Bank are to be construed as also encompassing all companies
within the Group.

1. Macroeconomic and political risks

1.1. The growth, asset quality and profitability of the Group may be adversely affected by volatile
macroeconomic and political environments.

The Group’s loan portfolio is mainly concentrated in Continental Europe (in particular, Spain), the
United Kingdom, Latin America and the United States. At 31 December 2016, Continental Europe
accounted for 38% of the total loan portfolio of the Group (Spain accounted for 19%), while the United
Kingdom (primarily residential mortgages) for 32%, Latin America for 19% (where Brazil represents
10% of the total loan portfolio) and the United States for 11%. Accordingly, the recoverability of these
loans and the Group's ability to increase its lending portfolio, operating income and overall financial
situation, depend to a significant extent on the level of economic activity in Continental Europe
(particularly Spain), the United Kingdom, Latin America and the United States. The Group is also
exposed to sovereign debt in these areas (for more information on risk relating to exposure to sovereign
debt in the eurozone, see risk factor 1.4. and information on the Group's exposure to sovereign debt in
notes 51.d) and 54.c) 4.4 to the financial statements). If the economies of Continental Europe (especially
Spain), the UK, and some of the Latin American countries where the Group operates, or the United
States, were to fall back into recession, or if the recession in Brazil is prolonged, this is likely to have a
significant adverse impact on the Group's loan portfolio, and consequently, on its financial position,
cash flows and operating income.

Group income is also subject to the risk of losses stemming from unfavourable political situations,
social instability and changes in governmental policies, including expropriation, nationalisation,
international ownership legislation, interest-rate caps and tax policies.

The economies of some of the countries where the Group operates have been affected in the past
twelve months by a series of political events, including the result of the UK EU membership referendum
in June 2016, which caused a large amount of volatility (see risk factor 1.2.) and has given rise to
increasing anti-EU sentiment and populist movements in other EU member states. There can be no
assurance that the European and global economic environments will not continue to be affected by
political developments.

The economies of some of the countries where the Group operates, particularly in Latin America,
have experienced significant volatility in recent decades. This volatility has led to fluctuations in the
levels of deposits and undermined the relative economic strength of the different segments to which the
Group lends. In addition, some of these countries are affected by commodities price fluctuations, which
in turn may affect financial market conditions through exchange rate fluctuations and volatile interest
rates and deposits. Negative and volatile economic conditions, such as slowing or negative growth and
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a changing interest rate environment, impact Group profitability by causing lending margins to decrease
and credit quality to decline and lead to falling demand for higher margin products and services. For
instance, Brazil has high inflation rates and high (and rising) interest rates, lower consumer spending
and climbing unemployment, which is having, and may continue to have, a significant adverse impact
on the country's economy, and consequently on the Group's financial situation and revenue in Brazil. At
31 December 2016, Brazil contributed 22% of the profit attributable to the parent from all operating
areas and 10% of total loans to customers. Likewise, the business in Brazil will continue to be adversely
affected by recessionary conditions and political instability.

There is uncertainty over the long-term effects of the monetary and fiscal policies that have been
adopted by the central banks and financial authorities of some of the world’s leading economies,
including China. Furthermore, financial turmoil in emerging markets tends to adversely affect share
prices and the price of debt in other emerging markets as investors move their money to more stable and
developed markets. Continued or increased perceived risks associated with investing in emerging
economies in general, or the emerging market economies where the Group operates in particular, could
further dampen capital flows into these economies and negatively affect them, which in turn may have
an adverse impact Group’s businesses, financial situation and income statement.

The recent fall and subsequent fluctuation in oil prices could lead to volatility in the global financial
markets and further economic instability in oil-dependent regions, including emerging markets, to which
the Group is exposed. In addition, customers in, or exposed to, the oil sector may be affected by these
price fluctuations.

Additionally, the results of the 2016 United States presidential and congressional elections
triggered volatility in the global capital and currency markets and have created uncertainty about the
relationship between the United States and Mexico and, to a lesser extent, other Latin American
countries in which the Group has operations. Any continued volatility in the Mexican peso or any
material change to United States trade and immigration policy with respect to Mexico or other Latin
American countries could have a significant adverse impact on the economies of those countries and
materially impact the Group's businesses, financial situation and income statement. At 31 December
2016, Santander Mexico accounted for 5% of total Group assets and 8% of attributable profit from
operating areas.

1.2. Political events unfolding in the UK, including the negotiations for the country's exit from
the European Union, could have a material adverse impact on the Group.

On 23 June 2016, the United Kingdom held a non-binding referendum on its membership in the
European Union, in which a majority voted for the UK to leave the EU. Immediately following the result
of such referendum, the UK and global stock and foreign exchange markets became highly volatile, and
pound sterling devalued sharply, in addition to which there is now continuing uncertainty relating to the
process, timing and negotiation of the UK’s exit from, and future relationship with, the EU.

On 29 March 2017, the UK gave notice under Article 50(2) of the Treaty on European Union of the
UK’s intention to withdraw from the EU. This has triggered a two-year period of negotiation which will
determine the new terms of the UK’s relationship with the EU. After this period, the UK will cease to
belong to the EU. These negotiations are expected to run in parallel to standalone bilateral negotiations
with the numerous individual countries and multilateral counterparties with which the UK currently has
trading arrangements by virtue of its membership of the EU. The timing of, and process for, these
negotiations and the resulting terms of the UK’s future economic, trading and legal relationships are
uncertain.

While the longer term effects of the UK EU membership referendum are difficult to predict, these
are likely to include further financial instability and slower economic growth as well as higher
unemployment and inflation, in the UK, continental Europe and the global economy, at least in the short

Banco Santander, S.A.
Share Registration Document, 4 July 2017 9/152



to medium term. For instance, the UK could lose access to the single EU market and to the global trade
deals negotiated by the EU on behalf of its members and this could affect the attractiveness of the UK
as a global investment centre and, as a result, have a detrimental impact on growth. Potential further
decreases in interest rates by the Bank of England or sustained low or negative interest rates would put
further pressure on Group's financial margins and adversely affect its profitability and outlook.

The UK EU membership referendum has also given rise to calls for certain UK regions to preserve
their place in the EU by separating from the UK, as well as the potential for other EU Member States to
consider withdrawal. For example, the outcome of the UK EU membership referendum was not
supported by the majority of voters in Scotland, who voted in favour of remaining in the EU. This has
revived the political debate on a second referendum on Scottish independence. These developments, or
the perception that any of them could occur, may have a material adverse effect on economic conditions
and the stability of the financial markets, and could significantly reduce market liquidity and restrict the
ability of key participants to operate in certain financial markets.

Asset valuations, currency exchange rates and credit ratings may be particularly subject to increased
market volatility. The major credit rating agencies have downgraded the UK’s sovereign credit rating
and changed their outlook to negative following the referendum. In addition, S&P Global Ratings and
Moody’s Investors Service affirmed their long-term credit ratings and changed their ratings outlooks for
the operating companies of most major UK banks to reflect the medium term impact of political and
market uncertainty (see risk factor 2.3.2 for more information).

This Group is also subject to substantial EU-derived regulation and oversight. There is now
significant uncertainty as to the respective legal and regulatory environments in which the UK
subsidiaries will operate when the UK is no longer a member of the EU, causing potentially divergent
national laws and regulations across Europe should EU laws be replaced, in whole or in part, by UK
laws on the same (or substantially similar) issues. The UK subsidiaries are in the process of
implementing a key restructuring strategy consisting in the ring-fencing of their retail banking activities,
which is being carried out throughout this period of significant uncertainty. This may impact the
prospects for successful execution. Operationally, the Group's UK subsidiaries and other financial
institutions may no longer be able to rely on the European passporting framework for financial services
and could be required to apply for authorisation in multiple EU jurisdictions, the costs, timing and
viability of which are uncertain. This uncertainty, and any actions taken as a result of this uncertainty,
as well as new or amended rules, may have a significant impact on Group operations, profitability and
businesses. In addition, the lack of clarity of the impact of the UK EU membership referendum on
foreign nationals’ long term residency rights in the UK may make it challenging for subsidiaries to retain
and recruit adequate staff in that country, which could have adverse impact on their business activities.

The political developments in the UK described above, along with any further changes in
government structure and policies, may lead to further market volatility and changes to the Group's
fiscal, monetary and regulatory landscape and could have a negative effect on the availability and terms
of funding, and, more generally, on the Group's business activities, financial position and operations.

At 31 December 2016, Santander UK accounted for 27% of total Group assets and 21% of
attributable profit from operating areas.

1.3. The Group is vulnerable to disruptions and volatility in the global financial markets.

In the past nine years, financial systems worldwide have experienced difficult credit and liquidity
conditions and disruptions leading to less liquidity and greater volatility (such as volatility in interest rate
spreads). Global economic conditions deteriorated significantly between 2007 and 2009, and several of
the countries in which the Group operates fell into recession. Although most countries have begun to
recover, this recovery may not be sustainable. Many major financial institutions, including some of the
world’s largest global commercial banks, investment banks, mortgage market participants and insurance
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companies experienced, and some continue to experience, significant difficulties. There have been runs
on deposits at several financial institutions around the world, numerous entities have sought additional
capital or have been bailed out by governments, and many lenders and institutional investors have reduced
or ceased providing funding to borrowers (including to other financial institutions).

In particular, some of the risks faced by the Group in relation to the economic downturn are:

* Reduced demand for its products and services.

* Increased regulation of its industry. Compliance with regulations will continue to increase costs
and may affect the pricing of products and services, increase the risk of non-compliance with
regulations and limit its ability to pursue business opportunities.

» Borrowers may fail to timely or fully comply with their existing obligations. Macroeconomic
shocks may negatively impact the household income of the Group's retail customers and may
adversely affect the recoverability of its retail loans, resulting in increased non-performing loans
rate.

* The process used to estimate losses related to credit exposure requires complex judgments,
including forecasts of economic conditions and how these economic conditions might impair the
ability of borrowers to repay their loans. The degree of uncertainty concerning economic
conditions may adversely affect the accuracy of these estimates, which may, in turn, impact the
reliability of the process and the sufficiency of loan loss allowances.

* The value and liquidity of the Group's portfolio of investment securities may be adversely
affected.

* Any worsening of global economic conditions may delay the recovery of the international
financial industry and impact the Group's results of operations and financial situation.

Despite recent improvements in certain segments of the global economy, uncertainty persists over
the future economic environment. This economic uncertainty could have a negative impact on the
Group's business activities and operating income. A slowing or failing of the economic recovery would
be likely to aggravate the adverse effects of these difficult economic and market conditions for the Group
and other financial institutions.

Increased volatility in the global financial markets could materially and adversely affect the Group,
including the Group's ability to access capital and liquidity on acceptable financial terms. If capital
market funding ceases to become available, or becomes excessively expensive, the Group may be forced
to raise the rates paid on deposits to attract more customers, which could ultimately make it unable to
meet certain of its commitments upon maturity. Any such increase in funding costs or in the difficulty
in accessing the capital markets, or higher deposit rates could have a material adverse effect on net
interest income and liquidity.

If all or some of the foregoing risks were to materialise, this could have a significant adverse effect
on the Group's funding capacity and terms, and more generally, on its businesses, financial situation and
income statement.

1.4. The Group could suffer adverse effects as a result of economic and sovereign debt tensions
in the eurozone.

Conditions in the capital markets and the economy generally in the eurozone continue to show
signs of fragility and volatility, with political tensions in Europe being particularly heightened in the
past twelve months. In addition, interest rate spreads among eurozone countries are affecting
government funding and borrowing rates in those economies. These factors could have an adverse effect
on the Group’s businesses, financial situation and income statement.
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The UK EU membership referendum caused significant volatility in the global stock and foreign
exchange markets. It has also encouraged anti-EU and populist parties in other member states, raising
the potential for other countries to seek to conduct referenda with respect to their continuing membership
of the EU. On 16 December 2016, voters in Italy rejected constitutional reform proposals put forward
by the Italian Prime Minister by way of referendum (the Italian referendum), which was generally
regarded as portraying an anti-EU sentiment. Following the results of the UK EU referendum and the
Italian referendum, the risk of further instability in the eurozone cannot be excluded.

In the past, the European Central Bank (ECB) and European Council have taken actions with the
aim of reducing the risk of contagion in the eurozone and beyond and improving economic and financial
stability. Despite these measures, a significant number of European financial institutions are exposed to
sovereign debt issued by eurozone countries (and others) that could experience financial difficulties.
Any default on debt by any of these countries or a widening of interest rate spreads could have a negative
impact on the main European financial institutions and banking systems, which could have an adverse
effect on the general economy. Net direct exposure to sovereign debt stood at 127,930 million euros at
31 December 2016 (9.6% of the Bank's total balance at that date), of which the main exposures in Europe
corresponded to Spain and the UK, with 45,893 million euros and 17,639 million euros, respectively.
For more information, see notes 51.d) and 54.c) 4.4 to the financial statements. The higher exposure in
the UK in 2016 (from 5,163 million euros in 2015) is the result of the purchase of UK sovereign debt as
part of the management of the balance of the ALCO's activities (Asset-Liability Committee).

The Group is directly and indirectly exposed to the financial and economic conditions of the
eurozone economies. Concerns over sovereign debt defaults and a full or partial break-up of the
European Monetary Union, including the risk of redenomination, have grown significantly on the back
of the aforementioned political and economic factors. A deterioration of the economic and financial
environment could have a material adverse impact on the whole financial sector, creating new challenges
in sovereign and corporate lending, and resulting in significant disruptions in financial activities at both
wholesale and retail level.

This could materially and adversely affect the Group's businesses, financial situation and income
statement.

2. Risks relating to Group business
2.1.Risks deriving from the acquisition of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.

2.1.1. Banco Santander's acquisition of the entire share capital of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.
could give rise to all types of appeals or claims being filed that could have a significantly
adverse impact at Group level.

Banco Santander's acquisition of the entire share capital of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A. (“Banco
Popular Espafiol” or “Banco Popular”) took place through the execution of the resolution of the FROB
Steering Committee of 7 June 2017, adopting the measures required to implement the Decision of the
Single Resolution Board, in its Extended Executive Session of 7 June 2017, concerning the adoption of
the resolution scheme in respect of Banco Popular, in compliance with article 29 of Regulation (EU)
806/2014 of the European Parliament and Council of 15 July 2014, establishing uniform rules and a
uniform procedure for the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms in the framework
of a Single Resolution Mechanism and a Single Resolution Fund and amending Regulation (EU)
1093/2010 (the “FROB resolution”). For further information, see chapter 5.1.5.

Pursuant to the FROB resolution: (a) Banco Popular share capital outstanding prior to the date of
this decision were written down to create a non-distributable voluntary reserve; (b) a capital increase
was made without pre-emptive subscription rights to convert all the Additional Tier 1 capital instruments
into share capital; (c) share capital was reduced to zero through the write-down of the shares deriving
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from the conversion described in point (b) to create a non-distributable voluntary reserve; (d) a capital
increase without pre-emptive subscription was agreed to convert all the Tier 2 capital instruments into
newly issued Banco Popular shares; and (e) all the newly issued Banco Popular shares deriving from
the conversion described in point (d) were transferred to Banco Santander for a total price of one euro.

Since Banco Popular's declaration of resolution, the write-down and conversion of its capital
instruments, and the subsequent transfer to Banco Santander of the shares deriving from such conversion
as part of the execution of the resolution tool involving the sale of the entity's business -all of which was
made within the framework of the single resolution framework mentioned above-, have no precedent in
Spain or in any other EU member state, appeals against the FROB's decisions cannot be ruled out, or
claims against Banco Popular Espafiol, Banco Santander or other Santander Group entities as a result
of, or related to, the acquisition of Banco Popular. Since the acquisition of Banco Popular by Banco
Santander, several investors, counsels and financial operators have announced their intention to explore
and, in some cases, have confirmed, the interposition of claims of diverse nature relating to such
acquisition._Regarding these potential appeals and claims, it is impossible to foresee their specific terms,
or their financial implications (particularly when it is possible that the objectives of such claims may not
be quantified, or they may contain new legal interpretations or involve a large number of parties).
Estimates of these appeals or claims could affect the acquisition of Banco Popular, including the
payment of compensation or settlements, causing a significant adverse impact on the results and
financial situation of the Santander Group.

It is also possible that after the acquisition of Banco Popular Espafiol, that entity, its directors,
managers or employees and those of entities controlled by Banco Popular could be the subject of all types
of claims, including, but not limited to, claims relating to the acquisition by investors of Banco Popular
shares or capital instruments prior to the FROB Resolution (specifically, but also not limited to, shares
acquired in the context of the capital increase with pre-emptive subscription rights made in 2016), which
could have a negative impact on the Santander Group’'s results and financial situation. In this context, on
3 April 2017, Banco Popular submitted a material fact notice to the Comision Nacional del Mercado de
Valores (CNMV) detailing a series of corrections that its internal audit unit had identified in relation to
several figures in its financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016. The board of directors of
Banco Popular Espariol, as responsible for the aforementioned accounts, following a report from the audit
committee, considered that the factors identified did not, separately or as a whole, represent a significant
impact that would justify the restatement of the entity's financial statements at 31 December 2016.
Likewise, Banco Popular also announced that the auditors, assuming the correctness and accuracy of the
estimations of the directors, which were being reviewed by them, similarly considered that the factors did
not, separately or as a whole, represent a significant impact on the entity's financial statements at 31
December 2016. For such assessment, the auditors considered the accounting and auditing rules in force
in connection with a potential restatement of the annual accounts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Banco
Popular is exposed to possible claims relating to the points identified in the aforementioned significant
event notice or others of an analogous nature, which, if they were to materialise and be admitted, could
have a significant negative impact on the Santander Group's results and financial situation.

2.1.2. Banco Santander's acquisition of the entire share capital of Banco Popular Espafiol has
still to be approved by some administrative authorities. If these authorisations are not
obtained or if conditions are imposed, this could have a significant adverse impact for the
Group.

Given the urgency of the resolution process for Banco Popular Espafiol and, hence, the celerity at
which the FROB Resolution was implemented, and the entire share capital of Banco Popular was
transferred to Santander, with immediate effect, the Bank did not have the opportunity to obtain, prior to
the acquisition of Banco Popular, all of the regulatory authorisations or declarations of non-opposition that
would be required in normal circumstances and not waived by the resolution regulations, or was only able
to obtain provisional approval in order to take control of the group and is now expected to complete the
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process. The authorisations that Banco Santander still needs to obtain at the current date in relation to the
acquisition of Banco Popular are: (a) the European Commission's approval of the operation's compatibility
with the common market (on 7 June 2017 Banco Santander obtained a waiver from the European
Commission of the obligation of prior notification, subject to certain conditions including the appointment
of a monitoring trustee to ensure that Banco Santander restricts its actions with regard to Banco Popular
to those are strictly necessary to comply with regulatory and solvency requirements and that it does not
carry out the operational integration of Banco Popular with Banco Santander until the aforementioned
authorisation has been obtained from the EU); (b) authorisation from the European Central Bank to take
indirect control of Banco Popular Portugal, Popular Banca Privada, Banco Pastor and to acquire a
significant share in Wizink Bank; (c) authorisation from the European Central Bank to take indirect control
of the significant shareholdings that the Banco Popular Group holds in the non-EU credit institutions listed
below; (d) authorisation from the Federal Reserve Board and the State of Florida to take control of
Totalbank in the United States and other subsidiaries of Banco Popular in that country; (e) authorisation
from the Bank of Portugal to take indirect control of the investment fund manager firm, Popular Gestéo
de Activos; (f) authorisation from the Autoridade de Superviséo de Seguros e Fundos de Pensdes to take
indirect control of the insurance companies Eurovida and Popular Seguros; and (g) authorisation from the
Secretaria de Hacienda y Credito Publico, Comision Nacional Bancaria y de Valores de México and
Comision Federal de Competencia Econdmica de México) for the acquisition of a significant stake in
Banco Ve por Més, S.A. de C.V. and its subsidiaries.

It may also be possible that the regulatory authorities decide to apply fines or establish conditions or
restrictions on the Santander Group's business activities because of the inability to request the
aforementioned authorisations, for failing to obtain them or for a delay in their procurement, and if these
were to materialise, they could have a material adverse impact on the Group's results and financial
situation. Similarly, it cannot be guaranteed that the authorisations that have not yet been obtained will
be obtained, or will be obtained without conditions attached. Failure to obtain these authorisations, or
the conditions to which they may be subject, could have a material adverse impact on the Santander
Group's results and financial situation.

2.1.3. Banco Santander’s acquisition of the entire share capital of Banco Popular Espafiol could
fail to give rise to the expected results and profits and could expose the Group to
unforeseen risks.

Banco Santander decided to make an offer to acquire Banco Popular considering, on the basis of
public information available on Banco Popular and other information that it secured limited access to for
arestricted period of time, that the acquisition would create a series of synergies and benefits for the Group,
resulting from the implementation of business management and operational models that are more efficient
in terms of costs and income. Banco Santander may have overvalued these synergies, or they may fail to
materialise, which could have a material adverse effect on Santander Group. The risk analysis and
assessment made prior to the acquisition was predicated on the accuracy of the available public
information and remaining non-material information provided in the review process. Banco Santander did
not independently verify the accuracy and integrity of that information. The information provided by
Banco Popular to the market or the Bank could contain errors or omissions, and Banco Santander cannot
ensure that it is accurate and complete. Therefore, some of the estimates used by Banco Santander as the
basis of its decision of acquisition may be inaccurate, incomplete, incorrect or obsolete. Furthermore, given
the particular nature and urgency of the process through which Banco Santander acquired Banco Popular,
no representations or guarantees have been obtained in relation to Banco Popular's assets, liabilities and
business in general, other than those relating to the ownership of the shares acquired. These circumstances,
and the fact that the takeover is so recent, mean that at the date of filing of this document (which contains
information available to Banco Santander about Banco Popular is limited or has not been fully processed
or analysed. As a result, Banco Santander could encounter damaged or impaired assets, unknown risks or
hidden liabilities, or situations and details that have yet to emerge and that could result in material
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contingencies, or surpass the Group's current estimates. These situations are not covered or protected under
the terms and conditions of the acquisition of Banco Popular Espafiol, and hence, if they were to
materialise, they could have significant adverse impact on the Group's results and financial situation.

The integration of Banco Popular and its group companies into the Santander Group after the
acquisition could be difficult and complex, and the costs, profits and synergies arising from the operation
may not be in line with expectations. For instance, Banco Santander could face obstacles arising, among
others, from the need to integrate, or even incompatibilities between operating and administration
systems, control systems and risk management systems in the two banks, or the need to implement,
integrate and harmonise different procedures or operating systems relating to business and financial
systems, information and any other systems of both groups; as well as absorbing customer losses or
resolution of agreements with different counterparties and for different reasons, potentially giving rise
to additional costs or loss of income that are not expected or that may be higher than estimated. The
integration process may also lead to changes or redundancies, especially in the Santander Group's
business in Spain and Portugal, or additional or extraordinary costs or loss of income that make it
necessary to scale back businesses or resources. Any of these circumstances could have a material
adverse effect on the Santander Group's results and financial situation.

2.1.4. Theintegration of Banco Popular and its consequences could require a great deal of effort
from Banco Santander and its management team.

Banco Popular Espariol's integration into the Santander Group, and the circumstances and issues
described in section 2.1. Risks deriving from the acquisition of Banco Popular Espaiol, S.A., could
require the Bank's management and employees to dedicate a great deal of time and effort, which would
restrict its resources or prevent them from carrying out the Group's business activities, and this could
have a material adverse effect on the Santander Group's results and financial situation.

2.1.5. The capital increase described in the securities note approved by the CNMV at the same
date of this Share Registration Document could not be completed or may be incomplete.

Simultaneously with the announcement of the acquisition of Banco Popular Esparfiol, Banco
Santander announced its intention of carrying out a capital increase for the amount of approximately
7,072 million euros, to reinforce and optimise the Bank's equity structure so as suitably to accommodate
the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular. Although the capital increase is
underwritten, in determined circumstances the underwriting obligations of the underwriting entities may
not be required (see Section Il of the securities note approved by the CNMV on the same date as the
Share Registration Document, “The Underwriting Agreement between Banco Santander and the
Underwriting Entities stipulates that the aforementioned agreement can be cancelled under certain
circumstances. The underwriting commitment undertaken by the Underwriting Entities is also subject
to certain conditions precedent’”), which would also allow Banco Santander, in some circumstances, to
perform the capital increase without underwriting or not to perform it at all. If the capital increase were
not carried out, or were carried out without underwriting or for a lower amount than that estimated by
Banco Santander this could have a significant adverse impact on the Group's financial situation.

2.1.6. Banco Popular is involved in individual and collective actions in relation to floor clauses.
If the cost of these claims is higher than the provisions made, this could have a material
adverse impact on the Group's results and financial situation.

The so-called "floor clauses™ are clauses whereby the borrower agrees to pay a minimum interest rate
to the lender regardless of the applicable benchmark rate. Banco Popular Espafiol has included “floor
clauses” in certain asset transactions with customers. The position of Banco Popular in relation to these
clauses is as follows:

On 21 January 2016, Banco Popular was informed of the ruling handed down by the Supreme Court
dated 23 December 2015 in relation to the collective action filed by the consumer group, Organizacion
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de Consumidores y Usuarios (OCU). The ruling only considered the floor clauses employed by Banco
Popular Espaniol to be null and void and ordered that they should no longer be used. After receiving the
sentence, Banco Popular announced to the market that it would comply with the decision from the date
of the ruling and cancelled the floor clauses in its contracts.

In 2010, the Consumers' Association for Banks, Savings Banks and Insurance Companies
(ADICAE) filed a collective action before Commercial Court 11 of Madrid against practically all
financial entities that included limits on interest rate movements in their mortgage contracts, including
Banco Popular Espafiol and Banco Pastor. The action requested the termination of the floor clause and
the return of any amounts paid in relation thereto. The judgment of first instance (published on 7 April
2016): (i) declared that the floor clauses in mortgage loan contracts signed with customers identical to
those contained in the legal justification were null and void, due to a lack of transparency; (ii) ruled that
entities should eliminate these clauses from the contracts in which they were included and cease to use
them; (iii) declared that mortgage loan contracts signed by the banking entities containing floor clauses
that should be eliminated were to remain in force; and (iv) ruled that any amounts unduly charged in
application of the clauses declared null and void from 9 May 2013 onwards should be repaid, with the
corresponding interest. An appeal was filed against this ruling by both ADICAE (on the grounds that all
amounts charged by banking entities from the start of the contracts should be repaid, not just from 9
May 2013), and the financial entities (asking for the case to be dismissed or alternatively for the impact
to be reduced as far as possible, using various exclusion criteria). Banco Popular put forward the case
that the floor clauses included in its mortgage contracts were legal, non-abusive and transparent.

Individual lawsuits have also been filed and are currently being processed by different legal
authorities. Ruling both in favour and against the claimant have been handed down in the proceedings
that have been completed.

On 21 December 2016, the European Court of Justice declared as contrary to EU law the doctrine
established through the Ruling of the Supreme Court of 9 May 2013 by virtue of which the retroactive
application of declaring the floor clauses null and void was limited so that the amounts charged in
application of these clauses would only be repaid from 9 May 2013. Later, the Ruling handed down by
the Supreme Court of 24 February 2017, resolving a matching appeal filed by another entity, adapted its
jurisprudence in line with the Ruling of the European Court of Justice of 21 December 2016 and, in
particular, considered that the ruling of 9 May 2013, that related to a collective action, had no res
iudicata effect with respect to individual suits filed by consumers in this regard.

These legal rulings and the social impact of the floor clauses led the Spanish government to
establish, through Royal Decree-Law 1/2017, of 20 January, on urgent measures to protect consumers
in connection with floor clauses, a voluntary and extrajudicial process whereby consumers that consider
themselves affected by floor clauses may claim repayment. In any case, this ruling establishes an
extrajudicial channel for conflict resolution but adds nothing that affects the criteria describing the
validity of the clauses.

In the last quarter of 2015, Banco Popular made an extraordinary provision of 350 million euros to
cover possible legal risk deriving from the potential elimination of floor clauses in its mortgage loan
contracts with retroactive effect from May 2013 (i.e. to cover the risk of having to pay back the excess
interest charged through the application of floor clauses from May 2013). In 2016 Banco Popular updated
its provision estimates for this concept, which stood at 282 million euros at 31 December 2016 (provisions
of 53 million euros were released in 2016 and new provisions of 15 million euros were allocated). Following
the ruling handed down by the European Court of Justice on 21 December 2016, Banco Popular updated
its provisions for risk associated with floor clauses, in order to cover the impact of potentially having to
repay the surplus interest charged in application of these clauses between the date of the corresponding
mortgage loans and May 2013, increasing them by 229 million euros. As a result, total provisions allocated
by Banco Popular Espafiol at 31 December 2016 for this concept stood at 511 million euros. Banco Popular
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estimates that the maximum risk associated with the floor clauses inserted in its contracts with consumers,
under the scenario which it believes to be the most severe and unlikely to materialise, comes to
approximately 1 billion euros as at 31 December 2016. The total provisions allocated referred to earlier,
account for slightly more than 50% of that maximum risk associated under the most unlikely scenario.

The estimates for these provisions and the maximum risk associated mentioned above were made
by Banco Popular based on assumptions and premises it considered to be reasonable. However, these
estimates may not be complete, may not have factored in all customers or former customers that could
potentially file claims, the most recent facts or legal trends adopted by the Spanish courts, or any other
circumstances that could be relevant for establishing the impact of floor clauses for Banco Popular and
its group or the successful outcome of the claims filed in relation to these floor clauses. Consequently,
the provisions made by Banco Popular or the estimation of the indicated maximum risk could prove to
be inadequate, and may have to be increased to cover the impact of the different actions being processed
in relation to floor clauses or face additional responsibilities, which could lead to higher costs for the
entity. This could have a material adverse effect on the Santander Group's results and financial situation.

2.2. Legal, regulatory and compliance risks
2.2.1. The Group is exposed to the risk of losses from legal and regulatory proceedings.

The Group is exposed to the risk of losses from legal, regulatory and tax proceedings resulting from
sanctions, fines and penalties. The current regulatory environment in the jurisdictions in which it
operates reflects an increased supervisory focus on the opening of sanction proceedings, combined with
increased uncertainty about the evolution of the regulatory system, and may lead to a significant rise in
operational and compliance costs.

The Group is exposed from time to time to legal proceedings incidental to the day-to-day course of its
business, including in connection with conflicts of interest, lending activities, relationships with employees
and other commercial or tax matters. In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of legal
matters, particularly where the claimants seek very large or indeterminate damages, or where cases involve
a various parties or are in the early stages of discovery, it cannot be stated with confidence what the eventual
outcome of these matters will be or the eventual loss, fines or penalties. In December 2016, the Group has
5,712 million euros provisioned for legal proceedings, tax litigation and other issues. However, these
provisions are substantially lower than the amount that could potentially be required if the proceedings filed
against the Group were to prosper (for more information, see note 25. d) to the financial statements and
chapter 20.8 of this document). Further, the uncertainty generated by these claims and proceedings means
that there is no assurance that the resulting losses will not significantly exceed the provisions currently
arranged by the Group and, therefore, these losses could impact Group’s operating results in a determined
period.

2.2.2. The Group is subject to extensive regulation that could negatively impact its businesses
and operations.

As a financial institution, the Group is subject to extensive regulation, which materially affects its
business activity. The laws, regulations and policies to which it is subject may change at any time. In
addition, the interpretation and the application by regulators of the laws and regulations to which it is
subject may also change from time to time. Extensive legislation and regulations affecting the financial
services industry have recently been adopted in regions that directly or indirectly affect the Group's
business activities, including Spain, the United States, the European Union, Latin America and other
jurisdictions. The manner in which these laws and related regulations are applied to the operations of
financial institutions is still evolving. Moreover, in the case that these recently adopted regulations were
to be inconsistently implemented in the various jurisdictions in which the Bank operates, it may face
higher compliance costs. Any legislative or regulatory measures or required changes to Group business
operations resulting from such measures, as well as any deficiencies in compliance related thereto, could
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result in significant loss of revenue, limit the Group's ability to pursue business opportunities and provide
certain products and services, affect the value of its assets, require it to increase prices and therefore
reduce demand for its products, impose additional compliance or otherwise adversely affect its
businesses. In particular, legislative or regulatory actions resulting in enhanced prudential standards, in
particular with respect to capital and liquidity, could impose a significant regulatory burden on the Bank
or on its subsidiaries and could limit its subsidiaries’ ability to distribute capital and liquidity to the
Bank, with a negative impact. Future liquidity standards could require it to maintain a greater proportion
of its assets in highly-liquid but lower-yielding financial instruments, which would negatively affect net
interest income. Moreover, the Bank's regulatory authorities, as part of their supervisory function,
periodically review its loan-loss allowances. These regulators may require it to increase its loan-loss
allowances or to recognise further losses. Any such additional provisions for loan losses, as required by
these regulatory agencies, whose views may differ from those of the Bank's management, could have an
adverse effect on its income and financial situation. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that future
changes in regulations or in their interpretation or application will not have an adverse effect.

The wide range of regulations, actions and proposals which most significantly affect the Bank, or
which could most significantly affect the Bank in the future, relate to capital requirements, funding and
liquidity, the development of a fiscal and banking union in the European Union. These and other
regulatory reforms adopted or proposed in the wake of the financial crisis have increased and may
continue to materially increase operating costs and negatively impact the Bank's business model.
Furthermore, regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in how to regulate banks, and this
discretion, and the means available to the regulators, have been increasing during recent years.
Regulations may be imposed on an ad hoc basis by governments and regulators in response to a crisis,
and these may especially affect financial institutions such as the Bank, that are deemed to be global
systemically important institutions (“G-SII”).

The main regulations and regulatory and governmental supervision measures that could have a
negative impact include:

Capital requirements, funding and structural reform

Increasingly demanding capital requirements are one of the main regulatory challenges facing the
Group. Increased requirements could negatively impact profitability and generate regulatory risk
associated with the possibility that the institution is unable to meet the required capital levels. Credit
institutions, such as this Group, are required, on a standalone and consolidated basis, to hold a minimum
amount of regulatory capital of 8% of risk weighted assets. In addition to the minimum regulatory capital
requirements, the applicable regulation also introduced additional capital buffer requirements that must
be met with Common Equity Tier 1 “CET1” capital. The Bank is obliged to maintain a conservation
buffer of 2.5% and a systemically important institutions buffer of 1% (fully loaded). However, as of the
date of this report, due to the application of the phase-in period, it is required to maintain a conservation
buffer of 1.25% and a systemically important institutions buffer of 0.5%.

The Directive CRD IV also contemplates that in addition to the minimum “Pillar 1” capital
requirements (including, if applicable, any capital buffer discussed above), supervisory authorities may
impose further “Pillar 11" capital requirements to cover other risks, including those not considered to be
fully included in the minimum capital requirements under CRD 1V or to address macro-prudential
considerations. This may result in the imposition of additional capital requirements. Any failure to
maintain “Pillar 1” minimum regulatory capital ratios or any additional “Pillar II”” capital requirements
could result in administrative actions or sanctions. These could have a negative impact on operating
results.

Furthermore, EU member states will prohibit entities that do not comply with the combined buffer
requirement or “Pillar II” capital requirements from making any type of "discretionary payment"

Banco Santander, S.A.
Share Registration Document, 4 July 2017 18/152



(broadly defined under CRD IV as payment relating to CET1, variable remuneration or payments on
additional Tier 1 capital instruments), until they have calculated the restrictions applicable to them and
report these to the regulator. Then, the entity will be subject to restricted discretionary payments.

In connection with this, on 29 November 2016 the Bank announced that it had received from the
European Central Bank its decision regarding prudential minimum capital phase-in requirements for
2017, following the results of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (“SREP”). The European
Central Bank decision requires the Bank to maintain a CET1 capital ratio of 7.75% on a consolidated
basis. This 7.75% capital requirement includes: the minimum Pillar 1 requirement (4.5%); the Pillar 11
requirement (1.5%); the capital conservation buffer (1.25%); and the requirement relating to its
consideration as a G-SIl (0.5%). The European Central Bank decision also requires that Banco
Santander, S.A. maintain a CET1 capital ratio of at least 7.25% on an individual basis. This 7.25%
capital requirement includes: the minimum Pillar 1 requirement (4.5%), the Pillar 2 requirement (1.5%)
and the capital conservation buffer (1.5%). These capital requirements do not given rise to in any of the
limitations referred to in the CRR on distributions in the form of dividends, variable remuneration or
coupon payments to holders of AT1 instruments. The Group has a phase-in CET1 ratio of 12.53% and
a fully loaded capital ratio of 10.55% at 31 December 2016. At 31 December 2016, Banco Santander,
S.A. has a phase-in CET1 ratio of 14.77%.

On November 2015, the Financial Stability Board (the “FSB”) published its final principles and
term sheet containing an international standard to enhance the loss absorbing capacity of the banks
considered as systemically important institutions (“G-SlIs”) such as the Bank. The final standard
consists of an elaboration of the principles on loss absorbing and recapitalisation capacity of G-Slls in
resolution and a term sheet setting out a proposal for the implementation of these proposals in the form
of an internationally agreed standard on total loss absorbing capacity (“TLAC”) for G-SlIs. Once
implemented in the relevant jurisdictions, these principles and terms will form a new minimum TLAC
standard for G-Slls, and in the case of G-SlIs with more than one resolution group, for each one of the
groups. The TLAC principles and term sheet require a minimum TLAC requirement to be determined
individually for each G-SlI at the greater of (a) 16% of risk weighted assets as of 1 January 2019 and
18% as of 1 January 2022, and (b) 6% of the Basel Il Tier 1 leverage ratio exposure measured as of 1
January 2019, and 6.75% as of 1 January 2022.

Furthermore, Article 45 of the European Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (Directive
2014/59/EU) (“BRRD”) provides that member states shall ensure that institutions meet, at all times,
a minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (“MREL”). The MREL shall be calculated
as the amount of eligible liabilities expressed as a percentage of the institution's total liabilities and own
funds. The MREL requirement was scheduled to come into force in January 2016. However, the EBA
has recognised the impact which this requirement may have on banks’ funding structures and costs.
Therefore, it has proposed a long phase-in period of 48 months (four years) until 2020.

The European Commission committed to review the existing MREL rules with a view to provide
full consistency with the TLAC standard. On 23 November 2016, the European Commission published
proposals to amend several directives and regulations aimed primarily at implementing the total loss-
absorbing capacity (“TLAC”) standard and to integrate the TLAC requirement into the general MREL
rules (“TLAC/MREL requirements”), thereby avoiding duplication from the application of two parallel
requirements. Although TLAC and MREL pursue the same regulatory objective, there are, nevertheless,
some differences between them in the way they are interpreted. Although the general aim of these
measures is already known, it is too early to identify the precise changes that will be introduced and,
therefore, the precise impact of these on the Bank. Any failure by an institution to meet the applicable
minimum TLAC/MREL requirements will be treated as a failure to meet minimum regulatory capital
requirements, in which case they must be intervened and put under resolution by the resolution
authorities sufficiently in advance if it is deemed to be failing or likely to fail and there is no reasonable
prospect of recovery.
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EU fiscal and banking union

The project to achieve EU banking union got underway in the summer of 2012. Its main goal is to
resume progress towards the European single market for financial services by restoring confidence in the
European banking sector and ensuring the proper functioning of monetary policy in the eurozone. Banking
union is expected to be achieved through new harmonised banking rules (the single rulebook) and an
institutional framework with stronger systems for both banking supervision and resolution that will be
managed at the European level. Its two main pillars are the Single Supervisory Mechanism (“SSM”) and the
Single Resolution Mechanism (“SRM”). The SRM’s main purpose is to ensure the prompt and coherent
resolution of failing banks in Europe at minimum cost for the taxpayers and the real economy. The Single
Resolution Board (“SRB”), which is the central decision-making body of the SRM, started operating on
1 January 2015 and had fully assumed its resolution powers on 1 January 2016. From that date onwards, the
Single Resolution Fund (“SRF”) has also been in place, funded by contributions from European banks in
accordance with the methodology approved by the Council of the EU. The objective of the SRF is to reach
a total amount of 55 billion euros by 2024 and to be used as a separate backstop only after an 8% bail-in of
a bank’s liabilities has been applied to cover capital shortfalls (in line with the BRRD). Regulations adopted
towards achieving banking and/or fiscal union in the EU and decisions adopted by the European Central
Bank in its capacity as the main supervisory authority may have a material impact on the Group's business
activities, financial situation and income statement. In particular, the BRRD and Directive 2014/49/EU on
deposit guarantee schemes which were published in the Official Journal of the EU on 12 June 2014. The
BRRD was required to be implemented on or before 1 January 2015, although the bail-in tool only applies
from 1 January 2016. The BRRD was partially implemented in Spanish legislation through Law 11/2015
and Royal Decree 1012/2015. In 2016, the Bank contributed 172 million euros to the Resolution Fund.

In addition, on 29 January 2014, the European Commission released its proposal on the structural
reforms of the European banking sector that will impose new constraints on the structure of European
banks. The proposal aims to ensure the harmonisation of divergent national initiatives in Europe. It
includes a prohibition on proprietary trading and a mechanism to potentially require the separation of
trading activities (including market making). Moreover, regulations adopted on structural measures to
improve the resilience of EU credit institutions may have a material impact on the Bank's business
activities, financial situation and results of operations. These regulations, if adopted, may also cause the
Group to assign significant resources to make the necessary changes.

Other supervisory actions in the United States

Certain of the Group's US subsidiaries, including Santander Holdings USA, are subject to stress
testing and capital planning requirements in the United States under the Dodd-Frank Act or other
applicable regulations and banking policies. In June 2016, the Federal Reserve Board, as part of its
Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review (“CCAR”) process, objected once again to Santander
Holdings USA'’s capital plan on qualitative grounds. Santander Holdings USA's new capital plan was
submitted in April 2017. On 28 June 2017, the Federal Reserve Board issued its conclusions, in which
it made no objection to the mentioned capital plan. As a result, Santander Holdings USA, which was not
permitted to make any capital distributions without the Federal Reserve Board’s approval, other than
the continued payment of dividends on Santander Holdings USA’s outstanding class of preferred stock,
until a new capital plan was approved by the Federal Reserve Board, has announced a dividend payment
in the third quarter of 2017.

The Federal Reserve Board issued a rule in February 2017 that will remove, for 2017 capital
planning cycle, the qualitative CCAR assessment for Santander Holdings USA. However, the Federal
Reserve Board will continue to analyse capital plans and could still file objections for quantitative
reasons. Further, the capital plans of Santander Holdings USA will be regularly reviewed by supervisors
in other assessments (not CCAR).
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In addition, Santander Holdings USA, is subject to CCAR stress testing and capital planning related
supervisory actions in the United States. Specifically, on 15 September 2014, Santander Holdings USA
and the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston (“FRB Boston”) executed a written agreement stating that the
declaration and payment of dividends in the second quarter of 2014 would not require the Federal
Reserve Board’s approval. Under the agreement, Santander Holdings USA agreed to submit to FRB
Boston written procedures to strengthen the board of directors’ oversight of planned capital distributions
by Santander Holdings USA and its subsidiaries. In addition, Santander Holdings USA agreed to submit
future distributions to the prior written approval of the Federal Reserve Board and to take necessary
actions to ensure compliance with the measures adopted.

Lastly, in July 2015, Santander Holdings USA was subject to a requirement made by the FRB
Boston according to which a written agreement with FRB Boston was signed to improve, among other
matters, board oversight of its organisation, risk management, capital planning and liquidity
management. In March 2017, Santander Holdings USA and Santander Consumer USA signed a written
agreement with FRB Boston to submit plans to strengthen board and senior management oversight of
the operations and management (especially risk management) of Santander Consumer USA. The plans
were submitted to FRB Boston in May.

For information on the Bank's recovery and resolution plans in the United States, see chapter 10.4
Recovery and resolution plans.

The Federal Reserve may impose fines or other material sanctions for non-compliance by entities,
establish limits on dividend payments and approve or reject any proposed acquisitions, which could
have a material adverse impact on the Group.

2.2.3. The Group's regulators and supervisors can impose fines, sanctions or other measures,
particularly in response to customer complaints.

As noted above, the Group's business activities and operations are subject to an increasingly
significant number of rules and regulations governing financial services. These apply to business
operations, affect financial returns and include reserves and reporting requirements, in addition to
prudential and conduct rules. These requirements are set by the relevant central banks and regulatory
authorities that authorise, regulate and supervise the Group in the jurisdictions in which it operates.

In their supervisory roles, the regulators seek to maintain the safety and soundness of financial
institutions with the aim of strengthening the protection of customers and the financial system. The
supervisors’ continuing supervision of financial institutions is conducted through a variety of regulatory
tools, including the collection of information by way of prudential returns, experts' reports, visits to
entities and regular meetings with management to discuss issues such as performance, risk management
and strategy. In general, the regulators have a more outcome-focused approach that involves more
proactive enforcement and more punitive measures for infringement. As a result, the Group faces
increased supervisory scrutiny (resulting in increasing internal compliance and supervision costs), and
in the event of a breach of regulatory obligations, more stringent regulatory fines are likely to be
imposed. Some regulators are focusing on consumer protection and on conduct risk and will continue to
do so. This includes assessments of the design and operation of products, customer behaviour and market
operations. This approach could result in usury regulations that could restrict the Group's ability to
charge certain levels of interest in credit transactions or that would prevent it from bundling products
offered to customers. Some of the laws in the relevant jurisdictions in which the Group operates give
the regulators the power to make temporary product intervention rules either to improve a firm’s systems
and controls in relation to product design, management and implementation, or to address problems
identified with financial products. These problems could be potentially detrimental to consumers
because of certain product features, governance flaws or distribution strategies. The rules may also
prevent institutions from entering into product agreements with customers until such problems have
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been solved. Some of the regulatory systems in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates require
compliance across all business aspects, including training, authorisation and supervision of personnel,
systems, processes and documentation. If the relevant regulations are not complied with, there would be
a risk of an adverse impact on business due to sanctions, fines or other actions imposed by the regulatory
authorities. Customers of financial services institutions, including Group customers, may seek redress
if they consider that they have suffered losses as a result of the mis-selling of a particular product, or
through incorrect application of the terms and conditions of a particular product. Given the inherent
unpredictability of litigation and the past judgments handed down by the relevant authorities, it is
possible that an adverse outcome in some matters could result in reputational damage or have a material
adverse effect on operating results, the Group's financial situation, outlook and profitability arising from
any penalties imposed or compensation awarded, together with the costs of these procedures.

2.2.4. The Group is subject to review by the tax authorities, and an incorrect interpretation of
tax laws and regulations may have a material adverse effect on its results.

The preparation of tax returns requires the use of estimates and interpretations of tax laws and
regulations, both in Spain and in the other jurisdictions in which the Group operates. These tax laws and
regulations, which are complex, are subjected to different interpretations by the taxpayer and relevant
governmental tax authorities and also subject to review by tax authorities, and sometimes are subject to
prolonged administrative and/or judicial procedures. In establishing income tax provisions, the Group
makes interpretations and judgements concerning the application of these tax laws. If these
interpretations, judgements and assumptions are found to be incorrect, this could have a material adverse
effect on its results.

2.2.5. Changes in taxes and other fees could have a negative impact on the Group.

Legislators and tax authorities in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates regularly enact
reforms to the tax and other assessment regimes to which it and its customers are subject. These reforms
include changes in tax rates and, occasionally, the enactment of temporary taxes. The effects of these and
other changes that result from enactment of additional tax reforms cannot be quantified and there can be
no assurance that any such reforms would not have an adverse effect on the Group's business activity.

2.2.6. The Group may not be able to detect or prevent money laundering and other criminal
financial activities in full or on a timely basis, which could expose it to contingencies that
could have a material adverse effect.

The Group is required to comply with applicable anti-money laundering and counter terrorist
financing (“AML/CTF”) regulations, anti-bribery and corruption laws and other applicable laws and
regulations. These laws and regulations require, among other issues, full customer due diligence
(including sanctions and politically-exposed person screening), keeping customer, account and
transaction information up to date and the implementation of effective financial crime policies and
procedures detailing what is required from those responsible for these tasks. The Group is also required
to conduct AML training for employees and to report suspicious transactions and activity to the
appropriate law enforcement authorities and conduct full investigations through local AML teams.

Financial crime has become the subject of enhanced regulatory scrutiny and supervision globally.
AML, anti-bribery and corruption penalties, laws and regulations are increasingly complex and detailed
and have become the subject of enhanced regulatory supervision, requiring improved systems,
sophisticated monitoring and skilled compliance personnel.

The Group has developed policies and procedures aimed at detecting and preventing the use of its
banking network for money laundering and other criminal financial activities. This requires the
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implementation and adoption, for the business, of effective monitoring controls and systems, which in
turn requires on-going changes to systems and operational activities. Financial crime is continually
evolving and is subject to increasingly stringent regulatory oversight and focus. This requires a proactive
and adaptable response from the Group to effectively deter threats and criminal activity. As a global
bank, the Group is particularly exposed to this risk. Even known threats can never be fully eliminated,
and there will be instances where it may be used by third parties to engage in money laundering and
other illegal or improper activities. In addition, the Group relies heavily on employees to detect such
activities and report them, and employees have varying degrees of experience in recognising criminal
tactics and understanding the level of sophistication of criminal organisations. Further, although anti
financial crime operations are outsourced, the Group remains responsible and accountable for full
compliance with and any breaches of these regulations. If it is unable to apply the necessary scrutiny
and oversight, there remains a risk of regulatory breach.

If the Group is unable to fully comply with applicable AML regulations, the authorities may impose
substantial fines or other penalties, including a complete review of its operating systems, day-to-day
supervision by external consultants and ultimately the revocation of its banking licence.

The reputational damage to its business and global brand would be severe if the Group were found
to have breached AML, anti-bribery and corruption legislation or similar regulations. Its reputation
could also suffer if the Group is unable to protect customers’ bank products and services from being
used by criminals for illegal or improper purposes.

In addition, while the Group reviews its main counterparties’ internal policies and procedures with
respect to such matters, it relies to a large degree on these counterparties to maintain and properly apply
their own appropriate compliance and control procedures. Such measures, procedures and internal policies
may not be completely effective in preventing third parties from using Group (or relevant counterparties’)
services as a conduit for illicit purposes (including illegal cash operations) without its knowledge (or that
of its counterparties). If the Group is associated with, or accused of having breached AML, anti-corruption
or bribery or other laws or similar regulations in force, its reputation could suffer and it could become
subject to fines, sanctions and/or legal enforcement (including being added to any “black lists” that could
place restrictions on certain operations). Any of the conditions described above could have a material
adverse effect on the Group's business activities, financial situation and results of operations.

Any such risks could have a material adverse effect on the Group's operating results, financial
situation and outlook.

2.3. Liquidity and funding risks

2.3.1. Liquidity and funding risks are inherent in the Group's business and could have a material
adverse effect.

Liquidity risk is the risk of either not having available sufficient financial resources to meet
obligations as they fall due or only being able to renew them at excessive cost. This risk is inherent in
any retail and commercial banking business and can be heightened by a number of enterprise-specific
factors, including over-reliance on a particular source of funding, changes in credit ratings or market-
wide phenomena. While the Group implements liquidity management processes to seek to mitigate and
control these risks, unforeseen systemic market factors make it difficult to completely eliminate them.
Continued constraints in the supply of liquidity, including in interbank lending, have affected and may
materially and adversely affect the Group's funding costs, impacting its operations, affecting its ability
to meet regulatory liquidity requirements, as well as limiting growth possibilities.

Increases in prevailing market interest rates and in Group’s credit spreads can significantly increase
the Group’s cost of funding. Movements in credit spreads may be influenced by market perceptions of
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the Group's solvency. Changes to interest rates and credit spreads occur continuously and may be
unpredictable and highly volatile.

The Group relies, and will continue to rely, mainly on deposits to fund lending activities. The
ongoing availability of this type of funding is sensitive to a variety of factors outside its control, such as
general economic conditions and the confidence of commercial depositors in the economy and in the
financial services industry, and the availability and scope of deposit guarantee funds, as well as
competition between banks to attract deposits or other products, such as mutual funds. Any of these
factors could significantly increase the amount of bank deposit withdrawals in a short period of time,
thereby reducing or even eliminating the Group's ability to access funding through deposits on
appropriate terms. These circumstances could have a material adverse effect on the Group's operating
income, financial situation and outlook.

Customer deposits (demand, time and redeemable at notice) have traditionally been the Group's
main source of funding. Customer deposits accounted for 56%, 55% and 55% of total Group liabilities
in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Time deposits, including repos, accounted for 32.4%, 35.1% and
41.5% of total Group deposits at year-end 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Term deposits for
substantial amounts may be a less stable funding source than others.

Central banks have taken extraordinary measures to increase liquidity in the financial markets as
a response to the financial crisis. If current facilities were rapidly removed or significantly reduced, this
could have an adverse effect on the Bank's ability to access liquidity and on funding costs.

The Group cannot guarantee that, in the event of a sudden or unexpected shortage of funds in the
banking system, it will be able to maintain levels of funding without incurring high funding costs, being
forced to modify the term of its funding instruments or liquidate certain assets. If this were to happen, it
could have a material adverse impact.

At year-end 2016, the Group had a structural liquidity surplus of 150,105 million euros.

The implementation of the LCR (Liquidity Coverage Ratio) was delayed until October 2015,
although the initial compliance level of 60% was maintained, which should increase gradually to 100%
in 2018. At December 2016, the Group's LCR ratio was 146%, amply surpassing the regulatory
requirement. Although this requirement has only been set at the Group level, the other subsidiaries also
comfortably exceed this minimum ratio: Spain 134%, the UK 139% and Brazil 165%.

The NSFR (Net Stable Funding Ratio) was approved by the Basel Committee in October 2014 and
is slated to come into force on 1 January 2018. This ratio stood at over 100% at Group level and for
most of its subsidiaries at year-end 2016, although it will not be a requirement until 2018.

For more information on liquidity and funding risk, see note 54.¢ to the financial statements.

2.3.2. Any downgrade in the Group’s credit rating would be likely to increase funding costs or
require it to post additional collateral in relation to certain derivatives contracts, which
could have a material adverse impact.

Credit ratings affect the cost and other terms on which funding is obtained. The Group's ratings for
long-term debt are regularly reviewed by the rating agencies, based on a number of factors, including
its financial solvency and other conditions affecting the financial services industry generally. In addition,
due to the methodology used by the main rating agencies, the Group's credit rating is affected by the
rating of Spanish sovereign debt. If Spain’s sovereign debt is downgraded, its credit rating would also
be downgraded by an equivalent amount.

Any downgrade in debt credit ratings could raise funding costs and require the Group to post
additional collateral or take other actions relating to some derivatives contracts, and could limit access
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to capital markets and adversely affect the commercial business. For example, a rating downgrade could
adversely affect the Group's ability to sell or market certain products, engage in certain longer-term and
derivatives transactions or retain customers, particularly customers who need a minimum rating
threshold in order to invest. In addition, under the terms of certain derivatives contracts and other
financial commitments, the Group may be required to maintain a minimum credit rating, otherwise such
contracts could be cancelled or require the posting of collateral. Any of these circumstances could both
reduce the Group's liquidity and have an adverse effect on its operating income and financial situation.

Banco Santander, S.A.’s long-term debt is currently rated investment grade by the major rating
agencies!: A3 stable outlook by Moody’s Investors Service Espafia, S.A., A- stable outlook by Standard
& Poor’s Ratings Services and A- stable outlook by Fitch Ratings Ltd. In June 2015, Moody’s upgraded
Banco Santander, S.A.’s rating from Baal to A3 in light of their new banking methodology and in
February 2016 the outlook was changed from positive to stable in line with the outlook for Spanish
sovereign debt. In October 2015, Standard & Poor’s upgraded the Group's rating from BBB+ to
A- following an upgrade of the rating for Spanish sovereign debt. In February 2017, Standard & Poor’s
revised its outlook from stable to positive reflecting the revised funding plans announced by the Group
involving the building of a substantial additional loss absorbing capacity buffer over the next two years.
In June 2017 Standard & Poor’s revised its outlook from positive to stable due to the risks inherent to
the acquisition of Banco Popular.

Santander UK’s long-term debt is currently rated investment grade by the three main rating
agencies: Aa3 with negative outlook by Moody’s Investors Service, A with negative outlook by
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services and A with stable outlook by Fitch Ratings.

Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A.’s long-term debt is currently rated BB with a negative outlook by
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services and Bal with a negative outlook by Moody’s Investors Service.
In 2015 and the first half of 2016, the three main agencies lowered their ratings as a result of the
reduction in Brazil’s sovereign debt credit rating.

The Group conducts most of its material derivatives activities through Banco Santander, S.A. and
Santander UK. As of 31 December 2016 it is estimated that if all the rating agencies were to downgrade
Banco Santander, S.A.’s long-term senior debt ratings by one notch the Group would be required to post
up to 228 million euros in additional collateral pursuant to its current derivatives and other financial
contracts. A hypothetical two notch downgrade would result in a further requirement to post up to
38 million euros in additional collateral. The Group estimates that as of 31 December 2016, if all the
rating agencies were to downgrade Santander UK’s long-term credit ratings by one notch, and thereby
trigger a short-term credit rating downgrade, this could result in 4.6 billion pounds of cash and additional
collateral that Santander UK would be required to post under the terms of secured funding and
derivatives contracts. A hypothetical two notch downgrade would result in a further requirement of
0.4 billion pounds of cash and collateral.

While certain potential impacts of these downgrades are contractual and quantifiable, the full
consequences of a credit rating downgrade are inherently uncertain, as they depend upon numerous
dynamic, complex and inter-related factors and assumptions. These include market conditions at the
time of any downgrade, the impact of a downgrade of the long-term credit rating on the short-term credit
rating, and the potential behaviours of customers, investors and counterparties. Additional collateral
could be higher or lower than the preceding hypothetical examples, depending upon certain factors

! Moody’s Investors Service Espafia, S.A., Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services and Fitch Ratings Ltd. are established in the
European Union. These rating agencies are registered with the European Securities and Markets Authority in accordance
with the provisions of Regulation (EC) 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and Council, of 16 September 2009, on credit
rating agencies.

Additionally, the Directors' Report includes the ratings assigned to Banco Santander, S.A. by DBRS and Scope Ratings AG.
These ratings agencies are also registered in accordance with European regulations.
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including which credit rating agency downgrades the credit rating, any management actions that could
be taken to reduce additional contributions and the potential liquidity impact from the loss of unsecured
funding (such as from money market funds) or the capacity to control it. Although unsecured and secured
funding stresses are included in the Group's stress testing scenarios and a portion of total liquid assets is
held against these risks, a credit rating downgrade could still have a material adverse effect on Banco
Santander, S.A., and/or its subsidiaries.

In addition, if the Group were required to cancel derivatives contracts with certain counterparties
and were unable to replace such contracts, its market risk profile could be altered.

Following Santander's acquisition of Banco Popular (for further information see chapter 5.1.5), the
perception held by rating agencies of the Santander Group could change, and lead to a downgrade in its
credit ratings.

There can be no assurance that the rating agencies will maintain their current ratings or outlooks.
Failure to maintain favourable ratings and outlooks could increase the cost of funding and negatively
impact NII, which could have a material adverse effect.

2.4. Credit risk

2.4.1. The deterioration of credit quality or insufficient loan loss reserves could have a material
adverse effect on the Group.

Risks arising from changes in credit quality and the recoverability of loans and amounts due from
counterparties are inherent in a wide range of Group businesses. Non-performing or low credit quality
loans have in the past negatively impacted the Group's operating income and could do so again in the
future. In particular, the amount of reported non-performing loans may increase in the future as a result
of growth in the total loan portfolio, including as a result of loan portfolios acquired in the future, or
factors beyond its control, such as adverse changes in the credit quality of borrowers and counterparties,
a general deterioration in economic conditions in the regions where the Group operates, the impact of
political events or other circumstances affecting certain sectors, the financial markets or the world
economies. A decline in credit quality or an increase in non-performing loans or write-offs could have
a negative impact on the Group.

Loan loss provisions are based on the Group's estimates and forecasts for various factors affecting
the quality of the loan portfolio. These factors include, among other things, borrowers’ financial
situations, repayment capacity and intention, the realisable value of any collateral, government
economic policies, interest rates and the legal and regulatory environment. Many of these factors are
beyond the control of the Group. As a result, there is no precise method for predicting loan and credit
losses, and therefore the Group cannot guarantee that its loan loss reserves will be sufficient to cover
actual losses. If the Group's estimates and forecasts concerning the above mentioned factors differ from
actual developments, if the quality of its loan portfolio deteriorates, for any reason, or if future losses
exceed estimates of incurred losses, it may be required to increase loan loss provisions, which may have
an adverse impact. Additionally, in calculating loan loss provisions, the Group employs qualitative tools
and statistical models that may not be reliable in all cases and are dependent on the completeness of the
data. For further information, see risk factor 2.6.1.

Mortgage loans are one the Group's main assets, accounting for 46% of its lending portfolio at
31 December 2016. The Group is exposed to movements in the real estate market, especially in Spain
and the UK. At the end of 2007, after a period of strong demand, the Spanish and UK housing markets
started to adjust due to the high levels of supply (especially in Spain) and high interest rates. From 2008
to 2013, as economic growth stalled in Spain and the United Kingdom, persistent housing oversupply,
decreased housing demand, rising unemployment, greater pressure on disposable income, a decline in
the availability of mortgage finance and the continued effect of global market volatility caused home
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prices to decline, while default rates and refinancing and restructuring operations increased. In Spain, at
31 December 2016, the non-performing loan rate on mortgages extended to households to acquire a
home was 3.83%, compared to 1.35% for the mortgage portfolio in the United Kingdom.

As a result of these events, the Group's non-performing loan ratio increased from 0.94% at 31
December 2007, to 2.02% at 31 December 2008, 3.24% at 31 December 2009, 3.55% at 31 December
2010, 3.89% at 31 December 2011, 4.54% at 31 December 2012 and 5.64% at 31 December 2013.
Although this trend has changed in the last three years and the non-performing loan ratio decreased to
5.19% at 31 December 2014, 4.36% at 31 December 2015 and 3.93% at 31 December 2016, the Group
cannot guarantee that these ratios will not rise again. At 31 March 2017, the Group's non-performing
loan ratio was 3.74%, 19 basis points lower than at year-end 2016. Total loan coverage was 74.6% at 31
March 2017, compared to 73.8% at 31 December 2016. High unemployment rates, coupled with
declining real estate prices, could have a material adverse impact on mortgage payment delinquency
rates, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business activities, financial
situation and operating income.

Additionally, the financial crisis and acquisition of Banco Popular in June 2017 (for more
information see chapter 5.1.5) led the Group to accumulate low-return illiquid assets that could prevent
it meeting its profitability targets.

At 31 December 2016, the gross amount of Group refinancing and restructuring operations was
48,460 million euros (5.7% of credit investment), of which 20,029 million euros corresponded to
mortgage backed loans. At the same date, the net amount of non-current assets held for sale totalled
5,772 million euros, of which 5,640 million euros corresponded to foreclosed assets, with a coverage
ratio of 51.3% on the gross amount of these assets.

The Group is subject to the regulation on “Large Risks” contained in the fourth part of the CRR
(EU regulation 575/2013), according to which the exposure contracted by an entity with a customer or group
of customers linked among themselves will be considered a “large exposure” when it equates to 10% or
more of eligible capital. In addition, in order to limit large exposures, no institution may assume an exposure
to any single customer or group of connected customers whose value exceeds 25% of the institution's eligible
capital, after taking into account the effect of the credit risk reduction contained in the standard.

At 31 December 2016, following the application of risk mitigation mechanisms, no group had
reached the aforementioned thresholds. Further, credit exposure to the 20 largest groups in the large
risks area accounted for 4.7% of credit risk with customers (investment plus off balance-sheet risk).

Pursuant to the Banco de Espafia's new Circular 4/16, at year-end 2016 Banco Santander, S.A.
calculated its credit risk provisions using internal methodology, after completing the six month trial
period established by the Circular during which no significant differences with respect to the provisions
allocated under the previous regulation were observed.

For further information on credit risk, see note 54.c) to the financial statements.

2.4.2. The value of the collateral securing Group loans may not be sufficient, and it may be
unable to realise the full value of this collateral.

The value of the collateral securing the Group's loan portfolio may fluctuate or decline due to
factors beyond its control, including macroeconomic factors affecting Europe, the United States and
Latin American countries. The value of the collateral securing the loan portfolio may be adversely
affected by force majeure events, such as natural disasters, particularly in locations where a significant
portion of the loan portfolio is composed of mortgage loans.

The Group may also not have sufficiently recent information on the value of its collateral, which
may result in an inaccurate assessment of impairment losses on loans secured by such collateral.
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If any of the above were to occur, additional provisions could be required to cover impairment losses,
which could have a material adverse impact on the Group's operating income and financial situation.

2.4.3. The Group is exposed to counterparty risk in its transactions.

The Group is exposed to counterparty risk in addition to credit risk associated with lending
activities. Counterparty risk may arise from, for example, investing in securities of third parties, entering
into derivative contracts under which counterparties have obligations to make payments to the Group or
delivering securities, futures, currency or commodity trades, from proprietary trading activities that fail
to settle at the required time due to non-delivery by the counterparty or systems failure by clearing
agents, clearing houses or other financial intermediaries.

The Group routinely carries out transactions with counterparties in the financial services industry,
including brokers and dealers, commercial banks, investment banks, fund managers and other
institutional clients. Bankruptcies or even rumours relating to the insolvency of certain financial
institutions have led to market-wide liquidity problems that have caused losses or the bankruptcy of
other institutions. Many of the routine transactions entered into by the Group expose it to significant
credit risk in the event of default by a key counterparty.

2.5. Market risk.

2.5.1. The Group is subject to fluctuations in interest rates and other market risks, which may
have a material adverse effect.

Market risk refers to the probability of variations in Group net interest income margin or in the
market value of assets and liabilities due to the volatility of interest rates, currency exchange rates or
share prices. Changes in interest rates affect net interest income margin, the volume of loans originated,
credit spreads, the market value of securities portfolios, the value of loans and deposits and the value of
derivatives transactions.

Interest rates are sensitive to many factors beyond the Group's control, including increased
regulation of the financial sector, monetary policies and domestic and international economic and
political conditions. Variations in interest rates could affect net interest income, which comprises the
majority of Group revenue (net interest income margin accounted for 70% of gross income at 31
December 2016), reducing growth and potentially resulting in losses. In addition, costs incurred in the
implementation of strategies to reduce interest rate exposure could increase in the future (which, in turn,
will impact results).

Increases in interest rates may reduce the volume of loans granted by the Group. Sustained high
interest rates have historically discouraged customers from borrowing and have resulted in increased
non-performing loans ratios and a deterioration in asset quality. Increases in interest rates may reduce
the value of the Group's financial assets or require it to recognise losses on sales of loans or securities.

Due to the historically low interest rate environment in the eurozone, in the UK and in the US in
recent years, the rates on many interest-bearing deposit products have been priced at or near zero,
limiting the Group's ability to further reduce rates and thus negatively impacting financial margins. If the
current low interest rate environment in the eurozone, in the UK and in the US persists in the long run,
it may be difficult to increase financial margins, which will impact results.

The main balance sheets (Spain, United Kingdom and United States) in mature markets and in a
low interest rate setting, show positive sensitivities in economic value of equity and net interest income
to interest rates increases. At year-end 2016, net interest margin risk at one year, measured as sensitivity
to parallel changes in the worst-case scenario of £100 basis points, was concentrated in the euro yield
curve, at 186 million euros, the British pound, at 166 million euros, the US dollar, at 140 million euros
and the Polish zloty, at 32 million euros, all at risk of rate cuts.
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Latin American balance sheets are positioned for interest rate cuts for both economic value and net
interest margin, except for the net interest margin in Mexico, where excess liquidity is invested in the short
term in the local currency. In 2016, exposure levels in all countries were moderate in relation to the annual
budget and capital levels. At the end of the year, net interest margin risk over one year, measured as
sensitivity to parallel = 100 basis point movements in the worst-case scenario, was concentrated in three
countries: Brazil (112 million euros), Chile (37 million euros) and Mexico (32 million euros).

The Group is also exposed to currency exchange rate risk as a result of mismatches between assets
and liabilities denominated in different currencies. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between currencies
may negatively affect income and the value of assets and securities. The recent volatility in the value of
the pound sterling in the wake of the European Union UK membership referendum could persist as
negotiations continue and could adversely impact the Group's UK operations (see risk factor 1.2). The
continued depreciation of Latin American currencies against the US dollar could make Latin American
subsidiaries’ currency-linked obligations and funding more expensive and have similar consequences
for borrowers in Latin America. At year-end 2016 the largest permanent exposures (with the potential
impact of a 1% appreciation or depreciation in the euro exchange rate vs the corresponding currency)
are as follows: in US dollars (-187.1/+190.8 million euros), British pounds (-184.9/+188.7 million
euros), Brazilian reales (-122.3/+124.7 million euros), Polish zlotys (-31.5/+32.1 million euros) and
Chilean pesos (-27.9/+28.4 million euros). The Group hedges part of these long-term exposures through
the use of foreign exchange derivatives. For further information, see note 2.a) v to the financial
statements.

The Group is also exposed to risks relating to its investments in equity securities in the banking
book and in the trading portfolio. The performance of financial markets may cause changes in the value
of these portfolios. The volatility of world equity markets due to the continued economic uncertainty
and the sovereign debt crisis has had a particularly strong impact on the financial sector. Continued
volatility could affect the value of Group investments in equity securities and, depending on their fair
value and future recovery expectations, could trigger permanent impairment and losses. The VaR of the
Group's structural equity positions, at year-end 2016 at 99% at one day was 323 million euros. For
further information, see note 54.d.3 to the financial statements.

If any of these risks were to materialise, N1l or the market value of the Group's assets and liabilities
could suffer a material adverse impact.

2.5.2. Market conditions have resulted, and could result, in material changes to the fair values
of the Group's financial assets. Negative fair value adjustments could have a material
adverse effect on its business activities, financial situation and income.

In the past nine years, the financial markets have been subject to significant stress, resulting in
steep falls in perceived or actual financial asset values, particularly due to volatility in global financial
markets and the resulting widening of interest rate spreads. The Group has material exposure to
securities, loans and other investments recognised at fair value and therefore exposed to negative
valuation adjustments. Asset valuations in future periods, reflecting prevailing market conditions, may
result in negative changes in the fair value of financial assets and these may also translate into
impairments of Group’s financial assets. In addition, the value ultimately obtained on disposal may be
lower than the current fair value. Any of these factors could require the Group to recognise negative fair
value adjustments, which may have a material adverse effect on its businesses, financial situation and
income statement.

As fair value is determined using financial valuation models, these values may be imprecise
or subject to change. In addition, the data used by such models may not be available or may become
unavailable due to changes in market conditions, particularly for illiquid assets, and particularly in times
of economic instability. In such circumstances, the Group's valuation methodologies require
assumptions, judgements and estimates to be formulated to establish fair value. Reliable assumptions
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are difficult to make and are inherently uncertain and valuation models are complex, making them
imperfect predictors of actual results. Any consequential impairments or write-downs could have
a material adverse effect on the Group's business activities, financial situation and income.

2.5.3. The Group could be significantly damaged by market and operational risk and other risks
associated with derivatives transactions.

The Group enters into derivatives transactions for investment and hedging purposes. It is subject
to market, credit and operational risks associated with these transactions, including basis risk (the risk
of loss associated with variations in the spread between the asset yield and the funding and/or hedge
cost) and credit or default risk (the risk of insolvency or other inability of the counterparty to a particular
transaction to perform its obligations thereunder, including providing sufficient collateral).

Market practices and documentation for derivatives transactions differ by country. In addition, the
execution and performance of these transactions depends on the Group's ability to maintain adequate
control and administration systems. Moreover, the ability to adequately monitor, analyse and report
derivatives transactions continues to depend largely on its information technology systems. These factors
further increase the risks associated with these transactions and could have a material adverse effect.

For further information on market risk, see note 54.d) to the financial statements.
2.6. Risk management.

2.6.1. Failure to successfully implement and continue to improve risk management policies,
procedures and methods could have an adverse effect and may exposure the Group to
unidentified or unanticipated risks.

The management of risk is an integral part of Group activities. It seeks to monitor and manage risk
exposure through a variety of separate but complementary financial, credit, market, operational,
compliance and legal reporting systems. While it employs a broad and diversified set of risk management
techniques and strategies, these may not be fully effective in mitigating risk exposure in all economic
market environments or against all types of risk, including risks that it fails to identify or anticipate.

Some of the qualitative tools and metrics for managing risk are based on the use of observed historical
market behaviour. The Group applies statistical and other tools to these observations to quantify its risk
exposure. These qualitative tools and metrics may fail to predict future risk exposures (deriving, for
example, from factors that are not anticipated or correctly evaluated in the statistical models) and this could
limit its ability to manage risks. Group losses could therefore be significantly greater than the historical
measures indicate. In addition, the Group's quantitative models do not take all risks into account. A more
qualitative approach to managing those risks could prove insufficient, exposing it to material unexpected
losses. The Group could face adverse consequences as a result of decisions and actions based on models
that are poorly developed, implemented or used, or as a result of the modelled outcome being
misunderstood or the use of such information for purposes for which it was not designed. In addition, if
existing or potential customers or counterparties believe risk management to be inadequate, they could
take their business elsewhere or seek to limit their transactions with the Group. This could have a material
adverse effect on the Group's businesses, financial situation and income.

As a commercial bank, one of the main types of risks inherent to the Group's business is credit risk.
For example, an important feature of the credit risk management system is to employ an internal credit
rating system to assess customer risk profiles. As this process involves a detailed analysis of the
customer, taking into account both quantitative and qualitative factors, it is subject to human or IT
systems errors. In exercising their judgement on current or future credit risk behaviour of customers,
employees may not always be able to assign an accurate credit score, which may result in exposure to
higher credit risks than indicated by the risk rating system.
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Failure to effectively implement, consistently follow or continuously refine the credit risk
management system may result in an increase in the level of non-performing loans and a higher risk
exposure, which could have a material adverse effect.

The board of directors is responsible for approving the Group's general policies and strategies,
particularly the general risk policy. In addition to the executive committee, which pays particular
attention to risks, the board is assisted by the risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee.
See note 54.b)2 to the financial statements and chapter 16.3.4 of this report for further information on
the corporate governance structure of the Group's risk function.

2.7. Technology risks

2.7.1. Any failure to effectively improve or upgrade its information technology infrastructure
and information systems could damage the Group.

The Group's ability to remain competitive depends in part on its ability to upgrade its information
technology on a timely and cost-effective basis. Significant investments and improvements must be made
in the information technology infrastructure in order to remain competitive. It cannot be guaranteed that
the required level of investment will be maintained in the future. Any failure to effectively improve or
upgrade its IT infrastructure and information systems could materially damage the Group.

2.7.2. Risks relating to information security and data processing, storage and transmission
systems are inherent to the Group's business.

Like other financial institutions, the Group manages and holds confidential personal information
of customers, as well as a large number of assets. Accordingly, its business depends on the ability to
process a large number of transactions efficiently and accurately, and to rely on digital technologies,
computer and email services, software and networks, as well as on the secure processing, storage and
transmission of information (including confidential data) using its computer systems and networks. The
proper functioning of financial control, accounting or other data collection and processing systems is
critical to the Group's businesses and its ability to compete effectively. Losses can result from inadequate
personnel, inadequate or failed internal control processes and systems, or from external events that
interrupt normal business operations. The Group also faces the risk that its controls and procedures may
prove to be inadequate or can be circumvented and customer data are damaged or lost. Although the
Group works with its customers and vendors, in addition to counterparties and third parties to develop
secure data transmission services and prevent information security risk, personal, confidential and
proprietary information is routinely managed using electronic channels, and we may be the target of an
attempted cyber-attack. If the Group is unable to maintain an effective data collection, management and
processing system, this could have a material adverse impact.

The Group take protective measures and continuously monitors and develops systems to protect its
technology infrastructure, data and information from misappropriation or corruption, but the systems,
software and networks used may nonetheless be vulnerable to unauthorised access, misuse, computer
viruses or other malware and other events that could have a security impact. Any unauthorised use or
misuse of personal, confidential or proprietary information sent to or received from a customer, vendor,
counterparty or other could result in legal liability, regulatory action or reputational damage. There can
be no absolute assurance that material losses from operational risk will not be suffered in the future
relating to security breaches.

In recent years computer systems of companies and organisations have been targeted, not only by
cyber criminals, but also by activists and certain states. The Group has been and continues to be the
target of a range of cyber-attacks, such as denial of service, malware and phishing. Cyber-attacks could
give rise to the loss of significant amounts of customer data and other sensitive information, as well as
significant levels of liquid assets (including cash). In addition, cyber-attacks could disrupt the
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information systems used to service customers. As attempted attacks continue to evolve in scope and
sophistication, the Group may incur significant costs in order to modify or enhance protective measures
against such attacks, or to investigate or remediate any vulnerability or resulting breach, or in
communicating cyber-attacks to customers. Failure to effectively manage cyber security risk, e.g. by
failing to update systems and processes in response to new threats, could harm the Group's reputation
and adversely affect its businesses, financial situation and income statement, through the payment of
customer compensation, fines and regulatory sanctions and/or through the loss of assets. In addition, the
Group may be affected by cyber-attacks against critical infrastructures in the countries where it operates.
Information technology systems are dependent on these critical infrastructures and any cyber-attack
against them could negatively affect the Group's ability to service its customers. As it does not operate
any national infrastructures, it has limited ability to protect its information technology systems from the
adverse effects of such attacks.

Although the Group has procedures and controls to safeguard personal data in its possession,
unauthorised disclosures could give rise to legal proceedings or administrative sanctions as well as
damages and reputational harm that could adversely affect its operating income and financial situation.
The Group's business is exposed to risk from potential non-compliance with policies, employee
misconduct, negligence and fraud, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious reputational or
financial harm. It is not always possible to deter or prevent employee misconduct, and the precautions
taken to detect and prevent this activity may not always be effective. In addition, the Group may be
required by supervisors/regulators to report events related to information security issues (including any
cyber security issues), events where customer information may be compromised, unauthorised access
and other security breaches. Any material disruption or slowdown of systems could cause information
to be lost or to be delivered to clients with delays or errors, which could reduce demand for its services
and products, with a material adverse effect.

2.8. Other business and financial sector risks
2.8.1. The financial problems faced by its customers could have an adverse impact on the Group.

Market turmoil and economic recession could materially and adversely affect the liquidity, credit
ratings, businesses and/or financial conditions of borrowers, which could in turn increase non-
performing loan ratios, impair loans and other financial assets and result in decreased demand for loans
in general (see risk factor 2.4. Credit risk). In addition, customer appetite for non-deposit investments
such as shares, bonds and mutual funds could decline significantly, which would adversely affect fee
income. The higher costs associated with compliance with growing regulatory requirements could have
a negative effect on customers and hence on the Group. Any of the conditions described above could
have a material adverse effect on the Group's businesses, financial situation and results.

2.8.2. Changes in the Group's pension obligations and commitments could have a material
adverse effect.

The Group provides retirement benefits for many former and current employees through a number
of defined benefit pension plans. The amount of the defined benefit obligations is calculated using actuarial
techniques and assumptions, including mortality rates, the rate of salary increases, discount rates, inflation
and the expected rate of return on plan assets. The accounting and financial information is based on IFRS
and other requirements defined by the local supervisors. Given the nature of these obligations, changes in
the assumptions that support valuations, including market conditions, can result in actuarial losses, which
would in turn impact the financial situation of the Group's pension funds. As pension obligations are
generally long term obligations, fluctuations in interest rates have a material impact on the projected costs
of the defined benefit obligations and therefore on the amount of pension expense that accrues.

Any increase in the size of the defined benefit pension plan deficit could result in increased
contributions to reduce or satisfy the deficit, which would divert funds from other business areas. Such
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increases could be due to certain factors over which the Group has no or limited control. Increases in
pension liabilities and obligations could have a material adverse effect on its businesses, financial
situation and operating income.

The Group's fund for pensions and similar obligations stood at 8,288 million euros at
31 December 2016. For further information, see note 25.c) to the financial statements.

2.8.3. The Group depends in part on dividends and other funds from subsidiaries.

The majority of Group operations are conducted through its financial services subsidiaries. As
a result, its ability to pay dividends, to the extent it decides to do so, depends largely on the ability of
these subsidiaries to generate earnings and to pay dividends. The payment of dividends, distributions
and advances by Group subsidiaries will be contingent on their earnings and business considerations,
and is, or may be, limited by legal, regulatory or contractual restrictions. Additionally, the Group's right
to receive assets from any of its subsidiaries as an equity holder of these subsidiaries, upon their
liquidation or reorganisation, will be effectively subordinated to the claims other creditors, such as
employees or suppliers. Banco Santander, S.A.'s dividend income accounts for 46% of gross income.
For further information, see Banco Santander, S.A.'s 2016 income statement.

2.8.4. Increased competition, including from non-traditional providers of banking services such
as technology companies, and sector consolidation could adversely affect Group results.

The Group faces substantial competition in all areas of business, including loan origination and
attracting deposits. Competition in loan origination comes mainly from other domestic and foreign
banks, mortgage banking companies, consumer finance companies, insurance companies and other
lenders and purchasers of loans.

In addition, there has been a trend towards consolidation in the banking industry, which has created
larger and stronger banks with which it must now compete. There can be no assurance that this increased
competition will not adversely affect growth prospects, and therefore Group operations. The Group also
faces competition from non-bank competitors, such as brokerage companies, department stores (for
some credit products), leasing and factoring companies, mutual fund and pension fund management
companies and insurance companies.

Non-traditional providers of banking services, such as internet based e-commerce providers,
mobile telephone companies and online search engines may offer and/or increase their offer of financial
products and services directly to customers. These non-traditional providers of banking services
currently have an advantage over traditional providers because they are not subject to banking
regulation. Several of these competitors may have long operating histories, large customer bases, strong
brand recognition and significant financial and marketing resources. They may adopt more aggressive
pricing and rates and devote more resources to technology, infrastructure and marketing. New
competitors may enter the market or existing competitors may adjust their offer with unique products or
services or approaches to providing banking services. If the Group is unable to successfully compete
with current and new competitors, or if it is unable to anticipate and adapt its offer to changing banking
industry trends, including technological changes, business may be adversely affected. In addition, failure
to effectively anticipate or adapt to emerging technologies or changes in customer behaviour, including
among younger customers, could delay or prevent access to new digital-based markets. This could have
a negative effect on the Group's commercial and competitive position.

The rise in the use of internet and mobile banking platforms in recent years could negatively impact
investment in premises, equipment and personnel for the branch network. An acceleration of this shift
in demand towards internet and mobile banking could necessitate changes to the Group's retail banking
strategy, which may include closing and/or selling certain branches and restructuring remaining
branches and the work force. These actions could lead to losses on these assets and may lead to increased
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expenditure to renovate, reconfigure or close branches or to otherwise reform the retail distribution
channel. Furthermore, failure to effectively implement such changes could have an adverse effect the
Group's competitive position.

Increasing competition could also require that the Bank to increase the rates offered on deposits or
lower the rates charged on loans, which could damage profitability. It may also negatively affect
business results and prospects by, among other things, limiting its ability to increase its customer base
and expand operations, while also increasing competition for investment opportunities.

If customer service levels are perceived by the market to be lower than those of competing financial
institutions, the Group could lose existing and potential business. If it is not successful in retaining and
strengthening customer relationships, it may lose market share, incur losses on some or all of its
activities or fail to attract new deposits or retain existing deposits. This could materially affect the
Group's businesses, financial position and results.

2.8.5. The Group's ability to maintain its competitive position partly depends on the success of
new products and services offered to customers and its ability to continue offering products
and services from third parties. A wider range of products and services could negatively
impact the Group if it is not able to control the associated risks.

The success of the Group's operations and profitability depends, in part, on the success of new
products and services offered to customers and its ability to continue offering products and services from
third parties. However, there is no guarantee that new products and services will respond to customer
demands, or that they will be successful. In addition, customers’ needs and desires may change over time,
and such changes may render the Group's products and services obsolete, outdated or unattractive and it
may not be able to develop new products that meet customers’ changing needs. Success is also dependent
on the ability to anticipate and leverage new and existing technologies that may have an impact on products
and services in the financial sector. Technological changes may further intensify and complicate the
competitive landscape and influence customer behaviour. If the Group cannot respond in a timely fashion
to the changing needs of its customers, it may lose them, and this could have a material adverse effect.

As the Group expands its range of products and services, some of which may be at an early stage of
development in the markets of certain regions where it operates, it will be exposed to new and potentially
increasingly complex risks, in addition to development costs. Employees and risk management systems,
as well as their experience and that of their partners, may not be sufficient to properly manage this type of
risk. In addition, the cost of developing products that are not launched could affect operating income.
These factors, individually or collectively, could have a material adverse impact.

While the Group has successfully improved its customer service levels in recent years, if these
levels ever be perceived by the market to be below those of its competitors, existing and potential
customers could be lost. If the Group is not successful in retaining and strengthening customer
relationships, it may lose market share, incur losses on some of its activities or fail to attract new deposits
or retain existing deposits, which could have a material adverse effect on its businesses, financial
situation and income statement.

2.8.6. If the Group is unable to manage the growth of its operations, this could have a negative
impact on profitability.

The Group allocates management and planning resources to develop strategic plans for organic
growth, and to identify possible acquisitions and disposals and areas for restructuring. From time to time,
it evaluates acquisition and partnership opportunities that it believes offer additional value to shareholders
and are consistent with its business strategy. However, it may not be able to identify suitable acquisition
or partnership candidates, and its ability to benefit from any such acquisitions and partnerships will depend
in part on the successful integration of those businesses. Any such integration entails significant risks such
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as unforeseen difficulties in integrating operations and systems and unexpected liabilities or contingencies
relating to the acquired businesses, including legal claims. There is no guarantee that the expectations with
regard to integration and synergies will materialise. It is also unable to provide assurance that it will, in all
cases, be able to manage growth effectively or deliver its strategic growth objectives. Challenges that may
result from strategic growth decisions include the ability to:

« efficiently manage the operations and employees of expanding businesses;
* maintain or grow its existing customer base;

 assess the value, strengths and weaknesses of potential investments or acquisitions, including
local regulation that may reduce or eliminate expected synergies;

« finance strategic investments or acquisitions;
« align its current information technology systems adequately with those of an enlarged group;
 apply its risk management policy effectively in the enlarged group; and

* manage a growing number of entities without over-committing management or losing key
personnel.

Any failure to manage growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on the Group's
businesses, financial position and results.

In addition, any acquisition or venture could result in the loss of key employees or inconsistencies
in standards, controls, procedures and policies.

Moreover, the success of the acquisition or partnership will be, at least in part, subject to a number
of political, economic and other factors that are beyond the Group's control. Any of these factors,
individually or collectively, could have a material adverse effect.

2.8.7. Goodwill impairments could be recognised in relation to acquired businesses.

The Group has made several acquisitions in recent years and may make further acquisitions in the
future. It is possible that the goodwill which has been recognised, or may be recognised on the
acquisition of these businesses may have to be written-down if valuation assumptions are required to be
reassessed as a result of any decline in profitability, asset quality or other relevant items. The Group
tests the goodwill it has recognised for impairment with respect to its recoverable amount at least once
a year (or more often if there are indications of impairment). Goodwill impairment does not, however,
affect regulatory capital. Even though no significant impairment of goodwill was recognised in 2014,
2015 or 2016, there is no guarantee that this impairment will not be recognised in the future. Recognition
of a substantial impairment of goodwill could negatively affect Group results and net assets.

At 31 December 2016, the Group had recognised goodwill of 26,724 million euros, of which
8,679 million euros and 5,769 million euros derived from Santander UK and Banco Santander (Brasil),
respectively. For further information, see note 17 to the financial statements.

2.8.8. The Group's success lies in recruitment, retaining and development of senior management
and skilled personnel.

The Group's continued success depends in part on the work of its senior management and other key
employees. The ability to attract, train, motivate and retain highly qualified professionals is a key element
of Group strategy. The successful implementation of its strategy and culture depends on the availability of
skilled management, both at head office and in each of the business units. If the Group or one of its business
units fails to staff its operations appropriately, or loses one or more of its key employees and fails to replace
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them in a satisfactory and timely manner, its business, financial situation and results may be negatively
affected by weakened controls and increased operational risk, among others.

In addition, the financial industry is subject to more stringent regulations on employee
compensation, which could have an adverse effect on the Group's ability to hire or retain the best
qualified employees. If it is unable to attract, train, motivate and retain qualified professionals,
businesses may be adversely affected.

2.8.9. The Group relies on third parties and subsidiaries for important products and services.

Third party vendors and certain subsidiaries provide key components of business infrastructure
such as loan and deposit servicing systems, back office and operations support, information technology
production and support, internet connections and network access. Relying on these third parties and
subsidiaries can be a source of operational and regulatory risk for various reasons, including failures in
their security systems. The Group is also subject to risk with respect to security breaches affecting the
vendors and other parties that interact with these service providers. As interconnectivity with these third
parties and subsidiaries increases, operational risk deriving from the failure of their systems increases.
The Group may be required to take steps to protect the integrity of its operational systems, thereby
increasing operational costs and potentially decreasing customer satisfaction. In addition, any problems
caused by these providers, such as their failure to provide services for any reason, or performing their
services poorly, could adversely affect its ability to deliver products and services to customers and
otherwise conduct its business, which could lead to reputational damage or regulatory investigations and
intervention. Replacing these third party vendors could also entail significant delays and expense.
Further, the operational and regulatory risk faced as a result of these arrangements may be increased to
the extent that these arrangements have to be restructured. Any restructuring could involve significant
expense to the Group and entail significant delivery and execution risk, which could have a material
adverse effect on its businesses, financial situation and results.

2.8.10. Damage to the Group's reputation could affect its business.

Maintaining a positive reputation is critical to protect the Group's brand, attract and retain
customers, investors and employees and conduct business transactions with counterparties. Reputational
damage can therefore cause significant harm to its business and prospects. There are numerous sources
of reputational risk, including employee misconduct or fraud, litigation or regulatory enforcement,
failure to deliver minimum standards of service and quality, compliance failures, unethical behaviour,
or the activities of customers and counterparties. Damage could also be caused by negative publicity.

Actions taken by the financial services industry generally or by certain members of, or individuals
in, the industry could also affect the Group's reputation. For example, the behaviour of certain sector
institutions during the financial crisis and the shift toward increasing regulatory supervision and
enforcement has triggered a decline in the public perception of financial entities.

The Group could suffer significant reputational harm if it fails to identify and manage potential
conflicts of interest properly. The failure, or perceived failure, to adequately address conflicts of interest
could affect the willingness of customers to deal with the Group, or give rise to litigation or enforcement
actions. Therefore, there can be no assurance that conflicts of interest will not arise in the future that
could cause material harm to the Group.

2.8.11. The Group carries out transactions with its subsidiaries and related parties. Third parties
could consider that these transactions are not made on an arm’s length basis.

The Group has signed a large number of service agreements with subsidiaries and related parties
for the provision of administrative, accounting, financial, treasury and legal services, among others.
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Spanish law provides for several procedures designed to ensure that the transactions entered into
between subsidiaries or Group companies are performed on an arm's length basis.

The Group is likely to continue carrying out transactions with its subsidiaries and related parties.
Future conflicts of interests between the Group and its subsidiaries and related parties, or between its
subsidiaries and related parties may arise, which may not be resolved in favour of the Group.

2.9. Financial reporting and control risks
2.9.1. Changes in accounting standards could impact reported earnings.

The accounting standard setters and other regulatory bodies periodically change the financial
accounting and reporting standards that govern the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
These changes can materially impact how the Group records and reports its financial situation and
operating income. In some cases, it could be required to apply a revised or new standard retroactively,
resulting in the restatement of prior period financial statements.

For details of the adoption of new rules and interpretations see note 1. b) to the financial statements.
Specifically, IFRS 9 Financial instruments, IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers and IFRS
16 Leases, among others, will come into force from 31 December 2016. Their application could have
a significant impact on the Group's financial statements. This impact is being assessed at the registration
date of this report. For IFRS 9, the Group will include qualitative information in its interim consolidated
abridged financial statements for the first half of 2017. In addition, the Group will include a preliminary
estimate of the quantitative impact of the standard in the interim financial statements.

2.9.2. The Group's financial statements are based in part on assumptions and estimates which,
if inaccurate, could cause material misstatement of its results of operations and financial
position.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Due to the
uncertainty inherent in these estimates, results in future periods may differ. These judgements, estimates
and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are considered reasonable. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
Accounting policies based on materiality criteria and on judgements and estimates have a material effect
on the Group's results and financial situation. These policies affect the recognition of impairment of
loans and advances and goodwill, the valuation of financial instruments, the impairment of available-
for-sale financial assets, deferred tax assets provisions and provisions for liabilities.

If the judgments, estimates and assumptions used to prepare the consolidated financial statements
are subsequently found to be incorrect, this could have a material effect on results of operations, which
in turn could affect funding requirements and capital ratios.

2.9.3. Controls and procedures for financial reporting may not prevent or detect all errors or acts
of fraud. Likewise, the controls implemented by the Group may not be sufficient to prevent
internal acts of fraud.

The objective of the controls and procedures implemented for financial reporting is to provide
reasonable assurance that the information required by the regulators is reported to senior management
and recorded, processed, synthesised and published in due time and form.

These disclosure controls and procedures have inherent limitations which include the possibility
that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns occur because of errors.
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Additionally, controls can be circumvented or even sabotaged. Consequently, the Group's businesses
are exposed to risks relating to non-compliance with corporate policies, employee misconduct or
negligence and fraud, which could result in regulatory sanctions, civil claims and serious reputational
or financial harm. A number of multinational financial institutions have suffered material losses due to
the actions of ‘rogue traders’ or other employees. It is not always possible to deter employee misconduct
and the precautions we take to prevent and detect this activity may not always be effective. Accordingly,
because of the inherent limitations in the control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected.
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CHAPTER 1
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE

1.1 PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CONTENT OF THE REGISTRATION
DOCUMENT

José Garcia Cantera, acting on behalf of and representing BANCO SANTANDER, S.A. the (“Bank”,
“Banco Santander”, the “Company” or “Santander”), as senior executive vice-president, is hereby
responsible for the entire content of the Bank's Share Registration Document (the “Registration
Document”), that is presented in the format required in Annex | of Regulation (EC) 809/2004, of the
European Commission, of 29 April 2004, and the minimum disclosure requirements set down in article
7 of Directive 2003/171/EC. Joseé Garcia Cantera has sufficient powers to bind the Bank in virtue of the
public deed extended before Notary Juan de Dios Valenzuela Garcia of the Cantabria College of
Notaries, resident in Santander, on 4 June 2012, under protocol 968.

1.2 STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

José Garcia Cantera, on behalf of and representing the Bank, having acted with reasonable diligence to
ensure that such is the case, declares that the information contained in this Registration Document, is,
to the best of his knowledge, true, and contains no omissions that could affect its content.

CHAPTER 2
AUDITORS

21 AUDITOR'S NAME AND ADDRESS

The Bank's consolidated and separate financial statements for 2016 have been audited by the external
firm PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores S.L., with registered offices in Madrid, Paseo de la Castellana,
n° 259 B, tax identification number B-79031290 and registered on the Official Register of Accounts
Auditors of the Accounting and Auditing Institute of the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness
under number S-0242. The Bank's consolidated and separate financial statements for 2015 and 2014
were audited by the external audit firm Deloitte, S.L., with registered offices in Madrid, Plaza Pablo
Ruiz Picasso, 1, and registered in the Official Register of Accounts Auditors under number S-0692.

2.2 AUDITORS' RESIGNATION

The Bank's auditors did not resign and were not dismissed from their functions during the period covered
by the historical financial data.

On 6 July 2015, the Board of Directors appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. as the
external auditor of the Bank and the consolidated Group, to audit its financial statements for 2016, 2017
and 2018. This decision was taken in accordance with corporate governance recommendations regarding
the rotation of the external auditor, at the proposal of the audit committee and as a result of a selection
process conducted with full transparency.
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Subsequently, the annual general shareholders' meeting held on 18 March 2016 approved the designation of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. as the new external auditor of Banco Santander, S.A. and its
consolidated Group for verification of the annual financial statements corresponding to the financial years
2016, 2017 and 2018. The appointment was is filed with the Companies Registry of Cantabria on 15 April
2016, in sheet S-1960, volume 1089, book 9, folio 214, entry 2999.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CHAPTER 3

3.1 SELECTED HISTORICAL INFORMATION

The information contained in this chapter should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
financial statements and is subject in full to the content of these financial statements.

Balance sheet (millions of euros)
Total assets

Loans and advances to customers (net)
Customer deposits

Own funds

Income statement (millions of euros)
Net interest income

Gross income

Profit before tax

Consolidated profit

Profit attributable to the Group
Attributable profit per share (euros)

Profitability and efficiency/total profit (**)
ROE (1)

RoTE (1)

RoA (1)

RoRWA (1)

Efficiency (including write-downs) (1)
Solvency and NPLs (**)

CET1 (fully-loaded)

CET1 (phase-in)

Non-performing loans ratio (1)

NPL coverage ratio (1)

Shares and capitalisation (**)

Number of shares (millions)

Price (euros)

Market capitalisation (millions of euros)
Tangible book value per share (euros) (1)
Price/tangible book value per share (times)
PER (price/earnings per share) (times)
Other figures (**)

Number of shareholders

Number of employees

Number of branches

2016

1,339,125
790,470
691,111

90,939

31,089
44,232
10,768
7,486
6,204
0.41

6.99%
10.4%
0.56%
1.3%
48%

10.6%
12.5%

3.9%
73.8%

14,582
4,959
72,314
4.2
1.17
12.18

3,928,950
188,492
12,235

2015(*)

1,340,260
790,848
683,142

88,040

32,812
45,895
9,547
7,334
5,966
0.40

6.6%
10.0%
0.55%

1.2%

47%

10.1%
12.6%

4.4%
73.1%

14,434
4,558
65,792
4.1
112
11.30

3,573,277
193,863
13,030

Absolute % 2014(*)
(1,2135) -0.1% 1,266,296
(378) -0.05% 734,711
7,969 1% 647,706
2,899 3% 80,805
(1,723) -5% 29,547
(1,663) -4% 42,612
1,221 13% 10,679
152 2% 6,935
238 4% 5,816
0.01 2% 0.48

Change
Absolute

148
0,401
6,521

355,673
(5,371)
(795)

1%
9%
10%

10.0 3,

-3%
-6%

7.8%
12.8%
0.58%

1.3%

47%

9.7%
12.2%
5.2%
67.2%

12,584
6,996
88,041
4.0
1.75
14.59

240,395
185,405
12,951

(*) Unaudited data presented exclusively for comparison with the audited financial statements for the year ended December 2016. See Note 1.d of the
2016 financial statements for the differences with respect to published 2015 figures. The Santander Group's consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2016 are presented in accordance with the model required under CNMV Circular 5/2015. To facilitate comparison, the financial
statements and disclosures required in 2015 and 2014 have been restated in accordance with the new models, although the changes are not significant.

(**) Unaudited data.

(1) See Glossary of APMs in chapter 26.
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3.2 INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION SELECTED

The information contained in this chapter should be read in conjunction with the Group's interim
financial information at 31 March 2017 included in chapter 20.6 of this report, and is subject in full to
the content of these financial statements.

Change

1Q17 1Q 16 Absolute %
Balance sheet (millions of euros)
Total assets 1,351,956 1,324,200 27,756 2%
Loans and advances to customers (net) 795,312 773,452 21,859 3%
Customer deposits 705,786 670,627 35,159 5%
Equity 104,869 98,781 6,088 6%
Income statement (millions of euros)
Net interest income 8,402 7,624 778 10%
Gross income 12,029 10,730 1,299 12%
Profit before tax 3,311 2,732 579 21%
Consolidated profit 2,186 1,922 264 14%
Profit attributable to the Group 1,867 1,633 234 14%
Attributable profit per share (euros) 0.122 0.108 0.01 13%
Profitability and efficiency/total profit (%)
ROE (1) 8.19 7.46
RoTE (1) 12.13 11.13
RoA (1) 0.65 0.58
RoRWA (1) 1.48 1.33
Efficiency (including write-downs) (1) 46.1 48.1
Solvency and NPLs (%)
CET1 (fully-loaded) 10.66 10.27
CET1 (phase-in) 12.12 12.36
Non-performing loans ratio 3.74 4.33
NPL coverage ratio 74.6 74.0
Shares and capitalisation
Number of shares (millions) 14,582 14,434 148 1%
Price (euros) 5,745 3,874 1,871 48%
Market capitalisation (millions of euros) 83,776 55,919 27,856 50%
Tangible book value (€) 4,26 4,07
Price/tangible book value per share (times) 1,35 0,95
PER (price/earnings per share) (times) 11,74 8,99
Other figures
Number of shareholders 3,957,838 3,682,927 274,911 7%
Number of employees 188,182 194,519 (6,337) -3%
Number of branches 12,117 12,962 (845) -7%

Note: The financial information contained herein is not audited. However, it was approved by the company's Board of Directors on 25 April 2017,
after a favourable report from the Audit Committee dated 19 April 2017. In its review, the Audit Committee verified that the 2017 financial
information was prepared in accordance with the same principles and practices applied to the financial statements.

(1) See glossary of APMs in
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CHAPTER 4

RISK FACTORS
See the risk factors described at the beginning of this report.

CHAPTER S

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER
51 ISSUER'S HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT
5.1.1 Legal and commercial name

The Bank's corporate name is BANCO SANTANDER, S.A. and it operates under the commercial name
Santander. The Bank's Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) is 5493006QMFDDMYWIAM13.

5.1.2 Place and number of registration

The Bank is registered with the Companies Registry of Cantabria, and its Bylaws have been adapted to
Royal Legislative Decree 1/2020, of 2 July, approving the revised text of the Spanish Corporate
Enterprises Act (Ley de Sociedades de Capital) by means of the notarial instrument executed in
Santander on 29 July 2011 before notary Juan de Dios Valenzuela Garcia, under number 1209 of his
book and filed with Companies Registry of Cantabria in volume 1006 of the Archive, folio 28, page
number S-1960, entry 2038.

The Bank is also registered in the Special Registry of Banks and Bankers with code number 0049.
5.1.3 Date of incorporation and length of activity

The Bank was established in the city of Santander by public deed before the Notary Public of Santander
José Dou Martinez on 3 March 1856, and was later ratified and amended in part by a second public deed
dated 21 March 1857 executed before the Notary Public of Santander José Maria Olaran. It commenced
operations on 20 August 1857.

The Bank commenced its activities upon incorporation and, according to article 4 of the Bylaws, its
duration shall be for an indefinite period of time:

“Article 4. Commencement of activities and duration:
1. The Company commenced its activities on 20 August 1857.
2. The Company was incorporate for an indefinite period of time".

5.1.4 Domicile, legal form, legislation under which it operates, country of incorporation, address
and telephone number of registered office

The Bank is domiciled in Spain, has the legal form of a public limited company (sociedad anénima) and
its activities are subject to special Spanish laws applicable to credit institutions in general and,
specifically, to the supervision, control and regulations of the Bank of Spain (Banco de Esparia) and the
European Central Bank.
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Banco Santander, S.A. was incorporated in Spain. Its registered offices are located in Paseo de Pereda
9-12, Santander. The Bank's head office is located at Ciudad Grupo Santander, Avda. de Cantabria, s/n,
28660 Boadilla del Monte (Madrid). The telephone number for Investor Relations at the Bank's head
office is +34 91 259 65 14.

5.1.5 Important events in the development of the business

The Bank was established in the city of Santander by public deed executed on 3 March 1856, later
ratified and amended in part by a second public deed dated 21 March 1857, and it began to operate on
20 August 1857. It was transformed into a credit corporation (sociedad anonima de crédito) by public
deed, executed by Santander Notary Ignacio Pérez, on 14 January 1875, amended by subsequent public
deeds, and registered in the Companies Registry Book of the Government’s Trade Promotion Section in
the Province of Santander. The Bank amended its Bylaws to conform to the Spanish Business
Corporations Law (Ley de Sociedades Andnimas) by means of a public deed executed in Santander on
8 June 1992 before Notary José Maria de Prada Diez and recorded in his notarial record book under
number 1316. The Bank brought its Bylaws into line with the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act (Ley
de Sociedades de Capital) by means of a public deed executed in Santander on 29 July 2011 before
Notary Juan de Dios Valenzuela Garcia and recorded in his notarial record book under number 1209.

It commenced its activities upon incorporation.

In 1999, Banco Santander, S.A. merged with Banco Central Hispanoamericano, S.A. Banco Santander,
S.A. was the absorbing company. The merger of Banco Santander, S.A. and Banco Central
Hispanoamericano, S.A. was finalised by the boards of directors of both institutions on 15 January 1999
and approved by shareholders at their respective general shareholders' meetings on 6 March 1999. As
part of the merger framework, the Bank changed its name to Banco Santander Central Hispano, S.A.
Subsequently, at the general shareholders’ meeting held on 23 June 2007, shareholders resolved to
change the name back to Banco Santander, S.A.

On 25 July 2004, the boards of directors of the Bank and of Abbey National plc (Abbey) approved the
terms upon which Abbey's board of directors was to recommend to its shareholders the takeover bid
made by the Bank for all the ordinary shares of Abbey under a Scheme of Arrangement subject to the
UK Companies Act.

Following the respective general shareholders' meetings of Abbey and of the Bank, held in October
2004, and once all other conditions for the transaction had been met, the acquisition was completed
on 12 November 2004 through the delivery of one new share of the Bank for each ordinary share of
Abbey (now Santander UK).

On 20 July 2007, the Bank, together with The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc, Fortis N.V. and Fortis
S.A./N.V., through RFS Holdings B.V., made an offer for the total share capital of ABN AMRO Holding
N.V. (ABN AMRO).

The ABN AMRO acquisition was completed on 31 October 2007 and the spin-off of its businesses
began. The main asset acquired by Santander was the Brazilian bank, Banco Real.

On 30 January 2009, the acquisition of Sovereign Bancorp (currently Santander Bank, N.A.) was
completed and it became a 100%-owned subsidiary of the Santander Group. Through this purchase, the
Group entered the United States commercial banking business.

Shareholders at the general meeting held on 22 March 2013 approved the merger by absorption of Banco
Espafiol de Crédito, S.A. and Banco Banif, S.A. Unipersonal by Banco Santander, S.A.

On 8 January 2015, the Group announced that the board of directors had agreed to increase capital
through an Accelerated Bookbuilt Offering with the exclusion of preferential subscription rights. The
capital increase totalled 7,500 million euros, of which 607 million euros corresponded to the nominal
value of the 1,213,592,234 new shares issued and 6,893 million euros to the share premium.
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On 7 June 2017, Banco Santander, S.A. announced the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco
Popular Espafiol, S.A. As part of this transaction, Banco Santander will raise approximately
7,072 million euros to cover the capital and provisions that will be needed to strengthen the balance
sheet of the acquiree bank.

Note 3 to the financial statements contains a summary of the main purchases and sales of stakes in other
companies, and other major corporate transactions made by the Group in the last three years. Note 8 to
the financial statements also contains a summary of the main purchases and spin-offs of equity
instruments made in last three years. Note 34 to the financial statements contains a summary of the main
transactions relating to other equity instruments and treasury shares. Note 44 to the financial statements
contains a summary of results from the exchange and buyback of issues. The most significant events in
Group companies in 2017 up to the registration date of this report are shown below.

The most significant events in Group companies in 2017:
(@) Acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular

On 7 June 2017, Banco Santander, S.A. announced the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco
Popular Espariol, S.A. following a competitive sale process held as part of the resolution adopted by the
Single Resolution Board and implemented by the FROB, in accordance with (EU) Regulation 806/2014
of the European Parliament and Council, of 15 July, Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament
and Council, of 15 May 2014 and Law 11/2015, of 18 June, on the recovery and resolution of credit
institutions and investment services companies.

As part of the execution of the resolution scheme: (i) all the shares of Banco Popular outstanding at the
close of business on 6 June 2017 and all the shares resulting from the conversion of the Additional Tier
1 regulatory capital instruments issued by Banco Popular were cancelled in full and (ii) all the Tier 2
regulatory capital instruments issued by Banco Popular were converted into newly issued shares of
Banco Popular, all of which were acquired by Banco Santander for the price of one euro (€1).

Banco Santander will also carry out a capital increase for approximately 7,072 million euros to reinforce
and optimise the Bank's equity structure so as suitably to accommodate the acquisition of 100% of the
share capital of Banco Popular. Banco Santander's current shares carry preferential subscription rights
in this capital increase. Banco Santander has underwriting commitments for the whole amount.

Banco Santander's integration with Banco Popular will significantly strengthen the Group's franchise in
Spain and Portugal.

In Spain, the new entity, which will operate under the Santander brand, will have assign strategic priority
to increasing its SME business, and the acquisition will further diversify its business portfolio, with a
greater weighting in segments that contribute greater profitability at a positive point of the economic
cycle.

The transaction also includes Banco Popular's business in Portugal, which will form part of Santander
Totta. The transaction will boost the growth of Santander Totta, strengthening its position in the country.

The acquisition of Banco Popular meets strict strategic and financial investment criteria and is expected
to strengthen the Group's main business ratios. It is also aligned with the Bank's commitment to making
purchases that complement the franchises in its main markets when they generate value for customers
and shareholders.

The new entity will show an increase in profitability and generate cost synergies, with savings of around
500 million euros a year from 2020 onwards.

The impact of these transactions on the Banco Santander Group's CETL1 is expected to be neutral, and
in the future it is expected to increase the Bank's organic capital generation capacity. Santander
maintains its commitment to increasing its CET1 ratio to over 11% in 2018.
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Santander Spain's current management team, headed by CEO, Rami Aboukhair, will manage the new
entity.

Banco Popular experienced significant deposit losses prior to the acquisition, and Banco Santander
provided €13 billion of funding to Banco Popular following the acquisition in order to enhance its
liquidity. Since the acquisition, Banco Popular’s deposit base has begun to recover.

Banco Popular has entered in recent years in a number of joint ventures and alliances involving a
significant proportion of its businesses. Banco Santander is in the process of assessing the strategic
rationale of these joint ventures as customary following an acquisition. As a result of that assessment
and the contractual terms of such joint ventures, some or all of those joint ventures may be terminated
or renegotiated, which may lead, in turn, to the sale of Banco Popular’s participation or to the
reinvestment in such joint ventures. As part of such assessment process, on June 30, 2017, Banco
Popular announced its decision to repurchase 51% of the share capital of Aliseda Servicios de Gestion
Inmobiliaria, S.L., a real estate servicer, which Banco Popular does not already hold, for 180 million
euros.

Moreover, Banco Santander intends to scale down the Group’s non-performing assets (real estate and
non-performing loans) after the acquisition of Banco Popular. Said reduction will take place in a period
shorter than three years. However, this period could be substantially shorter if demand circumstances
and market prices allow that. In this regard, on 30 June 2017 Banco Popular inform that it has agreed to
initiate a process to find partners or investors for a non-performing assets portfolio with an estimated
gross value of 30 billion euros.

(b) Agreement concerning Santander Asset Management

On 16 November 2016, following the discontinuation agreed with the Unicredit Group on 27 July 2016
with regard to the merger project between Santander Asset Management and Pioneer Investments, the
Group announced it had reached an agreement with Warburg Pincus (“WP”) and General Atlantic
(“GA”) whereby Santander will purchase the 50% stake held by the companies in Santander Asset
Management, thus making it again a wholly-owned Santander Group company once more.

As part of this operation, Santander, WP and GA agreed to explore a number of alternatives for the
disposal of stakes in Allfunds Bank, S.A. (*Allfunds Bank”), and these included a possible sale or an
initial public offering. On 7 March 2017, the Bank announced that, with its partners at Allfunds Bank,
it had reached an agreement to sell 100% of Allfunds Bank to funds affiliated with Hellman & Friedman,
a venture capital fund, and the Singapore sovereign wealth fund (GIC, Government of Singapore
Investment Corporation).

The Group estimates a consideration of approximately 470 million euros from the sale of its 25% stake
in Allfunds Bank, which implies a net capital gain of around 300 million euros, and that in 2018 the sale
of Allfunds Bank, together with the purchase of the 50% of Santander Asset Management not owned by
Santander, will positively impact the earning per share ratio and generate a return on capital (return on
invested capital, RoIC?) of over 20% (25% in 2019). The Group also believes that at year-end 2017 the
capital consumption (core equity tier 1) of both transactions will be approximately 11 basis points. Both
operations are subject to the corresponding regulatory permits being secured.

52 INVESTMENTS
5.2.1 Main investments made by the issuer

The main investments and disposals made in 2016, 2015 and 2014 are listed in notes 3 and 8 to the
financial statements. See also chapter 11 for investments in technological developments.

2 The return on investment capital (ROIC) is a measure of the company's capacity to generate gains on each euro of capital invested.
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5.2.2 Main investments made in the current year

On 7 June 2017, the Santander Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular. See chapter
5.1.5 (a) Acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular.

The Group also invested in recurring technological developments for the same amount as in previous
years. See chapter 11 for investments in technological developments in previous years.

5.2.3 Future investments for which firm commitments have already been made

Other than the investments and disposals mentioned below and recurrent investments in technological
developments (that are expected to be in line with previous years) there are no investments or pending
disposals that affect key businesses with respect to which firm commitments have been made and which
are pending implementation.

e Agreement to purchase 100% of Santander Asset Management and sale of Allfunds Bank, S.A.
See chapter 5.1.5 (b) Agreement concerning Santander Asset Management.

e Agreement to purchase the 9.65% stake held by DDFS LLC in Santander Consumer USA Holdings,
Inc. Following this transaction, which is subject to the corresponding regulatory approval, the
Group's stake in Santander Consumer USA Holdings, Inc. would be approximately 68.5%.

e Agreement to acquire 51% of Aliseda Servicios de Gestion Inmobiliaria, S.L. See chapter 5.1.5 (a)
Acaquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular.

* * *

CHAPTER 6
BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

6.1 MAINACTIVITIES
6.1.1 General description of the operating areas

Banco Santander carries out a broad and diversified range of business activities, focused primarily on
retail and commercial banking. In accordance with IFRS, the Bank divides its operating business areas
into two segments:

Q) Principal (or geographical) segment.
The areas reported on are as follows:
— Continental Europe
— United Kingdom
— Latin America
— United States
(1 Secondary (or business) segment.
The areas reported on are as follows:
— Retail banking
— Santander Global Corporate Banking
— Real estate activity in Spain

In addition to the operating businesses described, the Group has a Corporate Centre.
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Notes 52 a) and b) to the financial statements contain a breakdown of the principal and secondary
segments, respectively.

The Directors' Report assesses the performance of the principal and secondary segments in 2016.

A summarised balance sheet and income statement for the different geographical areas are shown below:

Millions of euros
2016
] e |t i amica| et | G | tmgron |y
alance sheet (condensed) (Continental)

Total assets 520,136 354,960 320,767| 137,389 132,154 (126,281)| 1,339,125
Loans to customers 297,217 251,250 152,186 85,388 4,429 - 790,470
Financial assets held for trading 53,966 33,986 43,422 2,885 1,203 - 135,462
Available-for-sale financial assets 55,735 12,336 29,840 16,089 2,774 - 116,774
Central banks and credit institutions 58,085 15,305 48,612 1,090 172 (46,577) 76,687
Other tangible and intangible assets (*) 7,902 2,581 4111 10,648 741 - 25,983
Other asset accounts 47,231 39,502 42,596 21,289 122,835 (79,704) 193,749
Total liabilities and equity 520,136 354,960 320,767| 137,389 132154|  (126,281)| 1,339,125
Customer deposits 269,935 212,113 143,746 64,459 858 - 691,111
Debt securities issued 53,063 71,108 47,436 26,340 30,922 - 228,869
Liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts 651 - 1 - - - 652
Central banks and credit institutions 103,815 21,559 47,585 22,233 783 (46,577) 149,398
Other liability accounts (**) 61,488 34,068 57,475 9,896 15,230 - 178,157
Own funds 31,184 16,112 24,524 14,461 84,361 (79,704) 90,938
Other managed customer funds 65,834 8,564 81,034 3,828 ) ) 159,260
Investment funds 46,229 8,446 74,554 701 - - 129,930
Pension funds 11,298 - - - - - 11,298
Managed portfolios 8,307 118 6,480 3,127 - - 18,032
Managed customer funds (***) 388,832 291,785 272216 4607 31,780 -| 1,079,240

(*)  Includes tangible assets and other intangible assets.

(**) Includes, in addition to liability balances not broken down, the balance of minority interests.

(***) Includes customer deposits, debt securities issued and other managed customer funds.
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Millions of euros
2015
Europe United United Corporate | Intra-group
Balance sheet (condensed) (continental) | Kingdom | Latin America|  States centre eliminations Total
Total assets 538,645 383,155 267,885 130,584 148,134 (128,143)| 1,340,260
Loans to customers 287,252 282,673 133,139 84,190 3,594 - 790,848
Financial assets held for trading 60,151 40,138 33,669 2,299 2,656 - 138,913
Available-for-sale financial assets 60,913 12,279 25,926 19,145 3,773 - 122,036
Central banks and credit institutions 76,111 14,083 35,523 1,045 6,748 (50,980) 82,530
Other tangible and intangible assets (*) 11,798 3,025 3,522 9,156 289 - 27,790
Other asset accounts 42,420 30,957 36,106 14,749 131,074 (77,163) 178,143
Total liabilities and equity 538,645| 383,155 267,885 130,584 148,134 (128,143) 1,340,260
Customer deposits 263,462 231,947 122,413 60,115 5,205 - 683,142
Debt securities issued 51,103 74,260 39,526 23,905 37,366 - 226,160
Liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts 626 - 1 - - - 627
Central banks and credit institutions 132,688 23,610 42,395 26,170 1,490 (50,980) 175,373
Other liability accounts (**) 58,253 36,162 43,873 9,073 19,557 - 166,918
Own funds 32,513 17,176 19,677 11,321 84,516 (77,163) 88,040
Other managed customer funds 64,433 9,703 59,065 7,540 - - 140,741
Investment funds 44,393 9,564 54,426 645 - - 109,028
Pension funds 11,376 - - - - - 11,376
Managed portfolios 8,664 139 4,639 6,895 - - 20,337
Managed customer funds (***) 378,998 315,910 221,004 91,560 42,571 -| 1,050,043

(*)  Includes tangible assets and other intangible assets.
(**) Includes, in addition to liability balances not broken down, the balance of minority interests.

(***) Includes customer deposits, debt securities issued and other managed customer funds.
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Millions of euros
2014
Europe i . Intra-group
United United Corporate | gliminations
Balance sheet (condensed) (continental) | Kingdom [ Latin America | States centre Total
Total assets 496,598 354,235 268,488| 108,034 141,375 (102,434) | 1,266,296
Loans to customers 268,735 251,191 139,955 70,420 4,410 - 734,711
Financial assets held for trading 65,863 39,360 31,766 5,043 2,120 - 144,152
Available-for-sale financial assets 56,845 11,196 31,174 12,737 3,298 - 115,250
Central banks and credit institutions 66,602 14,093 22,104 3,460 2,433 (27,404) 81,288
Other tangible and intangible assets (*) 11,796 2,700 3,912 6,905 796 - 26,109
Other asset accounts 26,757 35,695 39,577 9,469 128,318 (75,030) 164,786
Total liabilities and equity 496,598| 354,235 2684838| 108034|  141375]  (102434)| 1,266,296
Customer deposits 256,909 202,328 131,826 51,304 5,339 - 647,706
Debt securities issued 54,840 74,957 38,363 16,796 28,739 - 213,695
Liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts 713 ) } } } ) 713
Central banks and credit institutions 90,305 26,720 35,978 17,760 12,257 (27,404) 155,616
Other liability accounts (**) 64,305 34,888 39,945 10,542 18,081 - 167,761
Own funds 29,526 15,342 22,376 11,632 76,959 (75,030) 80,805
Other managed customer funds 60,679 9,667 62488 8535 - -| 141360
Investment funds 40,829 9,524 57,548 1,618 - - 109,519
Pension funds 11,481 - - - - - 11,481
Managed portfolios 8,369 143 4,940 6,917 - - 20,369
Managed customer funds (***) 372428 286,952 232677| 76,635 34,078 -] 1,002,770

*) Includes tangible assets and other intangible assets.
(**) Includes, in addition to liability balances not broken down, the balance of minority interests.

(***) Includes customer deposits, debt securities issued and other managed customer funds.
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Millions of euros

2016
Income statement Europe United Corporate
(condensed) (continental) | Kingdom | Latin America | United States centre Total

NET INTEREST INCOME 8,161 4,405 13,345 5,917 (739) 31,089
Dividend income 272 1 78 30 32 413
Share of profit/(loss) of companies accounted for using the equity method 168 16 309 2 (51) 444
Net fee income 3,497 1,031 4,581 1,102 31) 10,180
Other income (*) 818 319 806 22 136 2,101
Other operating income (110) 44 (355) 460 (34) 5
GROSS INCOME 12,806 5,816 18,764 7,533 (687) 44,232
General expenses and depreciation and amortisation (6,781) (2,967) (7,692) (3,197) (464) (21,101)
Provisions or reversals of provisions (444) (276) (800) (72) (916) (2,508)
Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair

value through profit or loss (1,383) (58) (4,912) (3,187) (86) (9,626)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 4,198 2,515 5,360 1,077 (2,153) 10,997
Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets (36) (64) (42) (35) 37 (140)
Other income and charges (150) 1 59 (6) 7 (89)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 4,012 2,452 5,377 1,036 (2,100) 10,768
Income tax (1,083) (736) (1,363) (355) 255 (3.282)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 2,929 1,716 4,014 681 (1,854) 7,486
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations N N - - - -
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 2,929 1716 4,014 681 (1.854) 7,486
Profit/(loss) attributable to minority interests 330 36 628 286 2 1,282
PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP 2,599 1,680 3,386 395 (1,856) 6,204

(*) Includes Gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net; Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for
trading, net; Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net; Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net; and Exchange differences (net).
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Millions of euros
2015 2014
Income statement Europe . . Europe . .
United Latin Corporate United Latin Corporate
(condensed) (continental) | Kingdom America | United States | centre Total (continental) | Kingdom America | United States | centre Total
NET INTEREST INCOME 8,006 4,942 13,752 6,116 4) 32,812 7,517 4,234 13,620 4,789 (613) 29,547
Dividend income 277 1 57 48 72 455 286 1 88 29 31 435
Share of profit/(loss) of companies accounted for 120 10 285 3 (43) 375 (25) 9 283 4 (28) 243
using the equity method
Net fee income 3,417 1,001 4,452 1,086 (13) 10,033 3,500 1,028 4,372 830 (34) 9,696
Other income (*) 1,186 302 517 231 150 2,386 1,221 241 484 205 699 2,850
Other operating income (178) 37 (308) 316 (33) (166) 5 28 (290) 122 (24) (159)
GROSS INCOME 12,828 6,383 18,755 7,800 129 45,895 12,504 5,541 18,557 5,979 31 42,612
General expenses and depreciation and (6,735) (3,357) (7,906) (3,025) 697)|  (21,720) (6,444) (3,055) (7,850) (2,239) (598)| (20,186)
amortisation
Provisions or reversals of provisions (352) (351) (831) (164)|  (1408)|  (3,106) (205) (184) (946) (21)|  (1.653)]  (3,009)
Impairment or reversal of impairment on
financial assets not measured at fair value
through profit or loss (2,083) (107) (5,108) (3,103) (251)| (10,652) (2,975) (332) (5,145) (2,233) (25)| (10,710)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 3,658 2,568 4,910 1,508 (2,227) 10,417 2,880 1,970 4,616 1,486 (2,245) 8,707
Impairment or reversal of impairment on non- 172) 9) 20 - (931) (1,092) (156) - 16 (12) (786) (938)
financial assets
Other income and charges (120) 5 78 16 243 222 (238) 3 113 46 2,986 2,910
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 3,366 2,564 5,008 1,524 (2,915) 9,547 2,486 1,973 4,745 1,520 (45) 10,679
Income tax (887) (556) (1,219) (517) 966 (2,213) (639) (416) (1,053) (439) (1,171) (3,718)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM 2,479 2,008 3,789 1,007 (1,949) 7,334 1,847 1,557 3,692 1,081 (1,216) 6,961
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations - h - - - h (26) - h - h (26)
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR 2,479 2,008 3,789 1,007 (1,949) 7,334 1,821 1,557 3,692 1,081 (1,216) 6,935
THE YEAR
Profit/(loss) attributable to minority interests 261 37 596 329 145 1368 174 1 790 219 (69) 1,119
(F;F;{%TJI;/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 2,218 1,971 3,193 678  (2,094) 5,966 1,647 1,556 2,902 862  (1,151) 5,816

(*) Includes Gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net; Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net; Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss, net; Gains/(losses) from hedge accounting, net; and Exchange differences (net).
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A summarised income statement for the different business areas is shown below:

Millions of euros
2016
Santander
Global Real estate
Commercial Corporate | businessin | Corporate
Income statement (condensed) banking Banking Spain centre Total
NET INTEREST INCOME 29,090 2,781 (43) (739) 31,089
Dividend income 131 250 - 32 413
Share of profit/(loss) of companies accounted for using the equity 505 0 @) (51) 444
method
Net fee income 8,745 1,465 1 (31) 10,180
Other income (*) 663 1,293 9 136 2,101
Other operating income (79) 43 75 (34) 5
GROSS INCOME 39,055 5,825 39 (687) 44,232
General expenses and depreciation and amortisation (18,475) (1,951) (211) (464) (21,101)
Provisions or reversals of provisions (1,547) (40) (5) (916) (2,508)
Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured
at fair value through profit or loss (8,713) (660) (167) (86) (9.626)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 10.320 3.174 (344) (2,153) 10,997
Impairment losses on other assets (net) 97) (59) (21) 37 (140)
Other non-financial income (22) 22 (96) 7 (89)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 10,201 3,137 (461) (2,109) 10,768
Income tax (2,799) (876) 138 255 (3,282)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS 7,402 2,261 (323) (1,854) 7,486
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations - - - - -
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 7402 2261 (323) (1,854) 7486
Attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests) 1,105 172 3 2 1,282
PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT
COMPANY 6,297 2,089 (326) (1,856) 6,204
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Millions of euros

2015 2014
Commercial Santander Santander
banking Global Real estate Global Real estate
Corporate business in Corporate Commercial Corporate business in Corporate
Income statement (condensed) Banking Spain centre Total banking Banking Spain centre Total

NET INTEREST INCOME 30,027 2,830 (41) 4 32,812 27,699 2,481 (20) (613) 29,547
Dividend income 124 259 - 72 455 132 272 - 31 435
Share of profit/(loss) of companies accounted for using the equity

method 434 (6) (10) (43) 375 341 ) (68) (28) 243
Net fee income 8,621 1,425 - (13) 10,033 8,338 1,392 - (34) 9,696
Other income (*) 1,346 739 151 150 2,386 1,394 749 8 699 2,850
Other operating income (194) 24 37 (33) (166) (215) 31 49 (24) (159)
GROSS INCOME 40,358 5,271 137 129 45,895 37,689 4,923 (31) 31 42,612
General expenses and depreciation and amortisation (18,730) (2,058) (235) (697) (21,720) (17,519) (1,840) (229) (598) (20,186)
Provisions or reversals of provisions (1,656) (51) 9 (1,408) (3,106) (1,309) (38) 9) (1,653) (3,009)
Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured

at fair value through profit or loss (9,462) (688) (251) (251) (10,652) (9,812) (552) (321) (25) (10,710)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 10,510 2,474 (340) (2,227) 10,417 9,049 2,493 (590) (2,245) 8,707
Impairment losses on non-financial assets, net 2 37) (126) (931) (1,092) (26) (43) (83) (786) (938)
Other income and charges 117 4 (142) 243 222 158 (13) (221) 2,986 2,910
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 10,629 2,441 (608) (2,915) 9,547 9,181 2,437 (894) (45) 10,679
Income tax (2,663) (695) 179 966 (2,213) (2,128) (667) 248 (1,171) (3,718)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING

OPERATIONS 7,966 1,746 (429) (1,949) 7,334 7,053 1,770 (646) (1,216) 6,961
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations - - - - - (26) - - - (26)
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 7,966 1,746 (429) (1,949) 7,334 7,027 1,770 (646) (1,216) 6,935
Attributable to minority interests (non-controlling interests) 1,112 120 9) 145 1,368 1,033 145 6 (65) 1,119
PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT

COMPANY 6,854 1,626 (420) (2,094) 5,966 5,994 1,625 (652) (1,151) 5,816
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The table below shows the cost-to-income ratio, ROE, NPL ratio and coverage of the Group’s
main segments and units.

ROE (%)* Cost-to-income (%)

2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014

Continental Europe

Of which: Spain 7.74 8.14 7.41 58.8 56.5 52.7
Santander Consumer Finance 14.25 12.03 11.05 44.7 44.7 455
Poland 11.28 12.53 16.04 44.1 46.5 425
Portugal 12.89 12.37 7.91 48.7 48.7 52.0

United Kingdom 11.50 10.81

Of which: Brazil 13.37 13.64 12.32 39.5 40.0 41.6
Mexico 14.85 12.88 13.20 39.8 41.3 425
Chile 16.76 15.32 19.50 40.7 43.0 39.5

United States 2.92 6.05 7.82 42.5 38.8 375

NPL ratio (%) Coverage (%)

31.12.16 31.12.15 31.12.14 31.12.16 31.12.15 31.12.14

Continental Europe

Of which: Spain 541 6.53 7.38 48.3 48.1 45.46
Santander Consumer Finance 2.68 3.42 4.82 109.1 109.1  100.09
Poland 5.42 6.30 7.42 61.0 64.0 60.34
Portugal 8.81 7.46 8.89 63.7 99.0 51.79

United Kingdom
Latin America

Of which: Brazil 5.90 5.98 5.05 93.1 83.7 95.39
Mexico 2.76 3.38 3.80 103.8 90.6 86.10
Chile 5.05 5.62 5.97 59.1 53.9 52.41

United States

(*) Does not include net of capital gains and write-downs.

Note: See glossary of APMs in chapter 26.
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The table below shows the operating resources of the Group’s main segments and units:

Employees Branches

31.12.16 31.12.15 31.12.14 31.12.16 31.12.15 31.12.14

Operating resources

Continental Europe ; ; 56,645 4,805 5,548 5,482
Of which: Spain 23,017 24,216 24,840 2,911 3,467 3,511
Santander Consumer Finance 14,928 14,533 13,138 567 588 579
Poland 12,001 11,474 12,010 658 723 788

6,306 6,568 5,448
25,866 25,678

Portugal
United Kingdom 25,688

Latin America 86,312 89,819 84,336 5,818 5,841 5,729
Of which: Brazil 46,728 49,520 46,532 3,431 3,443 3,411
Mexico 17,608 17,847 16,956 1,389 1,377 1,347
Chile 11,999 12,454 12,123 435 472 475

United States 17,509 18,123 16,687 768 783 811

Operating areas 186,768 191,857 183,346 12,235 13,030 12,951

Corporate Centre 1,724 2,006 2,059
Total Group 188,492 193,863 185,405 12,235 13,030 12,951

6.1.2 Significant new products and/or services
The main new products and/or services launched by the Group in 2016 were as follows:

* In Spain, the transformation of the commercial branch network got underway, with the
creation of the new larger-scale Smart Red, (Smart Network) branch model to better serve
and guide customers, as well as the integration with digital channels. Substantial progress
has been made in the technological and operational transformation of the Bank, through the
development of new apps and the drive to increase mobile payments. Additionally, the
exclusive launch of Apple Pay in Spain is an example of its clear focus on digital leadership
and innovation.

« In the UK, the Bank continued to develop the digital proposition, with the launch of the
Investment Hub, an online mortgage management app, and the introduction of Android Pay.

* In Brazil, the digital transformation process is being stepped up through new Mobile
Banking functions for individuals and e-commerce sales increased threefold. In commercial
banking, the digital customer service channel for Van Gogh and Empresas 1 customers was
launched, and in wholesale banking a remote channel for all corporate and GCB customers.
The Santander Way app was developed (a real time management app), and it was the first
bank to offer Samsung Pay. The acquisition of 100% the prepaid digital channel ContaSuper
was completed. Additionally, the consumer financing segment saw the launch of the
new +Negaocios digital platform, a tool for digitalising the entire customer experience, with
a strong potential for growing the business.

In credit cards, the Bank announced a commercial agreement with American Airlines, Inc.,
for an air miles programme.

A joint venture was also set up between Santander Financiamientos and Hyundai.
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* In Chile, the WorkCafé project got underway, a new multi-segment branch concept focused
on collaboration. It also saw the launch of 123 Click, a new 100% digital consumer loan.

* In Mexico, the commercial strategy focused on the Santander Plus programme, which
offers multiple benefits to its members, in addition to the launch of the Santander-
Aeroméxico credit card, after building an exclusive, 10-year alliance with the airline. The
Bank also implemented other competitive offers, such as the Hipoteca Personal Santander,
which offers personalised rates based on each customer's profile and needs.

The following new products also stood out in 2017:

* From April 2017, Banco Santander branches in Spain started to market the 1|2|3 Smart
account, aimed at millennials (aged between 18 and 31).

The marketing policy for new products and services is described in note 54.9)5 Product
governance and consumer protection to the financial statements.

6.2 MAIN MARKETS
See chapter 6.1.1 of this report.
6.3 EXCEPTIONAL FACTORS AFFECTING ACTIVITY OR THE MAIN MARKET

The Directors' Report discusses the factors affecting the Group's activities in each the markets in
which it operates.

The chapter on Risk Factors in this report describes other factors that affect, or may affect, the
Group's activities in its main markets.

Further, the acquisition of Banco Popular on 7 June 2017 could affect the Group's business
activity (see risk factor 2.1 Risks deriving from the acquisition of Banco Popular Espafol, S.A.
and chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular).

6.4 DEPENDENCY ON PATENTS, LICENCES OR SIMILAR INSTRUMENTS

Given their nature, the Bank's activities do not depend on, nor are they significantly influenced
by, the existence of patents, licences, technical assistance, exclusivity agreements or price
regulations. For further information on research and development, see Section 7 of the Directors'
Report. Research, development and innovation activities.

6.5 BASIS FOR ANY STATEMENTS MADE BY THE ISSUER REGARDING ITS
COMPETITIVE POSITION

No reference is made in this document to sources of statements concerning the competitiveness
of the Santander Group, with the exception of those included in the Directors’ Report. These
statements are prepared by the Group based on public information.
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CHAPTER 7
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

7.1 DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP AND ISSUER'S POSITION WITHIN
THE GROUP

Banco Santander, S.A. is the parent company of the Santander Group. As of 31 December 2016,
the Group comprised 715 subsidiaries of Banco Santander, S.A. There are also another 183
companies which are related Group companies, multi-group companies or stock-exchange listed
companies in which the Group owns more than 5% (these do not include subsidiaries or those of
insignificant interest from the standpoint of the true and fair view which must be set forth in the
consolidated financial statements). See Chapter 25 of this document.

Following the acquisition of Banco Popular on 7 June 2017 (see chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition of
100% of the share capital of Banco Popular), it should be noted, in addition to the above, that at
31 December 2016 Banco Popular Group comprised a total of 117 companies as shown in its
audited financial statements at that date: Banco Popular Espafiol S.A., 86 subsidiaries, and
30 associated companies of the group or multi-group companies.

7.2  MOST SIGNIFICANT GROUP COMPANIES

Appendices | and |11 of the audited financial statements provide a list, at 31 December 2016, of
the fully consolidated subsidiaries that make up the Santander Group, specifying their company
name, domicile, business, direct and indirect ownership interest and percentage of voting rights.

Between 1 January and the registration date of this report there were no significant inclusions or
exclusions in Santander Group companies, except for the Banco Popular group companies, of
which Banco Popular is the parent.

CHAPTER 8
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

8.1 TANGIBLE ASSETS.
The following table shows the Group's tangible assets over the past three years:

(millions of euros) 2016(*) 2015 2014
TANGIBLE ASSETS 23,286 25,320 23,256
Property, plant and equipment 20,770 19,355 16,889
For own use 7,860 7,949 8,324
g:;ir assets leased out under an operating 12,910 11,386 8,565
Real estate investments 2,516 5,985 6,367

(*) The decrease in Tangible assets - Real estate investments in 2016 was due mainly to the spin-off and subsequent deconsolidation
of Metrovacesa, S.A. (See note 3 to the financial statements).
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The table below shows a breakdown of the buildings® used by the Group to carry out its activities

@ at 31 December 2016.

Country Owned Leased Other(3) Total
GERMANY 1 322 0 323
ARGENTINA 301 132 0 433
BRAZIL 441 1,703 11 2,155
CHILE 102 324 55 481
SPAIN 304 2,596 1,112 4,012
MEXICO 8 1,225 98 1,331
PERU 0 6 0 6
POLAND 137 546 179 862
PORTUGAL 235 394 12 641
PUERTO RICO 8 78 5 91
UNITED KINGDOM (SANTANDER UK) 277 678 25 980
URUGUAY 19 23 0 42
USA 206 718 0 924
Total 2,039 8,745 1,497 12,281

1) If there are several offices in one premises, these are considered to be a single property.

2 Does not include foreclosed assets as these are non-current assets held for sale.

3) Includes unoccupied properties, parking places and others.

At 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Group’s tangible assets were not subject to any
significant liens or encumbrances.

At the registration date of this report, the Group is studying the potential impact of the entry into
force of IFRS 16 Leases in 2019. For further information, see note 1. b) to the financial
statements.

For further information, see notes 12 and 16 to the financial statements.

Following the acquisition of the Popular Group on 7 June 2017 (see chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition
of 100% of Banco Popular's share capital) it should be considered, in addition to the above, that
the Popular Group's tangible assets at 31 December 2016 totalled 2,195 million euros, as reflected
in its audited consolidated financial statements at that date, most of which were located in Spain.
Of this amount, 843 million euros corresponded to tangible assets and 1.352 million euros to real
estate investments. The Bank holds no tangible assets ceded under operating lease.

8.2 ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
There are no environmental issues that might affect the Bank’s utilisation of tangible assets.
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CHAPTER 9
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

9.1 FINANCIAL SITUATION

The key aspects of the Group’s operations in 2016 and the general background to 2016 are
described in the Directors' Report. For further information on changes in the Group's financial
situation in 2015 and 2014, see the Directors' Reports for 2015 and 2014.

9.2 OPERATING INCOME

Information on the most significant aspects in 2016 are included in the Directors’ Report; and in
section 20.6 of this report there is a description of the most significant aspects for the first quarter
of 2017. For further information on changes in the Group's financial situation in 2015 and 2014,
see the Directors' Reports for 2015 and 2014.

For information on governmental, economic, tax, monetary or political factors that have had
a significant direct or indirect impact on the issuer's operations, or may affect them in the future,
see risk factors, sections 1. Macroeconomic and political risks, and 2.2 Legal, regulatory and
compliance risks. In particular, see risk factor 1.2 for information on the potential risks deriving
from the UK's exit from the European Union.

* * *
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CHAPTER 10
CAPITAL RESOURCES

10.1 ISSUER'S CAPITAL RESOURCES (CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT)

The table below shows the Santander Group's eligible capital at 31 March 2017 and 2016, and at
31 December 2016:

Eligible capital (fully-loaded)

Millions of euros

31.03.17 31.03.16  Absolute % 31.12.16

Capital stock and reserves 105,043 101,763 3,281 3.2 101,437
Attributable profit 1,867 1,633 234 143 6,204
Dividends (688) (609) (80) 13.1 (2,469)
Other retained earnings (15,767) (17,455) 1,689 (9.7) (16,116)
Minority interests 7,158 6,190 968 15.6 6,784
Goodwill and intangible assets (28,591) (27,590) (1,001) 3.6 (28,405)
Other deductions (5,343) (5,184) (158) 3.0 (5,368)
Core CET1 63,680 58,748 4,932 8.4 62,068
Preference shares and other eligible T1 5,745 5,494 251 4.6 5,767
Tier 1 69,424 64,241 5,183 8.1 67,834
General loan loss allowances and T2 instruments 14,771 11,410 3,361 29.5 13,749

Eligible capital 84,195 75,651 8,544 113 81,584

Risk weighted assets 597,123 571,916 25,207 4.4 588,088

CET1 capital ratio 10.66 10.27 0.39 10.55

T1 capital ratio 11.63 11.23 0.40 11.53

Total capital ratio 14.10 13.23 0.87 13.87
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The following table shows where additional information can be obtained:

Item Document containing the information

Capital accounts and own funds Notes 30 to 34 to the financial statements

Accumulated other comprehensive income | Notes 11 and 29 to the financial statements

Equity - minority interests Note 28 to the financial statements
Subordinated liabilities Notes 23 a) y b) and Note 51 to the financial statements
Customer deposits Note 21 to the financial statements
Debt securities issued Note 22 to the financial statements
Other financial liabilities Note 24 to the financial statements

Section 20.6 of this report contains financial information at 31 March 2017.

10.2 ISSUER'S CASH FLOWS
The financial statements include the statements of cash flow for the past three years.

Note 54.e) to the financial statements describes the Group's liquidity and funding risk and its
management.

10.3 ISSUER'S FUNDING STRUCTURE

The breakdown, by maturity, of the balances of certain items in the consolidated balance sheet
at 31 December 2016 and the detail of the average interest rate applied to each one can be found
in note 51.a) to the financial statements. Note 54.e) to the financial statements describes the
Group's funding strategy and movements in liquidity.

10.4 RESTRICTIONS ON THE USE OF CAPITAL RESOURCES

The main restrictions on the use of the Santander Group’s capital resources are determined by
the following:

In December 2010, with the aim of enhancing the quality, consistency and transparency of the
capital base and improving risk coverage, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS)
published a new global regulatory framework for the international capital standards (Basel I11),
reinforcing the requirements established in the previous frameworks (known as Basel | and
Basel I1) and additional requirements to Basel Il (Basel 2.5). On 26 June 2013, the Basel 111 legal
framework was incorporated in the European legal order via Directive 2013/36 (CRD 1V), which
repeals Directives 2006/48 and 2006/49, and Regulation 575/2013 on prudential requirements
for credit institutions and investment firms (CRR).

Directive 2013/36 (CRD 1V) was introduced into Spanish law through Law 10/2014 on the
ordering, supervision and solvency of credit institutions, and its subsequent regulatory
implementation via Royal Decree 84/2015 and Circular 2/2016 of the Banco de Espafia, which
completes its adaptation to Spanish law. This Circular largely repeals Circular 3/2008, on the
calculation and monitoring of minimum capital (though, in the aspects covered by Circular
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5/2008, on minimum capital and other mandatory reporting of information for mutual guarantee
societies, the latter will remain in effect); and a section of Circular 2/2014, on the exercise of
various regulatory options contained in the CRR. Regulation 575/2013 is directly applicable in
Member States from 1 January 2014 and repeals those lower-ranking standards that entail
additional capital requirements.

Regulation 575/2013 (CRR) provides for a phase-in period that will give institutions time to
adapt to the new requirements in the European Union. The phase-in arrangements have been
introduced into Spanish law through Banco de Espafia Circular 2/2014 affecting both the new
deductions from capital and the instruments and elements of capital that cease to be eligible as
capital under the new regulation. In March 2016, the ECB published Regulation 2016/445/EU
amending several of the arrangements applicable to the Santander Group. The capital
conservation buffers provided for in CRD IV will also be phased in gradually, starting in 2016
and reaching full implementation in 2019.

The Basel regulatory framework is based on three pillars. Pillar | determines the minimum capital
requirement and allows for the use of internal ratings and models (AIRB Approach) to calculate
risk-weighted exposures. The aim is to make the regulatory requirements more sensitive to the
risks actually incurred by financial institutions in carrying on their business activities. Pillar I
establishes a system of supervisory review, aimed at improving banks' internal risk management
and capital adequacy assessment in line with their risk profile. Lastly, Pillar Il deals with
disclosure and market discipline.

As of 31 December 2016 the Santander Group meets all the minimum capital requirements under
current laws and regulations.

For more information, see risk factor 2.2 Legal, requlatory and compliance risks.
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Recovery and resolution plans

In 2016, the Bank prepared the seventh version of its corporate recovery plan, the most important
part of which envisages the measures available to emerge on its own from a very severe crisis.
The plan was drawn up in accordance with the regulations applicable in the European Union?.
The plan also contemplates the non-binding recommendations in this area issued by international
bodies such as the Financial Stability Board (FSB*).

As with the previous versions from 2010 to 2015, the Group presented the plan to the relevant
authorities (for the second time, to the European Central Bank (ECB) in September 2016, unlike
previous years when it was only submitted to the Banco de Espafia) for it to be assessed in the
fourth quarter of the year.

The plan is composed of the corporate plan (for Banco Santander, S.A.) and individual plans for
the largest local units (United Kingdom, Brazil, Mexico, United States, Germany, Argentina,
Chile, Poland and Portugal), thereby fulfilling the commitment undertaken by the Bank vis-a-vis
the authorities in 2010. Some mention should be made of the EU Member States in this list where,
irrespective of their obligation to form part of the corporate plan, full implementation is also the
result of regulatory requirements arising from the transposition into national law of Directive
2014/59/EU ("EU Crisis Management Directive").

The plan's two primary objectives are firstly to ascertain the feasibility, effectiveness and
credibility of the recovery measures it contains, and secondly the suitability of specific indicators
and the defined limits they must attain for possible activation of the governance process
stipulated in the plan for various stress scenarios.

To this end a number of different macroeconomic and/or financial stress scenarios were drawn
up in the corporate plan, contemplating a range of idiosyncratic and/or systemic events relevant
to the institution, as per Article 5(6) of Directive 2014/59/EU. The scenarios, which are included
in the regulations applicable, refer to severe stress scenarios that could affect Group viability.
The plan was also drawn up on the premise that, once deployed, there would be no extraordinary
public financial support, as per Article 5(3) of Directive 2014/59/EU.

It should also be pointed out that the plan must not be interpreted as an instrument in isolation
from the other structural mechanisms established to measure, manage and supervise the risk
undertaken by the Group.

The Group's recovery plan is comprised, among others, of the following tools: risk appetite
framework, risk appetite statement, risk identification assessment process, business continuity
management system and internal capital and liquidity adequacy assessment processes.

Work continued in 2016 to adapt the structure and contents of the plan to international directives.
A number of improvements were also made, as follows: (i) the governance section (mainly,
a more detailed description of the crisis management framework - explained in greater detail
below - and the structure of viability indicators); (ii) the scenarios chapter now includes a crisis

3 Directive 2014/59/EU (“Directive establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms”); prevailing European
Banking Authority regulations dealing with recovery plans (EBA/RTS/2014/11; EBA/GL/2014/06; EBA/GL/2015/02); recommendations from the European
Banking Authority to the Commission in relation to key business lines and critical functions (EBA/op/2015/05); European Banking Authority regulations pending
approval (EBA/CP/2015/01 on the ITS for procedures, forms and templates for resolution plans); European Banking Authority regulations not directly related to
recovery but with significant implications in this field (EBA/GL/2015/03 on triggers for early intervention measures); and local Spanish regulations: Law 11/2015
on recovery and resolution for credit institutions and investment services companies, and Royal Decree 1012/2015 implementing this Law.

3 FSB: Key attributes of effective resolution regimes for financial institutions (15 October 2014, updating the initial publication of October 2011), “Guidance on
Identification of Critical Functions and Critical Shared Services” (15 July 2013) and “Guidance on recovery triggers and stress scenarios” (15 July 2013).
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situation that leads to the breach of the liquidity indicators and a multi-local systemic crisis
affecting two of the units most relevant to the Group; and (iii) finally, greater granularity and
detail in the strategic analysis and measures sections.

The Group's senior management is directly involved in regular planning and monitoring of the
contents of plans through specific technical committee meetings, and monitoring at institutional
level, to ensure that the contents and structure of the documents adapt to local and international
crisis management regulations, where there have been continuous developments in recent years.

The board of directors of Banco Santander S.A. is responsible for approving the corporate plan,
once the plan’s content and data have been previously submitted and discussed in the bank’s main
management and control committees (risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee,
global ALCO committee and capital committee). The individual plans are also approved by local
bodies, at all times in coordination with the Group, since these plans must form part of the
corporate plan.

The main conclusions drawn from the analysis of the content of the 2016 corporate plan confirm
that:

» There are no material interdependencies between the Group's regions.

« The measures in place guarantee a broad recovery capacity for all the scenarios contemplated
in the plan. The Group's geographic diversification model has proved to be an advantage from
the point of view of viability.

« Every subsidiary has sufficient recovery capacity to emerge from a crisis situation using its
own means. This enhances the resilience of the Group's model, based on autonomous
subsidiaries, in terms of capital and liquidity.

* None of the Bank's subsidiaries, should they fail, are considered of sufficient weight to breach
the most severe levels established for the viability indicators that might trigger activation of
the corporate viability plan.

From this, we can conclude that the Group's model of geographic diversification - based on
a model of autonomous subsidiaries, in terms of liquidity and capital - remains resilient from
a viability perspective. In 2017, the Group intends to move its plans forward in keeping with the
recommendations of regulators, and also with the best practices observed in the industry in terms
of viability plans.

In relation to the governance of the crisis situations set out in the viability plans, in 2016 the
Group formally approved and implemented its crisis management framework - in both the
corporation and the Group's main countries - which, together with its implementing documents,
establish:

i) the main common principles for the identification, escalation and management of events that
could pose a serious risk to Santander or any of its entities, or that might affect their robustness,
reputation, activity, liquidity, solvency or even their present or future viability;

i) the basic roles and responsibilities in this area and identifies the planning elements required
and the key processes; and

i) essential governance elements, seeking to ensure coordinated action among all Group entities
and, where necessary, the participation of the Corporation, as the parent company of Grupo
Santander.

This is a holistic framework applicable to any type of special events or situations (e.g. financial
and non-financial, systemic or idiosyncratic, with slow or rapid development) entailing
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exceptional situations, situations that differ from what is expected or what ought to emerge from
ordinary management of business, and could compromise activities or give rise to a serious
downturn in the financial position of the company or of the Group because they entail a major
deviation from risk appetite and the limits defined.

With regard to resolution plans, the authorities forming part of the Crisis Management Group
(CMG) reached consensus on the strategy to be deployed for a Group resolution which, in due
consideration of the legal and business structure operated by Santander, corresponds to the so-
called "Multiple Point of Entry (MPE)", in addition to signing the resolution Cooperation
Agreement or COAG and drawing up the first resolution plans. The 2016 corporate resolution
plan was analysed at a meeting of the CMG on 7 November 2016.

By way of an exception to the above, resolution plans in the United States are drawn up by the
companies individually. The Group filed the third version of its local resolution plans in
December 2015. However the FRB (Federal Reserve Board) and the FDIC (Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation) have stated that plans for 2016 should not be filed, as they are still in the
process of commenting on earlier plans, and are preparing guidance for plans to be filed in
December 2017.

The Group continues to work alongside the pertinent authorities to draw up its resolution plans,
supplying all the detailed information required by these bodies, which are generally responsible
for producing the plans. Meanwhile, the Group has also continued to develop projects to improve
its resolution capacity. The measures include schemes to guarantee operational continuity in
resolution situations.

In this regard:

i) In November 2016 Banco Santander S.A. became a signatory to the ISDA protocol for the
settlement of derivatives in resolution situations;

ii) The market infrastructures to which the Group is connected have been analysed to assess their
criticality and the continuity of these services in the event of resolution;

iii) Operational continuity clauses have been strengthened in agreements with internal suppliers;
and

iv) Further progress has been made in automating the information required by supervisors.
10.5 FUNDING FOR EXPECTED INVESTMENTS

The Group will finance the purchase of the 9.65% stake held by DDFS LLC in Santander
Consumer USA Holdings, Inc. and the investments in research and development, patents and
licences described in chapter 11, using the funds generated through its day-to-day activities.

The acquisition of 50% of Santander Asset Management will also be funded using resources
generated by the Group's activities. This transaction, in conjunction with the sale of Allfunds
Bank, S.A., is expected to have positive impact on earnings. See chapter 5.1.5 (b) Agreement
concerning Santander Asset Management.

As part of the acquisition of 100% of Banco Popular's capital (see chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition
of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular) the Bank will raise approximately 7,072 million
euros to cover the capital and provisions that will be needed to strengthen Banco Popular's
balance sheet.

Finally, the acquisition of 51% of Aliseda Servicios de Gestion Inmobiliaria, S.L. will also be
funded by the proceeds of the Group’s activities. See chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition of 100% of
the share capital of Banco Popular.
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* * *

CHAPTER 11

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENCES

In 2016, 2015 and 2014 the Group invested 1,726 million euros, 1,481 million euros and 1,345
million euros, respectively, in technological developments related to R,D&I. Given their nature, the
Bank's activities do not depend on, nor are they significantly influenced by, the existence of patents,
licences, technical assistance, exclusivity agreements or price regulations. For further information,
see Section 7 of the Directors' Report. Research, development and innovation activities.

CHAPTER 12

TRENDS
121  MOST SIGNIFICANT RECENT TRENDS

The Santander Group has carried out its business activities against a more benign background
than in previous quarters, with all the regions in which it operates having positive outlook for
economic growth, something which had not happened for some time. For an analysis of the
Group's financial statements in the first quarter of 2017 see chapter 20.6.

Growth is picking up in developed economies, while, within emerging markets, there are signs
of improved economic activity in Latin American countries, particularly in Brazil and Argentina.

Interest rates have begun to rise in the United States, although in most developed economies they
are still at all-time lows, with the concomitant impact on banking activity.

United States: growth has been moderate, although the labour market is close to full
employment, confidence is high and inflation is within the target range. The Federal Reserve
raised the federal funding rate by 25 basis points and is expected to continue to implement further
gradual increases this year.

United Kingdom: the economy has proven to be especially resilient amidst uncertainties, as
reflected by the GDP increase in 2016. Inflation was 2.3% in March, marking a rapid upward
trend. The unemployment rate stands at 4.7% (slightly above its long-term equilibrium level).

In the eurozone the improved confidence among agents is prompting higher economic growth.
Inflation has picked up and market interest rates are seeing upward pressure even though the
ECB's monetary policy remains unchanged.

Spain: economic growth remains buoyant, underpinned by domestic demand and a strong
exports. A large number of jobs are being created, which should trigger a decline in the
jobless rate.

Portugal: the economy gained momentum in the second half of 2016, after growing by
0.6% qoq in the fourth quarter. The fiscal deficit was 2.1% of GDP, the lowest in 40 years.
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Poland: GDP growth slowed in 2016. Inflation rose to 2.0% in March although there are
no signs of underlying inflationary pressures. Therefore, the central bank is expected to
maintain interest rates at current levels over the next few months (2.0%).

Brazil: the central bank applied another cut to the SELIC rate in the quarter, taking it to 12.25%.
Inflation decreased to 4.6% (6.3% at year-end 2016) and is forecast to fall to below 4.5%. The
Brazilian real remained firm in the quarter, strengthening 2.9% against the dollar and 1.5%
against the euro.

Mexico: inflation rose to 5.4% in March, driven by fuel prices and the delayed effect of the peso's
depreciation. The central bank raised the benchmark rate to 6.25%. The peso strengthened 10.3%
against the dollar in the quarter (8.8% vs. the euro), taking it back to pre-US election levels.

Chile: inflation rates are below 3% and expected to remain at these levels. The central bank cut
its benchmark rate to 3.0% and further cuts are expected. The peso strengthened 1.0% against
the dollar in the quarter and lost 0.4% against the euro.

Argentina: Economic policies are still focused on correcting macro imbalances and reinforcing
the external position. Inflation has steadied at rates of around 2% month-on-month, international
reserves increased to 9% of GDP and economic activity rose 1.1% in January, year-on-year.

122 KNOWN TRENDS, UNCERTAINTIES, DEMANDS, COMMITMENTS
OR EVENTS LIKELY TO HAVE AN EFFECT ON THE ISSUER’S PROSPECTS

Section 6 of the Directors' Report - Expected Outlook describes the macroeconomic expectations
and targets factored in by the Group. Chapter 20.6 of this report provides information on its most
recent income statement, to 31 March 2017.

In 2017, the Group will continue to progress in its commercial transformation project. Key
objectives for the year include:

* Increase the number of engaged customers, both individuals and companies, and the number of
digital customers.

* Increase dividends and EPS.

* Step up revenue growth, especially in emerging markets.

* Increase the market share in mature markets, mainly in the companies segment.
« Keep costs under control.

* Improving the cost of lending, reducing the Group’s provisions as the business cycle improves
in some key markets such as Brazil and Spain.

* Ensure that risk-weighted assets (RWA) grow at a slower pace than the Group’s lending and
profits.

All of these measures would improve the Group's profitability, bringing it closer to meeting its
targets and at the same time strengthening the capital ratio.

* * *
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CHAPTER 13
PROFIT FORECASTS OR ESTIMATES

On 3 July 2017, the Group published its profit forecasts for 30 June 2017 which were filed with
the CNMV as a material fact and attached to this Registration Document as a reference (see the
Material Fact providing an estimate of profit as at 30 June 2017). This (unaudited) information
has been approved by the corresponding bodies and reviewed by the external auditors, who
agreed that it is substantially consistent with the figures that will be published in the audited
interim consolidated condensed financial statements for the six-month period ending 30 June
2017.

* * *

CHAPTER 14

GOVERNING, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

141 GOVERNING, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

14.1.1 Members of the board of directors

The chairman of the board of directors is the Bank’s most senior executive (articles 48.1 and 8.5
of the Bylaws and the Rules and Regulations of the Board, respectively) and has been delegated
all powers delegable under the law, the Bylaws and the Rules and Regulations of the Board.

Notwithstanding, pursuant to article 10.3 of the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Directors,
the chief executive officer, in his capacity as such, is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the various business areas, with the highest executive powers.

The current Bank's Bylaws (article 41) state that the maximum number of directors shall be 22
and the minimum shall be 14. The Bank's board is presently comprised of 15 directors.

“Article 41. Quantitative composition of the board

1. The board of directors shall be composed of not less than fourteen and not more than twenty-
two members, appointed by the shareholders acting at a general shareholders' meeting.

2. It falls upon the shareholders at a general shareholders’ meeting to set the number of members
of the board within the aforementioned range. This number may be set indirectly by the
resolutions adopted by the shareholders at a general shareholders' meeting whereby directors
are appointed or their appointment is revoked.”
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The table below shows information on the composition, positions and structure of the board and
board committees. It is expressly stated that, for the purposes hereof, the professional address of
the persons mentioned in the table is: Ciudad Grupo Santander, Avda. de Cantabria s/n, 28660

Boadilla del Monte (Madrid).

Board of directors

Executive Committee
Audit Committee

Appointments Committee

Remuneration Committee

Risk supervision, regulation and

compliance Committee

Group executive chairman
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola
y O’Shea

Chief executive officer )
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez

Vice chairman
Mr. Bruce Carnegie-Brown

Vice chairman
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo

Vice chairman
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte

International Committee

Banco Santander, S.A.
Share Registration Document, 4 July 2017

Innovation and technology

Committee

Executive directors

External directors

Date of first appointment

Date of re-election

04.02.1989

10.06.1991
09.05.1994
12.05.1997
06.03.1999
04.03.2000
21.06.2003
17.06.2006
17.06.2011
28.03.2014
07.04.2017

25.11.2014

07.04.2017

25.11.2014

18.03.2016

07.10.1988

30.06.1989
08.06.1992
08.05.1995
23.06.1998
06.03.1999
04.03.2000
21.06.2003
17.06.2006
17.06.2011
28.03.2014
07.04.2017

07.10.1988

30.06.1989
08.06.1992
08.05.1995
23.06.1998
06.03.1999
04.03.2000
21.06.2003
18.06.2005
19.06.2009
30.03.2012
27.03.2015

70/152



18.06.2005

Vice chairman 19.06.2009
Mr. Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero 24.06.2002 22.03.2013
27.03.2015
Members
Ms. Homaira Akbari 27.09.2016 | 07.04.2017
Mr. Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de i
Vaca 30.06.2015
18.06.2005
Mr. Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y 11.06.2010
O’ Shea 25.07.2004 | 55 03 2013
18.03.2016
Ms. Sol Daurella Comadran 25.11.2014 | 18.03.2016
Mr. Carlos Fernandez Gonzalez 25.11.2014 | 27.03.2015
Ms. Esther Giménez-Salinas i 28.03.2014
Colomer 30.03.2012 07.04.2017
Ms. Belén Romana Garcia 22.12.2015 | 07.04.2017
11.06.2010
Ms. Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga 26.03.2007 | 22.03.2013
18.03.2016
Mr. Juan Miguel Villar Mir 07.05.2013 | 27.03.2015

General secretary and secretary
to the board _
Jaime Pérez Renovales'

01.09.2015

C: Chairman of the committee P: Proprietary I: Independent N: Non-executive or external (neither proprietary nor independent)

I Non-director.
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14.1.2 Directors and other senior management personnel of BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

Group executive chairman

Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea

CEO

Mr. José Antonio Alvarez

Executive vice-chairman

Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo

Executive vice-chairman

Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte

Country head - Spain

Mr. Rami Aboukhair Hurtado

Santander Digital

Ms. Lindsey Tyler Argalas*

Communication, Marketing and Research

Mr. Juan Manuel Cendoya Méndez de Vigo
Jennifer Scardino

General Intervention and Management Control

Mr. José Doncel Razola (Group Chief Accounting Officer)

Financial Management and Investor Relations

Mr. José Garcia Cantera (Group Chief Financial Officer)

Internal Audit

Mr. Juan Guitard Marin (Group Chief Audit Executive)

Compliance

Ms. Ménica Lopez-Monis Gallego (Group Chief Compliance
Officer)

Costs

Mr. Javier Maldonado Trinchant

Presidency, Strategy

Mr. Victor Matarranz Sanz de Madrid

Global Wholesale Banking

Mr. José Maria Linares Perou

Financial Planning and Corporate Development

Mr. José Luis de Mora Gil-Gallardo

Risks

Mr. José Maria Nus Badia (Group Chief Risk Officer)
Mr. Keiran Foad

Office of the General Secretary and Human Resources
division

Mr. Jaime Pérez Renovales

Technology and Operations

Mr. Andreu Plaza Lépez

Retail and Commercial Banking - Santander Mexico

Mr. Angel Rivera Congosto

Consumer Finance

Ms. Magda Salarich Fernandez de Valderrama

Retail and Commercial Banking - Santander UK

Mr. Javier San Félix Garcia

* Appointment subject to regulatory approvals.

14.1.3 Committees of the board of directors

Section C.2 of the annual corporate governance report includes information on board committees.

There were no changes in the composition of the board of directors or board committees after the
publication of the annual corporate governance report for 2016.

Resolutions passed at the annual general shareholders' meeting held of 7 April 2017 included the
re-election of Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea, Mr. José Antonio Alvarez, Mr. Rodrigo
Echenique Gordillo, Ms. Esther Jiménez-Salinas i Colomer and Ms. Belén Romana Garcia, the
first three as executive directors and the latter two as independent directors. Ms. Homaira Akbari’s
appointment as independent director was also ratified at the meeting (appointed by co-option on
27 September 2016).

Banco Santander's Board of Directors currently has 15 members, 4 of which are executive and
11 are external. Of the 11 external directors, 8 are independent, 1 is proprietary and 2 are, in the
opinion of the board, neither proprietary nor independent.

For further information, see section 16.3 of this report.
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The table in section 14.1.1 shows the current composition of the board and board committees.
14.1.4 Management qualifications and expertise of members of the board of directors and
senior management. Nature of any family relationships between those persons
() Qualifications and experience

Below is a brief description of the qualifications and relevant professional experience of the
current members of the board of directors and of the senior managers of the Bank in connection
with corporate activities carried out both within and outside the Bank.

Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola O’Shea (chairman of the board of directors and the executive
committee, international committee and the innovation and technology committee; executive

director)
Born in 1960 in Santander, Spain.

Joined the board in 1989.
Graduate in Economics from Bryn Mawr College.

Joined Banco Santander after a period at JP Morgan in New York (1980-1988). Appointed senior
executive vice-president in 1992. Headed up Santander's expansion in Latin America between
1992 and 1998. Appointed executive chairman of Banesto in 2002. Served as chief executive
officer at Santander UK from 2010 to 2014. Appointed Group executive chairman in 2014.

Other relevant positions: member of the board of directors of The Coca-Cola Company and sits on
the advisory board of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT’s CEO Advisory Board).
She is founder and president of the CyD Foundation (which supports higher education) and of the
Empieza por Educar Foundation (the Spanish subsidiary of international NGO Teach for All).

Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez (CEQ: executive director)

Born in 1960 in Leon, Spain.
Joined the board in 2015.

Graduate in Economics and Business Administration. MBA from the University of Chicago.
Joined the Bank in 2002 and appointed senior executive vice president of the financial
management and investor relations division in 2004 (Group Chief Financial Officer).

Other relevant positions: member of the board of Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A. and SAM
Investment Holdings Limited. Additionally, served as director of Santander Consumer Finance,
S.A. and Santander Holdings USA, Inc. and sits on the supervisory boards of Santander
Consumer AG, Santander Consumer Holding GMBH and Bank of Zachodni WBK, S.A. He also
served as a board member of Bolsas y Mercados Espafioles.

Mr. Bruce Carnegie-Brown (vice-chairman of the board of directors, chairman of the risk
supervision, requlation and compliance committee, the appointments committee and the
remuneration committee; independent external director and coordinator of external directors -

lead director).

Born in 1959 in Freetown, Sierra Leone.
Joined the board in 2015.
MA degree in English Language and Literature from the University of Oxford.
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Other relevant positions: currently non-executive chairman of Moneysupermarket.com Group
Plc and Lloyd’s of London Limited and non-executive director of Jardine Lloyd Thompson
Group plc. Formerly, non-executive chairman of AON UK Ltd (2012-2015), founder and
managing partner of the listed private equity division of 3i Group PlIc., and chairman and chief
executive officer of Marsh Europe. He was also lead independent director at Close Brothers
Group Plc (2006-2014) and Catlin Group Ltd (2010-2014). He previously worked at JPMorgan
Chase for eighteen years and at Bank of America for four years.

Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo (vice-chairman of the board of directors; executive director)
Born in 1946 in Madrid, Spain.

Joined the board in 1988.

Graduate in Law and Government Attorney.

Other relevant positions: CEO of Banco Santander, S.A. between 1988 and 1994. He has served
on the board of directors of several industrial and financial companies such as Ebro AzUcares y
Alcoholes, S.A. and Industrias Agricolas, S.A. He was the chairman of the advisory board of
Accenture, S.A. Additionally, he also held the position of non-executive chairman of NH Hotels
Group, S.A., Vocento, S.A., Vallehermoso, S.A and Merlin Properties, SOCIMI, S.A. He is
currently property director® and chairman of Banco Popular and a non-executive director of
Inditex.

Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte (vice-chairman of the board of directors; executive director)

Born in 1948 in Oviedo, Spain.
Joined the board in 1988.

Graduate in Economics, and Government Commercial Expert and Economist. He also studied
Business Administration at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT).

Other relevant positions: Minister of the Presidency between 1981 and 1982, as well as technical
general secretary of the Ministry of Economy, general secretary of the Ministry for European
Community Relations and deputy secretary of state to the President. He is currently chairman of
Union de Crédito Inmobiliario, S.A., the Princess of Asturias Foundation and of the social
council of Universidad Carlos 111 in Madrid. He is also a non-executive director of Sanitas, S.A.
de Seguros, Financiera Ponferrada, S.A., SICAV and Financiera El Corte Inglés E.F.C.

Mr. Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero (vice chairman of the board of directors:; external director,
neither proprietary nor independent)

Born in 1941 in Madrid, Spain.

Member of the Board in 2002. Government Commercial Expert and Economist and office
manager at the Banco de Espafia (on sabbatical leave).

Other relevant positions: Secretary of State for Economy, General Secretary of Commerce, Chief
Executive Officer of Banco Pastor, S.A. and international advisor for Goldman Sachs
International. Currently non-executive vice-chairman of Amadeus IT Holding, S.A., honorary
chairman of the Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR) in London, a member of the Group
of Thirty in Washington, chairman of the board of IE Business School and non-executive
chairman of Aviva Corporacion and of Aviva Vida y Pensiones, S.A. de Seguros y Reaseguros

5 Appointment subject to the relevant regulatory approvals.
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Ms. Homaira Akbari (external independent director)
Born in 1961 in Tehran (Iran).

Joined the board in 2016. Doctorate in Experimental Particle Physics from Tufts University and
MBA from Carnegie Mellon University.

Chief executive officer of AKnowledge Partner, LLC.

Other relevant positions: currently serves as external director of Gemalto NV, Landstar System,
Inc. and Veolia Environment S.A. Ms. Akbari has also been president and chief executive of Sky
Bitz, Inc., managing director of True Position Inc., non-executive director of Covisint
Corporation and US Pack Logistics LLC and she has held various posts at Microsoft Corporation
and at Thales Group.

Mr. Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca (external director, neither proprietary nor independent)
Born in 1952 in Madrid, Spain.

Joined the board in 2015. Degree in Law from Deusto University, ICADE E-3, and Government
Attorney.

Vice chairman of the Financial Studies Foundation and a member of the board of trustees and
the executive committee of the Banco Santander Foundation.

Other relevant positions: senior executive vice president, general secretary and secretary to the
board of Banco Santander, S.A., and board member, senior executive vice president, general
secretary and secretary to the board of Banco Santander de Negocios and of Santander
Investment. He was also technical general secretary of the Ministry of Employment and Social
Security, general secretary of Banco de Crédito Industrial and board member of Dragados, S.A.,
Bolsas y Mercados Espafioles (BME) and of the managing entity (Sociedad Rectora) of the
Madrid Stock Exchange.

Mr. Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’ Shea (external proprietary director)

Born in 1973 in Santander, Spain.
Became a member of the board in 2004. Degree in Law.
Chairman and chief executive officer of JB Capital Markets, Sociedad de Valores, S.A.U.

Other relevant positions: in addition to his work in the financial sector, he collaborates with
several non-profit organisations. Since 2014 he has been chairman of the Botin Foundation and
trustee of the Princess of Girona Foundation.

Ms. Sol Daurella Comadran (external independent director)

Born in 1966 in Barcelona, Spain.
Joined the board in 2015.
Degree in Business and MBA in Business Administration.

Executive chairman of Olive Partners, S.A. and holds several positions at companies belonging
to the Cobega Group. She is also non-executive chairman of Coca Cola European Partners, Plc.

Other relevant positions: served as a member of the governing board of the Circulo de Economia
and an independent non-executive director of Banco Sabadell, S.A., Ebro Foods, S.A. and
Acciona, S.A. She is also honorary consul-general for Iceland in Catalonia.
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Mr. Carlos Fernandez Gonzalez (external independent director)

Born in 1966 in Mexico City, Mexico.
Joined the board in 2015.

Industrial engineer. He has undertaken graduate studies in business administration at the Instituto
Panamericano de Alta Direccién de Empresas.

Chairman of the board of directors of Finaccess, S.A.P.I.

Other relevant positions: He has been a member of the boards of Anheuser-Busch Companies,
LLC and Televisa S.A. de C.V., among other companies. Currently non-executive director of
Inmobiliaria Colonial, S.A. and member of the supervisory board of AmRest Holdings, SE.

Ms. Esther Giménez-Salinas i Colomer (external independent director)

Born in 1949 in Barcelona, Spain.
Joined the board in 2012.
Doctor in Law and Psychology.

Professor Emeritus at Ramon Llull University, board member of Unibasq and Aqu (quality
assurance agencies for the Basque and Catalan university systems) and of Gawa Capital Partners,
S.L. She also sits on the advisory board of Endesa-Catalunya.

Other relevant positions: she has served as rector at Ramon Llull University, member of the
General Council of the Spanish Judiciary, member of the permanent committee of the Conference
of Spanish University Rectors (CRUE) and managing director of the Centre of Legal Studies in
the Law Department of the Catalan regional government.

Ms. Belén Romana Garcia (chairman of the audit committee; external independent director)
Born in 1965 in Madrid, Spain.
Joined the board in 2015.

Graduate in Economics and Business Administration from Universidad Auténoma de Madrid
and Government Economist.

Non-executive director of Aviva Plc.

Other relevant positions: general director of Economic Policy and of the Treasury of the Ministry
of Economy in the Spanish Government, as well as board member of the Banco de Espafia and
the CNMV. She also held the position of board member of the Instituto de Credito Oficial and
of other entities on behalf of the Spanish Ministry of Economy. She was the executive chairman
of Sociedad de Gestion de Activos Procedentes de la Reestructuracion Bancaria, S.A. (SAREB).

Ms. Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga (external independent director)

Born in 1949 in Santander, Spain.
Joined the board in 2007.

Doctor in Law. She has undertaken graduate studies in business administration at IESE and the
Harvard Business School.

Professor at Universidad Complutense de Madrid.

Other relevant positions: former Minister for Environment of the Spanish Government, former
chairman of the European Affairs and Foreign Affairs Committees in Spanish Congress and
chairman for Spain and Portugal and vice-chairman for Europe at Siebel Systems. Currently an
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elected member of the Spanish State Council, a member of the Royal Academy of Doctors and
non-executive director of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and Enagas, S.A.

Mr. Juan Miguel Villar Mir (external independent director)

Born in 1931 in Madrid, Spain.

Joined the board in 2013.

Doctorate in Civil Engineering, graduate in Law and degree in Industrial Organisation.

Chairman of Villar Mir Group.

Other relevant positions: He was Minister of Finance and vice president of the Government for
Economic Affairs from 1975 to 1976. In addition, he was chairman of the OHL Group, Electra
de Viesgo, Altos Hornos de Vizcaya, Hidro Nitro Espafiola, Empresa Nacional de Celulosa,
Empresa Nacional Carbonifera del Sur, Cementos del Cinca, Cementos Portland Aragon, Puerto
Sotogrande, the COTEC Foundation and of Colegio Nacional de Ingenieros de Caminos, Canales
y Puertos. He is also currently professor of Business Organisation at Universidad Politécnica de
Madrid, a member of the Royal Academy of Engineering and of the Royal Academy of Moral
and Political Sciences, an honorary member of the Royal Academy of Doctors and
supernumerary of the Royal Academy of Economics and Finance.

Mr. Rami Aboukhair Hurtado (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1967.
Graduate in Economics and Business Administration.

Joined the Group in 2008 as head of marketing and products for Santander Insurance. He also
served as managing director of products, marketing and customers at Banesto and senior
executive vice-president and head of retail banking at Santander UK. In 2015, he was appointed
country head of Santander Spain.

Ms. Lindsay Tyler Argalas® (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1974.

Bachelor of Arts Majors in Spanish and International Relations, Duke University, and MBA,
Kellogg Graduate School of Management.

She joined the Group in 2017 as a senior executive vice-president of Santander Digital and Chief
Digital and Innovation Officer. Ms Argalas worked at Intuit, Inc as managing director, with direct
oversight of businesses in several countries, and more recently, as chief of staff of the CEO,
supervising major initiatives and corporate projects. Previously, she worked at the Boston
Consulting Group, where she rolled out strategic and innovation projects for leading global
brands.

Mr. Juan Manuel Cendoya Méndez de Vigo (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1967.
Graduate in Law and Government Attorney.

& Appointment subject to regulatory approvals.
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Joined the Bank in July 2001 as senior executive vice-president and head of the communication,
corporate marketing and research division. Previously he was head of Bankinter, S.A.'s legal and
tax department.

Mr. José Doncel Razola (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1961.
Graduate in Economics and Business Administration.

Joined the Group in 1989 as head of the accounting department. He also served as head of
accounting and financial management at Banesto (1994-2013). In 2013, he was appointed senior
executive vice-president and head of the internal audit division. In 2014, he was appointed head
of the financial accounting and control division and general auditor for the Group (Group chief
accounting officer) and in 2017 became a proprietary director of Banco Popular.

Mr. Keiran Foad (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1968.
Associate of the Chartered Institute of Bankers (ACIB) through Carterbury College.

Joined the Group in 2012 as Chief Risk Officer at Santander UK. Mr. Foad has also held various
management positions at Barclays Bank plc (1985-2011) and Northern Rock plc (chief risk
officer). In 2016, he was appointed senior executive vice-president and deputy Group Chief Risk
Officer.

Mr. José Garcia Cantera (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1966.
Industrial engineer and MBA from the Instituto de Empresa.

Joined the Group in 2003 as head of Banesto's global wholesale banking department. Appointed CEO
of Banesto in 2006. Formerly, member of the executive committee of Citigroup EMEA and member
of the board of directors of Citigroup Capital Markets Int. Ltd. and Citigroup Capital Markets UK.
Appointed senior executive vice-president of wholesale banking in 2012. He is currently the Group
Chief Financial Officer and in 2017 he became a proprietary director of Banco Popular.

Mr. Juan Guitard Marin (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1960.
Graduate in Law and Government Attorney.

Joined the Group in 1997 as head of human resources at Santander Investment, S.A. He also served
as general secretary and secretary of the board of Banco Santander de Negocios and Santander
Investment, S.A. In 2013, he became head of the Bank's risk division. In November 2014, he was
appointed head of the internal audit division. He currently serves as Group Chief Audit Executive.

Mr. José Maria Linares Perou (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1971.

Bachelor of Science in Finance and Economics from Babson College and MBA from Columbia
University.

Joined the Group in 2017 as senior executive vice-president for Santander Global Corporate
Banking. Mr. Linares has previously held management positions at Société Générale S.A. and JP
Morgan Chase & Co, where he was head of Global Corporate Banking for EMEA.

Ms. Ménica Lopez-Monis Gallego (senior executive vice-president)
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Born in 1969.
Graduate in Law and Economic and Business Administration (ICADE/E-3) and State Economist.

Joined the Group in 2009 as head of Banesto's general secretary and secretary to the board.
Formerly general secretary of Aldeasa, S.A. She also served as general secretary at Bankinter,
S.A. In 2015, she was appointed Group Chief Compliance Officer.

Mr. Javier Maldonado Trinchant (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1962.
Law degree and doctorate in jurisprudence from Northwestern University.

Joined the Group in 1995 as head of Banco Santander de Negocios' international legal
department. He has held various positions at Santander UK. Appointed senior executive vice-
president of Santander S.A. and head of regulatory coordination and control projects in 2014.
Currently serves as senior executive vice-president for costs and vice-chairman of Santander US.

Mr. Victor Matarranz Sanz de Madrid (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1976.

Graduate in Telecommunications engineering from Universidad Politécnica de Madrid and MBA
graduate with honours from the London Business School.

Joined the Group in 2012 as head of strategy and innovation at Santander UK. In 2014 he was
appointed senior executive vice president of strategy for the Group and the Chairman's Office
He has held various positions at Mckinsey & Company, where he became a partner.

Mr. José Luis de Mora Gil-Gallardo (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1966.
Graduate in Law and Economic and Business Administration (ICADE/E-3).

Joined the Group in 2003. Since then, he has headed up the development of the Santander Group's
strategic planning and expansion and acquisitions policy. In 2015, he was appointed senior
executive vice president for Group financial planning and corporate development.

Mr. José Maria Nus Badia (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1950.
Graduate in Economics.

Joined the Group in 1996 as executive director and head of risks at Banesto. In 2010 he was
appointed executive director of Santander UK and Chief Risk Officer. Previously he held
executive management positions at Argentaria and Bankinter. Currently serves as Group Chief
Risk Officer.

Mr. Jaime Pérez Renovales (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1968.

Graduate in Law and Business Administration at Universidad Pontificia de Comillas
(ICADE E-3), and Government Attorney.

Joined the Group in 2003. Mr. Pérez was deputy director of legal services at the CNMV, director
of the office of the second vice president of the government for Economic Affairs and the
Minister of Economy, general secretary and secretary of the board of Banco Espafiol de Credito,
S.A., general vice secretary and vice secretary of the board and head of legal advisory services
for the Santander Group, deputy secretary of the Presidency of the Government and chairman of
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the committee for the reform of public administration. Formerly chairman of the Agency of the
Official State Gazette and director of Patrimonio Nacional, Sociedad Estatal de las
Participaciones Industriales, Holding Olimpico, S.A., Autoestradas de Galicia, S.A. and
Sociedad Estatal para la Introduccién del Euro, S.A.

Mr. Andreu Plaza Ldpez (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1960.
Graduate in exact sciences from Universidad Autonoma de Barcelona (UAB).

Joined the Group in 2012 as head of IT and retail banking at Santander UK. In 2015 he was
appointed senior executive vice president of technology and operations for the Group. Former
head of organisation and IT and operations at Catalunya Banc and Caixa Catalunya.

Mr. Angel Rivera Congosto (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1966.

Degree in business administration and tourism from the Escuela Oficial de Turismo and graduate
of the senior business management programme (Programa de Alta Direccion de Empresas) at
IESE (University of Navarra).

Joined the Group in 2013 as senior executive vice-president, head of companies and institutions
in the retail banking division. Previously, he worked for the Banco Popular for 23 years.
Appointed head of retail and commercial banking in 2015. He is the current head of retail and
commercial banking at Santander Mexico.

Ms. Magda Salarich Fernandez de Valderrama (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1956.
Industrial engineer.

Graduate of the executive management programme at IESE. Joined the Bank in 2008 as head of
consumer finance (Santander Consumer). Previously, she held various positions in the car
industry, including director and general manager of Citroén Spain and business and marketing
manager for Europe at Citroén.

Mr. Javier San Félix Garcia (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1967.

Graduate in economics and business administration from Universidad Pontificia de Comillas
(ICADE), with a post-graduate degree in business management (MBA) from UCLA.

Joined the Group in 2004 as head of strategy planning in the consumer finance division. In 2005
he was appointed director and head of Santander Consumer Finance in Spain and in 2006 he was
appointed Chief Operating Officer of the consumer finance division. Appointed head of retail
and commercial banking in 2013. Previously, he served as Chief Executive Officer of Banesto.
He is the current head of retail and commercial banking at Santander UK.

Ms. Jennifer Scardino (senior executive vice-president)
Born in 1967.
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science from Columbia University.

Joined the Group in 2011 as head of corporate communications, public policy and CSR at
Santander UK. Ms. Scardino held various positions in the US Securities and Exchange
Commission (1993-2000). She also served as managing director at Citigroup (2000-2011). In
2016 she was appointed senior executive vice president of the Banco Santander, S.A. and head
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of global communications and deputy director of the communications, corporate marketing and

research division.

(1) Family relationships

Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea and Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea are brother

and sister.

14.1.5 Activities performed by current directors and senior management outside the Bank

The following table shows the positions held by the Bank's current directors and senior
management in companies not indicated in the previous section.

The most significant positions held during the last five years are described in the preceding section.

COMPANY NAME

Position

Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y
O’Shea

PORTAL UNIVERSIA, S.A.

UNIVERSIA HOLDING, S.L.

Non-executive chairman

Non-executive chairman

SANTANDER UK GROUP HOLDINGS, LTD Director
SANTANDER UK, PLC Director
Mr. Bruce Carnegie-Brown SANTANDER UK GROUP HOLDINGS LTD Director
UNIVERSIA HOLDING, S.L. Director
GRUPO FINANCIERO SANTANDER MEXICO, S.A. DE C.V. Director
SANTANDER VIVIENDA, S.A. DE C.V. SOFOM Director
Mr.Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo
BANCO SANTANDER (MEXICO) S.A. DEC.V. Director
CAsSA DE BOLSA SANTANDER, S.A. DE C.V. Director
SANTANDER CONSUMO, S.A. DE C.V. Director

Mr.Matias Rodriguez Inciarte

UNION DE CREDITOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.A., E.F.C.

Non-executive chairman

Mr.Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y
O’Shea

INVERSIONES ZULU, S.L.

Chairman and CEO

Mr.Juan Miguel Villar Mir

COMPARIA AGRICOLA INMOBILIARIA ZARAGOZANA CAlIZ, S.L.

INMOBILIARIA ESPACIO, S.A.

VILLAR MIR ENERGIA, S.L.U.

Chairman and CEO

Chairman and CEO

Chairman and CEO

OPENBANK, S.A.

Director

Mr. José Rami Aboukhair Hurtado )
PORTAL UNIVERSIA, S.A. Director
PORTAL UNIVERSIA, S.A. Director
(I;/(Iar.VJiL;t:\)n Manuel Cendoya Méndez ARENA MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS NETWORK, S.L. Director
UNIVERSIA HOLDING, S.L. Director

Mr. José Doncel Razola
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BANCO DE ALBACETE, S.A.

SANTANDER INVESTMENT I, S.A.

ADMINISTRACION DE BANCOS LATINOAMERICANOS SANTANDER, S.L.

GRUPO EMPRESARIAL SANTANDER, S.L.
SANTUSA HOLDING, S.L.

SANTANDER HOLDING INTERNACIONAL, S.A.

Non-executive chairman
Non-executive chairman
Non-executive chairman
Non-executive chairman
Vice chairman

Vice chairman
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COMPANY NAME Position
PRODUBAN SERVICIOS INFORMATICOS GENERALES, S.L. Director
GEOBAN, S.A. Director
INGENIERIA DE SOFTWARE BANCARIO, S.L. (ISBAN) Director
ABLASA PARTICIPACIONES, S.L. Director
SANTANDER BANK, N.A. Director
SANTANDER HOLDINGS USA, INC. Director
SANTANDER CONSUMER USA Director
SANTANDER CONSUMER USA HOLDINGS, INC Director
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COMPANY NAME

Position

Mr. José Garcia Cantera

SANTANDER INVESTMENT, S.A.

SANTANDER DE TITULIZACION SGFT, S.A.

Non-executive chairman

Non-executive chairman

BANK ZACHODNI WBK, S.A. Director

SANTANDER HOLDINGS USA Director
Mr. Juan Guitard Marin

SANTANDER BANK, N.A. Director

ABERTIS INFRAESTRUCTURAS, S.A. Director
Ms. Ménica Lépez-Monis Gallego SANTANDER CONSUMER HOLDING GMBH Director

SANTANDER CONSUMER BANK AG Director

IBERICA DE COMPRAS CORPORATIVAS, S.L

SANTANDER HOLDINGS USA, INC.

Non-executive chairman

Vice chairman

PRODUBAN SERVICIOS INFORMATICOS GENERALES, S.L. Director
GEOBAN, S.A. Director
INGENIERIA DE SOFTWARE BANCARIO, S.L. (ISBAN) Director
SAUDI HOLLANDI BANK Director
Mr. Javier Maldonado Trinchant SANTANDER BANCORP Director
BANCO SANTANDER PUERTO RICO Director
BANCO SANTANDER INTERNATIONAL Director
SANTANDER CONSUMER USA HOLDINGS, INC Director
SANTANDER CONSUMER USA, INC Director
SANTANDER BANK, N.A. Director
SANTANDER INVESTMENT SECURITIES, INC. Director
SANTANDER HOLDINGS USA, INC. Director
Mr. Victor Matarranz Sanz de SANTANDER FINTECH LIMITED Director
Madrid PORTAL UNIVERSIA, S.A. Director
SANTANDER BANK, N.A. Director
SANTANDER CONSUMER FINANCE, S.A. Director
Mr. José Luis de Mora Gil-Gallardo
BANK ZACHODNI WBK, S.A. Director
INGENIERIA DE SOFTWARE BANCARIO, S.L. (ISBAN) Director
Mr. José Maria Nus Badia
BANCO SANTANDER (BRASIL), S.A. Director

Mr. Jaime Pérez Renovales

SANTUSA HOLDING, S.L.
SANTANDER HOLDING INTERNACIONAL, S.A.

PORTAL UNIVERSIA, S.A.

SERVICIO DE ALARMAS CONTROLADAS POR ORDENADOR, S.A.

Non-executive chairman
Non-executive chairman
Director

Non-executive chairman

Mr. Andreu Plaza Lépez

INGENIERIA DE SOFTWARE BANCARIO, S.L. (ISBAN)

GEOBAN, S.A.

Non-executive chairman

Non-executive chairman

PRODUBAN SERVICIOS INFORMATIVOS GENERALES, S.L. Director
BANCO SANTANDER CHILE, S.A. Director
. . SANTANDER VIVIENDA, S.A. DE C.V. SOFOM Director
Mr. Angel Rivera Congosto .
BANCO SANTANDER INTERNATIONAL Director
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COMPANY NAME Position
CASA DE BOLSA SANTANDER, S.A. DE C.V. Director
BANCO SANTANDER (MEXICO), S.A. Director
GRUPO FINANCIERO SANTANDER, S.A. DEC.V. Director
SANTANDER CONSUMO, S.A. DE C.V. Director
BANCO SANTANDER, S.A. (URUGUAY) Director
SANTANDER CONSUMER FINANCE, S.A. Vice-chairman
Ms. Magda Salarich Fernandez FINANCIERA EL CORTE INGLES E.F.C., S.A. Director
de Valderrama SANTANDER CONSUMER HOLDING GMBH Director
SANTANDER CONSUMER BANK AG Director
SANTANDER CONSUMER UK, PLC Director
Mr. Javier San Félix Garcia )
SAM INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Director

14.1.6  Any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences for at least the previous five years

It hereby stated that none of the members of the board of directors or senior management of the
Bank has been convicted for fraud in the five years prior to the date of this document.

14.1.7 Details of any bankruptcies, suspension of payments or liquidation involving members
of the Bank's governing bodies or senior management over the previous five years

It is hereby stated that none of the members of the Bank's board of directors or senior
management is involved, in their capacity as a member of the Bank's board of directors or senior
management, in any bankruptcy, suspension of payments or liquidation of a commercial
company in the five years prior to the date of this document.

14.1.8 Details of any official public incrimination and/or sanctions of such person by
statutory or regulatory authorities (including designated professional bodies) and
whether such person has ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a member
of the governance, management or supervisory bodies of an issuer or from acting in
the management of the affairs of an issuer for at least the previous five years

The Court of the First Instance No. 3 of Palma de Mallorca is currently hearing a criminal case
relating to events occurring in the award of the concession for Son Espases Hospital in Palma de
Mallorca. Mr. Villar Mir is a defendant in these proceedings, although the suit brought by the Public
Prosecutor (Ministerio Fiscal) does not accuse him of any involvement in the events which are the
subject-matter of the suit. OHL S.A., the company for which Mr. Villar Mir served as chairman of
the board of directors, tendered an offer as part of a joint venture with several other companies
(union temporal de empresas), in the bid for this concession that was eventually awarded to a
competing business group. OHL, S.A. appealed against this decision as it considered that there
were irregularities in the award process. Mr. Villar Mir is currently a person under investigation in
these proceedings and has not as yet been formally accused of any crime, neither has he been
indicted or placed on trial. Further, on 17 April 2017, the Public Prosecutor, i.e. the plaintiff in the
case, ruled in favour of a temporary partial stay of the proceedings against Mr. Villar Mir. This
request is currently pending resolution by the Provincial Court of the Balearic Islands.

Furthermore, and with respect to Preliminary Investigation 91/2016 relating to “Operation Lezo”,
where Juan Miguel Villar Mir has been called as a person of interest due to the alleged payment
by a company linked to OHL of a commission to secure a railway concession contract put out to
tender by the Madrid local government in 2007. Juan Miguel Villar Mir informed the Bank the
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he is contesting these accusations, stating that he did not order the payment of any commission
to any public or private legal person or individual. According to the information submitted by
Mr. Villar Mir in relation to the proceedings, the judge appointed to "Operation Lezo" called a
total of fifty two people as defendants in the case.

Lastly, in relation to Preliminary Investigation 63/2013 into crimes against the public tax
authority and money laundering, Central Court 5 of Madrid is examining a case in which Banco
Santander, S.A. and some of the Bank's senior executives and former senior executives (including
Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca, currently an external director) are alleged to have taken part
in criminal acts in relation with the following two activities associated with the commercial
relationship between Banco Santander and HSBC Private Bank (Suisse) SA between 2005
and 2015: i) transfers made from the correspondent accounts, and; ii) the existence of an
“omnibus” account for the custody of securities, owned by HSBC Switzerland at Banco
Santander. These accounts and operating channels were universally used and accepted by all
custodian entities and their legitimacy had never previously been questioned.

142 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST IN GOVERNANCE, MANAGEMENT AND
SUPERVISORY BODIES

14.2.1 Conflicts of interest

According to the information available to the Bank, no director of the Entity or member of its
general management has any conflict of interest between their duties to the Bank and their private
interests, nor does any of them perform, for their own account or for the account of third parties,
duties that are similar or supplemental to those that make up the Bank's corporate purpose, except
for those specified in the preceding sections or those performed at a Group company.

The mechanisms to detect and regulate possible conflicts of interest of the directors are
established in the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Directors. Specifically, article 30
establishes that directors must inform the board of any direct or indirect conflict of interest
between their own interests, or those of their related parties, and those of the Bank. If the conflict
arises from a transaction with the Bank, the director shall not be allowed to conduct it unless the
board, following a report from the audit committee, approves the transaction. In the event of
conflict, the director involved shall not participate in the deliberations and decisions on the
transaction to which the conflict refers. In all events, the situations of conflict in which the Bank
directors are involved shall be reported in the notes to the financial statements and the annual
corporate governance report.

The audit committee has verified that all transactions completed with related parties in 2016 were
fully compliant with article 33 of the Rules and Regulations of the Board and did not require
approval from the governing bodies; otherwise, approval was duly obtained following a positive
report issued by such committee, once the agreed consideration and other terms and conditions
were found to be within market parameters.

The board shall examine the transactions that the Company or Group companies carry out with
directors (upon the terms established by law and by article 30 of the Rules and Regulations of
the Board of Directors), with shareholders that own, whether individually or together with others,
a significant shareholding, including shareholders represented on the board of directors of the
Company or of other Group companies, or with persons related thereto. These transactions will
require board authorisation, subject to a favourable report from the audit committee, except for
those cases where by law approval is required by the shareholders at the general shareholders’
meeting. These transactions will be assessed from the point of view of equality of treatment and
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of market conditions, and will be included in the annual corporate governance report and in the
periodic public information under the terms envisaged in applicable regulations.

However, the authorisation provided for in the paragraph above shall not be required for
transactions that simultaneously meet the following three conditions:

1. They are performed under contracts with standard terms and conditions that are
normally applicable to customers that contract the type of product or service in question.

2. They are performed at prices or rates established in general terms by the supplier of the
goods or service in question, or when the transactions relate to goods or services where
there are no established rates, under normal market conditions, similar to those applied in
commercial relationships with customers with similar characteristics.

3. The amount does not exceed 1% of the Company’s annual income.

By way of exception, when advisable for reasons of urgency, related transactions may be
authorised by the executive committee and subsequently ratified by the board.

Further, in 2016, there were 95 occasions in which directors abstained from participating in
discussions and voting on matters at the meetings of the board of directors or of its committees.
The breakdown of the 95 cases is as follows: on 28 occasions the abstention was due to proposals
to appoint, re-elect or withdraw directors, as well as to appoint members of board committees or
other committees at the Group or related companies; on 51 occasions the matter under
consideration related to remuneration or granting loans or credits; on nine occasions the matter
concerned the discussion of financing or investment proposals or other risk transactions in favour
of companies related to any director; on five occasions the abstention concerned the annual
verification of the status of directors carried out by the appointments committee, pursuant to
article 6.3 of the Rules and Regulations of the Board; and on two occasions the abstention
concerned the approval of a related-party transaction.

14.2.2 Arrangements or understandings with major shareholders, customers, suppliers or
others, pursuant to which any person referred to in chapter 14.1 was selected as a
member of the governing body or senior management

In February 2006, a shareholder agreement was entered into, which was notified to the Bank and
to the Spanish Securities Markets Commission (“CNMV”) as a material fact. The document
witnessing the aforementioned agreement was filed at both the CNMV Registry and the
Companies Registry of Cantabria.

This agreement was signed by Mr. Emilio Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y Garcia de los Rios, Ms. Ana
Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea, Mr. Emilio Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea, Mr. Francisco
Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea, Simancas, S.A., Puente San Miguel, S.A. Puentepumar,
S.L., Latimer Inversiones, S.L. and Cronje, S.L. Unipersonal, and covers the syndication of the
Bank’s shares that the signatories own or over which they hold voting rights.

The aim of the syndication agreement through the restrictions established on the free
transferability of the shares and the regulated exercise of the voting rights inherent thereto is to
ensure, at all times, the concerted representation and actions of the syndicate members as
shareholders of the Bank, for the purpose of developing a lasting, stable common policy and an
effective, unitary presence and representation in the Bank'’s corporate bodies.

The members of the syndicate undertake to syndicate and pool the voting and other political
rights attaching to the syndicated shares, so that these rights may be exercised, and, in general,
the syndicate members may act towards the Bank, in a concerted manner, in accordance with the
instructions and indications and with the voting criteria and orientation, necessarily unitary,

Banco Santander, S.A.
Share Registration Document, 4 July 2017 86/152



issued by the syndicate. For this purpose, the representation of these shares is attributed to the
chair of the syndicate as the common representative of its members.

Except for transactions carried out in favour of other members of the syndicate or in favour of
the Fundacion Botin, prior authorisation must be granted from the syndicate meeting, which may
freely approve or refuse permission for the planned transfer.

At any given time, the chair of the syndicate is the person then presiding over the Fundacion
Botin, currently Francisco Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea.

14.2.3 Details of any restrictions agreed by the persons referred to in chapter 14.1 on the
disposal within a certain period of time of their holdings in the issuer's securities

A) In 2003, the Group's code of conduct was amended to conform to the requirements of Law
44/2002 of 22 November on Measures for the Reform of the Financial System. Therefore, on 28
July 2003, the Bank's board of directors approved the current Code of Conduct in the Securities
Markets of the Santander Group, which came into effect on 1 August and replaced the code that
had existed since March 2000.

In 2015, the Group's Code of Conduct in the Securities Markets was adapted to the EU Regulation
596/2014 of the European Parliament and Council of 16 April 2014, on market abuse (market
abuse regulation). Therefore, the board of directors approved the amendment of the concept of
the "equivalent person™ included in the Santander Group's Code of Conduct in the Securities
Markets, and informed the persons affected.

On 24 January 2017, the Board of Directors approved the last update to the Group's Code of
Conduct in the Securities Markets to bring it into line with the Santander Group's current
organisational structure, among other objectives.

In accordance with this code, the persons involved may not: (i) perform trades of an opposite
type involving Group securities during the 30 days following each acquisition or sale of these
securities; or (ii) perform any trading operations involving securities of the Group from one
month prior to the announcement of the respective quarterly, half-yearly or yearly earnings until
such results are published.

For the purposes of the paragraph above, the term "person involved" has the following meaning:

Persons involved are, with the exceptions established by the compliance committee for legal or
other justifiable reasons, the following:

1.  Board directors of the Bank and its subsidiaries, provided that the latter are directly related
to securities markets.

2. The senior management of the Bank and of those of its subsidiaries that are directly related
to the securities market.

3. All the people who work in the areas of the Bank or its subsidiaries that are directly related
to securities markets.

4.  Representatives or agents of the Bank or of its subsidiaries who conduct activities directly
related to securities markets.

5. All other people who, through the nature of their activity and in the opinion of the
compliance division, must abide temporarily or permanently by the controls established in
the Code of Conduct in Securities Markets.
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The compliance division prepares and updates a list of persons involved and, in the case of those
subject to several codes, may determine which of the obligations of a similar content are
applicable to them.

B) In February 2006, three directors, together with other shareholders of the Bank, entered into
a shareholder agreement that was notified to the Bank and to the Spanish Securities Markets
Commission (“CNMV™). The document witnessing the aforementioned agreement was filed at
both the CNMV Registry and the Companies Registry of Cantabria.

For further information on this agreement, see section A.6 of the annual corporate governance
report.

At the date of this document, the syndication included a total of 73,645,123 shares of the Bank
(0.505% of its share capital), broken down as follows:

Signatories to the shareholders’ agreement Number of shares
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola O’Shea 828,828
Mr. Emilio Botin-Sanz de Sautuola O’Shea! 16,873,709
Mr. Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 2 16,292,640
Ms. Paloma Botin-Sanz de Sautuola O’Shea® 7,835,293
Ms. Carmen Botin-Sanz de Sautuola O’Shea 8,636,792

PUENTEPUMAR, S.L.
LATIMER INVERSIONES, S.L.

CRONJE, S.L.U.* 17,602,582
NUEVA AZIL, S.L.U.® 5,575,279
TOTAL 73,645,123

1. 7,800,332 shares held indirectly through Puente San Miguel, S.L.U.

2. 11,447,138 shares held indirectly through Agropecuaria El Castafio, S.L.U.
3. 6,628,291 shares held indirectly through Bright Sky 2012, S.L.

4. Controlled by Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea.

5. Controlled by Ms. Carolina Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea

CHAPTER 15
REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

151 REMUNERATION PAID TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The most recent audited information on the remuneration and benefits of the members of the
board of directors and the senior management of the Bank is the information for 2016 and is
included in note 5 to the 2016 financial statements.
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Further, the annual directors' remuneration report provides additional information on the
remuneration received by members of the board of directors in their capacity as such and for the
performance of their executive functions in 2016. Information is provided on an individual basis
on the remuneration received by each director, with a breakdown of the amounts for each
remuneration item. Similarly, the 2016 remuneration committee report, that was made available
to shareholders at the time of the general shareholders' meeting, contains this committee's report
on directors' remuneration policy, with the content required under article 529 novodecies, section
2 of the Corporate Enterprises Act.

According to article 58 of the Bylaws, directors receive remuneration for exercising the functions
corresponding to them in their capacity as directors, which consists of a fixed annual sum that is
set at the general shareholders' meeting. At the general shareholders' meeting held on 7 April 2017,
a fixed annual amount of 6,000,000 euros was approved for remunerating directors in their capacity
as such, which shall apply to the remuneration received in 2017 and will remain in force until
amended by the shareholders in general meeting.

With regard to the variable remuneration paid to executive directors and other employees
belonging to categories whose professional activities significantly affect the risk profile
(“identified staff”), in accordance with article 58.6 of the bylaws and article 34.1.g) of Law
10/2014, of 26 June, on the organisation, supervision and solvency of credit institutions, the
variable components shall not exceed one hundred percent of the fixed components of the total
remuneration for each director, unless the general shareholders’ meeting approves a higher
amount, which may not be higher than two hundred percent of the fixed components of the total
remuneration. At the general shareholders’ meeting held on 7 April 2017, renewing the
authorisation granted in 2016, shareholders approved the maximum ratio of variable components
of remuneration in relation to fixed components for 2017 for a maximum of 1,000 members of
the identified group, including executive directors. Under no circumstances may this maximum
ratio exceed 200%.

Similarly, in compliance with article 59 of the bylaws and article 529 novodecies of the Corporate
Enterprises Act, at the general shareholders’ meeting held on 7 April 2017, shareholders
approved, on a binding basis, the remuneration policy for directors of Banco Santander, S.A. for
2017 (completing and updating the resolution approved at the 2016 general meeting), 2018 and
2019, supported by the corresponding reasoned proposal fom the board of directors and a special
report from the remunerations committee. Any remuneration received by directors for exercising
or terminating their functions, or for the performance of executive functions, shall be in
accordance with the approved remuneration policy.

Lastly, the annual directors’ remuneration report for 2016 was submitted for approval, on a
consultative basis, to the general shareholders' meeting held on 7 April 2017, receiving 93.53% of
votes in favour.

15.2 PENSION, RETIREMENT OR SIMILAR BENEFITS

See note 5.c. and d. to the financial statements and section A.7 of the annual directors'
remuneration report.
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CHAPTER 16

MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

16.1 END DATE OF CURRENT TERM OF OFFICE

The following table shows the date of first appointment of each member of the board of directors

of the Bank, and the end date of their current term of office.

Name

Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuolay O’Shea.........ccccoeeveeennne.
José Antonio Alvarez AIVarez...........ccoocoeoeerceeeveevenennn,
Bruce Carnegie-Brown ..........ccccoceverieniiinene e,
Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo...........cccoovvvviiveniericnciee,
Matias Rodriguez INCiarte ...........ccccocvevreereneivsererennns
Guillermo de la Dehesa ROMErO0. ........ccccevvivievveieenieann,
Homaira AKDEI .......cccoviiriieiieee e
Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca .........c..ccoceeverveveiennnns
Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuolay O’Shea...........ccccenenee.
Sol Daurella Comadran ..........ccccocevevieeeneieccceceeeens
Carlos Ferndndez GONzalez...........ccccovevivviineneenenenn,
Esther Giménez-Salinas i Colomer...........cccccceevveveveenane.
Belén Romana Garcia...........cceceeevveiceiecrecece e,
Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga.........ccoveveererierienicienieennns
Juan Miguel Villar Mir.........ccocooevviiiiieiniecese e

Date of first
appointment

End date (1)

4 February 1989
25 November 2014
25 November 2014

7 October 1988

7 October 1988

24 June 2002
27 September 2016
30 June 2015
25 July 2004
25 November 2014
25 November 2014

30 March 2012
22 November 2015

26 March 2007
7 May 2013

First half of 2020
First half of 2020
First half of 2019
First half of 2020
First half of 2018
First half of 2018
First half of 2020
First half of 2019
First half of 2019
First half of 2019
First half of 2018
First half of 2020
First half of 2020
First half of 2019
First half of 2019

(1)  Pursuant to the provisions of article 55 of the Bylaws, the duration of the director's term will be three years, although one-third of the positions
on the board will be renewed each year, based on length of service and according to the date and order of the respective appointment.

16.2 INFORMATION ABOUT MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNANCE,
MANAGEMENT OR SUPERVISORY BODIES’ SERVICE CONTRACTS WITH
THE BANK OR ANY GROUP SUBSIDIARIES PROVIDING FOR BENEFITS
UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT, OR AN APPROPRIATE
NEGATIVE STATEMENT

See section A.6 and section A.7 of the annual directors' remuneration reports for a description of
the terms and conditions of executive directors' contracts. No non-executive director has the right
to receive any benefits upon termination of their employment.

16.3 AUDIT COMMITTEE, APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE, REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE, RISK SUPERVISORY, REGULATORY AND COMPLIANCE
COMMITTEE AND OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES.

16.3.1 Audit Committee

The main function of the audit committee is to assess the information systems and accounting
verification procedures, ensure the independence of the accounts auditor and review the internal
control systems of the Bank and its Group. The audit committee shall consist of a minimum of
three directors and a maximum of nine, all of whom shall be external or non-executive, with
independent directors having majority representation.

The Board of Directors will appoint the members of the audit committee, bearing in mind their
knowledge, aptitude and experience in accounting, auditing or risk management, so that, overall,
the members of the committee are in possession of all the relevant technical knowledge in relation
to the sector of activity in which the Bank participates. The audit committee must in all events
be presided over by an independent director, who shall also be knowledgeable about and
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experienced in matters of accounting, auditing or risk management. The current committee
chairman is Belén Romana Garcia. All directors currently sitting on this committee are external
and independent.

(1) Composition
The composition of the audit committee is as follows:

= Belén Romana Garcia, chairman
= Homaira Akbari, member
= Carlos Fernandez Gonzélez, member
= Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga, member
In accordance with the bylaws, the general secretary is the secretary of this committee.

(11 Annual Report

On occasion of the call to the 2017 ordinary general meeting the audit committee issued a
report that is published on the corporate website and includes details of the following:

1) Regulatory aspects, duties, composition and the attendance of its members at the
committee meetings held in 2016, and its operations.

i) Activities performed in 2016, grouped in accordance with the core duties of the audit
committee:

= Financial information.

= External auditor.

= Internal audit.

= The Group's internal control systems.
= Report on related-party transactions.

= Information for the general shareholders' meeting and corporate documentation
for 2016.

iii) Self-assessment.
iv) Challenges for 2017.
(111) Duties

The duties of the audit committee are described in section C.2.1 of the annual corporate
governance report.

As described in article 16.4 of the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Directors, that
regulates the duties of the audit committee, this committee has the functions described
below and any other provided for by law.

(@) Have its chairman and/or secretary report to the shareholders at the general
shareholders’ meeting with respect to matters raised therein by shareholders
regarding its powers and, specifically, regarding the results of the audit, explaining
how such audit has contributed to the integrity of the financial information and the
role that the committee has played in such process.
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(b) Review the accounts of the Company and the Group, monitor compliance with legal
requirements and the proper application of generally accepted accounting
principles, and report on the proposals for alterations to the accounting principles
and standards suggested by management.

(c) Inconnection with the Company’s external auditor:

(i) With respect to the appointment thereof, the audit committee shall have the
following powers:

(1) Submit to the board of directors the proposals for selection, appointment,
re-election and replacement of the external auditor, assuming
responsibility for the selection procedure established by applicable law,
as well as the terms of the contract therewith, and periodically obtain
from the external auditor information regarding the audit plan and the
implementation thereof. The committee will favour the Group's external
auditor also undertaking the responsibility for auditing the financial
statements of companies belonging to the Group.

(@) Have its chairman and/or secretary report to the shareholders at the general
shareholders’ meeting with respect to matters raised therein by shareholders
regarding its powers and, specifically, regarding the results of the audit, explaining
how such audit has contributed to the integrity of the financial information and the
role that the committee has played in such process.

(b) Review the accounts of the Company and the Group, monitor compliance with legal
requirements and the proper application of generally accepted accounting
principles, and report on the proposals for alterations to the accounting principles
and standards suggested by management.

(c) Inconnection with the Company’s external auditor:

(1)  With respect to the appointment thereof, the audit committee shall have the
following powers:

(1) Submit to the board of directors the proposals for selection, appointment,
re-election and replacement of the external auditor, assuming
responsibility for the selection procedure established by applicable law,
as well as the terms of the contract therewith, and periodically obtain from
the external auditor information regarding the audit plan and the
implementation thereof. The committee will favour the Group's external
auditor also undertaking the responsibility for auditing the financial
statements of companies belonging to the Group.

(2) Ensure that the Company gives public notice of the change of external
auditor in the form of a material fact (hecho relevante), attaching to such
notice a statement regarding the possible existence of disagreements with
the outgoing external auditor and, if any have existed, regarding the
content thereof, and in the event of resignation of the external auditor,
examine the circumstances giving rise thereto.

(i)  With respect to the conduct of the audit, the audit committee shall:

(1) Establish proper relations with the external auditor so as to receive
information regarding matters that might jeopardise its independence, in
order to examine such information, and any other information relating to
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)

3)

(4)

the auditing process, as well as all other communications pursuant to
legislation on the auditing of financial statements and audit standards, and
serve as a communication channel between the Board and the external
auditor, evaluating the results of each audit and the management team's
response to its the recommendations contained therein, mediating in cases
of discrepancy with the auditor and the Board in regard to the principles
and criteria applicable in preparing the financial statements. Specifically,
the committee shall seek to ensure that the financial statements prepared
by the board be presented at the general shareholders’ meeting without
reserve or qualification.

Supervise the fulfilment of the audit contract, endeavouring to ensure that
the opinion on the annual financial statements and the main contents of
the auditor’s report are set forth in a clear and accurate fashion.

Ensure that the external auditor annually attends the meeting of the board
of directors provided for in article 35.1 in fine of these rules and
regulations.

Ensure that the external auditor issues a report on the system of internal
controls on financial information.

(iii) And with respect to the independence of the auditor and the provision of

Banco Santander, S.A.

services other than audit work, the audit committee shall ensure that the
Company and the external auditor comply with applicable regulations
regarding the provision of such services, the limits on concentration of the
external auditor’s business and, in general, all other regulations governing
independence of the external auditor. For purposes of ensuring the
independence of the external auditor, the audit committee shall take note of
those circumstances or issues that might risk such independence and any
others related to the development of the auditing procedure. And, specifically,
it shall ensure that the remuneration of the external auditor for its work does
not compromise the quality and independence thereof, and shall verify the
percentage that the fees paid for any and all reasons represent out of the total
income of the audit firm, as well as the length of service of the partner who
leads the audit team in the provision of such services to the Company.

Likewise, the audit committee must endorse any decision to hire services
other than audit services, not prohibited by applicable regulations, having
first properly assessed any threats to the auditor's independence and the
safeguard measures applied in accordance with said regulations.

The annual report shall include the fees paid to the audit firm, including
information relating to fees paid for professional services other than auditing.

In any event, the audit committee should annually receive from the external
auditor written confirmation of the latter’s independence versus the Company
or institutions directly or indirectly related to the Company, as well as
detailed and itemised information on additional services of any kind provided
by the aforementioned auditor or by persons or institutions related thereto
and the fees received from such entities, pursuant to the regulations
governing the auditing of accounts.
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Likewise, prior to the issuance of the external auditor’s report, the committee
shall annually issue a report expressing an opinion on whether the
independence of the external auditor is compromised. Such report shall in any
event contain a reasoned evaluation of each and every one of the additional
services mentioned in the preceding paragraph, taken both individually and as
a whole, other than legal audit services, and in connection with the rules on
independence or with the regulations governing the auditing of accounts.

(d) Supervise the internal audit function and, in particular:

(i)

(i)

(iii)
(iv)

(v)
(vi)

Proposing the selection, appointment and withdrawal of the party responsible
for internal audit;

Approve the proposed guidance and the annual working plan of internal audit
submitted to the board, ensuring that internal audit activities are primarily
focused on the Company’s significant risks, and review the annual activities
report

Ensuring the independence and effectiveness of the internal audit function;

Propose the budget for this service, including the necessary material and
human resources;

Receiving periodic information regarding the activities thereof; and

Verify that senior management and the board take into account the
conclusions and recommendations set forth in its reports.

(e) Supervise the process for gathering financial information and for the internal
control systems. In particular, the Audit Committee shall:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Supervise the preparation and presentation of relevant financial information
concerning the company and the Group, as well as ensuring that such
information is complete, reviewing compliance with regulatory requirements,
the proper demarcation of the consolidation scope and the correct
application of accounting criteria;

Monitor the efficacy of internal control systems, periodically reviewing these,
so as to adequately identify, manage and divulge risks; and

Discuss with the external auditor any significant weaknesses in the internal
control system uncovered in the course of the audit.

As a consequence of its activities, the audit committee may submit
recommendations or proposals to the board of directors.

In any event, the performance of the duties established herein shall not affect the
independence of the internal audit function.

() Report to the Board, before the latter makes the relevant decisions, in regard to:

(i)

(i)

Banco Santander, S.A.

The financial information the Company must disclose periodically, ensuring
that said information is prepared in accordance with the same principles and
practices as the annual financial statements.

The creation and acquisition of shareholdings in special-purpose vehicles or
entities with registered headquarters in countries or territories that are
considered to be tax havens.
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(ili) The approval of related-party transactions provided for in article 33.

(@) Know and, in the event, respond to the initiatives, suggestions and complaints filed
by shareholders in respect of this Committee's duties and submitted by the
Company's general secretary. The committee shall also:

(i) Receive, process and keep a record of complaints received by the Bank in
regard to issues relating to the process of generating financial information,
auditing and internal controls.

(i) Establish and supervise a mechanism whereby Group employees may
communicate, confidentially and anonymously, potentially significant
irregularities as to matters within its area of authority, especially of
a financial and accounting nature.

(h) Receive information concerning operations involving structural or corporate
modifications planned by the Company, for analysis and reporting to the Board of
Directors in relation to the economic conditions of such activities and their
accounting impact and, in particular, where relevant, the proposed swap equation.
The above shall not apply to simple transactions that are not significant for the
Group's activities, including, in the event, intra-group restructuring.

(i) Receive information from the person responsible for the Company’s taxation
matters on the tax policies applied, at least prior to the drawing-up of the financial
statements and the filing of the Corporate Tax return, and where relevant, on the
tax consequences of transactions or matters submitted to the board of directors or
the executive committee for approval, unless such bodies have been informed
directly, in which case this will be reported to the committee at the first subsequent
meeting held by it. The audit committee shall convey all information received to the
board of directors.

() Evaluate, at least once a year, its operation and the quality of its work.
(k) And all others specifically provided for in these rules and regulations.

As stipulated in section c) (iii) of article 16 transcribed above, and in accordance with the
provisions of article 50.2 of the bylaws, the audit committee shall have decision-making, rather
than merely consultative, functions to authorise services other than those that are prohibited,
under the terms described in the regulations for accounting activities.

This document was reviewed by the audit committee on 23 June 2017.
16.3.2 Appointments Committee

This is another specialised board committee with no delegated functions. The appointments
committee shall be composed of a minimum of three and a maximum of nine directors, all of
whom shall be external or non-executive directors, with independent directors having majority
representation, one of which will be the committee chairman. The members of the appointments
committee are designated by the Board, taking into consideration the knowledge, skills and
experience of the directors and the requirements of said committee.

(1) Composition
The appointments committee is composed of the following external directors:
= Bruce Carnegie-Brown, chairman.
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= Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero, member

= Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca, member
= Sol Daurella Comadran, member

= Carlos Fernandez Gonzélez, member

In accordance with the bylaws, the general secretary is the secretary of this committee.
(1) Annual Report

On occasion of the call to the 2017 ordinary general meeting the appointments committee
issued a report that is published on the corporate website and includes details of the following:

1) Regulatory aspects, duties, composition and the attendance of its members at the
committee meetings held in 2016, and its operations.

i) Activities report of the appointments committee for 2016:

= Renewal of the board and its committees and description of the selection process of
members thereof.

= International advisory board.

= Yearly assessment of the category of the directors.

= Evaluation of the suitability of directors and other key personnel.
= Appointment of members of the board committees.

= Internal governance

= Participation in the board's self-assessment process.

= Succession plans for executive directors and senior management.

= Appointment of members of senior management who do not sit on the board of
directors.

= Training of directors and information or induction programme for new directors.
= Civil liability insurance.
= Institutional documentation.

iii) Self-assessment.

iv) Challenges for 2017.

(1) Duties

The duties of the appointments committee are described in section C.2.1 of the annual
corporate governance report.

The duties of the appointments committee is governed by article 17.4 of the Rules and
Regulations of the Board of Directors and are as follows:

(@) Propose and review the director selection policy and the succession plan
approved by the board and the internal criteria and procedures to be followed in
order to select those persons who will be proposed to serve as directors, as well
as for the continuous evaluation of directors, reporting on such continuous
evaluation. In particular, the appointments committee shall:

(i) Evaluate the balance among the components of knowledge, capabilities,
qualifications, diversity and experience that are required and existing on
the board of directors and prepare the respective matrix of capabilities and
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(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)
(f)

the description of duties and qualifications required for each specific
appointment, assessing the time and dedication needed for appropriate
performance of the duties of director.

(i) Receive for consideration proposals of potential candidates to cover the
vacancies established by the directors.

(iii) Periodically (at least once a year) report in regard to the structure, size,
composition and action of the board of directors, the operation of and
compliance with the policy for selecting directors, and the succession plan,
presenting recommendations to the board for potential changes.

(iv) Conduct a periodic review, at least once per year, of the fitness and
properness of the different members of the board of directors and of the
board as a whole and report to the board of directors accordingly.

(v) Establish, in line with the provisions of article 6.1 of the rules and
regulations of the board of directors, a goal for representation of the less-
represented gender on the board of directors and prepare guidelines as to
how to increase the number of persons of that less-represented gender in
order to reach such target. The target, the guidelines and the application
thereof shall be published as provided by applicable law.

Apply and supervise the succession plan for the directors approved by the board
of directors, working in coordination with the chairman of the board or, for
purposes of the succession of the chairman, with the lead director. In particular,
examine or organise the succession of the chairman and of the chief executive
officer pursuant to article 24 of the rules and regulations of the board of directors.

Prepare, by following standards of objectiveness and conformance to the
corporate interests, the proposals for appointment, re-election and ratification of
directors provided for in section 2 of article 21 of the rules and regulations of the
board of directors, as well as the proposals for appointment of the members of
each of the committees of the board of directors. It shall also prepare the
proposals for the appointment of positions on the board of directors and its
committees, following the same aforementioned standards.

Annually verify the classification of each director (as executive, proprietary,
independent or other) for the purpose of their confirmation or review at the ordinary
general shareholders’ meeting and in the annual corporate governance report.

Report on proposals for appointment or withdrawal of the secretary of the board
and, if applicable, the vice secretary, prior to submission thereof to the board.

Propose and review the policies and internal procedures for the selection and
continuous evaluation of senior executive vice presidents or similar officers and
other employees responsible for internal control functions or who hold key
positions for the day-to-day conduct of banking activities, as well as the
succession plan for such executive officers, report on their appointment and
withdrawal from office and their continuous evaluation in implementation of such
procedures, and make any recommendations it deems appropriate.
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@)

(h)

(i)
@)

(k)

()

Ensure compliance by the directors with the duties prescribed in Article 30 of these
rules and regulations, prepare the reports provided for herein and receive
information, and, if applicable, prepare a report on the measures to be adopted with
respect to the directors in the event of non-compliance with the abovementioned
duties or with the code of conduct of the Group in the securities markets.

Examine the information sent by the directors regarding their other professional
obligations and assess whether such obligations might interfere with the
dedication required of directors for the effective performance of their work.

Evaluate, at least once a year, its operation and the quality of its work.

Report on the process of self-evaluation of the board and of the members thereof
and assess the independence of the external consultant hired pursuant to article
19.7 of the rules and regulations of the board of directors.

Report on and supervise implementation of the Group's policy for planning
succession, and modifications thereto.

The other duties specifically provided for in the rules and regulations of the board
of directors and any others assigned to the committee by applicable law.

16.3.3 Remuneration Committee

This is another specialised board committee with no delegated functions. The remuneration
committee must be made up of a minimum of three and a maximum of nine directors, all external
and non-executive, with a majority representation of independent directors, and with one of these
independent directors being its chairman. The members of the remuneration committee are
designated by the Board, taking into consideration the knowledge, skills and experience of the
directors and the requirements of said committee.

(1) Composition

The appointments committee is composed of the following external directors:

Bruce Carnegie-Brown, chairman.
Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero, member
Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de VVaca, member.
Sol Daurella Comadran, member

Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga, member

In accordance with the bylaws, the general secretary is the secretary of this committee.

(1) Annual report

On occasion of the call to the 2017 ordinary general meeting the remuneration committee
issued a report that is published on the corporate website and includes details of the
following:

1) Regulatory aspects, duties, composition and the attendance of its members at the
committee meetings held in 2016, and its operations.

i1) Report on the director remuneration policy

Principles of the remuneration policy.
Principles of corporate governance regarding remuneration.
Remuneration policy applied in 2016.
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= Individual compensation and compensation for all director services in 2016.

= Director remuneration policy for 2017, 2018 and 2019 that is submitted to a binding
vote of the shareholders.

= Preparatory work and decision-making with details on involvement of remuneration
committee and on the identity of external advisors.

i) Compensation of members of senior management who do not sit on the board of
directors.

iv) Remuneration of the identified staff.
v) Self-assessment.

v) Challenges for 2017.

(111) Duties

The duties of the remuneration committee are described in section C.2.1 of the annual
corporate governance report.

The duties of the remuneration committee is governed by article 17 bis.4 of the Rules and
Regulations of the Board of Directors and are as follows:

(@) Prepare and propose the decisions relating to remuneration that the board of
directors must adopt, including those that have an impact on the Company’s risk
and risk management. In particular, the remuneration committee shall propose:

(1)  The director remuneration policy, preparing the required reasoned report
on such remuneration policy as provided by article 28 bis of these rules and
regulations as well as the annual remuneration report provided for in
article 29

(i)  The individual remuneration of the directors in their capacity as such.

(iii) The individual remuneration of the directors for the performance of duties
other than those in their capacity as such, and other terms of their contracts.

(iv) The remuneration policy applicable to the senior executive vice presidents
and other members of senior management in compliance with the provisions
of law.

(v)  The basic terms of the contracts and compensation of the members of senior
management.

(vi) Propose to the board the essential elements of remuneration for other
directors or employees who, although not members of senior management,
do belong to the identified staff.

(b) Assist the board with the supervision of the observance of the remuneration policy
for directors and other members of the Identified Staff, as well as the other
remuneration policies at the Company and the Group.

(c) Periodically review the remuneration programmes to ensure they are up-to-date,
giving weight to their adaptation and performance, ensuring that remuneration is
in line with the criteria of moderation and the company’s results, culture and risk
appetite; and that no incentives are offered to assume risk that exceeds the level
tolerated by the company, such that they promote and are compatible with adequate
and effective risk management. For these purposes the mechanisms and systems
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(d)

(€)

(f)

9)
(h)

adopted will be revised to ensure that the remuneration programmes take into
account all types of risk and all levels of capital and liquidity, and that
remuneration is in line with the company’s business targets and strategies,
corporate culture and long-term interest.

Ensure the transparency of remuneration and the inclusion in the annual report,
the annual corporate governance report, the annual remuneration report or other
reports required by applicable law of information regarding the remuneration of
directors and, for such purposes, submit to the board any and all information that
may be appropriate.

Evaluate the attainment of performance targets and the need to make “ex post”
adjustments to risk, including the application of reduction (““malus’) or recovery
systems (““clawback™).

Review possible scenarios in order to verify the effects of possible external and
internal events on remuneration policies and practices, and perform, together with
the risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee, a subsequent analysis
of the criteria used to determine compensation and the ex ante risk adjustment,
taking into consideration how the previously evaluated risks have actually arisen.

Evaluate, at least once a year, its operation and the quality of its work.

And all remaining specifications attributed to it pursuant to the Board of Directors'
Regulations and applicable legislation.

In exercising its duties, the remuneration committee must take into account the long-term
interests of shareholders, investors and other parties interested in Company, as well as
public interest.

16.3.4 Risk supervision, regulation and compliance Committee

This is another specialised board committee with no delegated functions. The committee shall be
composed of a minimum of three and a maximum of nine directors, all of whom shall be external
or non-executive directors, with independent directors having majority representation.

The committee must be chaired by an independent director.

The members of the appointments committee shall be appointed by the board of directors taking
into account the directors’ knowledge, skills and experience and the responsibilities of the

committee.

Q)

Composition

The risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee is composed of the following
external directors:

Bruce Carnegie-Brown, chairman
Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero, member
Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca, member
Carlos Fernandez Gonzalez, member

Esther Giménez-Salinas i Colomer, member
Belén Romana Garcia, member

Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga, member

In accordance with the bylaws, the general secretary is the secretary of this committee.
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(1)  Annual Report

On occasion of the call to the 2017 ordinary general meeting the risk supervision,
regulation and compliance committee issued a report that is published on the corporate
website and includes details of the following:

1) Regulatory aspects, duties, composition and the attendance of its members at the
committee meetings held in 2016, and its operations.

i) Activities report of the risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee for 2016:

= Risks.

= Capital and liquidity.

= Compliance and conduct.

= Corporate governance and regulation.

= Relations with supervisors and regulators.

iii) Self-assessment.
iv) Challenges for 2017.
(111) Duties

The duties of the risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee are described in
section C.2.1 of the annual corporate governance report.

As described in article 17 ter of the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Directors, that
regulates the duties of the risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee,
committee has the functions described below and any other provided for by law:

(@) Supportand advice to the board in defining and assessing the risk policies affecting
the Group and in determining the current and future risk propensity, and the
strategy in this regard. The Group's risk policy must include:

(i)  The identification of the various types of financial and non-financial risk
(operational, technological, tax, legal, social, environmental, political,
reputational, and compliance and behavioural, among others) that the
Company faces, including, among financial or economic risks, contingent
liabilities and others which are off-balance sheet;

(if)  Setting the risk appetite that the Company deems acceptable;

(iii) The planned measures to mitigate the impact of identified risks, in the event
that they materialise; and

(iv) The information and internal control systems that will be used to control
and manage such risks, including tax risks.

(b) Assistance to the board in monitoring the implementation of the risk strategy and
the alignment thereof with the strategic commercial plans.

(c) Toassistthe board in approving the capital and liquidity strategies and to supervise
their implementation.

(d) Ensuring that the pricing policy for the assets and liabilities offered to customers
is fully aligned with the Company’s business model, risk appetite and risk strategy.
If such is not the case, the committee shall submit to the board of directors a plan
for the correction of such policy.
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(e) Knowing and assessing the risks arising from the macroeconomic context and from
the economic cycles within which the Company and its Group carry out their
activities.

()  Systematic review of exposure to principal customers, economic sectors of activity,
geographic areas and risk types.

(9) Supervising the risk function, without prejudice to the direct access of the latter to
the board of directors.

() Support and assistance to the board in the performance of stress tests by the
Company, in particular by assessing the scenarios and assumptions to be used in
such tests, evaluating the results thereof and analysing the measures proposed by
the risk function as a consequence of such results.

(i) Know and assess the management tools, improvement measures, evolution of
projects and any other relevant activity related to risk control, including the policy
on internal models of risk and their internal validation.

() Determine, together with the board of directors, the nature, amount, format and
frequency of the risk-related information that is to be received by the committee
itself and by the board of directors. In particular, the risk supervision, regulation
and compliance committee shall receive periodic information from the chief risk
officer (CRO).

(k)  Cooperation in establishing rational remuneration policies and practices. For this
purpose, without prejudice to the duties of the remuneration committee, the risk
supervision, regulation and compliance committee will determine whether the
incentives policy envisaged in the remuneration scheme takes into account risk,
capital, liquidity and the probability and opportunity of profit. In conjunction with
the remunerations committee, the risk supervision, regulation and compliance
committee will also conduct a subsequent analysis of the criteria used to determine
compensation and the ex-ante risk adjustment, based on how risks previously
assessed actually materialised.

(D) Supervision and regular evaluation of the operation of the Company’s compliance
programme, governance rules and the compliance function, and making such
proposals as may be required for the improvement thereof. For such purpose, the
risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee:

(i)  Shall supervise compliance with the general code of conduct, AML/CTF
manuals and procedures and any other codes and regulations that apply to
the industry.

(i)  Shall receive information and, where applicable, issue reports concerning
any disciplinary measures applied to members of senior management.

(iii) Shall supervise the implementation of actions and measures that are the
result of reports and inspections by the administrative supervisory and
control authorities.

(iv) Shall supervise the operation of and compliance with the criminal risk
prevention model approved by the board of directors pursuant to article 3.2
of the rules and regulations of the board of directors.

For the performance of this task, the committee shall have its own powers
of initiative and control. This includes, without limitation, the power to
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obtain any information it deems appropriate and to call any officer or
employee of the Group, including, in particular, the heads of the compliance
function and of the various committees related to this area that may exist in
order to assess their performance, as well as the power to commence and
direct such internal inquiries as it deems necessary into events related to
any possible noncompliance with the criminal risk prevention model.

Furthermore, the committee shall periodically evaluate the operation of the
prevention model and the effectiveness thereof in preventing or mitigating
the commission of crimes, for which purpose it may rely on external advice
when it deems it appropriate, and shall propose to the board of directors
any changes to the criminal risk prevention model and, in general, to the
compliance programme that it deems fit in view of such evaluation.

(m) Review of the Company’s corporate social responsibility policy, ensuring that it is

(n)

(0)
()

(@)
(r)
)

(t)

aimed at the creation of value for the Company, and monitoring of the strategy and
practices in this field, evaluating the level of adherence thereto.

Supervise the strategy for communication and relations with shareholders and
investors, including small and mid-sized shareholders, as well as the supervision
and evaluation of the procedures for relations with stakeholders.

Coordinate the process of communication of non-financial and diversity information,
in accordance with applicable regulations and leading international standards.

Periodically assess the suitability of the Company’s corporate governance system, in
order to ensure that it fulfils its mission of promoting the corporate interest and that
it takes into account, where applicable, the legitimate interests of other stakeholders.

Provide support and advice to the board regarding relations with supervisors and
regulators in the various countries where the Group operates.

Track and evaluate rule-making proposals and regulatory changes that may be
applicable and of any possible consequences for the Group.

Report on any proposed amendments to these rules and regulations prior to the
approval thereof by the board of directors.

Evaluate, at least once a year, its operation and the quality of its work.

16.3.5 Other board committees
Executive Committee

The executive committee is governed by Article 51 of the Company’s Bylaws and Article 14 of
the Rules and Regulations of the Board. All the powers of the board of directors have been
delegated to the executive committee, except those which may not be legally delegated and those
which are reserved to the board under the latter’s Rules and Regulations.

International Committee

As described in article 16.4 of the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Directors, that regulates
the duties of the audit committee, this committee has the functions described below and any other
provided for by law.
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The committee shall:

(@)

(b)

Monitor the development of the Group’s strategy and of the activities, markets
and countries in which the Group wishes to operate by means of direct investments
or specific transactions, for which purpose it shall be informed of the commercial
initiatives and strategies pursued by the various units of the Group and of any new
projects that may arise; and

Review the performance of financial investments and of the business, as well as
the international economic situation, in order to submit, if applicable, any
proposals required to adjust the limits on country risk, the structure and
profitability thereof and the assignment of such risk by business and/or unit.

Innovation and technology Committee

As described in article 17 quinquies of the Rules and Regulations of the Board of Directors, that
regulates the duties of the innovation and technology committee, this committee has the functions
described below and any other provided for by law.

The functions of the innovation and technology committee include the following:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)
(€)

(f)
@)

(h)
(i)

Review and report on plans and activities relating to technology:
(i) Information systems and application programming;

(i) Investments in information technology equipment and technological
transformation;

(iii) Design of operating processes to improve productivity;

(iv) Programmes for improvement of service quality and measurement
procedures, as well as those relating to means and costs; and

(v) Significant projects in the area of technology.

Review and report on plans and activities relating to innovation:

(i) tests and adoption of new business models, technology, systems and platforms;
(i) associations, commercial relationships and investments; and

(iii) significant projects in the area of innovation.

Propose to the board the technology framework and the data management
framework for the Company.

Assist the board in the approval of the strategic technology plan.

Assist the board by making recommendations relating to the Group's innovation
agenda.

Assist the board in the identification of the major threats to the status quo which
may result as a consequence of new business models, technology, processes,
products and concepts.

Propose to the board the annual systems plan.
Assist the board in evaluating the quality of the technological service.

Assist the board in evaluating the capacity and conditions for innovation at both
Group and country level.
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()] Assist the risk supervision, regulation and compliance committee in the supervision
of technological and security risks and supervise the management of cybersecurity.

For further information, see section C of the 2016 annual corporate governance report.
16.4 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Banco Santander complies with the corporate governance system established under Spanish law.

In accordance with article 540 of the Corporate Enterprises Act, on 24 February 2017, Banco
Santander published its 2016 annual corporate governance report, and submitted it to the CNMV,
which published it as a Material Fact. This report, prepared in compliance with the model
established for this purpose by the CNMV, through CNMV Circular 7/2015, of 22 December,
amending Circular 5/2013, of 12 June, establishing the corporate governance report for public
listed companies, provides a detailed explanation of the Bank's governance structure and its
practical operations, pursuant to the provisions of prevailing legislation, the Bank's bylaws and
internal rules and regulations.

With regard to following the recommendations set down in the Good Governance Code for Listed
Companies, approved by the CNMV on 18 February 2015, section G of this annual report
describes the degree of monitoring applied to each of the code's 64 recommendations, in addition
to a detailed explanation in section H of the report to set down any explanations or clarification
related to other sections.

At the general shareholders” meeting held on 7 April 2017, the chairman of the board of directors
informed shareholders of the most relevant aspects of the Bank’s corporate governance in 2016.
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CHAPTER 17
EMPLOYEES

171 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Note 47 b) to the financial statements shows the number of Group employees arranged by job
category at 31 December 2016.

The following table presents a breakdown of Group employees by geographical region at the
close of each period.

Number of employees(*)

2016 2015 2014
SPAIN 28,438 30,106 30,153
LATIN AMERICA 85,855 89,352 84,086
Argentina 7,852 7,966 7,319
Brazil 46,437 49,199 46,281
Chile 11,877 12,360 12,087
Colombia 105 60 55
Mexico 17,702 17,831 16,991
Peru 154 149 128
Uruguay 1,728 1,787 1,225
EUROPE 56,517 56,111 54,515
Austria 375 395 389
Germany 5,492 5,421 5,339
Belgium 99 16 16
Finland 173 155 148
France 944 910 48
Hungary - 39 44
Ireland 4 9 36
Italy 826 757 747
Norway 1,117 1,257 593
Poland 15,389 14,724 15,363
Portugal 6,742 6,972 5,829
Switzerland 220 203 148
The Netherlands 436 333 339
Sweden - - 767
United Kingdom 24,700 24,920 24,709
United States (including
Puerto Rico) 17,221 17,799 16,398
CANADA 188 182 =
ASIA 224 247 189
Hong Kong 148 145 110
China 65 75 62
Other 11 27 17
OTHERS 49 66 64
Bahamas 43 42 43
Other 6 24 21
TOTAL 188,492 193,863 185,405

*) Excluding personnel engaged in discontinued operations.

Banco Santander, S.A.
Share Registration Document, 4 July 2017 106/152



The Group had 188,182 employees at 31 March 2017. The average number of casual employees
at the Group in 2016 was 5,712 (6,406 in 2015 and 6,717 in 2014).

Following the acquisition of Banco Popular on 7 June 2017 (see chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition of
100% of the share capital of Banco Popular), in addition to the employee numbers just discussed,
the number of employees belonging to that bank should be factored in. At 31 December 2016,
Banco Popular had 11,948 employees, as shown in its audited consolidated financial statements
at that date.

17.2  SHARES AND SHARE OPTIONS
Shares and share options

The following table shows, at the date of this document, all significant shareholdings held
(directly or indirectly) by members of the board of directors of Banco Santander, S.A., pursuant
to the terms of Spanish Royal Decree 1362/2007 (Real Decreto 1362/2007):

Director Direct Indirect Total %/s.c.

Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 828,828 17,602,582 18,431,410! 0.126%
José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 834,604 - 834,604 0.006%
Bruce Carnegie-Brown 20,099 - 20,099 0.000%
Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 905,773 14,184 919,957 0.006%
Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 1,621,683 308,163 1,929,846 0.013%
Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero 162 - 162 0.000%
Homaira Akbari 22,000 - 22,000 0.000%
Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca 3,148,832 - 3,148,832 0.022%
Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuolay O’ Shea 4,793,481 50,420,232 55,213,713t42 0.379%
Sol Daurella Comadran 128,269 412,521 540,790 0.004%
Carlos Fernandez Gonzalez 16,840,455 1 16,840,456 0.115%
Esther Giménez-Salinas i Colomer 5,405 - 5,405 0.000%
Belén Romana Garcia 150 - 150 0.000%
Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga 270,585 - 270,585 0.002%
Juan Miguel Villar Mir 1,199 - 1,199 0.000%
Total 29,421,525 68,757,683 98,179,208 0.673%

(1) Syndicated shares. See section 14.2.3 of this document.

(2) The above participation of Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea, Chairman of the Fundacion Botin and of the
shareholder syndicate described in section 14.2.3 above, includes all the shares held by that shareholder syndicate,
except those held directly and indirectly by Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O"Shea (18,431,410 shares), which, while
still forming part of that syndicate, are itemised individually for information purposes.
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The following table shows, at the date of this document, the voting rights held by members of
the board of directors of Banco Santander, S.A. at the general meeting.

Director Direct Indirect By proxy Total %ls.c.

Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 828,828 17,602,582 - 18,431,410! 0.126%
José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 834,604 - - 834,604 0.006%
Bruce Carnegie-Brown 20,099 - - 20,099 0.000%
Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 905,773 14,184 - 919,957 0.006%
Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 1,621,683 308,163 - 1,929,846 0.013%
Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero 162 - - 162 0.000%
Homaira Akbari 22,000 - - 22,000 0.000%
Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca 3,148,832 - - 3,148,832 0.022%
Javier Botin-Sanz de Sautuolay O’ Shea 4,793,481 11,499,159 116,250,993 132,543,633 0.909%
Sol Daurella Comadran 128,269 412,521 - 540,790 0.004%
Carlos Fernandez Gonzélez 16,840,455 1 - 16,840,456 0.115%
Esther Giménez-Salinas i Colomer 5,405 - - 5,405 0.000%
Belén Romana Garcia 150 - - 150 0.000%
Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga 270,585 - - 270,585 0.002%
Juan Miguel Villar Mir 1,199 - - 1,199 0.000%
Total 29,421,525 29,836,610 116,250,993 175,509,128 1.204%

(1) Syndicated shares. See section 14.2.3 of this document.

At the date of this document there are no share options attaching to the Bank's shares granted to
board members.
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At the date of this document, members of the senior management (non-board members) held,
either directly or indirectly, a total of 4,424,658 shares in the Bank (0.030% of share capital), as
shown below:

SENIOR MANAGER DIRECT INDIRECT | FAMILY HELD REPS;EASREIIE\?I'ED TOTAL

Rami Aboukhair Hurtado 397,334 - 8 - 397,342
Ms. Lindsey Tyler Argalas* - - - - -

Juan Manuel Cendoya Méndez de Vigo 419,551 - - - 419,551
Juan Manuel San Roméan Lo6pez 59,681 - - - 59,681
José Doncel Razola 198,957 - - - 198,957
Keiran Foad 37,063 - - - 37,063
José Garcia Cantera 689,417 - - - 689,417
Juan Guitard Marin 545,279 - - - 545,279
Jacques Ripoll 103,174 - - - 103,174
Moénica Lépez-Monis Gallego 94,781 - 8 - 94,789
Javier Maldonado Trinchant 307,509 - 4,817 - 312,326
Victor Matarranz Sanz de Madrid 116,879 - 4 - 116,883
José Luis de Mora Gil-Gallardo 117,163 - - - 117,163
José Maria Nus Badia 297,128 - - - 297,128
Jaime Pérez Renovales 134,140 - 5,042 - 139,182
Andreu Plaza Lépez 79,924 - - - 79,924
Angel Rivera Congosto 89,667 - - - 89,667
Magda Salarich Fernandez de Valderrama 467,150 - - - 467,150
Jennifer Scardino 117,541 - - - 117,541
Javier Rogla Puig 13,888 - 3 - 13,891
Javier San Félix Garcia 128,441 - 109 - 128,550

TOTAL 4,414,667 - 9,991 - 4,424,658

*Appointment subject to regulatory approvals.

17.3 DESCRIPTION OF EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES AND SIMILAR
ARRANGEMENTS

17.3.1 Description of share-based compensation systems
For a more detailed discussion of this type of system, see note 47 c) to the financial statements.
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CHAPTER 18
MAIN SHAREHOLDERS

18.1 SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDINGS IN THE COMPANY'S CAPITAL

At 31 December 2016, the only shareholders appearing on the Bank's shareholder ledger with
a stake exceeding 3% were State Street Bank and Trust Company with 12.10%; The Bank of
New York Mellon Corporation with 8.86%; Chase Nominees Limited with 5.98%; EC Nominees
Limited with 4.39%; and Clearstream Banking S.A. with 3.38%.

However, the Bank believes that those shareholdings are held in custody on behalf of third parties
and to the best of the Bank's knowledge none of those third parties holds an individual interest
of 3% or more in its share capital.

Again to the best of the Bank's knowledge, there is no other shareholder who, at the date of this
document, holds a number of shares entitling it, under the terms of article 243 of the Corporate
Enterprises Act (Ley de Sociedades de Capital) —system of proportional representation— to
appoint a board member, this being the parameter used to determine whether a given shareholder
exerts considerable influence over the Bank.

18.2 VOTING RIGHTS OF MAIN SHAREHOLDERS
All the Bank's shareholders possess the same voting rights.

18.3 DECLARATION AS TO WHETHER THE ISSUER IS UNDER THE CONTROL
OF ANOTHER

The Bank is unaware of the existence of any natural person or legal entity that exercises, or might
exercise, control over the Bank within the meaning of article 5 of the Spanish Securities Market
Act (Ley del Mercado de Valores).

18.4 EXISTENCE OF CONTROLLING AGREEMENTS

At the date of this document, the Bank has no knowledge of any agreement the effectiveness of
which might, on a future date, give rise to a change of control.

CHAPTER 19

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the 2016 financial year and as at the publication of this registration document, no board
member, no person represented by a board member, no company at which those persons are board
members, members of the senior management, or significant shareholders, and no persons with
whom they have arranged concerted shareholder action or who act through straw parties at those
companies, has engaged in transactions with the Bank that were relevant or not concluded at arm's
length, pursuant to the terms of Order EHA/3050/2004, of 15 September, on the information that
companies whose shares or securities are quoted on official secondary markets must disclose every
six months in relation to their transactions with related parties.
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The transactions arranged by the Group with related parties form part of the Group's ordinary
course of business. Details of such transactions, itemised by significant shareholders, directors and
senior executives, Group companies or entities and other related parties, can be found in note 53 to
the financial statements and also under Section D of the Bank's annual corporate governance report
for 2016, 2015 and 2014.

The following section provides details of transactions arranged by the Group with its related parties
in the first quarter of 2017, with separate itemised information provided in relation to significant
shareholders, directors and senior executives, Group companies or entities and other related parties.
All related-party transactions were completed at arm's length conditions, or otherwise the
corresponding remuneration in kind was recognised accordingly.

Millions of euros
31-03-17

Group Other
Significant Directors and companies or related
Income and expense shareholders | senior executives entities parties Total

Expenses:
Finance costs - - 2 - 2
Management or collaboration contracts - - -
Transfers of R&D and license agreements
Leases

Services received

Assets acquired (finished or in progress)
Value adjustments for bad or doubtful debts
Losses on derecognition or disposal of assets - - -
Other expenses - - 4 - 4

Income:

Finance income - - 13 2 15

Management or collaboration contracts - - - - -

Transfers of R&D and license agreements

Dividends received

Leases

Services rendered

Assets sold (finished or in progress)

Gains on derecognition or disposal of assets - - 5 - 5

Other income - - 143 1 144
- - 161 3 164
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Millions of euros

31-03-17
Group
Significant Directors and companies or | Other related
Other transactions shareholders senior executives entities parties Total
Acquisition of tangible, intangible and other assets
Financing agreements: loans and capital
contributions (lender) 125 4 129
Financial lease agreements (lessor) R R R
Full or partial repayments of loans and lease
agreements (lessor) 2 34 27 63
Sales of tangible, intangible and other assets - R R -
Financing agreements: loans and capital
contributions (borrower) 1 94 71 166
Financial lease agreements (lessee) R R
Full or partial repayments of loans and
lease agreements (lessee) 7 130 9 146
Guarantees and sureties posted - R 70 70
Guarantees and sureties received - R R -
Commitments acquired 1 2 7 10
Commitments/guarantees cancelled 1 R 3 4
Dividends and other profit distributed 2 R 8 10
Other transactions - 8 5 13

* * *

CHAPTER 20

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER'S ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFIT AND LOSS

20.1 HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The historical consolidated financial information of the Santander Group for 2016 is contained
in the accompanying financial statements and is presented in accordance with the models

required by Circular 5/2015 of the Spanish National Securities Market Commission (Comisién
Nacional de Mercado de Valores, CNMV). The information contained in the financial statements
for 2015 and 2014 is included for comparison purposes only and has been restated under the
terms of that Circular. On 7 April 2017, the general shareholders’ meeting approved those

financial statements.
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The historical consolidated financial information of the Santander Group for 2015 and 2014 is
deemed incorporated by reference herein. This information includes:

— Audit report and consolidated financial statements for 2015.
— Audit report and consolidated financial statements for 2014.
— Directors' Report for 2015.
— Directors' Report for 2014.
— Additional information relating to the 2015 accounts in response to CNMV requirements.
— Additional information relating to the 2014 accounts in response to CNMV requirements.
20.2 PRO-FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Not applicable.
20.3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated financial statements of the
Santander Group and the balance sheet and income statement of its parent company, Banco
Santander, S.A.

Unless stated otherwise, the consolidated financial information contained herein refers to the
financial statements of the Santander Group for 2016, 2015 and 2014.

20.4 AUDIT OF HISTORICAL ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
20.4.1 Declaration that the financial information has been audited

The Bank's consolidated and separate financial statements for 2016 have been audited by the
external audit firm PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L., while the same documents for 2014
and 2015 were audited by the external audit firm Deloitte, S.L.

An unqualified audit opinion was issued for both the Bank's separate financial statements and the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the last three financial years.

20.4.2 Other audited information

Apart from the audited information discussed in the preceding paragraph, no further audited
financial information has been included in this document.

20.4.3 Non-audited financial information

The financial information for 2014 and 2015 contained in chapter 3.1 has been obtained from the
financial statements for 2016, where it is presented for comparison purposes.

The information for 2014 and 2015 included in the report for the year ended 31 December 2016
has been reviewed by the audit committee and by the financial auditor.

The financial information for the first quarter of 2017 and 2016 as contained herein has not been
audited.
20.5 AGE OF THE MOST RECENT FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The last audited financial reporting period falls within the 18 months prior to the date of this
document.
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20.6 INTERIM INFORMATION AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The interim financial information for the periods detailed below has not been audited.
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Income statement
€ million

1Q17 1Q16 Amount %

8,402 7,624 778 10.2

Net fee income 2,844 2,397 446 18.6
Gains (losses) on financial transactions 573 504 68 13.6
Other operating income 211 204 6 3.0
Dividends 41 44 (3) (6.6)
Income from equity-accounted method 133 83 50 60.2
Other operating income/expenses 37 78 (41) (52.7)
Operating expenses (5,543)  (5,158) (386) 15
General administrative expenses (4,915)  (4,572) (343) 15
Personnel (2,912)  (2,683) (229) 85
Other general administrative expenses (2,002)  (1,889) (113) 6.0
Depreciation and amortisation (629) (586) (43) 73
Net loan-loss provisions (2,400)  (2,408) 9 (0.4)
Impairment losses on other assets (68) (44) (24) 56.1
Other income (707) (389) (318) 81.8

Underlying profit before taxes 3,311 2,732 579 21.2
Tax on profit (1,125) (810) (315) 38.8
Underlying profit from continuing operations 2,186 1,922 265
Net profit from discontinued operations — —

Underlying consolidated profit 2,186 1,922 265 13.8

Minority interests 319 288 1 10.7

3
Underlying attributable profit to the Group 1,867 1,633 234 143

Net capital gains and provisions - —

Attributable profit to the Group 1,867 1,633 234 14.3

Underlying EPS (euros) 0.122 0.108 0.015 13.6
Underlying diluted EPS (euros) 0.122 0.107 0.015 13.7

EPS (euros) 0.122 0.108 0.015 13.6
Diluted EPS (euros) 0.122 0.107 0.015 13.7

Pro memoria:
Average total assets 1,353,495 1,335,115 18,380 1.4
Average stockholders' equity 91,171 87,571 3,600 4.1
Note:

In section 20.6.1 the Group presents the actual changes in the income statement and also those same changes but without the exchange rate effect (without FX), since
this information is useful for analytical purposes by allowing readers to view changes in the businesses without having to factor in the impact of converting each local
currency to euros.

When converting to euros, the same average exchange rates are applied to the balances appearing on the income statement for the two periods being compared. The
following rates are used:

leuro/currency Average exchange rate

1Q16 4Q16
US Dollar 1,102 1.106
Pound 0.770 0.817
Brazilian real 4.296 3.831
Mexican peso 19.877 20.637
Chilean peso 772.566 747.500
Argentine peso 15.890 16.316
Polish zloty 4.363 4.362

See Glossary of APMs in chapter 26.
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d Balance shest

€ million
Change
Assets 3037 30316 amiount % ILILE
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits 74,204 & 545 7.259 o7 76,454
Financia assats held for trading 143109 151,550 {8,441) (5.6} 148,187
Dbt seaurities o =0.080 e o SR
Eguity instruments 16174 14584 1,550 [EE] 14,487
Loans and advances to orstamers 1375 6,856 4,509 &F o504
Loans and advances to central banks and credit insti tutions 31440 3397 LY 15 32n
D tives 5167 T6.68 (T.476) {15.a) 72043
Financial assats designated at fair value 46,026 437N 2745) (5.6) 3609
Loans and advances to arstamers 17.865 13,884 ELr ] B7 17,505
Loans and advances to central banks and credit institutions M,038 30,714 (6,676) (2.7 10,0a0
Otther {debt sequrities an equity instruments) 413 4173 =0 na 3544
Available-for-sale financizl assats 118,195 Tg298 0Z) (1A} TE, 774
Diebit sequrities 12946 13,55 7 0.6} M. 287
Eguity instruments 5240 4,542 §07 131 54587
Loans and receivables B4 204 214174 20,630 5 E40,004
Diehit sequri ties 12007 12487 44 23 13,297
Loans and advances to crstomers TeR072 S2702 13370 1.8 Ta3 370
Loans and advances to cemtral banks and credit insti tutions 65 831 55,085 6846 n& 63307
Hald-to-matwrity investments 14,268 4 566 9,102 5 468
Inwestments in subsidaries, joint ventures and associates 5275 31350 1935 w5 4836
Tangible assets 12 BT 5 465 (2.658) (10.4y 13,186
Intangible assets 19545 28,6593 Q52 i3 1940
oy goodwill X80 X200 20 28 XM
Oither assats 5308 51728 1,235 14 54, 086
Total assets 1,351,956 1,324,200 7 756 FR] 1339125
Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Financial lizbilitias hald for trading 03550 08567 {9.017) (B3) 108,765
Customer depasits [l ] Q570 1079 n3 o006
Diehit seurit ies iszied — - - - -
Depasits by cantral banks and credit institurtions 644 o976 323 340) 1305
Ceriwgtives & 580 TR608 (1,028 1400 74360
Orther 20677 19,43 1.364 65 3005
Financial liabilities dasignated at Fair value 56,606 63,404 (6.798) (o 40,263
Curst omer deposits 27405 X484 fil:)] ELY] 23345
Diehit seurit ies iszied 337 3445 73 zZn 2
Diepasits by central banks and oredit institution s 25738 N44 (5.736) (18.2) 14127
Oither = 1 im (100.0) -
Financial lizbilities measured at amortized cost 1,048 447 L0240 36,040 16 1,044 240
Curst oymer dieposits 657 542 632573 35060 5 657,770
Dieht seaurities iszied 21800 N8B (124) on 226078
Diepasits by central lhanks and credit institution s Bro= 138,358 1.254) 0.8} 133876
Orther BT 368 2380 1.2 26516
Liabilities undar insurance contracts 635 656 (21 B 652
Provisions 441 14,292 m [oF:] 14,459
Oither lizbilities T 438 26,093 1345 52 28,047
Total Nabilitles 1,247 087 1,275,419 21,668 1.8 1,236,426
Shareholders” equity 107,706 103,264 4,442 43 105,577
Capital stock ran 1Az 7 1.0 7.2
Reseres 100, A5 of 404 £sm &1 24149
Attributable profit to the Group 1857 1,623 4 143 6,204
Less: dividands (1667} - (1.667) - (1.6a7)
Accumulated other comprehansive income 5.132) (15.945) BT (5.2} (15,039
Minority interasts 12,285 M. 466 ] 71 N7&
Total equity 104,869 98,781 6,088 6.2 102,650
Total labdlities and equity 1,351,956 1,324,200 7756 FA| 1339,12%
Note:

In section 20.6.2 the Group shows the actual changes in the balance sheet and also those same changes but without the exchange rate effect (without FX), since this
information is useful for analytical purposes by allowing readers to view changes in the balance sheet without having to factor in the impact of converting each local
currency to euros.

When converting to euros, the same final exchange rates are applied to the items appearing on the balance sheet for the two periods being compared. The following
rates are used:
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leuro/currency Final exchange rate

31.03.16 31.12.16

US Dollar 1.139 1.054
Pound 0.792 0.856
Brazilian real 4.117 3.431
Mexican peso 19.590 21.772
Chilean peso 762.943 707.612
Argentine peso 16.666 16.705
Polish zloty 4,258 4.410

See Glossary of APMs in chapter 26.

20.6.1 Results of the Santander Group at 31 March 2017

Attributable profit was up 14% on the first quarter of 2016. Stripping out the exchange rate effect,
it was up 10% mainly on the back of interest income and fee income. The following sections
explain the changes in the main lines of the income statement in the first quarter of 2017
compared with the first quarter of 2016. The same information is provided but without factoring
in the exchange rate effect (in constant euros), thus providing a better view of the actual change
in business between periods.

Income

« Interest income and fee income accounted for 93% of total income, while gross income gained
12% (6% in constant euros), as shown below:

- Netinterest income was up 10% (4% in constant euros) in response to the increased volume
of loans and deposits, mainly in emerging countries, and sound management of margins.

All units were up except for Spain, in response to more muted trading volumes and
interest rate pressure on the asset side; Portugal, due to sales of sovereign debt and loan
portfolios in 2016; and the United States, which was affected by falling balances on auto
portfolios and the change in its business mix as it transitions towards a lower risk profile.

- Meanwhile, fee income gained 19% (12% in constant euros), up on previous years owing
to the upturn in business and improved customer engagement. By businesses, Global
Corporate Banking and Retail and Commercial Banking both reported double-digit
growth in fee income, the latter now accounting for 86% of all fee income.

- Of the remaining income, gains/(losses) on financial transactions, which account for
just 5% of total income, climbed by 14% due to buoyant market conditions, with
particularly solid results on cash transactions in Brazil.

Costs

* Costs were up 8%. In constant euros, they rose by 3% as a result of high levels of inflation in
certain countries, investments in transformation processes and costs associated with regulatory
requirements. In real terms and disregarding the effect of changes in the scope of consolidation,
costs were down by 1.6% across the Group, with eight units reporting either flat or lower costs.
Highlights here include Spain (-5%), Portugal (-11%) and Argentina (-10%). Costs at the
Corporate Centre also fell by 5%. The only regions where costs were up were Mexico, due to the
investment plan announced in late 2016, and the United States.

In 2016, measures were adopted to streamline and simplify existing structures, mainly the branch
network in Spain and the Corporate Centre, thus allowing the Group to continue investing in the
commercial transformation process (commercial tools, simpler processes, new branch models,
etc.), while meeting efficiency plan targets.
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Loan-loss provisions

* Turning to risks, credit quality ratios posted a healthy year-on-year improvement. Loan-loss
provisions remained stable, but were down by 9% in constant euros. Highlights by region were
as follows:

— Significant reductions across all units of the euro zone and Poland.
— Lending costs in the United Kingdom at close to zero.

— Latin America remains stable within a context of growing business volumes, since all
large units have managed to maintain or lower their lending costs. In Brazil, loan-loss
provisions were up 26% at March 2017 in comparison to March 2016 (down 2% in
constant euros). However, we would also highlight the change of trend seen in the first
quarter of 2017.

— Last but not least, loan-loss provisions in the United States were down, partly on account
of the provisions made in the first quarter of 2016 at oil sector companies due to the
falling oil prices.

« Following these changes, the cost of lending has fallen from 1.22% in March 2016 to 1.17% in
March 2017. For more details on the cost of lending, see the Glossary of APMs in chapter 26.
Other income and provisions

« Other income and provisions reported a negative 775 million euros, up on the figure reported
in 2016. This item covers various kinds of provisions, as well as capital gains and losses and
asset impairment. The increase on 2016 is heavily diluted between different concepts and
countries, although the largest increases were seen in Brazil and the United Kingdom.

Profit and profitability

* Pre-tax profit was up 21% (17% in constant euros) while attributable profit gained 14%
(10% in constant euros). The difference here is due to the higher tax rate, which has climbed
from 30% to 34%.

* ROTE was 12.13%, RoORWA 1.48% and earnings per share (EPS) 0.122 euros. All were up
year on year, placing EPS at 14%.

20.6.2  Key figures on the Santander Group balance sheet at 31 March 2017

The appreciation/depreciation against the euro of the Group's main currencies had a mild impact
on balances with Group customers (less than 1 positive percentage point in the quarter and +1/+2
percentage points over twelve months).

Gross customer loans

« Gross customer loans excluding repurchase agreements (repos) showed a balanced distribution
between segments: individual (48%), consumer (16%), SMEs and companies (24%) and Global
Corporate Banking (12%).

« Lending remained stable in the first quarter of 2017, with exchange rates having only a minor
impact and with the following breakdown by region:

— Growth in Argentina (+14% following the acquisition of the retail portfolio of Citibank
N.A. by Banco Santander Rio S.A. in Argentina), in Chile (+2%) and in Poland (+1%).
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— Lending was down 3% in the United States due to the strategy currently being pursued to
improve the risk profile along with the sale of various portfolios at Santander Consumer USA,
and also because of the reduced balances of Global Corporate Banking at Santander Bank.
Mexico also saw a 2% reduction, mainly due to the reduction in loan balances held with the
government in response to improvements in consumer, SME and company financing.

— Spain, Santander Consumer Finance and Portugal all saw declines of less than 1%,
although in all cases new loan production in the quarter was up quarter on quarter
(+18%, +3% and +12%, respectively).

* Gross customer lending was up 2% on March 2016. Stripping out the exchange rate effect, the
Group saw a 1% gain.

— Increases in seven of the ten main regions, with significant growth reported in Argentina,
SCF, Mexico, Chile and Poland.

— Meanwhile, Brazil gained 4%, picking up the pace seen in recent quarters.

— Negative growth in Spain (-3%) and Portugal (-4%) -largely on account of balances held
at institutions and mortgages in Spain and also because of sales of the loan portfolio in
Portugal- and in the United States (-5%), mainly as a result of the lower loan originations
and the shift towards a lower risk portfolio at Santander Consumer USA and also the sale
of portfolios.

— Last but not least, loans to the real estate sector in Spain were down 37% year on year.

4 Gross customer koans (w/o repos) # Gross customer loans (wio repos)
£ biflion % [ operating areas. March 2o
Crther frme rica: T
187 795 was 7688 80O Argenting: 1%
= s chile: 3%
Bor-aril: W%
Mexico: 4%
Unized Kingdom: 3075
EELUL: 1T
Orther Europe: 2%
Poland: 3%
Pormugal: 4%
WM& 15 Sep'E Dec'15 Mar'17 SCF: 1% Spaln: 19%
{*iin tani € +1.1%

gorskend &

Customer funds

« All customer funds (deposits excluding repurchase agreements (repos) and investment funds)
were up 2% in the first quarter of 2017 thanks to the exchange rate effect. Stripping out this
impact, funds gained 1%, with growth in Argentina (+22%), Brazil (+3%), Spain and SCF (+2%)
and in the United Kingdom (+1%).

 Customer funds were up 7% on March 2016. If we strip out the exchange rate effect, the gain
was 5%, as follows:

— The customer engagement and cost management strategy helped push up demand
deposits (+12%) and investment funds (+11%), with a reduction in time deposits (-13%).

Banco Santander, S.A.
Share Registration Document, 4 July 2017 119/152



— Following these changes, customer deposits were as follows: demand (59%), time (22%)
and investment funds (19%).

— The Group reported growth across all ten main units. The biggest growth was seen in
Argentina (+68%, partly down to the incorporation of Citibank N.A.), while SCF, Poland,
Brazil, Mexico and Chile all reported 7% growth.

» As well as capturing customer deposits, the Santander Group considers it to be of strategic value
to maintain a selective policy when issuing securities in international fixed income markets,
seeking to adapt the frequency and volume of market operations to the structural liquidity
requirements of each unit, as well as the receptiveness of each market.

* The following issues were placed in the first quarter of 2017:
— Medium- and long-term senior debt issues totalling 4,520 million euros.
— Securitisations placed on the market for a total of 3,492 million euros.

— Issuances eligible for TLAC (Total Loss-Absorbing Capacity), aimed at strengthening
the Group's position, for a total sum of 4,625 million euros (senior non-preferred: 3,575
million; subordinated debt: 1,050 million).

— Meanwhile, medium- and long-term debt maturities totalled 14,300 million euros.

* Changes in loans and funds mean that the loan-to-deposits ratio currently stands at 113% (115%
in March 2016).

@ Customer funds @ Customer funds
€ billion % / operating areas. March zow
Other America: T%
+6.6% " c.ﬂ.l'l%entlna 2%

Total
Brazil: 3%

r‘G'J .'1
...... United Kingdom: 26%
Mexico: 5%
EE.UL.: 9%
655 +3.9% Other Europe: 1%
Poland: 3%
Portugal: 4% “
Mar'i] / Mar 16 SCF:4% Spain: 28%

Mar'16 Jun'1g Sep'lé Dec'16 Mar'17
{(*) In constant &€: 455%

Other balance sheet items

* Debt securities classified as available for sale stood at 112,946 million euros, showing a year-
on-year reduction of 710 million euros.

» Meanwhile, investments held to maturity climbed to 14,268 million euros, a significant increase
on the 4,566 million euros reported in March 2016, mainly down to the purchase of a portfolio
of English sovereign debt instruments totalling 7,765 million euros, as part of the balance sheet
management responsibilities entrusted to the ALCO (Asset-Liability Committee).

* Tangible assets amounted to 22,807 million euros, down 2,658 million euros in the last twelve
months due to the asset deconsolidation process stemming from the Metrovacesa/Merlin merger.
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» Goodwill totalled 26,939 million euros, up 730 million euros year on year mainly due to the
exchange rate effect.

20.6.3 Own funds at 31 March 2017

Capital adequacy ratios continued to improve during the quarter. The fully-loaded CET1
(Common Equity Tier 1) ratio gained 11 basis points to reach 10.66%, showing ordinary
generation of 7 basis points due to profits obtained and management of risk assets, plus a number
of one-off impacts, both negative (such as the acquisition of the retail portfolio of Citibank N.A.
by Banco Santander Rio S.A. in Argentina) and positive (such as the available-for-sale
portfolios), which combined totalled 4 basis points.

* When calculating the ratio, a total of 84 million euros was deducted to cover remuneration on
contingent convertible bonds, as well treasury shares. This amount had no material impact at the
end of the March.

» Meanwhile, the fully-loaded total capital ratio stood at 14.10%, up 23 basis points in the first
three months on the back of the eligible issues placed in the quarter.

* The various actions undertaken by the Group, including efforts to improve and entrench a more
active culture of capital management across all levels of the organisation. Highlights here
include:

— Increase in the number and size of the teams dedicated to capital management, plus
improved coordination between the Corporate Centre and local teams.

— Increased weighting of capital in the incentives package.

— All local units and business units have developed individual capital plans with the
overriding aim of having a business that consumes less capital per unit of return in the
future.

* In regulatory terms, the total capital ratio is 14.62% while phase-in CET1 is 12.12%. The
minimum ratios the European Central Bank has set for the Santander Group on a consolidated
basis for 2017 are 11.25% for total capital 7.75% for CETL1.

€ Eligible capital. March 2017 @ Capital ratios. Fully-loaded
£ million %

Phase-in Fully-loaded 13.23 14.10
CETy 72,365 63,680 - S
Basic capital 73553 69,424 18
Eligible capital 87,274 84,105 _1.1-2_3 10 ':'
Risk-weighted assets 597,123 597123 R

¥ Totalratio
CET1 capital ratio 12.12 10.66 ® Tierl
T capital ratio 12.32 1.63 ® CETI
Total capital ratio 14.62 14.10
Mar'16 Mar'17
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20.6.4 Credit risk at 31 March 2017

Net additions in default through to March 2017 amounted to 1,583 million euros. Non-
performing loans totalled 32,158 million euros at the end of March, down 4% in the quarter and
11% year on year. This figure moves the Group's NPL ratio to 3.74%, showing an improvement
of 59 basis points on March 2016 and 19 basis points on year-end 2016.

« To cover these non-performing loans, loan-loss provisions of 24,002 million euros have been
posted, providing coverage of 75% at March. We would qualify this by adding that the ratios for
the United Kingdom and Spain are affected by the weighting of mortgages, which require less
provisioning on the balance sheet since they are secured with collateral.

* The cost of lending, at 1.17%, improved during the quarter and in year-on-year terms. For more
information on the cost of lending, see the Glossary of APMs in chapter 26.

The following section discusses the NPL and coverage ratios (for more information see the
Glossary of APMs in chapter 26) for the main regions in which the Group operates.

* In Spain, the NPL ratio stood at 5.22% (-19 basis points in the quarter). The favourable trend
of late continued throughout the quarter as the loan portfolio continued to perform well, coupled
with active portfolio management. Coverage stood at 49%.

The Real Estate unit for Spain closed out the quarter with an NPL ratio of 93% and a coverage
ratio of 57%. Both total loan coverage, including outstanding balances, and foreclosed assets
stood at 57%.

 Santander Consumer Finance reported an NPL ratio of 2.62%, revealing a quarter-on-quarter
improvement of 6 basis points on the back of solid performance from Germany and Italy. The
coverage ratio was 109%.

* In Poland, the NPL ratio shed 22 basis points in the quarter to reach 5.20% as the SME,
individual and companies portfolios all performed well. Coverage stood at 61%.

« Portugal closed out the quarter with a NPL ratio of 8.47%, showing an improvement of 34 basis
points in the quarter in response to the positive trend set by companies and SMEs, as well as
sound management of their portfolios. Coverage amounted to 62%.
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« Meanwhile in the United Kingdom, the ratio came in at 1.31%, revealing an improvement of
18 basis points on the previous quarter. The various portfolios all continued to fare well,
particularly loans to individuals and companies. Coverage was 34%, although here it should be
noted that the mortgage segment accounts for 78% of the total balance.

» The NPL ratio continues to fall in Brazil, which reported a ratio of 5.36% in the quarter
(-54 basis points). Here, the outperformers were loans to individuals and SMEs. The coverage
ratio stood at 98% versus the 93% reported at year-end 2016.

* In Mexico, the NPL ratio remained stable at 2.77% (2.76% in December 2016), with coverage
of 105%.

« Meanwhile in Chile, the NPL ratio was 4.93% (-12 basis points when compared to
December 2016). Coverage remained at 59%.

« In the United States, the NPL ratio came in at 2.43% (+15 basis points on the previous
quarter) while coverage was 202%.

-At Santander Bank, the ratio was 1.06% (-27 basis points versus December 2016). The
companies segment performed well, mainly driven by the Commercial Real Estate portfolio.
Coverage here was 115%

-At Santander Consumer USA, the NPL ratio climbed to 4.78%, mainly because of the increase
in debt refinancings and restructurings due to defaults in the periods. Coverage amounted to
267%.

& Credit risk management* @ Grupo Santander. NPL and coverage ratios
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20.7 DIVIDEND POLICY

The shareholder remuneration system is described in note 4 to the financial statements. Chapter
3.1 of this document provides further information on the Bank's share and stock market
capitalisation.

In accordance with the Bank's bylaws, the shareholder remuneration policy is submitted to the
general shareholders' meeting every year. Under that policy, the Bank usually remunerates
shareholders on a quarterly basis.

In respect of 2015, the Bank remunerated its shareholders with 0.20 euros per share gross, in four
payments: three payments in cash, each of 0.05 euros per share, and one payment — also of 0.05
euros per share — through the so-called Santander Dividendo Eleccion remuneration scheme,
whereby each shareholder may choose the form in which they receive the equivalent amount of
the dividend: in cash or in Santander shares. The average rate of election to be paid in shares was
84.79%.

As to total shareholder remuneration out of profit for 2016, the Bank paid 0.21 euros per share
gross, in four payments: three payments in cash, each of 0.055 euros per share, and one payment
of 0.045 euros per share through the Santander Dividendo Eleccion remuneration scheme. The
rate of election to be paid in shares was 89.11%.

This remuneration represents an increase of 5% with respect to 2015, and a return on the average
share price in 2016 of 5.2%. During 2016, the total paid in cash came to 2,469 million euros,
versus 2,268 million euros in 2015.

As to total shareholder remuneration out of profit for 2017, on 7 April 2017 the executive
chairman, Ms. Ana Botin, announced at the general shareholders' meeting that the board of
directors of the Bank, in accordance with its approved dividend policy, intended to increase the
total dividend to 0.22 euros per share gross, of which 0.18 euros would be paid in cash and 0.04
euros would be paid through the so-called Santander Dividendo Eleccion remuneration scheme.
This makes for an increase in dividends per share of 5%, and an increase in the cash dividend of
9% versus 2016. On 4 August 2017, the first interim dividend will be paid of 0.06 euros per share
gross, out of profit for 2017. The new shares issued as a result of the capital increase referred to
in 5.1.5 will carry rights to that dividend.

In the coming years, dividends will keep in step with profit growth, with the aim that cash payout
comes to 30% to 40% of recurring profit. However, depending on the profit posted for the year,
that range may be slightly exceeded on a temporary basis, given the board's intention to pay those
dividends per share out of 2017 profit and the increase in the number of outstanding shares as a
result of the capital increase referred to above.

20.8 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The following table shows the balance of the headings Legal proceedings and tax disputes
underway and Other provisions by main geographical region:
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Millions of euros
2016 2015 2014

Avrising at Spanish companies 1,148 1,332 1,217
Avrising at other companies of the European Union 1,300 1,766 1,206
Avrising at other companies 3,264 2,506 2,887
of which:
Brazil 2,715 2,016 2,453

5,712 5,604 5,310

The following table provides a breakdown, at 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014, of the
headings Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies and Other provisions for each type
of provision. The types of provisions have been determined by grouping items of a similar
nature:

Millions of euros

2016 2015 2014

Tax provisions 1,074 997 1,289
Provisions for labour processes (Brazil) 915 581 616
Provisions for other legal processes 1,005 999 1,011
Provisions for customer remediation 685 916 632
Provisions deriving from regulatory requirements 253 308 298
Provision for restructuring processes 472 404 273
Other 1,308 1,399 1,191

5712 | 5,604 5,310

In addition, the following is relevant information for each of the types of provisions shown
above.

Provisions for taxes include provisions for tax proceedings.

Provisions for labour processes (Brazil) include claims and lawsuits brought by trade unions,
associations, public prosecutors and former employees seeking to enforce what they believe
to be their employment rights, especially payment of overtime and other labour rights,
including lawsuits for retirement benefits. Due to the nature and considerable number of these
legal proceedings, which are a common feature at Brazilian banks, the associated provisions
have rightly been classified as a separate category or type. The Group determines the amount
to be provisioned in relation to these claims based on past experience with payments arising
from similar claims and lawsuits. Where a claim has little in common with past cases, an
individual evaluation is carried out to determine the amount to be provisioned based on the
prevailing circumstances of each proceeding and the risks assessment conducted by the legal
advisors.

Provisions for other legal processes include provisions for legal, arbitration and administrative
proceedings (other than those included in other separate categories or types of provision)
instituted against companies of Santander Group.

Provisions for customer remediation mainly include the estimated cost of making payments
to remediate errors relating to sales of certain products in the United Kingdom and Germany.
In calculating the provision for customer remediation the Bank uses the best estimate of the
provision in the eyes of the Management, which estimates the number of claims that might be
received and, of these, the number that will be admitted, as well as the estimated average
payment per case.
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Provisions deriving from regulatory requirements are mainly those relating to the special
payment to the Spanish Deposit Guarantee Fund (Fondo de Garantia de Depdsitos) and those
relating to the FSCS (Financial Services Compensation Scheme) and Bank Levy in the UK.

Provisions for restructuring processes include solely expenses deriving from restructuring
processes undertaken by the different Group companies.

Note 25.¢) to the annual financial statements breaks down qualitative information on the main
lawsuits.

The Group's general policy is to recognise provisions for tax and legal processes in which the
risk of loss is deemed probable, while no provisions are reported when the risk of loss is
considered possible or remote. The amounts to be provisioned are calculated in accordance
with best estimates of the amount needed to settle the claim in question, based, among other
aspects, on an individual analysis of the facts and the legal opinions of in-house and external
legal advisors or bearing in mind the average historical losses incurred from similar claims.
The final date for the outflow of resources that incorporate economic benefits for the Group
depends on each of the obligations. In some cases, obligations have no fixed term for
settlement while in others it depends on the legal processes in progress.

The changes in Legal proceedings and tax disputes underway and Other provisions are broken
down in Note 25.d) 1 to the financial statements. Starting with Brazil, the main provisions on
the income statement in December 2016 were 201 million euros (289 and 316 million euros
in 2015 and 2014, respectively) to cover civil contingencies and 395 million euros (370 and
358 million euros in 2015 and 2014, respectively) arising from employment claims. A further
117 million euros in provisions were also posted to cover restructuring processes (83 million
euros in 2015). This increase was partially offset by the use of available provisions, of which
284 million euros (241 and 343 million euros in 2015 and 2014, respectively) relate to labour
claims, 239 million euros (273 and 278 million euros in 2015 and 2014, respectively) to civil-
related claims and 234 million euros in 2014 for the use of restructuring provisions.
Meanwhile, in the United Kingdom, a total of 179 million euros in provisions (689 and
174 million euros in 2015 and 2014, respectively) was posted for customer remediation
purposes, 173 million euros (243 and 205 million euros in 2015 and 2014, respectively) to
cover regulatory requirements (Bank Levy and FSCS) and 129 million euros for restructuring
processes (56 million euros in 2015). These increases were offset by the use of 355 million
euros of provisions (227 and 321 million euros in 2015 and 2014, respectively) for customer
remediation, 169 million euros to cover regulatory requirements due to Bank Levy and FSCS
(233 and 197 million euros in 2015 and 2014, respectively) and 49 million euros for
restructuring processes (41 and 54 million euros in 2015 and 2014, respectively). Turning to
Spain, a total of 244 million euros was posted to cover restructuring processes, offset by the
use of 206 million euros for this same purpose. A further 95 million euros in provisions were
used to cover payment to the Deposit Guarantee Fund reported in 2013. This amount was
included within provisions for regulatory requirements.

20.8.1 Tax-related litigation
As of the date of this document, the main tax disputes affecting the Group are as follows:

- Lawsuits brought by Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A. and certain companies belonging to
its Group in Brazil, objecting to the Government's decision to raise Social Tax on Net
Profit from 9% to 15% by virtue of Provisional Measure 413/2008, ratified by Act
11,727/2008. A provision has been posted to cover the estimated loss.
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- Lawsuits brought by certain Group companies in Brazil to ensure their right to pay Social
Tax on Net Profit at the rate of 8% and 10% over the 1994-1998 period. No provisions
have been posted for the amount considered a contingent liability.

- Lawsuits brought by Banco Santander, S.A. (currently Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A.)
and other Group companies to enforce their right to pay the PIS and COFINS Social
Contributions solely on the income from the provision of services. In the case of Banco
Santander, S.A., the lawsuit was thrown out following an appeal before the Regional
Federal Court. In September 2007, that Court handed down a favourable ruling, which
the Federal Union then appealed before the Federal Supreme Court. On 23 April 2015 the
Federal Supreme Court issued its decision admitting the extraordinary appeal lodged by
the Federal Union in respect of the PIS tax and ruling as inadmissible the extraordinary
appeal brought by the public prosecution service in relation to the COFINS tax. The
Federal Supreme Court has yet to hand down its decision in respect of the PIS, while in
relation to the COFINS on 28 May 2015 the Federal Supreme Court unanimously
dismissed the extraordinary appeal brought by the public prosecution service and the
motions for clarification subsequently brought by the same prosecution service, which on
3 September 2015 acknowledged that no further appeals would be brought in relation to
the matter. In the case of Banco ABN AMRO Real S.A. (currently Banco Santander
(Brasil) S.A.), a ruling upholding the Bank's interests was delivered in March 2007. The
Federal Union then appealed this judgment before the Regional Federal Court, which in
September 2009 issued a ruling partially upholding the appeal. Banco Santander (Brasil)
S.A. then lodged an appeal before the Federal Supreme Court. Act 12,865/2013 ushered
in a new system for paying or deferring certain tax and Social Security debts. Entities that
agreed to abide by the new schedule and abandon the lawsuits they had brought were
exonerated from payment of late-payment interest. In November 2013, Banco Santander
(Brasil) S.A. partially adhered to the schedule, but only in respect of the lawsuits brought
by the former Banco ABN AMRO Real S.A. in relation to the period spanning September
2006 to April 2009, and also in respect of certain other small claims brought by other
Group entities. Therefore, the lawsuits brought by Banco Santander, S.A. and those
relating to Banco ABN AMRO Real S.A. for the period prior to September 2006 remain
in progress and a provision has been posted for the amount of the estimated losses.

- Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A. and other Group companies in Brazil have appealed the
tax calculations issued by the Brazilian tax authorities by questioning the deduction of
loan losses under corporate income tax (IRPJ and CSLL taxes), on the understanding that
the relevant legal requirements have not been met. No provision exists for the amount
considered a contingent liability.

- Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A. and other Group companies in Brazil are currently
pursuing administrative and legal proceedings against various local councils that are
seeking payment of Services Tax on certain operational income that is not classified as
services rendered. No provision exists for the amount considered a contingent liability.

- Likewise, Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A. and other Group companies in Brazil are
currently pursuing administrative and legal proceedings against the tax authorities in
relation to the latter's insistence that Social Security contributions be paid on certain
concepts that are not treated as remuneration for employment purposes. A provision has
been posted for the amount of the estimated loss.
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- In December 2008, the Brazilian tax authorities issued a tax infringement notice against
Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A. in relation to corporate income taxes (IRPJ and CSLL) for
2002 to 2004. The authorities contend that the Bank failed to meet the legal requirements
needed to deduct the amortisation of goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Banespa
(now Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A.). Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A. then appealed the
decision before the Conselho Administrativo de Recursos Fiscais (CARF), which on 21
October 2011 unanimously agreed to annul the notice of violation entirely. The tax
authorities have since appealed this decision before the higher appellate courts. On 11
May, the Cadmara Superior de Recursos Fiscales, in a split vote settled by the chairman,
reversed the decision, ruling in favour of the Brazilian tax authorities. An appeal for
clarification may now be filed before the CARF, followed by an appeal for a judicial
review. In June 2010, the Brazilian tax authorities issued tax infringement notices for the
same taxes but this time in relation to 2005 to 2007. These have been appealed before the
CARF, whose ruling of 8 October 2013 partially upholding the Bank's claim has been
appealed before the high appellate section of the CARF (the so-called Camara Superior
de Recursos Fiscais - High Chamber of Tax Appeals). In December 2013, the Brazilian
tax authorities issued a further tax infringement notice for 2008, the last year in which the
goodwill was amortised. Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A. successfully appealed this latest
notice, although the Brazilian tax authorities have since appealed the decision before the
CAREF. Relying on the advice received from its external lawyers, the Group believes that
the stance adopted by the Brazilian tax authorities is unfounded, that there are solid
arguments to defend against and appeal the tax infringement notices and, therefore, that
the risk of loss is remote. Accordingly, no provisions for this dispute have been
recognised, since the matter should have no impact on the interim financial statements.

- In May 2003, the Brazilian tax authorities issued tax infringement notices against both
Santander Distribuidora de Titulos e Valores Mobiliarios Ltda. (DTVM, now Produban
Servicos de Informética S.A.) and Banco Santander Brasil, S.A. (now Banco Santander
(Brasil) S.A.) in relation to Provisional Tax on Financial Transactions (CPMF) on certain
operations carried out by DTVM when managing the funds of its customers and for the
settlement services provided by Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A. to DTVM during 2000,
2001 and the first two months of 2002. Both entities appealed the tax infringement notices
before the CARF, which upheld DTVM's appeal but rejected the appeal lodged by Banco
Santander Brasil, S.A. Appeals against both rulings were brought by the unsuccessful
parties before the High Chamber of the CARF, although both Banco Santander (Brasil)
S.A. and DTVM saw their claims dismissed on 12 and 19 June 2015, respectively. Both
cases have since been appealed as part of the same process before the courts, and
a provision has been posted to cover the amount of the estimated losses.

- In December 2010, the Brazilian tax authorities issued a tax infringement notice against
Santander Seguros, S.A. (Brasil) (now Zurich Santander Brasil Seguros e Previdéncia,
S.A.) as the successor by merger of the entity ABN AMRO Brasil Dois Participacoes,
S.A. for corporate income tax purposes (IRPJ and CSLL) for 2005 financial year. The
authorities question the tax treatment given to the sale of the shares in Real Seguros, S.A.
that same year. The entity brought a motion for reconsideration before the tax authorities
and then appealed it before the CARF, whose decision to partially uphold the appeal has
been appealed by the Federal Union and also by Zurich Santander Brasil Seguros e
Previdéncia, S.A. As the former parent company of Santander Seguros, S.A. (Brasil),
Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A. will be liable for any unwelcome outcome of this case. No
provision exists for this particular dispute as it considered a contingent liability.
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- InJune 2013, the Brazilian tax authorities issued a tax infringement notice against Banco
Santander (Brasil) S.A. as the party responsible for paying tax on the capital gains
allegedly obtained in Brazil by non-resident entity, Sterrebeeck B.V., following the
“incorporacdo de acdes” (incorporation of shares) arrangement completed in August
2008. As a result of that transaction, Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A. acquired all the shares
of Banco ABN AMRO Real S.A. and ABN AMRO Brasil Dois Participagdes S.A.
through delivery to the owners of those entities of new shares in Banco Santander (Brasil)
S.A. issued as part of a capital increase specially carried out for that purpose. The tax
authorities are arguing that by completing the transaction Sterrebeeck B.V. generated
taxable income in Brazil, meaning the difference between the issue value of the shares it
received in Banco Santander (Brasil) S.A. and the acquisition cost of the shares delivered
as part of the share exchange. In December 2014, the Group appealed the tax infringement
notice before the CARF after seeing its motion for reconsideration brought before the
Department of Federal Revenue dismissed. Relying on the advice received from its
external lawyers, the Group believes that the stance adopted by the Brazilian tax
authorities is unfounded, that there are solid arguments to defend against and appeal the
tax infringement notice and, therefore, that the risk of loss is remote. Accordingly, the
Group has recognised no provisions for this dispute since the matter should have no
impact on the interim financial statements.

- In November 2014, the Brazilian tax authorities issued a tax infringement notice against
Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A. in relation to corporate income tax (IRPJ and CSLL) for
2009 financial year, questioning the tax deductibility of the amortisation of the goodwill
of Banco ABN AMRO Real S.A. carried out prior to the absorption of that bank by Banco
Santander (Brasil), S.A., but admitting the amortisation carried out after the merger.
Relying on the advice of its external team of lawyers, Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A.
brought a motion for reconsideration of the tax infringement notice before the Department
of Federal Revenue and was handed a favourable ruling in July 2015. The Brazilian tax
authorities then successfully appealed that decision before the CARF, prompting the
Bank to lodge an appeal before the High Chamber of Tax Appeals of the CARF in
November of last year. No provision exists for this particular dispute as it considered a
contingent liability.

- Likewise, Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A. is pursuing appeals in relation to several tax
infringement notices in which the tax authorities have questioned the tax deductibility of
the amortisation of the goodwill generated from the acquisition of Banco Comercial e de
Investimento Sudameris, S.A. No provision exists for this particular dispute as it
considered a contingent liability.

- Banco Santander (Brasil), S.A. and other Group companies in Brazil are currently
pursuing administrative and legal proceedings against the Brazilian tax authorities due to
their refusal to allow tax netting against other tax credits. No provisions have been
recognised for the amount considered a contingent liability.

- Lawsuit brought by Sovereign Bancorp Inc. (now Santander Holdings USA, Inc.),
seeking the application of a tax deduction by virtue of international double taxation
treaties in relation to the taxes paid abroad from 2003 to 2005 on a trust created by
Santander Holdings USA, Inc. in relation to financing arrangements with an international
bank. Santander Holdings USA, Inc. believed that under applicable tax law it was entitled
to accredit those deductions and the associated issue and financing costs. Moreover, if
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20.8.2

Santander Holdings USA, Inc is ultimately successful in its case, the amounts paid by the
entity in relation to the same tax for financial years 2006 and 2007 would also have to be
returned. On 13 November 2015, the District Judge held in favour of Santander Holdings
USA, Inc., ordering the return of the amounts paid with respect to financial years 2003 to
2015. The U.S. Government then appealed the judgment of the District Judge before the
Appeal Court and on 16 December 2016 the court repealed the ruling of the District Judge
in relation to the economic substance of the trust arrangement and the double taxation
deductions sought in relation to that same arrangement and returned the case to the
District Judge so that he might decide on the claim for the return of taxes and hold a trial
limited to hear possible sanctions. On 16 March 2017, Santander Holdings USA, Inc.
petitioned the U.S. Supreme Court to admit an appeal against the decision reached by the
Appeal Court. On 26 June 2017, the Supreme Court denied leave to proceed. Hence
removal of the case to the District Court as ordered by the Appeal Court will follow. The
estimated losses in relation to this dispute have been provisioned.

In 2007, the European Commission opened an inquiry against the Kingdom of Spain on
the subject of state aids in relation to article 12.5 of the former Recast Text of the Spanish
Corporate Income Tax Act (Ley del Impuesto sobre Sociedades). The result was
Commission Decision 2011/5/EC of 28 October 2009, on shareholding acquisitions in
the EU, and Decision 2011/282/EC of 12 January 2011, on shareholding acquisitions of
non EU-resident companies, which found that the deduction governed by article 12.5
indeed constituted unlawful state aid. These decisions were appealed by Banco Santander
and other companies before the General Court of the European Union. In November 2014,
the General Court delivered its judgment, annulling those decisions, prompting the
Commission to appeal the ruling before the European Court of Justice. In December 2016,
the European Court of Justice handed down a ruling upholding the appeal and ordering
that the case be reheard by the General Court, which is therefore required to deliver a new
judgment analysing the other reasons for the annulment relied on by the appellants. This
new ruling, once forthcoming, may then once again be appealed before the Court of
Justice. Based on the advice received from its external team of layers, the Group has
recognised no provisions for these disputes on the understanding that they constitute
a contingent liability.

As of the date of this document, there are also a number of more minor tax disputes under
way.

Non-tax-related proceedings

As of the date of this document, the main lawsuits affecting the Group are as follows:

Customer remediation: claims associated with the sale of certain financial products
(mostly payment protection insurance -PPI) by Santander UK to its customers.

On 2 March, the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) released its final criteria for
calculating the compensation associated with the sale of certain financial products,
specifically Payment Protection Insurance (“PPI”), in which it introduced a number of
changes to the calculation methods previously used in December 2016. Mainly, the deadline
for bringing a claim has been extended by two months through to the end of August 2019
and banks are required to be more proactive in contacting customers who were sold the
product. As a result of this latest development, an additional provision was recognised in the
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first quarter of the year for the sum of 32 million pounds (37 million euros). At 31 December
2017, the related provision stood at 427 million pounds (499 million euros).

- Delforca: Dispute concerning equity swaps arranged by Gaesco (now Delforca 2008, S.A.)
over shares in Inmobiliaria Colonial, S.A. The Bank saw its claim upheld during the first
round of arbitration proceedings, although the award was subsequently annulled for reasons
relating to the chairman of the arbitration panel and one of the items of evidence furnished
by Delforca. During the second round of arbitration instituted by the Bank, and after it had
obtained interim relief from the courts (currently waived), Delforca filed for insolvency. Prior
to this, Delforca and its parent company Mobiliaria Monesa, S.A. had initiated other
processes seeking compensation for damage and loss due to the Bank's actions before the
civil courts of Madrid (case subsequently closed) and Santander, which is currently
suspended due to the need to decide on various subsidiary matters.

In the insolvency proceedings, Commercial Court 10 of Barcelona declared the suspension
of the arbitration proceedings, while terminating the arbitral agreement, refusing to
acknowledge the Bank's contingent right to payment and finding that the Bank was in breach.
It therefore dismissed the Bank's request to close the proceedings due to the non-existence of
a situation of insolvency. Following the appeals lodged by the Bank, the Provincial Court of
Barcelona revoked all decisions handed down except the one relating to the refusal to
conclude the insolvency proceedings, thus causing the resumption of the arbitration
proceedings. A partial arbitral award was issued, rejecting the procedural defences raised by
Delforca. Delforca has approached the higher appeal courts in a bid to set aside the rulings
rejecting termination of the arbitration agreement and recognising the Bank's contingent right
to payment. Delforca and its parent have also filed a suit before the Insolvency Judge seeking
the return of the collateral enforced by the Bank when settling the swaps; in these
proceedings, a ruling is yet to be made on the Bank’s motions raising defences of lack of
jurisdiction. The meeting between creditors has been suspended until the question of the
Bank's right to payment is either confirmed or rejected. This suspension has been appealed
by Delforca. The Bank has recognised no provisions covering this process.

- Former employees of Banco do Estado de S&o Paulo S.A., Santander Banespa, Cia. de
Arrendamiento Mercantil: claim instituted in 1998 by the pensioners association of Banespa
(AFABESP) on behalf of its members, seeking payment of a half-yearly bonus initially
envisaged in the entity's bylaws and payable if the entity reported profits and if the payout
was approved by its board of directors. The bonus was not paid in 1994 and 1995 due to lack
of sufficient profit at the bank while from 1996 through to 2000 only part of the bonus was
paid, as agreed by the board of directors, with the bonus clause eliminated in 2001. The
Regional Employment Board ordered the bank to pay this six-month bonus in September
2005 and the bank then appealed the court's ruling before the High Employment Board
(Tribunal Superior de Trabajo, or TST) and subsequently before the Federal Supreme Court
(Supremo Tribunal Federal, or STF). The former confirmed the bank's sentence and the latter
went on to dismiss the extraordinary appeal brought by the bank via a decision taken by one
of its judges, while upholding the adverse ruling handed to the bank. The Bank and the
association then appealed this decision, though only the appeal lodged by the Bank has been
admitted and will be decided in due course by the STF sitting in plenary session. The STF
has recently delivered a judgment concerning the case of a third party that also concerned one
of the main arguments on which the Bank is currently relying. The Bank has recognised no
provisions covering this process.
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- Financial matters As with all other Brazilian banks, Santander Brasil has received
numerous claims and grievances from customers, mostly deposit holders, and is also
embroiled in a number of civil class actions arising from a series of legislative changes
on how to calculate inflation (economic plans), which violated the rights of numerous
claimants in that they were ushered in with immediate effect. In April 2010, the Brazilian
High Court of Justice (Superior Tribunal de Justica, or STJ for short) established a five-
year prescription period for these class actions, as the banks had been urging, instead of
the twenty years that the claimants were lobbying for. This will probably significantly
reduce the number of actions and the amount being sought. As for the merits of the claims,
so far the courts have generally come down against the banks, and there are now two
proceedings under way before the STJ and the Supreme Federal Court (Supremo Tribunal
Federal, or STF) in a bid to resolve the matter once and for all. The STJ delivered
a significant ruling in August 2010. While siding with the claimants on the merits of their
case, it excluded a key facet from their claim, thus reducing the amount they were able to
seek and once again confirming the five-year prescription period. The STF then agreed
to injunctive relief essentially suspending the proceedings in progress until the court was
able to deliver a final ruling on the matter. The relevant parties are currently planning to
lodge various appeals before the STF to re-examine various matters relating to the case.

- On 15 September 2008, the bankruptcy of various Lehman Group companies was
announced. Various customers of the Santander Group were affected by the emerging
crisis as they had either invested in securities issued by Lehman, or in other products with
Lehman securities as the underlying.

As of the date of this document, various lawsuits were ongoing in relation to the matter.
In the opinion of the Bank's directors and legal advisors, the various Lehman products
and services in question were marketed and sold in accordance with applicable law at the
time of sale and the Group should therefore incur no liability whatsoever following
Lehman's bankruptcy due to its intermediation or brokerage in selling the products.
Accordingly, the risk of loss is considered remote and the Bank has recognised no
provisions to cover the eventual outcome of the lawsuits.

- In December 2008, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) charged the
firm Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC (“Madoff Securities”) on suspicion
of fraud. The total exposure of Group customers through the Optimal Strategic US Equity
(Optimal Strategic) subfund amounted to 2,330 million euros, of which 2,010 million
euros related to institutional investors and international private banking customers, while
the remaining 320 million euros belonged to the investment portfolios of the Group's
private banking customers in Spain, who were classified as qualifying investors.

As of the date of this document, various lawsuits were ongoing against Group companies
in relation to the matter. The Group believes it acted with due care at all times and that
the products were sold transparently and in compliance with applicable law and
regulations. The risk of loss is therefore considered remote or immaterial.

- In April 2016, the Competition Division of the Comision Nacional de los Mercados y la
Competencia ("CNMC", Spain's competition regulator) opened an administrative
investigation targeting several banks, including Banco Santander, on alleged practices of
price collusion or price-fixing agreements and exchange of commercially sensitive
information on derivative financial instruments used to hedge the interest rate risk of
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syndicated loans. According to the Competition Division, such course of conduct might
constitute an offence contrary to article 1 of the Ley 15/2007 (Competition Act) and
Article 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. The investigation
procedure is awaiting a decision by the CNMC Board. If an adverse decision is issued,
Banco Santander could be exposed to penalties, which might be significant, and related
consequences, such as claims for damages or regulatory restrictions on Santander's
activities. This might have a material adverse effect on the financial position and results
of Banco Santander.

- As a result of the acquisition of Banco Popular, the Group is exposed to material
transactions involving floor clauses. For further information, see Risk Factor 2.1.6.

The Bank and other Group companies sometimes find themselves party to lawsuits and legal
proceedings incidental to the normal course of business, including claims and proceedings
relating to lending activity, employment relations and other commercial and tax matters. In
addition, see Risk Factor 2.1.1 on possible appeals or complaints, including those arising from
or related to the acquisition of Banco Popular or acquisition by investors of Banco Popular shares
and capital instruments before the FROB decision.

It should be noted that the outcome of these legal proceedings is inherently uncertain, particularly
when it comes to monetary claims for indeterminate amounts, claims based on legal arguments for
which there is no legal precedent, class actions and proceedings that are still at a very early stage.

Based on available information, the Group considers that at 31 March 2017 it has reliably
estimated the obligations associated with each process and has posted adequate provisions as and
when required to provide reasonable coverage of any resulting tax or legal liabilities. It is also
confident that any liability resulting from these proceedings will not have a significant adverse
impact on the Group's businesses, financial situation or operating results.

20.9 SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE FINANCIAL AND COMMERCIAL
POSITION OF THE ISSUER

Since 31 March 2017 and through to the date of this document, no event or change has arisen
that might significantly impact the financial or commercial position of Banco Santander, S.A.
except changes in commercial position that may arise from the acquisition of Banco Popular. See
chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular.

CHAPTER 21
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

21.1 SHARE CAPITAL
21.1.1 Issued capital
Nominal amount

At the date of this document, the share capital of Banco Santander, S.A. amounts to seven billion,
two hundred and ninety-one million, one hundred and seventy thousand three hundred and fifty
euros and fifty euro cents (7,291,170,350.50), all fully subscribed for and paid up.
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Share class and series

At the date of this document, share capital is divided into fourteen billion, five hundred and
eighty-two million, three hundred and forty thousand seven hundred and one (14,582,340,701)
shares, each having a par value of fifty euro cents (0.50), all of the same class and series, and all
fully subscribed for and paid up.

All shares carry the same voting and dividend rights.

The shares are represented in book-entry form in the accounting system kept by SOCIEDAD DE
GESTION DE LOS SISTEMAS DE REGISTRO, COMPENSACION Y LIQUIDACION DE
VALORES, S.A.U. (Iberclear), with registered office in Madrid, at Plaza de la Lealtad 1.

21.1.2 Non-capital shares
There are no non-capital shares.

21.1.3 Number, carrying amount and nominal value of shares held by the issuer or its
subsidiaries

A total of 1,091,138 shares in the Bank were owned and held by consolidated companies at
31 March 2017, representing 0.0075% of share capital.

For further information on acquisitions and disposals of treasury shares in 2016, see section 8 of
the Directors' Report.

21.1.4 Convertible and/or exchangeable bonds
(@) First issue of contingent convertible bonds

On 5 March 2014, Banco Santander, S.A. announced that it had agreed to place an issue of
contingent convertible bonds exchangeable for the Bank's new-issue common stock
("CoCos™), including the decision to disapply the pre-emptive subscription right of existing
shareholders. The issue is subject to a maximum nominal amount of 1,500,000,000 euros
(the "Issue™). The Issue was arranged through an accelerated bookbuild process and was
directed solely at qualifying investors.

The Issue was made at par value and the return on the CoCos -payment of which is
discretional and also subject to certain conditions- was fixed at 6.25% per annum for the
first five years, whereupon a spread of 541 basis points would be added to the five-year
mid-swap rate.

On 25 March 2014, the Banco de Espafia confirmed that the CoCos qualified as additional
tier 1 capital under the new European regulations on own funds ushered in by European
Regulation 575/2013. The CoCos are perpetual, though they may be repurchased if certain
conditions are met, and they would also be converted into new-issue common shares of
Banco Santander if the Bank or its consolidated group ever reports a common equity Tier
1 ratio of less than 5.125%, calculated in accordance with the aforementioned EU
Regulation. The CoCos have been quoted and traded on the Global Exchange Market of
the Irish Stock Exchange since 12 March 2014; their date of issue.

(b) Second issue of contingent convertible bonds

On 8 March 2014, Banco Santander, S.A. announced that it had agreed to place an issue of
contingent convertible bonds exchangeable for the Bank's new-issue common stock
("CoCos"), including the decision to disapply the pre-emptive subscription right of existing
shareholders. The Issue was arranged through an accelerated bookbuild process and was
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directed solely at qualifying investors for a final nominal sum of 1.5 billion dollars (the
"Issue™).

The Issue was made at par value and the return on the CoCos -payment of which is
discretional and also subject to certain conditions- was fixed at 6.375% per annum for the
first five years, whereupon a spread of 478.8 basis points would be added to the five-year
mid-swap rate.

On 28 May 2014, the Banco de Espaiia confirmed that the CoCos qualified as additional
tier 1 capital under the new European regulations on own funds ushered in by European
Regulation 575/2013. The CoCos are perpetual, though they may be repurchased if certain
conditions are met, and they would also be converted into new-issue common shares of
Banco Santander if the Bank or its consolidated group ever reports a common equity Tier
1 ratio of less than 5.125%, calculated in accordance with the aforementioned EU
Regulation. The CoCos have been quoted and traded on the Global Exchange Market of
the Irish Stock Exchange since 19 May 2014; their date of issue.

(c) Third issue of contingent convertible bonds

On 2 September 2014, Banco Santander, S.A. announced that it had agreed to place an
issue of contingent convertible bonds exchangeable for the Bank's new-issue common
stock ("CoCos"), including the decision to disapply the pre-emptive subscription right of
existing shareholders. The issue is subject to a maximum nominal amount of 1,500,000,000
euros (the "lIssue™). The Issue was arranged through an accelerated bookbuild process and
was directed solely at qualifying investors.

The Issue was made at par value and the return on the CoCos -payment of which is
discretional and also subject to certain conditions- was fixed at 6.25% per annum for the
first five years, whereupon a spread of 564 basis points would be added to the five-year
mid-swap rate.

On 30 September 2014, the Banco de Espafia confirmed that the CoCos qualified as
additional tier 1 capital under the new European regulations on own funds ushered in by
European Regulation 575/2013. The CoCos are perpetual, though they may be repurchased
if certain conditions are met, and they would also be converted into new-issue common
shares of Banco Santander if the Bank or its consolidated group ever reports a common
equity Tier 1 ratio of less than 5.125%, calculated in accordance with the aforementioned
EU Regulation. The CoCos have been quoted and traded on the Global Exchange Market
of the Irish Stock Exchange since 11 September 2014, their date of issue.

(d) Fourth issue of contingent convertible bonds

On 18 April 2017, Banco Santander, S.A. announced that it had agreed to place an issue of
contingent convertible bonds exchangeable for the Bank's new-issue common stock
("CoCos™), including the decision to disapply the pre-emptive subscription right of existing
shareholders. The issue was arranged through an accelerated bookbuild process and was
directed solely at qualifying investors.

The issue was made at par value and the return on the CoCos -payment of which is
discretional and also subject to certain conditions- was fixed at 6.75% per annum for the
first five years, whereupon a spread of 680.3 basis points would be added to the five-year
mid-swap rate. The final amount of the issue was 750,000,000 euros.

Banco Santander, S.A. requested the European Central Bank to classify the CoCos as
additional tier 1 capital under EU Regulation 575/2013. The CoCos are perpetual, though
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they may be repurchased if certain conditions are met, and they would also be converted
into new-issue common shares of Banco Santander if the common equity Tier 1 ratio of
the Bank or its consolidated group ever drops below 5.125%, calculated in accordance with
the aforementioned EU Regulation. The CoCos have been quoted and traded on the Global
Exchange Market of the Irish Stock Exchange since 25 April 2017; their date of issue.

21.1.5 Rights and obligations relating to authorised capital yet to be issued or decisions to
increase capital.

Authorisations conferred at the general shareholders’ meeting held on 7 April 2017

The annual general meeting of shareholders held on 7 April 2017 agreed to authorise the board of
directors to the fullest extent required by law so that it may, in accordance with article 297.1.b) of
the Corporate Enterprises Act (Ley de Sociedades de Capital), increase share capital on one or
more occasions and at any time within the three years running from the date of that annual general
meeting. The rights issue will take the form of new issues —with or without issue premium and with
or without voting rights attached— while the consideration for the new shares to be issued will be
monetary contributions from the shareholders. The maximum nominal amount of the issue or issues
is 3,645,585,175 euros, all the foregoing under the terms the directors deem fit. This new
authorisation renders null and void the unused part of the previous authorisation conferred by virtue
of resolution Eight 1) at the annual general meeting of shareholders held on 27 March 2015. The
Bank's directors have until 7 April 2020 in which to execute and effect the envisaged capital
increases. The resolution authorises the board to fully or partially disapply the pre-emptive
subscription right pursuant to the terms of article 506 of the Corporate Enterprises Act, although
this power is limited to a maximum of 20% of the Bank's capital existing at the date of that general
meeting (1,458,234,070 euros). The Bank's Board of Directors, at its meeting of 26 June 2017,
under the powers conferred on it by the general shareholders’ meeting of 7 April 2017, resolved to
delegate to the executive committee the powers received in virtue of the agreement described
above, and on 3 July 2017, the Bank's executive committee approved the use of this authorisation
and to increase the share capital of Banco Santander through the issue and circulation of the new
shares: i.e. 1,458,232,745 shares with a par value of fifty euro cents (EUR 0.50) each, all of the
same class and series as the shares currently in circulation. The Capital Increase has been agreed
with pre-emptive subscription rights in favour of Banco Santander shareholders.

The aforementioned annual general meeting of 7 March 2017 also approved the following
resolutions relating to the content of this section:

1. A capital increase charged to reserves for the sum to be calculated in accordance with the
terms of the resolution and to be effected by issuing new common shares, each having a
nominal value of half (0.5) a euro, with no share premium, and all of the same class and
series as those currently in circulation. The purpose here is to offer the Bank's shareholders
the option to receive their remuneration under one of the interim dividends for 2017 via
Santander Dividendo Eleccién (scrip dividend scheme). The board of directors is similarly
authorised to delegate to the executive committee the powers conferred under this resolution,
provided those powers may be delegated.

1. Delegation to the board of directors, pursuant to the provisions of article 297.1.a) of the
Corporate Enterprises Act, of the broadest powers such that, within one year of the date on
which the aforementioned shareholders’ meeting is held, it may set the date and the terms
and conditions as to all matters not provided for by the shareholders themselves, of an
increase in capital in the amount of 500 million euros. In the event the board should fail to
exercise the powers delegated to it for execution of this resolution within the term of one
year indicated by shareholders, said powers will become null and void. The board of
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directors is similarly authorised to delegate to the executive committee the powers conferred
under this resolution, provided those powers may be delegated.

3. Delegation to the board of directors, in accordance with the general framework for issuing
bonds and similar debt instruments and pursuant to article 319 of the Regulations of the
Companies Registry (Reglamento del Registro Mercantil), said delegation also rendering
null and void the unused part of Resolution Nine I1) adopted by shareholders at the annual
general meeting held on 18 March 2016, of the power to issue fixed-income securities on
one or more occasions and up to the maximum sum of 50,000 million euros or the equivalent
value in another currency. The securities may be issued through any legally admissible
means and format, including short-, medium- and long-term bonds, covered bonds,
promissory notes and preference shares, or other analogous debt instruments (including
warrants, whether settled by physical delivery or by offset).

The board of directors power may exercise this power within five years running from the
date on which the resolution was carried by shareholders at the aforementioned general
meeting, that is, until 7 April 2022, whereupon the authority will have run its course and will
expire. The board of directors is similarly authorised to delegate to the executive committee
the powers conferred under this resolution, provided those powers may be delegated.

At the date of this document, a total of six thousand and seventy-four million euros (€6,074,000)
have been used, meaning, therefore, that of the aforesaid limit of fifty billion euros
(€50,000,000,000), a total of forty three thousand, nine hundred and twenty-six million euros
(€43,926,000,000) have yet to be drawn down.

21.1.6  Information on the capital of any Group member subject to option
Not applicable.
21.1.7 Share capital record

Figures in euros

Balance at 31 December 2014 6,292,207,329.50
Balance at 31 December 2015 7,217,246,289.50
Balance at 31 December 2016 7,291,170,350.50

Balance at the date of this document 7,291,170,350.50

Note 31 to the financial statements discusses the capital increases carried out over the last three
financial years.

In 2016, the Bank effected a rights issue under the Santander Scrip Dividend scheme, a process
effectively completed on 4 November. A total of 147,848,122 new shares were issued, equivalent
to 1.02% of the Bank's share capital at year-end 2015.

21.2 BYLAWS AND DEED OF INCORPORATION

The Bylaws of Banco Santander, S.A. are available to the public for consultation and viewing
while this Share Registration Document remains valid and can be found on the Bank's corporate
website (www.santander.com), or at the Bank's registered office, located in the city of Santander,
at Paseo de Pereda, 9-12.

The Bank was incorporated in the city of Santander by virtue of public instrument executed on
3 March 1856, later ratified and amended in part by a second public instrument dated 21 March
1857, and it began to operate on 20 August 1857. It was subsequently transformed into a credit
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corporation (sociedad andnima de crédito) by virtue of public instrument executed by Santander
notary, Ignacio Pérez, on 14 January 1875, amended by subsequent public deeds, and registered
in the Companies Registry Book of the Government’s Trade Promotion Section in the Province
of Santander.

21.2.1 Description of the corporate purpose of the issuer and where the Bylaws and deed of
incorporation can be found

The Bank's corporate purpose is described in article 2 of its Bylaws currently in force:
Article 2. Corporate purpose
1. The corporate purpose of the Company consists of:

a) The conduct of activities and operations and the provision of services of any kind
which are typical of the banking business in general and which are permitted under
current law.

b) The acquisition, possession, enjoyment and disposition of all types of securities.

2. The activities that make up the corporate purpose may be carried out totally or partially
in an indirect manner, in any of the manners permitted by law and, in particular, through
the ownership of shares or the holding of interests in Companies whose purpose is
identical,  similar, incidental or  supplemental to such  activities.

21.2.2 Brief description of any provision of the issuer's bylaws or internal regulations
concerning members of the governing, management and supervisory bodies

The internal system of governance and composition of the board of directors and its committees
is regulated by articles 37 to 54 ter of the Bylaws and by the Rules and Regulations of the Board
of Directors.

Specifically, articles 37, 38 and 39 of the Bylaws describe the structure and powers to manage,
supervise and represent the Bank:

Article 37.-  Structure of the board of directors
1. The Company shall be managed by a board of directors

2. The board of directors shall be governed by such legal provisions as are applicable
thereto and by these bylaws. In addition, the board shall approve a set of rules and
regulations of the board of directors, which shall contain rules of operation and internal
organization by way of further development of the aforementioned legal and bylaw
provisions. The shareholders at a general shareholders' meeting shall be informed of the
approval of the rules and regulations of the board of directors and of any subsequent
amendments thereto.

Article 38. Management and supervisory powers

1. The board of directors has the widest powers to manage the company, and except for
those matters exclusively within the purview of the shareholders at a general
shareholders' meeting, is the highest decision-making body of the Company.

2. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the board shall exercise, without the power of delegation,
such powers as are reserved for it by law, as well as such other powers as are required
for a responsible discharge of the general duty of supervision.

3. The rules and regulations of the board shall set forth a detailed description of the
responsibilities reserved for the board of directors.
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Article 39. Powers of representation

1. The power to represent the company, in court and out of court, is vested in the board of
directors acting collectively.

The chairman of the board also has the power to represent the company.

The secretary of the board and the vice secretary, if any, have the necessary
representative powers to convert into public instruments the resolutions adopted by the
shareholders at a general shareholders’ meeting and the resolutions of the board and to
apply for registration thereof.

4. The provisions of this article are without prejudice to any other powers of attorney,
whether general or special, that may be granted.

Articles 41 and 42 of the Bylaws establish the composition of the board:
Article 41. Quantitative composition of the board

1. The board of directors shall be composed of not less than fourteen and not more than
twenty-two members, appointed by the shareholders acting at a general shareholders’
meeting.

2. It falls upon the shareholders at a general shareholders’ meeting to set the number of
members of the board within the aforementioned range. Such number may be set
indirectly by the resolutions adopted by the shareholders at a general shareholders'
meeting whereby directors are appointed or their appointment is revoked.

Article 42. Qualitative composition of the board

1. The shareholders at the general shareholders’ meeting shall endeavour to ensure that the
board of directors is made up such that external or non-executive directors represent a
large majority over executive directors, and that a reasonable number of the former are
independent directors. The shareholders at the general shareholders’ meeting shall
likewise endeavour to ensure that independent directors represent at least one-third of
the total number of directors.

2. The provisions of the preceding paragraph do not affect the sovereignty of the
shareholders acting at the general shareholders’ meeting or detract from the
effectiveness of the proportional system, which shall be mandatory whenever there is a
voting trust pursuant to the provisions of the Spanish Capital Corporations Law.

3. For the purposes of these bylaws, the terms executive director and external or non-
executive director (which, in turn, includes the terms proprietary director, independent
director and other external directors) shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in
applicable law, in these bylaws or in the rules and regulations of the board of directors.

4. The board of directors must ensure that the procedures for selecting its members
encourage diversity of gender, experience and knowledge and do not suffer from implicit
biases that might entail any discrimination and, in particular, the procedures shall favour
the selection of female directors.

Article 50 of the Bylaws describes the power of the board to set up committees (which are then
regulated by Chapter 1, Section 5 of the same Bylaws):

Banco Santander, S.A.
Share Registration Document, 4 July 2017 139/152



Article 50. Committees of the board of directors

1.

21.2.3

Without prejudice to such powers as may be delegated individually to the chairman, the
chief executive officer or any other director and to the power of the board of directors to
establish committees for each specific area of business, the board of directors may
establish an executive committee, to which general decision-making powers shall be
delegated, and an executive risk committee, to which powers shall be delegated in
connection with risks. If such committees are established, their operation shall be
governed by the provisions of articles 51 and 52 below.

The board may also establish committees with supervisory, reporting, advisory and
proposal-making powers in connection with the matters within their scope of authority,
and must in any event create the committees required by applicable law, including an
appointments committee, a remuneration committee, a risk supervision, regulation and
compliance committee and an audit committee, which for the purposes of sub-section 4(v)
of article 53 will also have decision-making powers.

To the extent not provided for in these bylaws, the operation of the committees of the
board shall be governed by the provisions of the rules and regulations of the board.

Description of the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to each existing class
of share

The legal framework governing shares and share capital is set out in articles 5 to 12 of the Bylaws,
which read as follows:

Article 5. Share capital

1.
2.

3.

Share capital is 7,291,170,350.50 euros.

The share capital is represented by 14,582,340,701 shares having a nominal value of fifty
euro cents each, all of which belong to the same class and series.

All the shares have been fully paid-up.

Article 6. Form of the shares

1.

The shares are represented in book-entry form and are governed by the Securities Market
Law [Ley del Mercado de Valores] and such other provisions as may be applicable.

The book-entry registry of the Company shall be maintained by the entity or entities
charged by the law with such duty.

The entity in charge of the book-entry registry shall notify the Bank of transactions
involving the shares and the Bank shall keep its own stock ledger with the name of the
shareholders.

The person whose name appears as the holder in the entries in the records of the entity
in charge of the book-entry registry shall be deemed the legitimate holder thereof, and
therefore, such person may request from the Bank the benefits to which the shares entitle
them.

In the event of persons or entities formally acting as shareholders under a fiduciary
agreement, trust, or any other similar title, the Bank may require such persons to provide
the particulars of the beneficial owners of the shares, as well as information regarding
all acts entailing the transfer of such shares or the creation of liens thereon.
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Article 7. Shareholders' rights

1. Shares confer on the lawful holders thereof the status of shareholder and give them the
rights set forth in the law and in these bylaws and, specifically, the following:

a) The right to share in the distribution of corporate earnings and in the net assets
resulting from liquidation.

b) The pre-emptive right to subscribe to the issuance of new shares or bonds convertible
into shares.

c) The right to attend and vote at the General Shareholders’ Meetings and to challenge
corporate resolutions.

d) The right to receive information.
Shareholders shall exercise their rights vis-a-vis the Company with loyalty and good faith.

3. Insuch manner as is set forth in legal and administrative provisions, the Company shall
not acknowledge the exercise of voting and related rights arising from interests in the
Company held by persons who acquire shares thereof in violation of mandatory legal
rules of any type or rank. Likewise, the Company shall make public, in such manner as
determined by the above-mentioned regulations, the interest held by the shareholders in
the capital of the Company, whenever the circumstances requiring such publication arise.

Article 8. Unpaid subscriptions

1. Unpaid subscription amounts on partially paid-up shares shall be paid up by the
shareholders at the time determined by the board of directors, within five years of the
date of the resolution providing for the capital increase. The manner and other details of
such payment shall be determined by the resolution providing for the capital increase.

2. Without prejudice to the effects of default as set forth by law, any late payment of unpaid
subscriptions shall bear, for the benefit of the Bank, such interest as is provided by law
in respect of late payments, starting from the day when payment is due and without any
judicial or extra-judicial demand being required. In addition, the Bank shall be entitled
to bring such legal actions as may be permitted by law in these cases.

Article 9. Non-voting shares

1. The Company may issue non-voting shares for a nominal amount of not more than one
half of the paid-up share capital.

2. Non-voting shares shall attribute to the holders thereof the rights established in the
resolution for the issuance thereof, in accordance with law and by means of an
appropriate amendment of the bylaws.

Article 10. Redeemable shares

1. The Company may, on the terms established by law, issue redeemable shares for a
nominal amount not to exceed one-fourth of its share capital.

2. Redeemable shares shall give the holders thereof the rights that are established in the
resolution providing for the issuance thereof, in accordance with law and by means of
the appropriate bylaw amendment.
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Article 11.  Co-ownership

Each share is indivisible.

Shares that are jointly owned shall be registered in the respective book-entry registry in
the name of all co-owners. However, the co-owners of a share shall appoint a single
person to exercise shareholder rights and shall be jointly and severally liable to the
Company for all obligations entailed by the status of shareholders.

The same rule shall apply in all other instances of co-ownership of rights over shares.

In the case of usufruct of shares, the status of shareholder lies with the bare owner, but
the usufructuary shall in every case be entitled to receive the dividends the Company
resolves to distribute during the usufruct. The bare owner shall exercise all other
shareholder rights.

The usufructuary has the obligation to facilitate the exercise of such rights by the bare owner.

If the shares are pledged, the owner thereof shall be entitled to exercise shareholder
rights. The pledgee shall have the obligation to facilitate the exercise of such rights.

In the event that the owner fails to comply with his obligation to pay unpaid contribution
amounts, the pledgee may perform such obligation himself or foreclose on the pledge.

In all other cases of limited in rem rights on shares, voting and related rights shall be
exercised by the direct owner thereof.

Article 12. Transfer of shares

1.

Shares and the economic rights attaching thereto, including pre-emptive rights, may be
transferred by any means permitted by law.

New shares may not be transferred until the capital increase is registered with the
Commercial Registry.

Shares shall be transferred by means of book entries.

4. The registration of the transfer in favour of the transferee shall have the same effect as

21.2.4

21.2.5

the delivery of the securities.

The creation of limited in rem rights or other liens on shares shall be registered in the
respective account of the book-entry registry.

Registration of the pledge is equivalent to transfer of title.

Description of the steps needed to modify the rights of shareholders, indicating also
whether the requirements are more stringent than those prescribed by law

Any attempt to modify the rights of Banco Santander shareholders will require the
relevant amendment to be made to the Bylaws, pursuant to the terms of the Corporate
Enterprises Act. There are no requirements more stringent than those prescribed by law.

Conditions for calling annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings of
shareholders, including attendance requirements

The process for calling annual and extraordinary general meetings is set out in article 24 of the
Bylaws, which reads as follows:
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Article 24.  Call of a general shareholders’ meeting

1.

Notice of all types of meetings shall be given by means of a public announcement in the
Official Bulletin of the Commercial Registry or in one of the more widely circulated
newspapers in Spain, on the website of the National Securities Market Commission and on
the Company’s website (www.santander.com), at least one month prior to the date set for the
meeting, except in those instances in which a different period is established by law.

Shareholders representing at least three percent of the share capital may request the
publication of a supplement to the call to meeting including one or more items in the
agenda, so long as such new items are accompanied by a rationale or, if appropriate, by
a substantiated proposal for a resolution. For such purposes, shareholders shall indicate
the number of shares held or represented by them. This right must be exercised by means
of verifiable notice that must be received at the registered office within five days of the
publication of the call to meeting. The supplement to the call shall be published at least
fifteen days in advance of the date set for the meeting. In no event may this right be
exercised in connection with the call to extraordinary general shareholders’ meetings.

An extraordinary general shareholders’ meeting may be called at least fifteen days in
advance of the date set for such meeting by means of a prior resolution expressly adopted at
an ordinary general shareholders’ meeting by shareholders representing at least two-thirds
of the subscribed capital carrying voting rights. Such resolution shall not remain in effect
beyond the date set for the holding of the next ordinary general shareholders’ meeting.

Meanwhile, attendance are set out in article 26 of the Bylaws, which reads as follows:
Article 26.  Right to attend

1.

21.2.6

The holders of any number of shares registered in their name in the respective book-entry
registry five days prior to the date on which the general shareholders’ meeting is to be
held and who are current in the payment of pending subscriptions shall be entitled to
attend general shareholders’ meetings.

In order to attend the general shareholders’ meeting, one must obtain the corresponding
name-bearing attendance card to be issued with reference to the list of shareholders
having such right.

The directors must attend general shareholders’ meetings, but their attendance shall not
be required for the meeting to be validly established.

The Chairman of the general shareholders’ meeting may give economic journalists and
financial analysts access to the Meeting and, in general, may authorize the attendance of
any person he deems fit. However, the shareholders may revoke any such authorization.

Shareholders having the right to attend may cast their vote regarding proposals relating
to items included in the agenda for any kind of general shareholders’ meeting, pursuant
to the provisions of articles 33 and 34 of these Bylaws.

Brief description of any provision in the issuer’s bylaws or internal regulations that
seeks to delay, defer, or frustrate a change of control at the issuer

Neither the Bank's Bylaws nor any of its internal rules or regulations contain any provision
intended to delay, defer, or frustrate a change of control at Banco Santander.
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21.2.7 Description of any provision in the bylaws or internal regulations setting a participation
threshold above which the shareholder’s participation must be disclosed

Without prejudice to any legal provisions or requirements on the matter, neither the Bank's
bylaws nor any of its internal rules and regulations contain any provision obliging shareholders
with a significant stake to disclose and reveal that circumstance.

21.2.8 Description of any conditions imposed by the bylaws or internal regulations governing
changes to capital, insofar as these conditions are more stringent than applicable legal
requirements

The Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act sets out the requirements governing modifications to the
share capital of Banco Santander. Neither the Bank's Bylaws nor its internal rules and regulations
establish any special condition or requirement on the matter.

CHAPTER 22
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

22.1 BRIEF OUTLINE OF ANY MATERIAL CONTRACTS -BEYOND THOSE
ENTERED INTO AS PART OF THE NORMAL COURSE OF BUSINESS- TO
WHICH THE ISSUER OR ANY MEMBER OF ITS GROUP IS PARTY AND
WHICH WERE ARRANGED DURING THE TWO YEARS IMMEDIATELY
PRIOR TO THE PUBLICATION OF THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

In the two year-period immediately prior to the date of this document, the Bank did not enter into
any contracts other than those relating to its normal business activity that were material for the
Group as a whole, without prejudice to the terms of chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition of 100% of the
share capital of Banco Popular.

22.2 BRIEF OUTLINE OF ANY OTHER CONTRACT (BEYOND THOSE ENTERED
INTO AS PART OF THE NORMAL COURSE OF BUSINESS) ARRANGED BY
ANY GROUP COMPANY THROUGH TO THE PUBLICATION OF THE
REGISTRATION DOCUMENT WHEREBY ANY GROUP COMPANY HAS AN
OBLIGATION OR RIGHT DEEMED MATERIAL FOR THE GROUP

As of the date of this document, there are no such contracts in effect.

CHAPTER 23

INFORMATION ON THIRD PARTIES, EXPERT OPINIONS AND
DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS
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23.1 INFORMATION REGARDING THE REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT EXPERT
This chapter does not apply.

23.2 THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

Not applicable.

CHAPTER 24
DOCUMENTS FOR FURTHER READING

The Bylaws of Banco Santander, S.A. are available to the public for consultation and viewing
while this Share Registration Document remains valid and can be found on the Bank's
corporate website (www.santander.com), or at the Bank's registered office, located in the city
of Santander, at Paseo de Pereda, 9-12.

The Bank's separate and consolidated financial statements and directors' reports for the years
2014, 2015 and 2016 and the corresponding audit reports for those same years are available for
viewing while this Share Registration Document remains in effect on the Group's website and
also on the website of the CNMV. They have also been filed with the CNMV.

CHAPTER 25

INFORMATION ON SHAREHOLDINGS

Appendix |1 to the financial statements includes a breakdown at 31 December 2016 of associates,
jointly controlled entities and other relevant companies at which the Group holds a stake of more
than 5%. This information includes company name, address, business activity, percentage of
participation (direct and indirect) and key figures from their balance sheet (data expressed in
millions of euros at 31 December 2016).

Between 1 January and the date of filing this document, there have been no significant arrivals
or departures of associates, jointly controlled entities, or other relevant companies at which the
Group holds a stake of more than 5%.

Associate entities are those over which the Bank is able to exert significant influence, albeit not
control or joint control (in general any participation exceeding 20%). They are accounted for
using the equity method.

Meanwhile, jointly-controlled entities are those that are controlled jointly by two or more
unrelated entities, or that operate or hold assets such that any strategic decision of a financial or
operational nature affecting that entity requires the unanimous consent of all owners. They are
accounted for using the equity method.

Following the acquisition of Banco Popular on 7 June 2017 (see chapter 5.1.5 (a) Acquisition of
100% of the share capital of Banco Popular), it should be noted, in addition to the above, that at
31 December 2016 Banco Popular Group comprised a total of 30 companies associated with or
jointly controlled by the Group, as shown in its audited consolidated financial statements at that date.

* * *
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CHAPTER 26
GLOSSARY OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APM)

Information on alternative performance measures is given below, in compliance with the
Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures of the European Securities and Markets
Authority (ESMA). This information has not been audited.

For the management of its business, the Group uses the following indicators to measure its
profitability and efficiency, the quality of its loan portfolio, tangible book value per share and
loan-to-deposit ratio, analysing the performance thereof over time and comparing this with the
performance of its competitors.

The purpose of the profitability and efficiency indicators is to measure the ratio of income to
capital, tangible equity, assets, and risk-weighted assets, according to the following definitions.
The cost-to-income ratio measures the general administrative expenses (personnel and others)
and amortisation expenses needed to generate income.

The NPL indicators measure the quality of the credit portfolio and the percentage of the NPL
portfolio covered by loan loss provisions, according to the following definitions:

The calculated capitalisation indicator provides information on the tangible book value per
share, in accordance with the following table:

The loan-to-deposits ratio (LTD) identifies the relationship between loans and advances to
customers (net) and customer deposits, and therefore assesses the proportion of loans and
advances extended by the Group to customers that is funding using customer deposits.

The Group also uses gross loans and advances to customers excluding reverse repos and
customer deposits excluding repos. For the purposes of analysing loans and deposits in the
traditional retail and commercial banking business, reverse repos and repos are deducted as they
are mainly high-volatility treasury products.
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Profitability and efficiency

RoRWA

Efficiency (including depreciation)

Return on equity: result attributed to the Group / Average Stockholders Equity

Average Stockholders Equity defined as average equity +reserves +retained profit + Accumulated Other Comprehensive
income

Return on tangible equity: result attributed to the Group (average equity + reserves +retained profit + Accumulated Other
Comprehensive income —intangible assets)

Return on average total assets: consolidated profit /average total assets

Return on risk-weighted assets: consolidated profit / average of risk-weighted assets

Return on average total assets: consolidated profit /average total assets

Operating costs /gross margin
Operating costs defined as general administrative costs +depreciation

Credit risk

NPLratio

Coverageratio

Cost of loans and receivables

Non-performing loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities (excluding country risk) /loans and receivables
Loans and receivables defined as total loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities excluding country risk

Provisions forimpairment losses on loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities (excluding country risk) / Non-
performingloans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities (excluding country risk)

Total allocations to provisions for impairment of loans and receivables in the last 12 months / Average of loans and
receivables

Capitalisation

Shareholders’ equity / number of shares (deducting own shares)

Shareholders’ equity per share (euro) Shareholders’ equity calculated as the total own funds +valuation adjustments (excluding minority interests)

Other
Loans to Deposits
Loans and advances to customers

Loans and Advances to Customers / Customers Deposits
Loans and advances to customers without repos

Costumer Deposits Customer Deposits without repos

Notes:

- The averages included in the denominators of the RoE, RoTE, RoA and RoORWA are calculated taking 13 months from December to the preceding December in
the case of data to December and 4 months from March to the preceding December in the case of first quarter data

- The average thatis included in the denominator of the cost of loans and receivables is calculated taking the last 12 months

- The risk-weighted assets included in the denominator of the RoORWA are calculated according to the criteria defined in the CRR (Capital Requirements
Regulation).

For these indicators, see chapters 3.1, 3.2, 6.1.1 and 20.6.

The Group reports the real changes occurring in the income statement and changes excluding
the exchange rate effect on the understanding that such changes facilitate the analysis given that
they make it possible to identify movements in the businesses without taking into account the
impact of the translation of each local currency to euros. See chapter 20.6 of this report for the
average rates used to analyse changes in the first quarter and the Directors' Report for average
annual rates.

The Group presents real changes in the balance sheet and variations without exchange rate for
both loans and advances to customers (excluding reverse repos) and customer funds, including
customer deposits (excluding repos) and investment funds. This is to facilitate the analysis,
stripping out changes in those balance sheet items that do not derive from the conversion of local
currency into euros. See chapter 20.6 of this report for the final rates used to analyse changes in
the first quarter and the Directors' Report for final annual rates.

Additionally, the Directors’ Report contains average balance sheet balances obtained as the
average of the months in the period, which does not differ significantly from the average of the
daily balances.

Further, the Directors' Report includes the following APMs: ordinary ROE, ordinary ROTE,
ordinary ROA and ordinary RORWA, according to the definition and calculation methods
shown.

Lastly, the Directors' Report includes an interim income statement showing net non-recurring
gains and write-downs on a separate line just above profit attributable to the Group. The Group
considers that this statement shows the changes in the income statement most clearly. The capital
gains and write-downs considered non-recurring are deducted from each of the income statement
line items where they were recognised according to their nature.
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Reconciliation of APMs (in millions of euros, except for percentages):

Profitability and efficiency 2016 2015 2014
RoE 7.0% 6.6% 7.8%
Profit attributed to the Group 6,204 5,966 5,816
Average Stockholders Equity 88,741 90,220 75,047
RoTE 10.4% 10.0% 12.8%
Profit attributed to the Group 6,204 5,966 5,816
(Average equity + reserves + retained profit + Accumulated Other Comprehensive income —intangible assets) 59,769 59,734 45,601
RoA 0.56% 0.55% 0.58%
Consolidated profit 7,486 7,334 6,935
Average total assets 1,337,661 1,345,657 1,201,847
RoRWA 13% 1.2% 13%
Consolidated profit 7,486 7,334 6,935
Average of risk-weighted assets 580,415 603,000 549,475
Efficiency (including depreciation) 48% 47% 47%
Operating costs 21,101 21,720 20,186
General administrative costs 18,737 19,302 17,899
Depreciation 2,364 2,418 2,287
Gross margin 44,232 45,895 42,612
Credit risk
NPL ratio 3.9% 4.4% 5.2%
Non-performing loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities 33,643 37,094 41,709
Non-performing loans and advances to customers 32,573 36,133 40,372
Other non-performing loans and advances (mainly contingent risks) (1) 1,070 961 1,337
Loans and receivables (total loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities) 855,510 850,909 804,084
Loans and advances to customers 814,863 817,365 761,928
Other (mainly contingent risks) (1) 40,647 33,544 42,156
Coverage ratio 73.8% 73.1% 67.2%
Provisions for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities 24,835 27,121 28,046
Provisions for loans and advances to customers 24,393 26,517 27,217
Other provisions (mainly for contingent risks) (1) 442 604 829
Non-performing loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities 33,643 37,094 41,709
Cost of loans and receivables 1.18% 1.25% 1.43%
Allocations to provisions for impairment of loans and receivables in last 12 months 9,518 10,108 10,562
Average of loans and receivables in last 12 months 806,595 806,284 737,253
Capitalisation
Tangible Book Value 4.2 41 4.0
Tangible Shareholders’ equity 61,516 58,610 50,404
Own funds 105,977 102,402 91,663
Accumulated Other Comprehensive income (15,039) (14,362) (10,858)
Intangible Assets 29,421 29,430 30,401
Number of shares (deducting own shares) 14,582 14,434 12,584
Other
Loans to Deposits 114% 116% 113%
Loans and advances to customers 790,470 790,848 734,711
Costumer Deposits 691,111 683,142 647,706

(1) Under “Other” contingent risks that are considered as loans and receivables are included and country riskis deducted. These items do not directly reconcile with information
published by the Group.

See reconciliation of gross loans excluding reverse repos in note 10 to the financial statements
for 2016 and the reconciliation of deposits excluding repos in note 21 to the financial statements
for 2016.
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Profitability and efficiency 1T'17 1T'16

RoE 8.2% 75%
Profit attributed to the Group 1,867 1,633
Average Stockholders Equity 91,171 87,571
RoTE 12.1% 11.1%
Profit attributed to the Group 1,867 1,633
(Average equity + reserves + retained profit + Accumulated Other Comprehensive income —intangible assets) 61,571 58,679
RoA 0.65% 0.58%
Consolidated profit 2,186 1,922
Average total assets 1,353,495 1,335,115
RoRWA 1.5% 1.3%
Consolidated profit 2,186 1,922
Average of risk-weighted assets 591,933 577,103
Efficiency (including depreciation) 46.1% 48.1%
Operating costs 5,543 5,158
General administrative costs 4,914 4,572
Depreciation 629 586
Gross margin 12,029 10,730
Credit risk
NPL ratio 3.7% 4.3%
Non-performing loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities 32,158 36,148
Non-performing loans and advances to customers 31,136 35,281
Other non-performing loans and advances (mainly contingent risks) (1) 1,022 867
Loans and receivables (total loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities) 858,786 834,096
Loans and advances to customers 812,896 799,607
Other (mainly contingent risks) (1) 45,890 34,489
Coverage ratio 74.6% 74.0%
Provisions for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities 24,002 26,756
Provisions for loans and advances to customers 23,466 26,155
Other provisions (mainly for contingent risks) (1) 536 601
Non-performing loans and advances to customers and contingent liabilities 32,158 36,148
Cost of loans and receivables 1.17% 1.22%
Allocations to provisions for impairment of loans and receivables in last 12 months 9,509 9,954
Average of loans and receivables in last 12 months 812,762 814,812
Capitalisation
Tangible Book Value 43 41
Tangible Shareholders’ equity 62,939 58,622
Own funds 107,706 103,264
Accumulated Other Comprehensive income (15,122) (15,949)
Intangible Assets 29,645 28,693
Number of shares (deducting own shares) 14,582 14,434
Other
Loans to Deposits 113% 115%
Loans and advances to customers 795,312 773,452
Costumer Deposits 705,786 670,608

(1) Under “Other” contingent risks that are considered as loans and receivables are included and country riskis deducted. These items do not directly reconcile with
information published by the Group.
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EffICIencY % Gross margin Operating costs % Gross margin Operating costs % Gross margin Operating costs
Continental Europe 52.95 12,806 6,781 52.50 12,830 6,736 51.50 12,504 6,444
Spain 58.79 5,608 3,297| 56.50 6,080 3,434 52.70 6,636 3,496
Santander Consumer Finance 44.69 4,262 1,904 44.70 3,965 1,744 45.50 3,224 1,468
Poland 44.07 1,314 579 46.50 1,276 594|  42.50 1,376 585
Portugal 48.71 1,209 589| 48.70 1,016 494 52.00 956 498
United Kingdom 51.01 5,816 2,967 52.60 6,382 3,356 52.70 5,541 2,918
Latin America 40.99 18,764 7,692 4210 18,757 7,906 42.30 18,557 7,851
Brazil 39.53 11,321 4,475  40.00 11,140 4,452| 41.60 11,879 4,942
Mexico 39.79 3,203 1,274 41.30 3,317 1,370 42.50 3,019 1,282
Chile 40.73 2,422 986 43.00 2,336 1,004| 39.50 2,19 866
United States 42.46 7,532 3,198| 38.80 7,999 3,025 37.50 5,979 2,239

ROE % Profit attributed to Average % Profit attributed to Average % Profit attributed to Average

the Group Stockholders Equity the Group Stockholders Equity the Group Stockholders Equity

Continental Europe 7.93 2,599 32,765 7.13 2,218 31,113 5.82 1,647 28,316
Spain 7.74 1,022 13,217 8.14 977 11,998 7.41 827 11,159
Santander Consumer Finance 14.25 1,093 7,673 12.03 938 7,799 11.05 795 7,194
Poland 11.28 272 2,408 12.53 300 2,397 16.04 355 2,213
Portugal 12.89 399 3,008 12.37 300 2,427 7.91 184 2,331
United Kingdom 10.25 1,681 16,404/ 11.50 1,971 17,133| 10.81 1,556 14,400,
Latin America 15.02 3,386 22,541 14.70 3,193 21,714) 1430 2,902 20,247,
Brazil 13.37 1,786 13,357| 13.64 1,631 11,957 12.32 1,437 11,672
Mexico 14.85 629 4,236| 12.88 629 4,880 13.20 606 4,608|
Chile 16.76 513 3,063 15.32 455 2,973 19.50 498 2,555
United States 2.92 395 13,512 6.05 678 11,213 7.82 862 11,021

NPL ratio

Non-performing loans
and advances to

Loans and
receivables (total

Non-performing loans
and advances to

Loans and
receivables (total
loans and advances

Non-performing loans
and advances to

Loans and
receivables (total

% loans and advances % % loans and advances
customers and to customers and customers and to customers and customers and to customers and
contingent liabilities N Y contingent liabilities |contingent contingent liabilities contingent liabilities)

liabilities) &
Continental Europe 5.92 19,638 331,706 7.27 23,355 321,395 8.88 27,526 310,008
Spain 5.41 9,361 172,974 6.53 11,293 173,032, 7.38 13,512 182,974
Santander Consumer Finance 2.68 2,357 88,061 3.42 2,625 76,688| 4.82 3,067 63,654
Poland 5.42 1,187 21,902 6.30 1,319 20,951 7.42 1,405 18,920
Portugal 8.81 2,691 30,540 7.46 2,380 31,922 8.89 2,275 25,588
United Kingdom 14 3,585 255,049 1.52 4,292 282,182 179 4,590 256,337
Latin America 4.81 8,333 173,150 4.96 7,512 151,302 4.80 7,767 161,974
Brazil 5.90 5,286 89,572 5.98 4,319 72,173 5.05 4,572 90,572
Mexico 2.76 819 29,682 3.40 1,096 32,463 3.80 1,071 27,893
Chile 5.05 2,064 40,864 5.62 1,980 35,213 5.97 1,999 33,514
United States 2.28 2,088 91,709, 2.13 1,934 90,727, 2.42 1,838 76,014
2016 2015 2014
Provisions for . Provisions for . Provisions for .
. impairment losses on Non-performing impairment losses on Non-performing impairment losses on Non-performing
Coverage ratio loans and advances loans and advances loans and advances
% |loans and advances to % loans and advances to % loans and advances to
customers and to customers and customers and to customers and customers and to customers and
. L contingent liabilities N L contingent liabilities N L contingent liabiliti
contingent liabilities contingent liabilities contingent liabilities
Continental Europe 59.99 11,781 19,638 64.17 14,987 23,355| 57.20 15,744 27,526
Spain 48.25 4,517 9,361 48.10 5,432 11,293| 45.46 6,143 13,512
Santander Consumer Finance 109.13 2,573 2,357| 109.10 2,864 2,625| 100.09 3,070 3,067
Poland 60.97 724 1,187 63.97 844 1,319 60.34 848 1,405
Portugal 63.68 1,714 2,691 99.02 2,357 2,380 51.79 1,178 2,275]
United Kingdom 32.86 1,178 3,585 38.19 1,639 4,292 41.89 1,923 4,590
Latin America 87.31 7,276 8,333| 79.00 5,932 7,512| 84.50 6,560 7,767,
Brazil 93.11 4,921 5,286 83.73 3,616 4,319] 9539 4,361 4,572
Mexico 103.76 850 819| 90.60 993 1,096| 86.10 922 1,071
Chile 59.12 1,220 2,064 53.86 1,066 1,980 52.41 1,048 1,999
United States 214.43 4,477 2,088| 225.02 4,354 1,935 193.55 3,558 1,838
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1712017 1T2016

. Loans and receivables . Loans and receivables
. Non-performing total loans and Non-performing (total loans and
NPL ratio loans and advances to (total loans a loans and advances to otalloans a
% advances to % advances to
customers and customers and
. ot customers and . g customers and
contingent liabilities . . contingent liabilities N .
contingent liabilities) contingent liabilities)
Continental Europe 5.62 18,637 331,343 7.08 22,935 323,802
Spain 5.22 8,987 172,240 6.36 10,960 172,313
Santander Consumer Finance 2.62 2,290 87,354 3.28 2,603 79,305
Poland 5.20 1,201 23,095 5.93 1,286 21,683
Portugal 8.47 2,563 30,278 8.55 2,705 31,637
United Kingdom 131 3,355 255,704 1.49 3,988 267,966
Latin America 4.50 8,037 178,766 4.88 7,318 149,980
Brazil 5.36 4,898 91,332 5.93 4,289 72,304
Mexico 2.77 887 32,002 3.06 952 31,118
Chile 4.93 2,036 41,286| 5.45 1,974 36,199
United States 243 2,129 87,772 2.19 1,906 87,088

1712017 1T2016

-F’rovi-sions for Non-performing ?rovi-sions for Non-performing
Coverage ratio impairment losses on loans and advances to impairment losses on loans and advances to
% |loans and advances to % |loans and advances to
customers and customers and customers and customers and
contingent liabilities contingent liabilities contingent liabilities contingent liabilities
Continental Europe 60.57 11,289 18,637| 65.39 14,998 22,935
Spain 49.09 4,412 8,987( 50.18 5,500 10,960
Santander Consumer Finance 108.95 2,495 2,290{111.94 2,914 2,603
Poland 61.19 735 1,201| 67.02 862 1,286
Portugal 61.66 1,581 2,563( 87.68 2,372 2,705
United Kingdom 33.81 1,134 3,355 36.52 1,457 3,988
Latin America 90.46 7,270 8,036 79.72 5,834 7,318
Brazil 98.10 4,805 4,898| 83.72 3,591 4,289
Mexico 104.77 929 887| 97.45 928 952
Chile 58.92 1,200 2,036 54.58 1,077 1,974
United States 202.36 4,308 2,129(221.05 4,214 1,906
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Madrid, 4 July 2017
BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.
Signed:

José Garcia Cantera

APPENDICES:
— Audit report and consolidated financial statements for 2016.
— Directors' Report for 2016.

- Annual corporate governance report for 2016.

- Balance sheet and income statement of Banco Santander, S.A. for 2016.

— Annual directors' remuneration report for 2016.

Banco Santander, S.A.
Share Registration Document, 4 July 2017

152/152






AUDITORS’ REPORT
AND ANNUAL

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

2016

5 Auditors’ report
9 Annual consolidated accounts

10 Consolidated balance sheets as of 31
December 2016, 2015 and 2014

12 Consolidated income statements for the years
ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

13 Consolidated statements of recognised
income and expense for the years ended
31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

14 Consolidated statements of changes in total equity for

the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

20 Consolidated statements of cash flows for the
years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

Brow se the document by clicking
directly on the sections in the table
of contents. To return to

the contents page, press home @'
from any page. \-—/J

21

21

28
60
65

66

79

79
82
83

83
89
89
89
20
91

91
924
926
97
97
98
928
103
105
105
19
119

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

1. Introduction, basis of presentation of the
consolidated financial statements and other
information

2. Accounting policies
3. Santander Group

4. Distribution of the Bank’s profit, shareholder
remuneration scheme and earnings per share

5. Remuneration and other benefits paid to the Bank’s
directors and senior managers

6. Loans and advances to centrals banks and credit
institutions

7. Debt instruments
8. Equity instruments

9. Derivatives (assets and liabilities) and Short
positions

10. Loans and advances to customers

11. Hedging derivatives

12. Non-current assets

13. Investments

14. Insurance contracts linked to pensions

15. Liabilities under insurance contracts and
Reinsurance assets

16. Tangible assets
17. Intangible assets - Goodwill
18. Intangible assets - Other intangible assets
19. Other assets
20. Deposits from central banks and credit institutions
21. Customer deposits
22. Marketable debt securities
23. Subordinated liabilities
24. Other financial liabilities
25. Provisions
26. Other liabilities
27. Tax matters




125 28.
126 29.
129 30.
129 31
130 32.
131 33.
132 34.
132 35.
134 36.

137 37.
137 38.
138 39.
138 40.
138 41.

138 42.
139 43.
139 44.
140 45.
140 46.
140 47.
149 48.
150 49.

150 50.

151 5.
163 52.
170 53.
172 54.
212 55

Non-controlling interests

Other comprehensive income
Shareholders’ equity

Issued capital

Share premium

Accumulated retained earnings

Other equity instruments and own shares
Memorandum items

Derivatives - held for trading and hedging
derivatives

Discontinued operations
Interest income

Interest expense
Dividend income

Share of results of entities accounted for using the
equity method

Commission income

Commission expense

Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities
Exchange differences, net

Other operating income and expenses

Staff costs

Other general administrative expenses

Gains or losses on non financial assets and
investments, net

Gains or losses on non-current assets held for sale
classified as discontinued operations

Other disclosures

Geographical and business segment reporting
Related parties

Risk management

. Explanation added for translation to English

213
214
223

227
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233
237
287
381
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This persion of our report 15 a free tranalation of the orlginal, wlich woas prguered in Spanish, AN pessible
vare lhes bien faken to easers thal the translation i an aearane represeniation of the original, However, in
all matters af interpretation of information, civws or opinfons, the ariginal language version of our report
rakes precedenoe over this tremslarion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUALS ACCOUNTS

To the Sharcholders of Banco Santander, S A
Report on the Consolidated Annual Aceounts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated annual aceounts of Banco Santander, $.4.
{(hereinafter, the Parent Company) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter, the Group), which comprise the
consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2016, and the consolidated income statement,
consolidated stalement of recognized income and expense, consolidated statement of changes in total
equity, eonsolidated statement of cash flows and notes to the consolidated financial statements for the
vear then ended,

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Annual Accounts

The Parent Company's directors are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated annual
accounts, 5o that they present fairly the consolidated equity, financial position and financial
perfermance of Banco Santander, $.A. and ils subsidiaries, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, as adepted by the European Union, and other provisions of the financial
reporting framework applicable to the Group in Spain and for such internal control as directors
determing is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated annueal aceounts that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to frawd or error,

Awdifor's Responsibhility

Crar responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated annual accounts based on our andit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. This
legislation requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assuranee about whether the consolidated annoal accounts are free from material
misstatement.

An andit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
int the consolidated annual accounts. The procedures selected depend on the anditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual accounts,
whether due to fraud or error, In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the Parent Company’s directors’ preparation of the consolidated annual accounts in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstanees, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the presentation of the consolidated annual
aecounts taken as a whole.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

. PricewaterhouseCoopors Auditores, 8L, Torre P, PP de la Castellana 259 B, 28046 Medrid, Espaiia
Tel: 24 015 684 400 /= 34 0oz 021 100, Fax: +34 005 G85 400, wiwsw. pwd.es i
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In our opinion, the accompanyving consolidated annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated equity and the consolidated financial position of Banco Santander, 5 A and its
subsidiaries as at Deeember 31, 2016, and its consolidated results and its consolidated cash flows for
the vear then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by
the European Union, and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in Spain.

(hher matiers

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the vear ended December 31, 2015 were audited by
the predecessor auditor who issued a favourable opinion on Febmary 12, 2016.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

The accompanying consolidated directors’ Report for 2016 contains the explanations which the Parent
Company’s directors consider appropriate regarding the Banco Santander, 5.A. and its subsidiarics
situation, the development of their business and other matters and does not form an integral part of
the consolidated annual account=. We have verified that the accounting information contained in the
directors' Report is in agreement with that of the consolidated annual accounts for 2016, Our work as
auditors is limited to ehecking the direetors” Report in accordance with the seope mantioned in this
paragraph and does not include a review of information other than that obtained from Banea
Santander, 5.A. and its subsidiaries’ accounting records.

Auditores, 5.1..

Alejandro Esnal Elormieta

February 24, 2017









Annual consolidated accounts

Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the

Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

Santander Group

d Consolidated balance sheets as of 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014
Millions of euros

Assets Note 2016 2015* 2014*
Cash, cash balances at central banks and others deposits on demand 76,454 77,751 69,853
Financial assets held for trading 148,187 146,346 148,093
Derivatives 9 72,043 76,724 76,858
Equity instruments 8 14,497 18,225 12,920
Debt instruments 7 48922 43964 54,374
Loans and advances 12,725 7,433 3,941
Central banks 6 - - -
Credit institutions 6 3,221 1,352 1,020
Customers 10 9,504 6,081 2,921
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 38,145 34,026 64,047
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 31,609 45,043 42,673
Equity instruments 8 546 630 879
Debt instruments 7 3,398 3,717 4,231
Loans and advances 27,665 40,696 37,563
Central banks 6 - - -
Credit institutions 6 10,069 26,403 28,592
Customers 10 17,596 14,293 8,971
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 2,025 - -
Financial assets available-for-sale 116,774 122,036 115,250
Equity instruments 8 5,487 4,849 5,001
Debt instruments 7 11,287 117,187 110,249
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 23,980 26,742 30,046
Loans and receivables 840,004 836,156 782,005
Debt instruments 7 13,237 10,907 7,510
Loans and advances 826,767 825,249 774,495
Central banks 6 27,973 17,337 1,814
Credit institutions 6 35,424 37,438 39,862
Customers 10 763,370 770,474 722,819
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 7,994 1,697 8,135
Investments held-to-maturity 7 14,468 4,355 -
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 2,489 = -
Hedging derivatives 11 10,377 7,727 7,346
Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk 36 1,481 1,379 1,782
Investments 13 4,836 3,251 3,471
Joint ventures entities 13 1,594 1,592 1,696
Associated companies 13 3,242 1,659 1,775
Reinsurance assets 15 331 331 340
Tangible assets 23,286 25,320 23,256
Property, plant and equipment: 20,770 19,335 16,889
For own use 16 7,860 7,949 8,324
Leased out under an operating lease 16 12,910 11,386 8,565
Investment property: 16 2,516 5,985 6,367
Of which leased out under an operating lease 1,567 4,777 5,215
Memorandum items:acquired in financial lease 115 195 173
Intangible assets 29,421 29,430 30,401
Goodwill 17 26,724 26,960 27,548
Other intangible assets 18 2,697 2,470 2,853
Tax assets 27,678 27,814 27,956
Current tax assets 6,414 5,769 5,792
Deferred tax assets 27 21,264 22,045 22,164
Other assets 8,447 7,675 8,494
Insurance contracts linked to pensions 14 269 299 345
Inventories 1,116 1,013 1,099
Other 19 7,062 6,363 7,050
Non-current assets held for sale 12 5,772 5,646 5,376
Total assets 1,339,125 1,340,260 1,266,296

* Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1to 55 and Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016.
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Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the

Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

& Consolidated balance sheets as of 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014
Millions of euros

Liabilities and equity Note 2016 2015* 2014*
Financial liabilities held for trading 108,765 105,218 109,792
Derivatives 9 74,369 76,414 79,048
Short positions 9 23,005 17,362 17,628
Deposits 1,391 1,442 13,116
Central banks 20 1,351 2,178 2,041
Credit institutions 20 44 77 5,531
Customers 21 9,996 9,187 5,544
Marketable debt securities 22 - - -
Other financial liabilities 24 - - -
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 40,263 54,768 62,317
Deposits 37,472 51,394 58,487
Central banks 20 9,112 16,486 6,321
Credit institutions 20 5,015 8,551 19,039
Customers 21 23,345 26,357 33,127
Marketable debt securities 22 2,791 3,373 3,830
Other financial liabilities 24 - 1 -
Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities 23 - - -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,044,240 1,039,343 961,052
Deposits 791,646 795,679 731,719
Central banks 20 4412 38,872 17,290
Credit institutions 20 89,764 109,209 105,394
Customers 21 657,770 647,598 609,035
Marketable debt securities 22 226,078 222,787 209,865
Other financial liabilities 24 26,516 20,877 19,468
Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities 23 19,902 21,153 17,132
Hedging derivatives n 8,156 8,937 7,255
Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest risk rate 36 448 174 31
Liabilities under insurance contracts 15 652 627 713
Provisions 14,459 14,494 15,376
Provision for pensions and other employement defined benefit obligations 25 6,576 6,356 7,074
Provisions for other long term employee benefits 25 1,712 1,916 2,338
Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies 25 2,994 2,577 2,916
Provisions for commitments and guarantees given 25 459 618 654
Other provisions 25 2,718 3,027 2,394
Tax liabilities 8,373 7,725 9,379
Current tax liabilities 2,679 2,160 4,852
Deferred tax liabilities 27 5,694 5,565 4,527
Other liabilities 26 11,070 10,221 10,646
Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale - - 21
Total liabilities 1,236,426 1,241,507 1,176,582
Shareholders’ equity 30 105,977 102,402 91,663
Capital 31 7,291 7,217 6,292
Called up paid capital 7,291 7,217 6,292
Unpaid capital which has been called up - - -
Memorandum items: uncalled up capital - - -
Share premium 32 44,912 45,001 38,611
Equity instruments issued other than capital - - -
Equity component of compound financial instruments - - -
Other equity instruments - - -
Other equity 34 240 214 265
Accumulated retained 33 49,953 46,429 41,860
Revaluation reserves 33 - - -
Other reserves 33 (949) (669) (700)
(-) Own shares 34 (7) (210) (10)
Profit attributable to shareholders of the parent 6,204 5,966 5,816
(-) Dividens 4 (1,667) (1,546) (471)
Other comprehensive income (15,039) (14,362) (10,858)
Items not reclassified to profit or loss 29 (3,933) (3,166) (3,582)
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans (3,931) (3,165) (3,582)
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - - -
Other recognised income and expense of investments in subsidaries, joint ventures and associates 2 Q) -
Other valuation adjustments - - -
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (11,106) (11,196) (7,276)
Hedge of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion) 29 (4,925) (3,597) (3,570)
Exchange differences 29 (8,070) (8,383) (5,385)
Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges (effective portion) 29 469 7 204
Financial assets available-for-sale 29 1,571 844 1,560
Debt instruments 423 98 970
Equity instruments 1,148 746 590
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - - -
Other recognised income and expense of investments in subsidaries, joint ventures and associates 29 (151) (231) (85)
Non-controlling interest 28 1,761 10,713 8,909
Other comprehensive income (853) (1,227) (655)
Others items 12,614 11,940 9,564
Equity 102,699 98,753 89,714
Total liabilities and equity 1,339,125 1,340,260 1,266,296
Memorandum items
Contingent liabilities 35 44,434 39,834 43,770
Contingent commitments 35 231,962 221,738 208,349

* Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1to 55 and Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016.
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Annual consolidated accounts

Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the

Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

@ Consolidated income statements for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

Millions of euros

(Debit)/Credit
Note 2016 2015* 2014*
Interest income 38 55,156 57,198 54,656
Interest expense 39 (24,067) (24,386) (25,109)
Net interest income 31,089 32,812 29,547
Dividend income 40 413 455 435
Share of results of entities accounted for using the equity method 13 and 41 444 375 243
Commission income 42 12,943 13,042 12,515
Commission expense 43 (2,763) (3,009) (2,819)
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured
at fair value through profit or loss, net 44 869 1,265 1,427
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 44 2,456 (2,312) 2,377
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 44 426 325 239
Gains or losses from hedge accounting, net 44 (23) (48) (69)
Exchange differences, net 45 (1,627) 3,156 (1124)
Other operating income 46 1,919 1,971 1,682
Other operating expenses 46 (1,977) (2,235) (1,978)
Income from assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts 46 1,900 1,096 3,532
Expenses from liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts 46 (1,837) (998) (3,395)
Total income 44,232 45,895 42,612
Administrative expenses (18,737) (19,302) (17,899)
Staff costs 47 (11,004) (71,107) (10,242)
Other general administrative expenses 48 (7,733) (8,195) (7,657)
Depreciation and amortisation cost 16 and 18 (2,364) (2,418) (2,287)
Provisions or reversal of provisions 25 (2,508) (3,706) (3,009)
Impairment or reversal of impairment at financial assets not
measured at fair value through profit or loss, net (9,626) (10,652) (10,710)
Financial assets measured at cost (52) (228) (101)
Financial assets available-for-sale 1 (230) (88)
Loans and receivables 10 (9,557) (10,194) (10,521)
Held-to-maturity investments (28) - -
Profit from operations 10,997 10,417 8,707
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, net 17 and 18 17) ©) (5)
Impairment on non-financial assets, net (123) (1,097) (933)
Tangible assets 16 (55) (128) (136)
Intangible assets 17 and 18 67) (701) (701)
Others 7) (262) (96)
Gains or losses on non financial assets and investments, net 49 30 12 3,136
Negative goodwill recognised in results 22 283 17
Gains or losses on non-current assets held for sale classified as discontinued operations 50 (147) 173) (243)
Profit or loss before tax from continuing operations 10,768 9,547 10,679
Tax expense or income from continuing operations 27 (3,282) (2,213) (3,718)
Profit for the period from continuing operations 7,486 7,334 6,961
Profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations 37 - - (26)
Profit for the period 7,486 7,334 6,935
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 28 1,282 1,368 1,719
Profit attributable to the parent 6,204 5,966 5,816
Earnings per share
Basic 4 0,41 0,40 0,48
Diluted 4 0,41 0,40 0,48

* Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1to 55 and Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the
Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

d Consolidated statements of recognised income and expense for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

Millions of euros

Note 2016 2015* 2014*
Consolidated profit for the year 7,486 7,334 6,935
Other recognised income and expense (303) (4,076) 4,180
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 29 (806) 445 (703)
Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans 1172) 695 (1,009)
Non-current assets held for sale - - -
Other recognised income and expense of investments in
subsidaries, joint ventures and associates m -
Other valuation adjustments = = =
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 367 (250) 306
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 29 503 (4,521) 4,883
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion) (1,329) 27) (1,730)
Revaluation gain (losses) (1,330) 27) (1,730)
Amounts transferred to income statement 1 - -
Other reclassifications - = -
Exchanges differences 676 (3,518) 4,189
Revaluation gain (losses) 682 (3,518) 4,184
Amounts transferred to income statement 6) - 5
Other reclassifications - = -
Cash flow hedges (effective portion) 495 91 589
Revaluation gain (losses) 6,231 (105) 934
Amounts transferred to income statement (5,736) 14 (345)
Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items - = -
Other reclassifications - -
Financial assets available-for-sale 1,326 (1,216) 2,324
Revaluation gains (losses) 2,192 (555) 3,604
Amounts transferred to income statement (866) (661) (1,280)
Other reclassifications - - -
Non-current assets held for sale - - -
Revaluation gains (losses) - - -
Amounts transferred to income statement = - =
Otbher reclassifications - - -
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments 80 (147) 361
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (745) 478 (850)
Total recognised income and expenses 7,183 3,258 1,115
Attributable to non-controlling interests 1,656 796 2,005
Attributable to the parent 5,527 2,462 9,110

* Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1to 55 and Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Annual consolidated accounts

Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the
Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

d Consolidated statements of changes in total equity for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

Millions of euros

Capital

Share
premium

Other instruments
(not capital)

Other equity
instruments

Accumulated
retained
earnings

Balance as at 31/12/15*

7.217

45.001

214

46.429

Adjustments due to errors

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies

Adjusted balance as at 31/12/15*

7,217

45,001

214

46,429

Total recognised income and expense

Other changes in equity

74

(89)

26

3,524

Issuance of ordinary shares

Issuance of preferred shares

Issuance of other financial instruments
Maturity of other financial instruments
Conversion of financial liabilities into equity
Capital reduction

Dividends

Purchase of equity instruments
Dispossal of equity instruments
Transfer from equity to liabilities
Transfer from liabilities to equity

Transfers between equity items

Increases (decreases) due to business combinations

Share-based payment

Others increases or (-) decreases of the equity

74

(89)

(79)
105

Balance at 31/12/16

7,291

44,912

240

49,953

* Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1to 55 and Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in total equity for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Non-Controlling interest

Other Other
Other  (-) Own Equity Parent result comprehensive comprehensive Others
Revaluation reserves reserves instruments  for the period (-) Dividends income income elements Total
- (669) (210) 5.966 (1.546) (14.362) (1.227) 11.940 98.753
- (669) (210) 5,966 (1,546) (14,362) (1,227) 1,940 98,753
- - - 6,204 - (677) 374 1,282 7,183
. (280) 203 (5,966) (121) . - (608)  (3,237)
- 15 - - - - - 534 534
- - - - - - - (22) (22)
- - - - (1,667) - - (800)  (3789)
= = (1,380) = - = - = (1,380)
- 15 1,583 - - - - - 1,598
- 174 - (5,966) 1,546 - - - -
- - - - - - - (197) (197)
- - - - - - - - (79)
- (484) - - - - - (123) (502)
- (949) @) 6,204 (1,667) (15,039) (853) 12,614 102,699
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Annual consolidated accounts

Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the
Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

d Consolidated statements of changes in total equity for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

Millions of euros

Capital

Share
premium

Other instruments
(not capital)

Other equity
instruments

Accumulated
retained
earnings

Balance as at 31/12/14*

6,292

38,611

265

41,860

Adjustments due to errors

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies

Adjusted balance as at 31/12/14*

6,292

38,611

265

41,860

Total recognised income and expense

Other changes in equity

925

6,390

(51

4,569

Issuance of ordinary shares

Issuance of preferred shares

Issuance of other financial instruments
Maturity of other financial instruments
Conversion of financial liabilities into equity
Capital reduction

Dividends

Purchase of equity instruments
Dispossal of equity instruments
Transfer from equity to liabilities
Transfer from liabilities to equity

Transfers between equity items

Increases (decreases) due to business combinations

Share-based payment

Others increases or (-) decreases of the equity

925

6,390

(188)
137

Balance at 31/12/15*

7,217

45,001

214

46,429

* Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1to 55 and Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in total equity for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Non-Controlling interest

Other Other
Other  (-) Own Equity Parent result comprehensive comprehensive Others
Revaluation reserves reserves instruments  for the period (-) Dividends income income elements Total
- (700) (10) 5,816 471) (10,858) (655) 9,564 89,714
- (700) (10) 5,816 (471) (10,858) (655) 9,564 89,714
- - - 5,966 - (3,504) (572) 1,368 3,258
. 31 (200) (5,816) (1,075) . - 1,008 5,781
- 120 - - - - - 320 7,755
- - - - - - 890 890
- - - - - - (20) (20)
- - - (1,546) - - @461)  (2,680)
- (3,225) = - - - - (3,225)
- 16 3,025 - - - - - 3,041
- 103 - (5,816) 471 - - - -
- - - - - - . 761 761
- - - - - - - 107 (81)
- (208) - - - - - (589) (660)
- (669) (210) 5,966 (1,546) (14,362) (1,227) 1,940 98,753
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Annual consolidated accounts

Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the
Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

d Consolidated statements of changes in total equity for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

Millions of euros

Capital

Share
premium

Other instruments
(not capital)

Other equity
instruments

Accumulated
retained
earnings

Balance as at 31/12/13*

5,667

36,804

193

38,453

Adjustments due to errors

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies

Adjusted balance as at 31/12/13*

5,667

36,804

193

38,453

Total recognised income and expense

Other changes in equity

625

1,807

72

3,407

Issuance of ordinary shares

Issuance of preferred shares

Issuance of other financial instruments
Maturity of other financial instruments
Conversion of financial liabilities into equity
Capital reduction

Dividends

Purchase of equity instruments
Dispossal of equity instruments
Transfer from equity to liabilities
Transfer from liabilities to equity

Transfers between equity items

Increases (decreases) due to business combinations

Share-based payment

Others increases or (-) decreases of the equity

625

1,807

(63)

(€))
186

Balance at 31/12/14*

6,292

38,611

265

41,860

* Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1to 55 and Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in total equity for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Non-Controlling interest

Other Other
Other  (-) Own Equity Parent result comprehensive comprehensive Others
Revaluation reserves reserves instruments  for the period (-) Dividends income income elements Total
- (332) ) 4,370 (406) (14,152) (1,541) 10,855 79,902
- (65) - (195) - - - - (260)
- (397) ) 4,175 (406) (14,152) (1,541) 10,855 79,642
- - - 5,816 - 3,294 886 1,119 11,115
- (303) ) (4,175) (65) - - (2,410) (1,043)
- 95 - - - - - 8 2,535
- - - - - - - (532) (532)
- - - - @7 - - (380)  (1,289)
- - (3,442) - - - - - (3,442)
- 40 3,441 - - - - - 3,481
- (13) - (4,175) 406 - - - -
- - - - - - - 1,465 1,465
- - - - - - - - €))
- (425) - - - (2,971) (3,210)
- (700) (10) 5,816 471) (10,858) (655) 9,564 89,714
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Annual consolidated accounts

Translation of consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the

Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

4 Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

Millions of euros

Note 2016 2015* 2014*
A. Cash flows from operating activities 21,823 5,678 (7,168)
Consolidated profit for the year 7,486 7,334 6,935
Adjustments made to obtain the cash flows from operating activities 22,032 20,614 18,772
Depreciation and amortisation cost 2,364 2,418 2,287
Other adjustments 19,668 18,196 16,485
Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets 17,966 69,587 91,667
Financial assets held-for-trading 6,234 866 12,580
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (12,882) 2,376 11,012
Financial assets available-for-sale (7,688) 15,688 27,968
Loans and receivables 27,938 53,880 39,224
Other operating assets 4,364 (3,223) 883
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 13,143 49,522 60,144
Liabilities held-for-trading financial 8,032 (2,655) (4,667)
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (13,450) (8,011) 19,786
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 21,765 58,568 46,747
Other operating liabilities (3,204) 1,620 (1,722)
Income tax recovered/(paid) (2,872) (2,205) (1,352)
B. Cash flows from investing activities (13,764) (6,218) (6,005)
Payments 18,204 10,671 9,246
Tangible assets 16 6,572 7,664 6,695
Intangible assets 18 1,768 1,572 1,218
Investments 13 48 82 18
Subsidiaries and other business units 474 1,353 1,315
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities = = =
Held-to-maturity investments 9,342 - -
Other proceeds related to investing activities - - -
Proceeds 4,440 4,453 3,241
Tangible assets 16 2,608 2,386 986
Intangible assets 18 - 2 -
Investments 13 459 422 324
Subsidiaries and other business units 94 565 1,004
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities 12 1,147 940 927
Held-to-maturity investments 132 138 -
Other payments related to investing activities = - -
C. Cash flow from financing activities (5,745) 8,960 (62)
Payments 9,744 7,248 8,094
Dividends 4 2,309 1,498 909
Subordinated liabilities 5,112 2,239 3,743
Redemption of own equity instruments - - -
Acquisition of own equity instruments 1,380 3,225 3,442
Other payments related to financing activities 943 286 -
Proceeds 3,999 16,208 8,032
Subordinated liabilities 2,395 4,787 4,351
Issuance of own equity instruments = 7,500 -
Disposal of own equity instruments 1,604 3,048 3,498
Other proceeds related to financing activities - 873 183
D. Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (3,611) (522) 2,629
E. Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,297) 7,898 (10,606)
F. Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 77,751 69,853 80,459
G. Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 76,454 77,751 69,853
Memorandum items
Components of cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Cash 8,413 7,436 7,491
Cash equivalents at central banks 54,637 56,556 50,123
Other financial assets 13,404 13,759 12,239
Less: bank overdrafts refundable on demand - - -
Total cash and cash equivalents at end of period 76,454 77,751 69,853

In which: restricted cash

* Presented for comparison purposes only. (Notes 1.d and 37).

The accompanying Notes 1to 55 and Appendices are an integral part of the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Translation of the consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and
prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable
to the Group in Spain (see Notes 1and 55). In the event of a discrepancy, the
Spanish-language version prevails.

Banco Santander, S.A. and Companies composing
Santander Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2016

» 1. Introduction, basis of presentation
of the consolidated financial
statements and other information

a) Introduction

Banco Santander, S.A. (“the Bank” or “Banco Santander”) is a
private-law entity subject to the rules and regulations applicable to
banks operating in Spain. The Bylaws and other public information
on the Bank can be consulted on the website of the Bank (www.
santander.com) and at its registered office at Paseo de Pereda 9-12,
Santander.

In addition to the operations carried on directly by it, the Bank is
the head of a group of subsidiaries that engage in various business
activities and which compose, together with it, Santander Group
(“the Group” or “Santander Group”). Therefore, the Bank is obliged
to prepare, in addition to its own separate financial statements, the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, which also include the
interests in joint ventures and investments in associates.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2014 were
approved by the shareholders at the Bank’s annual general meeting
on 27 March 2015. The Group’s consolidated financial statements
for 2015 were approved by the shareholders at the Bank’s annual
general meeting on 18 March 2016. The 2016 consolidated financial
statements of the Group and the 2016 financial statements of the
Bank and of substantially all the Group companies have not been
approved yet by their shareholders at the respective annual general
meetings. However, the Bank’s Board of Directors considers that the
aforementioned financial statements will be approved without any
changes.

b) Basis of presentation of the

consolidated financial statements

Under Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament
and of the Council of 19 July 2002 all companies governed by the
law of an EU Member State and whose securities are admitted to
trading on a regulated market of any Member State must prepare
their consolidated financial statements for the years beginning on or
after 1)anuary 2005 in conformity with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) previously adopted by the European
Union (“EU-IFRSs”).

In order to adapt the accounting system of Spanish credit institutions
to the new standards, the Bank of Spain issued Circular 4/2004, of
22 December on Public and Confidential Financial Reporting Rules
and Formats.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2016 were
formally prepared by the Bank’s directors (at the board meeting on 21
February 2017) in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Bank of

Spain Circular 4/2004 and Spanish corporate and commercial law

)

applicable to the Group, using the basis of consolidation, accounting
policies and measurement bases set forth in Note 2 to these
consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, they present
fairly the Group’s equity and financial position at 31 December 2016
and the consolidated results of its operations, the consolidated
recognised income and expense, the changes in its consolidated
equity and the consolidated cash flows in 2016. These consolidated
financial statements were prepared from the accounting records
kept by the Bank and by the other Group entities, and include the
adjustments and reclassifications required to unify the accounting
policies and measurement bases applied by the Group.

The notes to the consolidated financial statements contain
supplementary information to that presented in the consolidated
balance sheet, consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of recognised income and expense, consolidated
statement of changes in total equity and consolidated statement

of cash flows. The notes provide, in a clear, relevant, reliable and
comparable manner, narrative descriptions and breakdowns of these
financial statements.

Adoption of new standards and interpretations issued
The following standards came into force and were adopted by the
European Union in 2016:

- Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1) (obligatory for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, early
application permitted) - the main objective of these amendments
is to improve financial statement presentation and disclosures. To
this end, the amendments introduce certain qualifications relating
to materiality, aggregation and disaggregation of items and the
structure of the notes.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 - Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and amortisation (obligatory for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, early
application permitted) - these amendments clarify that when an
item of property, plant and equipment or an intangible asset is
accounted for using the revaluation model, the total gross carrying
amount of the asset is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with
the revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset, so that the
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is equal to the difference
between the gross carrying amount and the carrying amount of the
asset after revaluation (after taking into account any impairment
losses).

Amendments to IASs 16 and 41 - bearer Plants (obligatory for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, early
application permitted) - under these amendments, plants of this
nature are now within the scope of IAS 16 and must be accounted
for in the same way as property, plant and equipment rather than
at their fair value.

Amendments to IAS 27 - Equity method in separate financial
statements (obligatory for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2016, early application permitted) - these
amendments permit the use of the equity method as an option in
the separate financial statements of an entity for accounting for
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

Amendments to IFRS 11 - Accounting for acquisitions of interests
in joint operations (obligatory for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, early application permitted)
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- these amendments specify how to account for the acquisition
of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint
operation constitutes a business.

Improvements to IFRSs, 2012-2014 cycle (obligatory for reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, early application
permitted) - these improvements introduce minor amendments to
IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IAS 34.

IFRS 10 (Modification), IFRS 12 (Modification) and IAS 28
(Modification) Investment entities: Applying the exception to
consolidation - These amendments clarify three aspects on the
application of the requirement for investment entities to value
subsidiaries at fair value instead of consolidating them. The
proposed modifications:

- Confirm that the exception to present consolidated financial
statements continues to apply to the subsidiaries of an
investment entity that are themselves controlling entities;

« Clarify when a controlling investment entity should consolidate a
subsidiary that provides services related to the investment rather
than valuing that subsidiary at fair value; and

- Simplify the application of the equity method for an entity which
is not itself an investment entity but which has a stake in an
associate that is an investment entity.

« Amendments to IAS 19, Employee benefits - defined benefit plans:
Employee contributions - these amendments allow employee
contributions to be deducted from the service cost in the same
period in which they are paid, provided certain requirements
are met, without having to perform calculations to attribute the
reduction to each year of service.

* Improvements to IFRSs, 2010-2012 cycle - these improvements
introduce minor amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 8, IAS 16, IAS
24 and IAS 38.

The application of the aforementioned accounting standards did
not have any material effects on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Also, at the date of preparation of these consolidated financial
statements, the following amendments with an effective date
subsequent to 31 December 2016 were in force:

« IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement,
Hedge Accounting and Impairment (obligatory for reporting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018). IFRS g defined
the financial asset and certain non-financial assets purchases
agreements classification and measurement model changes
requirements. The main aspects included in the new standard are:

(a) Classification of financial instruments: The criterion for
classifying financial assets will depend both on their business
management model and the features of the contractual flows.
Consequently, the asset will be measured at amortised cost,
at fair value with changes in other comprehensive income
(equity), or at fair value with changes in profit and loss for the

period. IFRS g also establishes the option of designating an
instrument at fair value with changes in Profit and loss under
certain conditions. The main activity of Santander Group

is the concession of retail banking operations and does not
concentrate its exposure on complex financial products. The
main objective of the Group is to achieve a homogeneous
implementation of the classification of financial instruments
of the portfolios established under IFRS g and, for this
purpose, it has developed standardized guidelines to enable a
homogeneous analysis in all of its units. The Group is currently
implementing an analysis of its portfolios under the mentioned
guidelines in order to identify and classify the financial
instruments into their corresponding portfolio under IFRS g.

Based on the analysis currently being carried out, the Group
expects that:

« Financial assets classified as loans and held to maturity
portfolios under IAS 39 will generally continue to be classified
at amortised cost;

« Available for sale debt instruments will continue to be
classified at fair value with changes reported in other
comprehensive income or at amortised cost; nevertheless,
some of these assets will be classified at fair value, with
changes reported in profit and loss for the year.

Available for sale capital instruments will be classified at fair
value, with changes reported in profit and loss for the year,
unless the Group decides, for non-trading assets, to classify
at fair value, with changes reported in other comprehensive
income (irrevocably).

IAS 39 financial liabilities classification and measurement
criteria remains substantially under IFRS 9. Nevertheless, in
most cases, the changes in the fair value of financial liabilities
designated at fair value with changes reported in profit and loss
for the year, due to the entity credit risk, will be classified on
other comprehensive income.

(b) Credit risk impairment model: The most important new
development compared with the current model is that the new
accounting standard introduces the concept of expected loss,
whereas the current model (IAS 39) is based on incurred loss.

» Scope of application: The IFRS g asset impairment model is
applicable to financial assets valued at amortised cost, to debt
instruments valued at fair value through other comprehensive
income, to leasing receivables, and to contingent risks and
commitments not valued at fair value.

Application of practical expedients under IFRS 9: IFRS 9
contains a set of practical expedients that might be used

by the entities to facilitate its implementation. However, in
order to achieve full and high quality implementation of the
standard, considering industry best practices, these practical
solutions will not be widely used.

Rebuttable presumption that the credit risk has increased
significantly when payments are more than 30 days past due:
this threshold will be used as an additional - but not primary -
indicator of significant risk increase.
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« Financial instruments that have low credit risk at the reporting
date.

« Impairment estimation methodology: The portfolio of financial
instruments subject to impairment will be divided into three
categories, based on the phase of each instrument with regard
to its level of credit risk:

» Phase 1: a financial instrument will be considered to be in this
phase where there has been no significant increase in risk
since its initial recognition. In this case, the value correction
will reflect expected credit losses arising from defaults over
the 12 months from the reporting date.

« Phase 2: financial instruments are included in this phase
when there has been a significant increase in risk since
the date of initial recognition, but the impairment has not
materialised. In this case, the value correction for losses will
reflect the expected losses from defaults over the residual
life of the financial instrument. The existence of a significant
increase in credit risk will be determined by considering the
quantitative indicators used in the ordinary management of
credit risk, together with other qualitative variables, such
as the indication of whether refinanced transactions are
considered non-impaired and transactions included in special
debt sustainability agreements.

Phase 3: financial instruments are catalogued in this phase
when they show effective signs of impairment as a result

of one or more events that have already occurred that

will result in a loss. In this case, the amount of the value
correction will reflect the expected losses for credit risk over
the expected residual life of the financial instrument.

The methodology required for quantification of expected loss
for credit events will be based on an unbiased and weighted
consideration of the occurrence of a range of possible future
scenarios that could impact the collection of contractual cash
flows, taking into account the time-value of money, all available
information relevant to past events, and current conditions
and projections of macroeconomic factors deemed relevant

to the estimation of this amount (e.g. GNP, house pricing,
unemployment rate, etc.).

In estimating the parameters used in the expected loss
calculation (EAD, PD, LGD and discount rate), the Group
leverages its experience of developing internal models for
calculating parameters for regulatory and management
purposes. The Group is aware of the differences between
such models and regulatory requirements for provisions. As
a result, it is focusing on preparing for, and adapting to, such
requirements as it develops its IFRS 9 models.

- Definition of default: it is consistent with the definition of
default used by the Group. IFRS g does not define default, but
contains a rebuttable presumption that default has occurred
when an exposure is greater than go days past due.

)

» Use of present, past and future information: both the
measurement and the classification of the expected credit
losses reuire a high degree of judgement and estimations that
must consider information about past events and current
conditions as well as forecasts of future events. In this
sense, our estimations of expected losses consider multiple
macroeconomic scenarios which probability will be assessd
considereing past event, the current situation and future
trends of macroeconomic factros such as gross domestic
producs and unemployment rates. This information will be
the input to assess the significant increases in credit risk
using also PD estimations. The Group currently uses forward-
looking information in internal management and regulatory
processes, considering several scenarios. In this sense, the
Group will leverage its experience in the management of such
information and maintain consistency with the information
used in the other processes.

Impairment recording: The main change with respect to the
current standard related to assets measured at fair value with
changes in other comprehensive income. For these assets,

the portion of the changes in fair value due to expected credit
losses will be recorded at the current profit and loss account
while the rest will be recorded in other comprehensive income.

(c) Hedge accounting: IFRS g includes new hedge accounting
requirements which have a twofold objective: to simplify
current requirements, and to bring hedge accounting in line
with risk management, so allowing there to be a greater variety
of derivative financial instruments which may be considered to
be hedging instruments. Furthermore, additional breakdowns
are required providing useful information regarding the effect
which hedge accounting has on financial statements and also
on the entity’s risk management strategy. According to the
analysis performed until now, the Group expects to maintain
the application of IAS 39 in hedge accounting.

Transition

European Union has already endorsed IFRS 9. The criteria
established by this rule for the classification, measurement and
impairment of financial assets, will be applied in a retrospective way
adjusting the first opening balances in the first application date.

The Group is evaluating the effects of IFRS g application. Once this
evaluation is finished, the Group will communicate the expected
impact when a reliable estimation can be maded, expected to be
prior to the end 2017.

IFRS 9 application could suppose a loan impairment increase and a
longer variability in the Group future results.

IFRS 9 implementation strategy

The Group has established a global workstream with the aim of
adapting its processes to the new classification standards for
financial instruments, accounting of hedges and estimating credit
risk impairment, so that such processes are applicable in a uniform
way for all Group units, and, at the same time, can be adapted to
each unit’s individual features.
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Accordingly, the Group is working towards defining an objective
internal model and analysing all the changes which are needed

to adapt accounting classifications and credit risk impairment
estimation models in force in each unit to the previous definitions.

In principle, the governance structure currently implemented at
both corporate level and in each one of the units, complies with the
requirements set out in the new standards.

Regarding the governance structure, the Group has set up a regular
committee to manage the project governance structure, and a task
force which is responsible for its tasks, and also assuring that the
pertinent responsible teams take part.

Hence, the main divisions involved in the project at the highest level,
and which are thus represented in the project governance bodies,
are Risks, Financial Accounting & Control and Technology and
Operations. Both the Internal Audit division and the External Auditor
are also involved in the project, having shared the implementation
plan and keeping regular meetings about the status of the project.

The project’s main phases and milestones

During this exercise, the Group has successfully completed the
design and development phase of the implementation plan. The
major milestones achieved include:

« Complete the definition of functional requirements as well as the
design of an operational model adapted to the requirements of
IFRS 9.

- Development a training plan for all the staff who could be involved
or impacted with the standards application.

- At the IT environment, the technological needs have been
identified as well as the necessary adaptations to the existing
control environment.

The Group is currently in the implementation phase of the models
and requirements defined.

The objective of the Group at this stage is to ensure an efficient
implementation, optimizing its resources as well as the designs
elaborated in previous stages.

Once the implementation phase is completed, the Group will test
the effective performance of the model through several simulations
and ensuring that the transition to the new operating model meets
the objectives established in the previous phases.

This last stage includes the parallel execution of the provisions
calculation, as a complement to the internal simulations that the
Group has been carrying out during the different phases of the
project and to the participation of the Group in the different impact
assessments that the regulators have carried out.

The Audit Committe is aware of the project and its relevance for
the Group and is expected the follow on the project to its final
implementation.

- IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (obligatory
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018) - the new standard on the recognition of revenue from
contracts with customers. It supersedes the following standards
and interpretations currently in force: IAS 18, Revenue; IAS 11,
Construction Contracts; IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes;
IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; IFRIC 18,
Transfers of Assets from Customers; and SIC-31, Revenue-Barter
Transactions Involving Advertising Services. Under IFRS 15, an
entity recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle
of the standard by applying the following five steps: identify the
contract(s) with a customer; identify the performance obligations
in the contract; determine the transaction price; allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations identified in the
contract; and recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

At the current date, the Group is assessing the possible impacts
derived from these new standards.

Lastly, at the date of preparation of these consolidated financial
statements, the following standards which effectively come into
force after 31 December 2016 had not yet been adopted by the
European Union:

« IFRS 16 Leases (obligatory for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2019) - this new standard on leases supersedes
IAS 17. IFRS 16 will modify the accounting model that lessees
currently use introducing a single lessee accounting model without
distinguishing between finance leases and operating leases. Under
this model, the lessee is required to recognise, for each leased
asset, a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

In compliance with IFRS 16 a lessee may elect to account for lease
payments of operating leases as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term, or another systematic basis, for both, leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less and containing no purchase
options and leases where the underlying asset has a new value
value less than 5.000 $. The exception for short term leases must
be applied to groups of assets, whereas the exception for low value
leases can be applied asset by asset. For those leases where this
exception does not apply the lessee will recognise a right-of-use
and a lease liability, which may therefore cause fluctuations in
significant ratios and related metrics.

When applying IFRS 16, the Group, from a lessee point of view,
shall take a series of accounting decisions that will have an impact
in the recognisable assets and liabilities amounts and, thus, in the
financial ratios. The decisions we are referring to are associated
with the choice of an alternative upon first-time application, since
IFRS 16 allows alternative accounting treatments.

The Standard allows three different alternatives upon first-
time application; choosing one or another may not only cause
differences during the first year of implementation but also in
subsequent ones, like in any implementation process.

Option 1 consists of applying IFRS 16 with full retrospective effect,
reperforming the comparative information as if the standard had
been applicable to the active lease agreements since they were
recognised. (Full restrospective appliance, in compliance with IAS 8).
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In option 2 comparative information is not restated. Alternatively,
option 2 allows to recognise the cumulative effect of initially
applying IFRS 16 as an adjustment to opening equity at the date of
initial application, 1 January, 2019.

Regarding leases that were previously considered to be operating
leases, liabilities on 1January, 2019 are measured discounting the
residual future cash flows by using the interest rate of the lessor’s
debt at the date of first adoption. Assets are measured likewise
(adjusting the amount for any impairment or accrual previous to
the date of first adoption).

In relation with leases that were previously considered to be
finance leases, assets and liabilities recognised under IAS 17 remain
this way.

Option 3 is similar to option 2, but with the difference that assets
are measured on 1January, 2019 as if the new accounting policy
had always been applied from the commencement of the lease
(discounting the cash flows at the interest rate at the date of first
adoption). Assets are measured at the beginning and, on 1 January,
2019 the amount that remains to be amortized is analyzed. The
difference between assets and liabilities is recognised against
reserves on 1January, 2019.

SalekLease Back operations previous to the date of entry into force
of this standard, will not have retrospective effect in regards with
the recognition of the gain at the commencement of the operation.

The criteria that IFRS 16 sets out for Sale”Lease Back operations,
therefore, will not be applicable. In contrast, they will be registered
as if they were operating lease operations under IFRS 16.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture (without a
defined mandatory effective date) - these amendments establish
that a gain or loss must be recognised for the full amount when the
transaction involves assets that constitute a business (whether the
business is housed in a subsidiary or not). When the transaction
involves assets that do not constitute a business, a partial gain or
loss is recognised, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

Modification of IAS 12 Recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses. — A deferred taxes asset will be recognised

for all the deductible temporary differences only to the extent

that it is probable taxable profit will be available against which

the temporary difference will be utilised, unless the deferred tax
asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction such that: (a) it is not a business combination; and (b) at
the time it was performed it does not affect either the accounting
or the taxable profit (loss).

Modification of IAS 7 Information disclosure initiative. - The
standard rules that an entity shall provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to assess changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both, those derived from
financing cash flows and those that do not involve cash flows.

)

« Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with Customers.
- The Standard rules that at the commencement of a contract, an
entity shall assess the goods or services promised in a contract
with a customer and shall identify performance obligations on the
basis of each transfer compromise with the client: (a) a good or
service (or a group of goods or services) that are different; or (b) a
series of different goods or services that are substantially equal and
have the same transfer pattern to the client.

Modification to the IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions — The amendments address

the following areas: (a) Accounting for the effects that the
requirements for the consolidation of the grant have in cash-settled
share-based payment transactions. (b) Classification of share-based
payment transactions with net settlement features for the tax
withholding obligations; and (c) Accounting for modifications of
share-based payment transactions terms and conditions from cash-
settled to equity-settled payment transactions.

Maodification to the IFRS 4 by applying IFRS g Financial instruments
with IFRS 4 Insurance contracts.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle -
Contains minor amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28.

New interpretation to IFRIC 22 on Foreign currency transactions
and advance considerations - When an entity reports a payment of
advance consideration in order to recognise the profits associated
to the income statement, it shall recognise both the consideration
received as a non-monetary liability (deferred income or contract
liabilities) in the statement of financial position at the exchange
rate obtained according to the IAS 21 The Effects of changes in
foreign exchange rates.

When the deferred incomes are subsequently recognised in the
income statement as incomes, the issue is raised on whether its
measurement should reflect: the amount at which the deferred
income was originally recognised, namely, when the consideration
was originally received; or the consideration amount received is
translated to the existing exchange rate on the date when the
non-monetary element is generated as income in the income
statement, generating an exchange gain or loss that reflects the
difference between the amount of the consideration translated to
(i) the exchange rate in force in the moment of its receipt and (ii)
to the exchange rate | force when it is recognised in the income
statement as a profit or loss.

 Modification of IAS 40 regarding Transfers of investment
properties - Changes are made to the existing requirements or
provide with some additional guidance on the implementation of
such requirements.

The Group is currently analysing the possible effects of these new
standards and interpretations.

All accounting policies and measurement bases with a material effect
on the consolidated financial statements for 2016 were applied in
their preparation.
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¢) Use of critical estimates

The consolidated results and the determination of consolidated
equity are sensitive to the accounting policies, measurement bases
and estimates used by the directors of the Bank in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The main accounting policies and
measurement bases are set forth in Note 2.

In the consolidated financial statements estimates were occasionally
made by the senior management of the Bank and of the consolidated
entities in order to quantify certain of the assets, liabilities, income,
expenses and obligations reported herein. These estimates, which
were made on the basis of the best information available, relate
basically to the following:

 The impairment losses on certain assets (see Notes 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13,
16,17 and 18);

« The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of the post-
employment benefit liabilities and commitments and other
obligations (see Note 25);

« The useful life of the tangible and intangible assets (see Notes 16
and 18);

* The measurement of goodwill arising on consolidation (see
Note 17);

« The calculation of provisions and the consideration of contingent
liabilities (see Note 25);

« The fair value of certain unquoted assets and liabilities (see Notes
6,7,8,9,10,11, 20, 21and 22); and

» The recoverability of deferred tax assets (see Note 27).

Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best
information available at 2016 year-end, future events might make
it necessary to change these estimates (upwards or downwards) in
coming years. Changes in accounting estimates would be applied
prospectively, recognising the effects of the change in estimates in
the related consolidated income statement.

d) Information relating to 2015 and 2014

On 19 November, 2015, Circular 5/2015, of 28 October, of the
National Securities Market Commission, which adapts the models
established in Annex Il of Circular 1/2008, dated 30 January, for the
credit entities, to the new models provided for in Circular 5/2014

of 28 November, of the Bank of Spain, for the years beginning

on or after 1 January 2016. The adaptation of the Circular has
modified the breakdown and presentation of certain headings in the
financial statements, without these changes being significant. The
information for the years 2015 and 2014 has been re-classified under
this Circular in a way that is comparative.

As required by the applicable accounting standards, the balances
relating to the segment reporting disclosed in Note 52 for the year

ended 31 December 2014 were adjusted with respect to those shown
in the consolidated financial statements for 2016 and 2015, as a result
of the amendments to the management and presentation criteria
mentioned in that note.

In 2014 the Group recognised the effects of the accounting changes
introduced by the application of IFRIC 21, Levies, which amended
the accounting for the contributions made by Santander UK to the
Financial Services Compensation Scheme, as well as for those made
by the Spanish financial institutions in the Group to the Deposit
Guarantee Fund. The consolidated statements of changes in total
equity for 2014 includes the impact on equity at the beginning of
each of those years arising from the retrospective application of the
aforementioned interpretation, which gave rise to a reduction in
equity of EUR 260 million at 1 January 2014 .

Therefore, the information for the years ending to 2015 and 2014
contained in these notes to the consolidated financial statements
is presented with the information relating to 2016 for comparison
purposes only.

In order to interpret the changes in the balances with respect

to December 2016, it is necessary to take into consideration the
exchange rate effect arising from the volume of foreign currency
balances held by the Group in view of its geographic diversity (see
Note 51.b) and the impact of the appreciation/depreciation of the
various currencies against the euro in 2016, based on the exchange
rates at the end of 2016: Mexican peso (-13.12%), US dollar (+3.28%),
Brazilian real (+25.69%), sterling pound (-14.28%), Chilean peso
(+9.35%) and Polish zloty (-3.32%).

e) Capital management

i. Regulatory and economic capital
The Group’s capital management is performed at regulatory and
economic levels.

The aim is to secure the Group’s solvency and guarantee its
economic capital adequacy and its compliance with regulatory
requirements, as well as an efficient use of capital.

To this end, the regulatory and economic capital figures and their
associated metrics RORWA (return on risk-weighted assets), RORAC
return on risk-adjusted capital and value creation of each business
unit- are generated, analysed and reported to the relevant governing
bodies on a regular basis.

Within the framework of the internal capital adequacy assessment
process (Pillar 11 of the Basel Capital Accord), the Group uses an
economic capital measurement model with the objective of ensuring
that there is sufficient capital available to support all the risks of

its activity in various economic scenarios, with the solvency levels
agreed upon by the Group; at the same time the Group assesses,
also in the various scenarios, whether it meets the regulatory capital
ratio requirements.

In order to adequately manage the Group’s capital, it is essential

to estimate and analyse future needs, in anticipation of the various
phases of the business cycle. Projections of regulatory and economic
capital are made based on the budgetary information (balance sheet,
income statement, etc.) and the macroeconomic scenarios defined
by the Group’s economic research service. These estimates are used
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by the Group as a reference when planning the management actions
(issues, securitisations, etc.) required to achieve its capital targets.

In addition, certain stress scenarios are simulated in order to assess
the availability of capital in adverse situations. These scenarios

are based on sharp fluctuations in macroeconomic variables (GDP,
interest rates, housing prices, etc.) that mirror historical crisis that
could happen again or plausible but unlikely stress situations.

Following is a brief description of the regulatory capital framework
to which Santander Group is subject.

In December 2010 the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
published a new global regulatory framework for international
capital standards (Basel Ill) which strengthened the requirements
of the previous frameworks, known as Basel |, Basel Il and Basel
2.5, and other requirements additional to Basel Il (Basel 2.5), by
enhancing the quality, consistency and transparency of the capital
base and improving risk coverage. On 26 June 2013 the Basel IlI
legal framework was included in European law through Directive
2013/36 (CRD IV), repealing Directives 2006/48 and 2006/49, and
through Regulation 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit
institutions and investment firms (CRR).

The CRD IV was transposed into Spanish legislation through Law
10/2014 on the regulation, supervision and capital adequacy of credit
institutions, and its subsequent implementing regulations contained
in Royal Decree-Law 84/2015. The CRR is directly applicable in EU
Member States as from 1January 2014 and repeals all lower-ranking
rules providing for additional capital requirements.

The CRR establishes a phase-in that will permit a progressive
adaptation to the new requirements in the European Union. These
phase-in arrangements were incorporated into Spanish regulations
through the approval of Royal Decree-Law 14/2013 and Bank of Spain
Circular 2/2014. They affect both the new deductions and the issues
and items of own funds which cease to be eligible as such under this
new regulation. In March 2016, the European Central Bank published
Regulation 2016/445/UE that modifies some of the phase-in dates
applicable to Group. The capital buffers provided for in CRD IV are
also subject to phase-in; they are applicable for the first time in 2016
and must be fully implemented by 2019.

The Basel regulatory framework is based on three pillars. Pillar | sets
out the minimum capital requirements to be met, and provides for
the possibility of using internal ratings and models (the Advanced
Internal Ratings-Based (AIRB) approach) in the calculation of risk-
weighted exposures. The aim is to render regulatory requirements
more sensitive to the risks actually borne by entities in carrying on
their business activities. Pillar Il establishes a supervisory review
system to improve internal risk management and internal capital
adequacy assessment based on the risk profile. Lastly, Pillar 111
defines the elements relating to disclosures and market discipline.

At 31 December 2016 the Group met the minimum capital
requirements established by current legislation (Note 54).

&

ii. Plan for the roll-out of advanced approaches and
authorisation from the supervisory authorities

The Group intends to adopt, over the next few years, the
advanced internal ratings-based (AIRB) approach under Basel I
for substantially all its banks, until the percentage of exposure

of the loan portfolio covered by this approach exceeds 9o%.

The commitment assumed before the supervisor still implies the
adaptation of advanced models within the ten key markets where
Santander Group operates.

Accordingly, the Group continued in 2016 with the project for

the progressive implementation of the technology platforms and
methodological improvements required for the roll-out of the AIRB
approach for regulatory capital calculation purposes at the various
Group units.

To date the Group has obtained authorisation from the supervisory
authorities to use the AIRB approach for the calculation of
regulatory capital requirements for credit risk for the Parent and the
main subsidiaries in Spain, the United Kingdom and Portugal, as well
as for certain portfolios in Germany, Mexico, Brazil, Chile, the Nordic
countries (Norway, Sweden and Finland), France and the United
States.

In 2016 approval was obtained for the portfolios of the former IFIC
unit integrated in Santander Totta (Portugal) and the Bank is awating
the conclusion of the supervisor validation process for Sovereign
and Institutions portfolios from Chile, Mortgages and most part of
the Revolving from Santander Consumer Germany, as well as retail
portfolio from PSA UK.

As regards the other risks explicitly addressed under Basel Pillar |,
the Group is authorized to use its internal model for market risk for
its treasury trading activities in Spain, Chile, Portugal and Mexico.

For the purpose of calculating regulatory capital for operational
risk, Santander Group has been applying the standardised approach
provided for under the European Capital Requirements Directive.
On January 2016 the European Central Bank authorized the use

of the Alternative Standardised Approach to calculate the capital
requirements at consolidated level for operational risk at Banco
Santander (Brasil), S.A.

f) Environmental impact

In view of the business activities carried on by the Group entities,
the Group does not have any environmental liability, expenses,
assets, provisions or contingencies that might be material with
respect to its consolidated equity, financial position or results.
Therefore, no specific disclosures relating to environmental issues
are included in these consolidated financial statements.

g) Events after the reporting period

No significant events occurred from 1 January 2017 to the date on
which these consolidated financial statements were authorized for
issue.
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» 2. Accounting policies

The accounting policies applied in preparing the consolidated
financial statements were as follows:

a) Foreign currency transactions

i. Presentation currency
The Bank’s functional and presentation currency is the euro. Also,
the presentation currency of the Group is the euro.

ii. Translation of foreign currency balances
Foreign currency balances are translated to euros in two consecutive
stages:

« Translation of foreign currency to the presentation currency
(currency of the main economic environment in which the entity
operates); and

« Translation to euros of the balances held in the functional
currencies of entities whose functional currency is not the euro.

Translation of foreign currency to the presentation currency
Foreign currency transactions performed by consolidated entities
(or entities accounted for using the equity method) not located in
EMU countries are initially recognised in their respective currencies.
Monetary items in foreign currency are subsequently translated to
their functional currencies using the closing rate.

Furthermore:

» Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated
to the presentation currency at the exchange rate at the date of
acquisition.

» Non-monetary items measured at fair value are translated at the
exchange rate at the date when the fair value was determined.

- Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year for all the transactions performed during the year.
When applying this criterion, the Group considers whether there
have been significant changes in the exchange rates in the year
which, in view of their materiality with respect to the consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, would make it necessary
to use the exchange rates at the transaction date rather than the
aforementioned average exchange rates.

* The balances arising from non-hedging forward foreign currency/
foreign currency and foreign currency/euro purchase and sale
transactions are translated at the closing rates prevailing in the
forward foreign currency market for the related maturity.

Translation of functional currencies to euros

The balances in the financial statements of consolidated entities (or
entities accounted for using the equity method) whose functional
currency is not the euro are translated to euros as follows:

- Assets and liabilities, at the closing rates.
- Income and expenses, at the average exchange rates for the year.
- Equity items, at the historical exchange rates.

iii. Recognition of exchange differences

The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign
currency balances to the presentation currency are generally
recognised at their net amount under Exchange differences in the
consolidated income statement, except for exchange differences
arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or

loss, which are recognised in the consolidated income statement
without distinguishing them from other changes in fair value, and
for exchange differences arising on non-monetary items measured
at fair value through equity, which are recognised under Other
comprehensive income - Items that may be reclassified to profit or
loss - Exchange differences.

The exchange differences arising on the translation to euros of the
financial statements denominated in functional currencies other
than the euro are recognised in Other comprehensive income -
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss- Exchange differences
in the consolidated balance sheet, whereas those arising on the
translation to euros of the financial statements of entities accounted
for using the equity method are recognised in equity under Other
comprehensive income - Items that may be reclassified to profit or
loss and Items not reclassified to profit ot loss - Other recognised
income and expense of investments in subsidaries, joint ventures
and associates, until the related item is derecognised, at which time
they are recognised in profit or loss, unless it is not part of items not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences arising on actuarial gains or losses when
converting to euros the financial statements denominated in
the functional currencies of entities whose functional currency
is different from the euro are recognised under equity - Other
comprehensive income - Items not reclassified to profit or loss -
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans.

iv. Entities located in hyperinflationary economies

At 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014 none of the functional
currencies of the consolidated entities and associates located abroad
related to hyperinflationary economies as defined by International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.
Accordingly, at the end of the last three reporting periods it was

not necessary to adjust the financial statements of any of the
consolidated entities or associates to correct for the effect of
inflation.
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v. Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Group hedges a portion of its long-term foreign currency
positions using foreign exchange derivative financial instruments
(see Note 36). Also, the Group manages foreign currency risk
dynamically by hedging its short-term position (with a potential
impact on profit or loss) in order to limit the impact of currency
depreciations while optimising the cost of financing the hedges.

The following tables show the sensitivity of consolidated profit and
consolidated equity to the changes in the foreign currency positions
resulting from all the Group’s foreign currency items caused by 1%
variations in the various foreign currencies in which the Group has
material balances.

The estimated effect on the consolidated equity attributable to the
Group and on consolidated profit of a 1% appreciation of the euro

against the corresponding currency is as follows:

Millions of euros

Effecton Effect on
consolidated equity consolidated profit
Currency 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014
US dollar (1871) (167.2) (114.6) @4.5) (87) (149
Chilean peso 279 237 (233 4.2) (5.0) 6.2)
Pound sterling (184.9) (194.2) (195.0) (10.0) (13.0) (12:6)
Mexican peso (16.2)  (19.7) (18.1) (5.4) (59 6.7)
Brazilian real (1223) (931 (1389 63) (13.6) (3.5)
Polish zloty (31.5) (3280 (340) (33) (39 (3.9

Similarly, the estimated effect on the Group’s consolidated equity
and on consolidated profit of a 1% depreciation of the euro against
the corresponding currency is as follows:

Millions of euros

Effecton Effect on
consolidated equity consolidated profit
Currency 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014
US dollar 1908  170.5 n7.0 4.5 8.8 15.2
Chilean peso 284 241 23.8 43 51 6.4
Pound sterling 1887 1982 1989 10.2 132 12.8
Mexican peso 16.5 201 18.5 5.5 6.0 6.8
Brazilian real 1247 949 1418 6.5 138 3.6
Polish zloty 321 334 34.8 33 40 39

The foregoing data were obtained as follows:

a. Effect on consolidated equity: in accordance with the accounting
policy detailed in Note 2.a.iii, the exchange differences arising
on the translation to euros of the financial statements in the

)

functional currencies of the Group entities whose functional
currency is not the euro are recognised in consolidated equity. The
possible effect that a change in the exchange rates of the related
currency would have on the Group’s consolidated equity was
therefore determined by applying the aforementioned change to
the net value of each unit’s assets and liabilities -including, where
appropriate, the related goodwill- and by taking into consideration
the offsetting effect of the hedges of net investments in foreign
operations.

b. Effect on consolidated profit: the effect was determined by
applying the fluctuations in the average exchange rates used
for the year, as indicated in Note 2.a.ii, to translate to euros
the income and expenses of the consolidated entities whose
functional currency is not the euro, taking into consideration,
where appropriate, the offsetting effect of the various hedging
transactions in place.

The estimates used to obtain the foregoing data were performed
considering the effects of the exchange rate fluctuations in isolation
from the effect of the performance of other variables whose changes
would affect equity and profit or loss, such as variations in the
interest rates of the reference currencies or other market factors.
Accordingly, all variables other than the exchange rate fluctuations
were kept constant with respect to their positions at 31 December
2016, 2015 and 2014.

b) Basis of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are defined as entities over which the Bank has the
capacity to exercise control; the Bank controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated
with those of the Bank. Accordingly, all balances and effects of the
transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated on
consolidation.

On acquisition of control of a subsidiary, its assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities are recognised at their acquisition-date fair
values. Any positive differences between the acquisition cost and the
fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired are recognised as
goodwill (see Note 17). Negative differences are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of acquisition.

Additionally, the share of third parties of the Group’s equity is
presented under Non-controlling interests in the consolidated
balance sheet (see Note 28). Their share of the profit for the year is
presented under Profit attributable to non-controlling interests in
the consolidated income statement.

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are included in
the consolidated income statement from the date of acquisition to
year-end. Similarly, the results of subsidiaries for which control is lost
during the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the beginning of the year to the date of disposal.
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At 31 December 2016 the Group controlled the following companies
in which it held an ownership interest of less than 50% of the
share capital: (i) Luri 1, S.A. and (ii) Luri 2, S.A, also the structured
consolidated entities. The percentage ownership interests in

the aforementioned companies were 31% and 30%, respectively
(see Appendix I). Although the Group holds less than half the
voting power, it manages and, as a result, exercises control over
these entities. The company object of the first two entities is the
acquisition of real estate and other general operations relating
thereto, including rental, and the purchase and sale of properties;
the company object of the latter entity is the provision of payment
services.

The impact of the consolidation of these companies on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements is immaterial.

The Appendices contain significant information on the subsidiaries.

ii. Interests in joint ventures

Joint ventures are deemed to be entities that are not subsidiaries
but which are jointly controlled by two or more unrelated entities.
This is evidenced by contractual arrangements whereby two or more
parties have interests in entities so that decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of all the parties sharing
control.

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity method, i.e. at the
Group’s share of net assets of the investee, after taking into account
the dividends received therefrom and other equity eliminations. The
profits and losses resulting from transactions with a joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest therein.

At 31 December 2016, the Group exercised joint control of Luri 3,
S.A., despite holding 10% of its share capital. This decision is based
on the Group’s presence on the company’s Board of Directors, in
which the agreement of all members is required for decision-making.

The Appendices contain significant information on the joint
ventures.

iii. Associates

Associates are entities over which the Bank is in a position to
exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control. It is
presumed that the Bank exercises significant influence if it holds
20% or more of the voting power of the investee.

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method, i.e. at the Group’s share
of net assets of the investee, after taking into account the dividends
received therefrom and other equity eliminations. The profits and
losses resulting from transactions with an associate are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate.

There are certain investments in entities which, although the Group
owns 20% or more of their voting power, are not considered to

be associates because the Group is not in a position to exercise
significant influence over them. These investments are not
significant for the Group and are recognised under Financial assets
available-for-sale.

The Appendices contain significant information on the associates.

iv. Structured entities

When the Group incorporates entities, or holds ownership interests
therein, to enable its customers to access certain investments, or for
the transfer of risks or other purposes (also called structured entities
since the voting or similar power is not a key factor in deciding who
controls the entity), the Group determines, using internal criteria and
procedures and taking into consideration the applicable legislation,
whether control (as defined above) exists and, therefore, whether
these entities should be consolidated. Specifically, for those entities
to which this policy applies (mainly investment funds and pension
funds), the Group analyses the following factors:

- Percentage of ownership held by the Group; 20% is established as
the general threshold.

« Identification of the fund manager, and verification as to whether
it is a company controlled by the Group since this could affect the
Group’s ability to direct the relevant activities.

Existence of agreements between investors that might require
decisions to be taken jointly by the investors, rather than by the
fund manager.

Existence of currently exercisable removal rights (possibility of
removing the manager from his position) since the existence of
such rights might limit the manager’s power over the fund, and it
may be concluded that the manager is acting as an agent of the
investors.

Analysis of the fund manager’s remuneration regime, taking into
consideration that a remuneration regime that is proportionate
to the service rendered does not, generally, create exposure

of such importance as to indicate that the manager is acting

as the principal. Conversely, if the remuneration regime is not
proportionate to the service rendered, this might give rise to an
exposure that would lead the Group to a different conclusion.

These structured entities also include the securitisation special
purpose vehicles (“SPV"), which are consolidated in the case of the
SPVs over which, being exposed to variable yield, it is considered
that the Group continues to exercise control.

The exposure associated with unconsolidated structured entities
are not material with respect to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

v. Business combinations

A business combination is the bringing together of two or more
separate entities or economic units into one single entity or group of
entities.

Business combinations whereby the Group obtains control over an
entity are recognised for accounting purposes as follows:

- The Group measures the cost of the business combination, which is
normally the consideration transferred, defined as the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity instruments
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issued, if any, by the acquirer. In cases where the amount of

the consideration to be transferred has not been definitively
established at the acquisition date, but rather depends on future
events, any contingent consideration is recognised as part of the
consideration transferred and measured at its acquisition-date fair
value; also, acquisition-related costs do not for these purposes
form part of the cost of the business combination.

The fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the acquired entity or business, including any intangible assets
which might not have been recognised by the acquiree, are
estimated and recognised in the consolidated balance sheet; the
Group also estimates the amount of any non-controlling interests
and the fair value of the previously held equity interest in the
acquiree.

« Any positive difference between the aforementioned items is
recognised as discussed in Note 2.m. Any negative difference is
recognised under Gains from bargain purchases arising in business
combinations in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwill is only measured and recognised once, when control of a
business is obtained.

vi. Changes in the levels of ownership interests in subsidiaries
Acquisitions and disposals not giving rise to a change in control are
recognised as equity transactions, and no gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement and the initially recognised goodwill is not
remeasured. The difference between the consideration transferred
or received and the decrease or increase in non-controlling interests,
respectively, is recognised in reserves.

Similarly, when control over a subsidiary is lost, the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests and any other items recognised in
Other Comprehensive income of that company are derecognised
from the consolidated balance sheet, and the fair value of the
consideration received and of any remaining equity interest is
recognised. The difference between these amounts is recognised in
profit or loss.

vii. Acquisitions and disposals
Note 3 provides information on the most significant acquisitions and
disposals in 2016, 2015 and 2014.

¢) Definitions and classification of financial instruments

i. Definitions
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity.

An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the issuing entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

A financial derivative is a financial instrument whose value changes
in response to the change in an observable market variable (such as
an interest rate, foreign exchange rate, financial instrument price,

)

market index or credit rating), whose initial investment is very small
compared with other financial instruments with a similar response to
changes in market factors, and which is generally settled at a future
date.

Hybrid financial instruments are contracts that simultaneously
include a non-derivative host contract together with a derivative,
known as an embedded derivative, that is not separately transferable
and has the effect that some of the cash flows of the hybrid contract
vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative.

Compound financial instruments are contracts that simultaneously
create for their issuer a financial liability and an own equity
instrument (such as convertible bonds, which entitle their holders to
convert them into equity instruments of the issuer).

The preference shares contingently convertible into ordinary

shares eligible as Additional Tier 1 capital (“CCPSs”) -perpetual
preference shares, which may be repurchased by the issuer in certain
circumstances, the interest on which is discretionary, and would
convert into a variable number of newly issued ordinary shares if

the capital ratio of the Bank or its consolidated group falls below

a given percentage (trigger event), as those two terms are defined

in the related issue prospectuses- are recognised for accounting
purposes by the Group as compound instruments. The liability
component reflects the issuer’s obligation to deliver a variable
number of shares and the equity component reflects the issuer’s
discretion in relation to the payment of the related coupons. In order
to effect the initial allocation, the Group estimates the fair value

of the liability as the amount that would have to be delivered if the
trigger event were to occur immediately and, accordingly, the equity
component, calculated as the residual amount, is zero. In view of the
aforementioned discretionary nature of the payment of the coupons,
they are deducted directly from equity.

The following transactions are not treated for accounting purposes
as financial instruments:

- Investments in associates and joint ventures (see Note 13).
- Rights and obligations under employee benefit plans (see Note 25).
- Rights and obligations under insurance contracts (see Note 15).

- Contracts and obligations relating to employee remuneration
based on own equity instruments (see Note 34).

ii. Classification of financial assets for measurement purposes
Financial assets are initially classified into the various categories
used for management and measurement purposes, unless they have
to be presented as Non-current assets held for sale or they relate to
Cash, cash balances at Central Banks and other deposits on demand,
Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of
interest rate risk (asset side), Hedging derivatives and Investments,
which are reported separately.
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Financial assets are included for measurement purposes in one of
the following categories:

« Financial assets held for trading (at fair value through profit or
loss): This category includes financial assets acquired for the
purpose of generating a profit in the near term from fluctuations
in their prices and financial derivatives that are not designated as
hedging instruments.

« Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss: This
category includes hybrid financial assets not held for trading that
are measured entirely at fair value and financial assets not held for
trading that are included in this category in order to provide more
relevant information, either because this eliminates or significantly
reduces recognition or measurement inconsistencies (accounting
mismatches) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases, or because a group of financial assets or financial assets and
liabilities is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about the group is provided
on that basis to the Group’s key management personnel. Financial
assets may only be included in this category on the date they are
acquired or originated.

Financial assets available-for-sale: This category includes debt
instruments not classified as Held-to-maturity investments, Loans
and receivables or Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss, and equity instruments issued by entities other than
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, provided that such
instruments have not been classified as Financial assets held for
trading or as Financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss.

Loans and receivables: This category includes the investment
arising from ordinary lending activities, such as the cash amounts
of loans drawn down and not yet repaid by customers or the
deposits placed with other institutions, whatever the legal
instrument, unquoted debt securities and receivables from the
purchasers of goods, or the users of services, constituting part of
the Group’s business.

The consolidated entities generally intend to hold the loans and
credits granted by them until their final maturity and, therefore,
they are presented in the consolidated balance sheet at their
amortised cost (which includes any reductions required to reflect
the estimated losses on their recovery).

Investments held-to-maturity: This category includes debt
instruments with fixed maturity and with fixed or determinable
payments, for which the Group has both the intention and proven
ability to hold to maturity.

iii. Classification of financial assets for presentation purposes
Financial assets are classified by nature into the following items in
the consolidated balance sheet:

« Cash, cash balances at Central Banks and other deposits on
demand: Cash balances and balances receivable on demand relating
to deposits with central banks and credit institutions.

« Loans and advances: Includes the debit balances of all credit and
loans granted by the Group, other than those represented by
securities, as well as finance lease receivables and other debit
balances of a financial nature in favour of the Group, such as
cheques drawn on credit institutions, balances receivable from
clearing houses and settlement agencies for transactions on the
stock exchange and organised markets, bonds given in cash, capital
calls, fees and commissions receivable for financial guarantees and
debit balances arising from transactions not originating in banking
transactions and services, such as the collection of rentals and
similar items. They are classified, on the basis of the institutional
sector to which the debtor belongs, into:

« Central Banks: Credit of any nature, including deposits and
money market operations received from the Bank of Spain or
other central banks.

« Credit institutions: Credit of any nature, including deposits and
money market operations, in the name of credit institutions.

+ Customers: Includes the remaining credit, including money
market operations through central counterparties.

Debt instruments: Bonds and other securities that represent a debt
for their issuer, that generate an interest return, and that are in the
form of certificates or book entries.

Equity instruments: Financial instruments issued by other entities,
such as shares, which have the nature of equity instruments for
the issuer, other than investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or
associates. Investment fund units are included in this item.

Derivatives: Includes the fair value in favour of the Group of
derivatives which do not form part of hedge accounting, including
embedded derivatives separated from hybrid financial instruments.

Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of
interest rate risk: This item is the balancing entry for the amounts
credited to the consolidated income statement in respect of the
measurement of the portfolios of financial instruments which are
effectively hedged against interest rate risk through fair value
hedging derivatives.

Hedging derivatives: Includes the fair value in favour of the Group
of derivatives, including embedded derivatives separated from
hybrid financial instruments, designated as hedging instruments in
hedge accounting.
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iv. Classification of financial liabilities

for measurement purposes

Financial liabilities are initially classified into the various categories
used for management and measurement purposes, unless they have
to be presented as Liabilities associated with non-current assets
held for sale or they relate to Hedging derivatives or Changes in the
fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk
(liability side), which are reported separately.

Financial liabilities are included for measurement purposes in one of
the following categories:

- Financial liabilities held for trading (at fair value through profit or
loss): This category includes financial liabilities incurred for the
purpose of generating a profit in the near term from fluctuations
in their prices, financial derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments, and financial liabilities arising from the outright sale
of financial assets acquired under reverse repurchase agreements
(“reverse repos”) or borrowed (short positions).

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial liabilities are included in this category when they provide
more relevant information, either because this eliminates or
significantly reduces recognition or measurement inconsistencies
(accounting mismatches) that would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on
them on different bases, or because a group of financial liabilities
or financial assets and liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management or investment strategy, and information about
the group is provided on that basis to the Group’s key management
personnel. Liabilities may only be included in this category on the
date when they are incurred or originated.

- Financial liabilities at amortised cost: financial liabilities,
irrespective of their instrumentation and maturity, not included
in any of the above-mentioned categories which arise from the
ordinary borrowing activities carried on by financial institutions.

v. Classification of financial liabilities for presentation purposes
Financial liabilities are classified by nature into the following items in
the consolidated balance sheet:

« Deposits: Includes all repayable balances received in cash by the
Group, other than those instrumented as marketable securities
and those having the substance of subordinated liabilities (amount
of the loans received, which for credit priority purposes are after
common creditors), except for the debt instruments . This item
also includes cash bonds and cash consignments received the
amount of which may be invested without restriction. Deposits are
classified on the basis of the creditor’s institutional sector into:

- Centrals banks: Deposits of any nature, including credit received
and money market operations received from the Bank of Spain or
other central banks.

)

- Credit institutions: Deposits of any nature, including credit
received and money market operations in the name of credit
institutions.

« Customer: Includes the remaining deposits, including money
market operations through central counterparties.

Marketable debt securities: Includes the amount of bonds and
other debt represented by marketable securities, other than those
having the substance of subordinated liabilities (amount of the
loans received, which for credit priority purposes are after common
creditors, and includes the amount of the financial instruments
issued by the Group which, having the legal nature of capital, do
not meet the requirements to qualify as equity, such as certain
preferred shares issued). This item includes the component that
has the consideration of financial liability of the securities issued
that are compound financial instruments.

Derivatives: Includes the fair value, with a negative balance

for the Group, of derivatives, including embedded derivatives
separated from the host contract, which do not form part of hedge
accounting.

Short positions: includes the amount of financial liabilities arising
from the outright sale of financial assets acquired under reverse
repurchase agreements or borrowed.

Other financial liabilities: Includes the amount of payment
obligations having the nature of financial liabilities not included
in other items, and liabilities under financial guarantee contracts,
unless they have been classified as non-performing.

Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of
interest rate risk: This item is the balancing entry for the amounts
charged to the consolidated income statement in respect of the
measurement of the portfolios of financial instruments which are
effectively hedged against interest rate risk through fair value
hedging derivatives.

Hedging derivatives: Includes the fair value of the Group’s

liability in respect of derivatives, including embedded derivatives
separated from hybrid financial instruments, designated as hedging
instruments in hedge accounting.
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d) Measurement of financial assets and liabilities

and recognition of fair value changes

In general, financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised
at fair value which, in the absence of evidence to the contrary,

is deemed to be the transaction price. Financial instruments not
measured at fair value through profit or loss are adjusted by the
transaction costs. Financial assets and liabilities are subsequently
measured at each year-end as follows:

i. Measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are measured at fair value, without deducting any
transaction costs that may be incurred on their disposal, except

for loans and receivables, investments held-to-maturity, unquoted
equity instruments which cannot be reliably measured and financial
derivatives that have those equity instruments as their underlying
and are settled by delivery of those instruments.

The fair value of a financial instrument on a given date is taken to be
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. The
most objective and common reference for the fair value of a financial
instrument is the price that would be paid for it on an active,
transparent and deep market (quoted price or market price). At 31
December 2016 there were no significant investments in quoted
financial instruments that had ceased to be recognised at their
quoted price because their market could not be deemed to be active.

If there is no market price for a given financial instrument, its fair
value is estimated on the basis of the price established in recent
transactions involving similar instruments and, in the absence
thereof, of valuation techniques commonly used by the international
financial community, taking into account the specific features of the
instrument to be measured and, particularly, the various types of risk
associated with it.

All derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value from
the trade date. If the fair value is positive, they are recognised as

an asset and if the fair value is negative, they are recognised as a
liability. The fair value on the trade date is deemed, in the absence
of evidence to the contrary, to be the transaction price. The changes
in the fair value of derivatives from the trade date are recognised in
Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net)
in the consolidated income statement. Specifically, the fair value

of financial derivatives traded in organised markets included in the
portfolios of financial assets or liabilities held for trading is deemed
to be their daily quoted price and if, for exceptional reasons, the
quoted price cannot be determined on a given date, these financial
derivatives are measured using methods similar to those used to
measure OTC derivatives.

The fair value of OTC derivatives is taken to be the sum of the future
cash flows arising from the instrument, discounted to present value
at the date of measurement (present value or theoretical close) using
valuation techniques commonly used by the financial markets: net
present value (NPV), option pricing models and other methods.

Loans and receivables and Investments held-to-maturity are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Amortised cost is understood to be the acquisition cost of a
financial asset or liability plus or minus, as appropriate, the

principal repayments and the cumulative amortisation (taken to

the consolidated income statement) of the difference between

the initial cost and the maturity amount. In the case of financial
assets, amortised cost also includes any reduction for impairment
or uncollectibility. In the case of loans and receivables hedged in fair
value hedges, the changes in the fair value of these assets related to
the risk or risks being hedged are recognised.

The effective interest rate is the discount rate that exactly matches
the carrying amount of a financial instrument to all its estimated
cash flows of all kinds over its remaining life. For fixed rate

financial instruments, the effective interest rate coincides with the
contractual interest rate established on the acquisition date plus,
where applicable, the fees and transaction costs that, because of
their nature, form part of their financial return. In the case of floating
rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate coincides

with the rate of return prevailing in all connections until the next
benchmark interest reset date.

Unquoted equity instruments which cannot be reliably measured in
a sufficiently objective manner and financial derivatives that have
those instruments as their underlying and are settled by delivery of
those instruments are measured at acquisition cost adjusted, where
appropriate, by any related impairment loss.

The amounts at which the financial assets are recognised represent,
in all material respects, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
at each reporting date. Also, the Group has received collateral and
other credit enhancements to mitigate its exposure to credit risk,
which consist mainly of mortgage guarantees, cash collateral, equity
instruments and personal security, assets leased out under finance
lease and full-service lease agreements, assets acquired under
repurchase agreements, securities loans and credit derivatives.

ii. Measurement of financial liabilities

In general, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, as
defined above, except for those included under Financial liabilities
held for trading and Financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss and financial liabilities designated as hedged
items (or hedging instruments) in fair value hedges, which are
measured at fair value.

iii. Valuation techniques

The following table shows a summary of the fair values, at the end of
2016, 2015 and 2014, of the financial assets and liabilities indicated
below, classified on the basis of the various measurement methods
used by the Group to determine their fair value:
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Millions of euros

&

2016 2015 2014
Published Published Published
price price price
quotations Internal quotations Internal quotations Internal

in active Models in active Models in active Models

Markets (Level 2 Markets (Level 2 Markets (Level 2

(Level 1) and 3) Total (Level 1) and 3)) Total (Level 1) and 3) Total
Financial assets
held for trading 64,259 83,928 148,187 65,849 80,497 146,346 67,319 80,774 148,093
Financial assets
designated at fair value
through proﬁt or loss 3,220 28,389 31,609 3,244 41,799 45043 3,670 39,003 42,673
Financial assets
available-for-sale (1) 89,563 25,862 115,425 92,284 27,962 120,246 90,149 23,455 113,604
Hedging derivatives
(assets) 216 10,161 10,377 271 7,456 7,727 26 7,320 7,346
Financial liabilities
held for trading 20,906 87,859 108,765 17,058 88,160 105,218 17,409 92,383 109,792
Financial liabilities
designated at fair value
th rough proﬁt or loss - 40,263 40,263 - 54,768 54,768 - 62,317 62,317
Hedging derivatives
(liabilities) 9 8,147 8,156 400 8,537 8,937 226 7,029 7,255
Liabilities under
insurance contracts - 652 652 - 627 627 - 713 713

1. In addition to the financial instruments measured at fair value shown in the foregoing table, at 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Group held equity instruments
classified as Financial assets available-for-sale and carried at cost amounting to EUR 1,349 million, EUR 1,790 million and EUR 1,646 million, respectively (see Note 51.c).

The financial instruments at fair value determined on the basis

of published price quotations in active markets (Level 1) include
government debt securities, private-sector debt securities,
derivatives traded in organised markets, securitised assets, shares,
short positions and fixed-income securities issued.

In cases where price quotations cannot be observed, management
makes its best estimate of the price that the market would set,
using its own internal models. In most cases, these internal models
use data based on observable market parameters as significant
inputs (Level 2) and, in very specific cases, they use significant
inputs not observable in market data (Level 3). In order to make
these estimates, various techniques are employed, including the
extrapolation of observable market data. The best evidence of

the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is the
transaction price, unless the fair value of the instrument can be
obtained from other market transactions performed with the same
or similar instruments or can be measured by using a valuation
technique in which the variables used include only observable
market data, mainly interest rates.

The Group has developed a formal process for the systematic
valuation and management of financial instruments, which has been
implemented worldwide across all the Group’s units. The governance
scheme for this process distributes responsibilities between two
independent divisions: Treasury (development, marketing and

daily management of financial products and market data) and Risk

(on a periodic basis, validation of pricing models and market data,
computation of risk metrics, new transaction approval policies,
management of market risk and implementation of fair value
adjustment policies).

The approval of new products follows a sequence of steps (request,
development, validation, integration in corporate systems and
quality assurance) before the product is brought into production.
This process ensures that pricing systems have been properly
reviewed and are stable before they are used.

The following subsections set forth the most important products
and families of derivatives, and the related valuation techniques and
inputs, by asset class:

Fixed income and inflation

The fixed income asset class includes basic instruments such as
interest rate forwards, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps,
which are valued using the net present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted taking into account basis swap and cross
currency spreads determined on the basis of the payment frequency
and currency of each leg of the derivative. Vanilla options, including
caps, floors and swaptions, are priced using the Black&Scholes
model, which is one of the benchmark industry models. More

exotic derivatives are priced using more complex models which are
generally accepted as standard across institutions.
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These pricing models are fed with observable market data such

as deposit interest rates, futures rates, cross currency swap and
constant maturity swap rates, and basis spreads, on the basis of
which different yield curves, depending on the payment frequency,
and discounting curves are calculated for each currency. In the case
of options, implied volatilities are also used as model inputs. These
volatilities are observable in the market for cap and floor options and
swaptions, and interpolation and extrapolation of volatilities from
the quoted ranges are carried out using generally accepted industry
models. The pricing of more exotic derivatives may require the use
of non-observable data or parameters, such as correlation (among
interest rates and cross-asset), mean reversion rates and prepayment
rates, which are usually defined from historical data or through
calibration.

Inflation-related assets include zero-coupon or year-on-year
inflation-linked bonds and swaps, valued with the present value
method using forward estimation and discounting. Derivatives

on inflation indices are priced using standard or more complex
bespoke models, as appropriate. Valuation inputs of these models
consider inflation-linked swap spreads observable in the market and
estimations of inflation seasonality, on the basis of which a forward
inflation curve is calculated. Also, implied volatilities taken from
zero-coupon and year-on-year inflation options are also inputs for
the pricing of more complex derivatives.

Equity and foreign exchange

The most important products in these asset classes are forward and
futures contracts; they also include vanilla, listed and OTC (Over-
The-Counter) derivatives on single underlying assets and baskets of
assets. Vanilla options are priced using the standard Black-Scholes
model and more exotic derivatives involving forward returns,
average performance, or digital, barrier or callable features are
priced using generally accepted industry models or bespoke models,
as appropriate. For derivatives on illiquid stocks, hedging takes into
account the liquidity constraints in models.

The inputs of equity models consider yield curves, spot prices,
dividends, asset funding costs (repo margin spreads), implied
volatilities, correlation among equity stocks and indices, and cross-
asset correlation. Implied volatilities are obtained from market
quotes of European and American-style vanilla call and put options.
Various interpolation and extrapolation techniques are used to
obtain continuous volatility for illiquid stocks. Dividends are usually
estimated for the mid and long term. Correlations are implied, when
possible, from market quotes of correlation-dependent products. In
all other cases, proxies are used for correlations between benchmark
underlyings or correlations are obtained from historical data.

The inputs of foreign exchange models include the yield curve for
each currency, the spot foreign exchange rate, the implied volatilities
and the correlation among assets of this class. Volatilities are
obtained from European call and put options which are quoted in
markets as at-the-money, risk reversal or butterfly options. Illiquid
currency pairs are usually handled by using the data of the liquid

pairs from which the illiquid currency can be derived. For more
exotic products, unobservable model parameters may be estimated
by fitting to reference prices provided by other non-quoted market
sources.

Credit

The most common instrument in this asset class is the credit default
swap (CDS), which is used to hedge credit exposure to third parties.
In addition, models for first-to-default (FTD), n-to-default (NTD) and
single-tranche collateralised debt obligation (CDO) products are also
available. These products are valued with standard industry models,
which estimate the probability of default of a single issuer (for CDS)
or the joint probability of default of more than one issuer for FTD,
NTD and CDO.

Valuation inputs are the yield curve, the CDS spread curve and the
recovery rate. For indices and important individual issuers, the CDS
spread curve is obtained in the market. For less liquid issuers, this
spread curve is estimated using proxies or other credit-dependent
instruments. Recovery rates are usually set to standard values. For
listed single-tranche CDO, the correlation of joint default of several
issuers is implied from the market. For FTD, NTD and bespoke CDO,
the correlation is estimated from proxies or historical data when no
other option is available.

Valuation adjustment for counterparty risk or default risk
The Credit valuation adjustment (CVA) is a valuation adjustment
to OTC derivatives as a result of the risk associated with the credit
exposure assumed to each counterparty.

The CVA is calculated taking into account potential exposure to
each counterparty in each future period. The CVA for a specific
counterparty is equal to the sum of the CVA for all the periods. The
following inputs are used to calculate the CVA:

- Expected exposure: Including for each transaction the mark-
to-market (MtM) value plus an add-on for the potential future
exposure for each period. Mitigating factors such as collateral and
netting agreements are taken into account, as well as a temporary
impairment factor for derivatives with interim payments.

LGD: percentage of final loss assumed in a counterparty credit
event/default.

Probability of default: for cases where there is no market
information (the CDS quoted spread curve, etc.), proxies based on
companies holding exchange-listed CDS, in the same industry and
with the same external rating as the counterparty, are used.

« Discount factor curve.
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The debit valuation adjustment (DVA) is a valuation adjustment
similar to the CVA but, in this case, it arises as a result of the Group’s
own risk assumed by its counterparties in OTC derivatives.

The CVA at 31 December 2016 amounted to EUR 643.9 million
(-24.3% less than 2015) and DVA amounted to EUR 390.2 million
(-26.5%). The reductions are due to a generalised fall in credit spread.

In adittion, the Group amounts the funding fair value adjustment
(FFVA); FFVA is calculated by applying future market funding spreads
to the expected future funding exposure of any uncollateralised
component of the OTC derivative portfolio. This includes the
uncollateralised component of collateralised derivatives in addition
to derivatives that are fully uncollateralised. The expected future
funding exposure is calculated by a simulation methodology, where
available. The FFVA impact is not material for the consolidated
financial statements as of 31 December 2016.

Valuation adjustments due to model risk

The valuation models described above do not involve a significant
level of subjectivity, since they can be adjusted and recalibrated,
where appropriate, through internal calculation of the fair value
and subsequent comparison with the related actively traded price.
However, valuation adjustments may be necessary when market
quoted prices are not available for comparison purposes.

The sources of risk are associated with uncertain model parameters,
illiquid underlying issuers, poor quality market data or missing risk
factors (sometimes the best available option is to use limited models
with controllable risk). In these situations, the Group calculates and
applies valuation adjustments in accordance with common industry
practice. The main sources of model risk are described below:

In the fixed income markets, the sources of model risk include bond
index correlations, basis spread modelling, the risk of calibrating
model parameters and the treatment of near-zero or negative
interest rates. Other sources of risk arise from the estimation of
market data, such as volatilities or yield curves, whether used for
estimation or cash flow discounting purposes.

In the equity markets, the sources of model risk include forward
skew modelling, the impact of stochastic interest rates, correlation
and multi-curve modelling. Other sources of risk arise from
managing hedges of digital callable and barrier option payments.
Also worthy of consideration as sources of risk are the estimation
of market data such as dividends and correlation for quanto and
composite basket options.

)

For specific financial instruments relating to home mortgage loans
secured by financial institutions in the UK (which are regulated
and partially financed by the Government) and property asset
derivatives, the main input is the Halifax House Price Index (HPI).
In these cases, risk assumptions include estimations of the future
growth and the volatility of the HPI, the mortality rate and the
implied credit spreads.

Inflation markets are exposed to model risk resulting from
uncertainty around modelling the correlation structure among
various CPI rates. Another source of risk may arise from the bid-offer
spread of inflation-linked swaps.

The currency markets are exposed to model risk resulting from
forward skew modelling and the impact of stochastic interest rate
and correlation modelling for multi-asset instruments. Risk may
also arise from market data, due to the existence of specific illiquid
foreign exchange pairs.

The most important source of model risk for credit derivatives
relates to the estimation of the correlation between the probabilities
of default of different underlying issuers. For illiquid underlying
issuers, the CDS spread may not be well defined.

Set forth below are the financial instruments at fair value whose
measurement was based on internal models (Levels 2 and 3) at 31
December 2016, 2015 and 2014:
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Millions of euros

Fair values
calculated using
internal models at

31/12/16
Level 2 Level 3  Valuation techniques Main assumptions
ASSETS: 146,991 1,349
Financial assets held for trading 83,587 341
Credit institutions 3,220 - Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Customers () 9,504 - Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Debt and equity instruments 798 40  Present Value Method Yield curves, HPI, FX market prices
Derivatives 70,065 301
Swaps 53,499 55  Present Value Method, Yield curves, FX market
Gaussian Copula (b) prices, Basis, Liquidity
Exchange rate options 524 2 Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces,
FX market prices, Liquidity
Interest rate options 5,349 173 Black's Model, Heath- Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX
Jarrow-Morton Model market prices, Liquidity, Correlation
Interest rate futures 1,447 - Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Index and securities options 1,725 26  Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces,
FX & EQ market prices, Dividends,
Correlation, Liquidity, HPI
Other 7,521 45  Present Value Method, Monte  Yield curves, Volatility surfaces,
Carlo simulation and other FX market prices, Other
Hedging derivatives 10,134 27
Swaps 9,737 27  Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves, Basis
Exchange rate options = - Black-Scholes Model FX market prices, Yield curves,
Volatility surfaces
Interest rate options 3 - Black's Model FX market prices, Yield curves,
Volatility surfaces
Other 384 - N/A N/A
Financial assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss 28,064 325
Credit institutions 10,069 - Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Customers (c) 17,521 74  Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves, HPI
Debt and equity instruments 474 251  Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Financial assets available-for-sale 25,206 656
Debt and equity instruments 25,206 656  Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
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Millions of euros

&

Fair values
calculated using
internal models at

31/12/16
Level 2 Level 3  Valuation techniques Main assumptions
LIABILITIES: 136,835 86
Financial liabilities held for trading 87,790 69
Central banks 1,351 - Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Credit institutions 44 - Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Customers 9,996 - Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Debt securities issues = - Present Value Method Yield curves, HPI, FX market prices
Derivatives 73,481 69
Swaps 57103 1 Present Value Method, FX market prices, Yield curves,
Gaussian Copula (b) Basis, Liquidity, HPI
Exchange rate options 413 - Black-Scholes Model FX market prices, Yield curves,
Volatility surfaces, Liquidity
Interest rate options 6,485 21  Black's Model, Heath- FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
Jarrow-Morton Model surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Index and securities options 1,672 46  Black-Scholes Model FX & EQ market prices, Yield curves,
Volatility surfaces, Dividends,
Correlation, Liquidity, HPI
Interest rate and equity futures 1,443 - Present Value Method FX & EQ market prices, Yield curves
Other 6,365 1 Present Value Method, Monte  FX market prices, Yield curves,
Carlo simulation and other Volatility surfaces, Other
Short positions 2,918 - Present Value Method FX & EQ market prices, Yield curves
Hedging derivatives 8,138 9
Swaps 6,676 Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves, Basis
Exchange rate options - - Black-Scholes Model FX market prices, Yield curves
Interest rate options 10 - Black's Model FX market prices, Yield curves
Other 1,452 - N/A N/A
Financial liabilities designated at 40,255 8 Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
fair value through profit or loss
Liabilities under insurance contracts 652 - See Note 15
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Millions of euros

Fair values calculated using internal models at

31-12-15 31-12-14
Nivel 2 Nivel 3 Nivel 2 Nivel3  Valuation techniques

ASSETS: 155,233 2,481 147,965 2,587
Financial assets held for trading 79,547 950 79,583 1,191
Credit institutions 1,352 - 1,020 - Present Value Method
Customers (a) 6,081 - 2,921 - Present Value Method
Debt and equity instruments 650 43 1,768 85  Present Value Method
Derivatives 71,464 907 73,874 1,06

Swaps 52,904 54 55,794 116 Present Value Method, Gaussian Copula (b)

Exchange rate options 1,005 - 1,000 - Black-Scholes Model

Interest rate options 8,276 619 8,385 768  Black's Model, Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model

Interest rate futures 84 - 132 - Present Value Method

Index and securities options 1,585 120 2,420 111 Black-Scholes Model

Present Value Method, Monte

Other 7610 114 6,143 1711 Carlo simulation and other
Hedging derivatives 7,438 18 7,320 -

Swaps 6,437 18 7,058 - Present Value Method

Exchange rate options = = 40 - Black-Scholes Model

Interest rate options 19 - 28 - Black's Model

Other 982 - 194 - N/A
Financial assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss 41,285 514 38,323 680
Credit institutions 26,403 - 28,592 - Present Value Method
Customers (c) 14,213 81 8,892 78  Present Value Method
Debt and equity instruments 669 433 839 602  Present Value Method
Financial assets available-for-sale 26,963 999 22,739 716
Debt and equity instruments 26,963 999 22,739 716  Present Value Method
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Millions of euros

Fair values calculated using internal models at

31-12-15 31-12-14
Nivel 2 Nivel 3 Nivel 2 Nivel3  Valuation techniques
LIABILITIES: 151,768 324 161,890 552
Financial liabilities held for trading 87,858 302 91,847 536
Central banks 2,178 - 2,041 - Present Value Method
Credit institutions 76 - 5,531 - Present Value Method
Customers 9,187 - 5,544 - Present Value Method
Debt securities issues = = = - Present Value Method
Derivatives 74,893 302 76,644 536
Swaps 55,055 1 56,586 49  Present Value Method, Gaussian Copula (b)
Exchange rate options 901 - 1,033 - Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate options 9,240 194 9,816 294  Black's Model, Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model
Index and securities options 2,000 107 3,499 193  Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate and equity futures 101 - 165 - Present Value Method
Present Value Method, Monte
Other 7596 - 5,545 - Carlo simulation and other
Short positions 1,524 - 2,087 - Present Value Method
Hedging derivatives 8,526 n 7,029 -
Swaps 7,971 mn 6,901 - Present Value Method
Exchange rate options - - 2 - Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate options 2 - 14 - Black's Model
Other 543 - 112 - N/A
Financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss 54,757 n 62,301 16  Present Value Method
Liabilities under insurance contracts 627 - 713 - SeeNote15

a. Includes mainly short-term loans and reverse repurchase agreements with corporate customers (mainly brokerage and investment companies).
b. Includes credit risk derivatives with a net fair value of EUR - 1 million at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015 and 2014: positive net fair value of EUR 46 million and EUR 83
million, respectively). These assets and liabilities are measured using the Standard Gaussian Copula Model.

c. Includes home mortgage loans to financial institutions in the UK (which are regulated and partly financed by the Government). The fair value of these loans was obtained
using observable market variables, including current market transactions with similar amounts and collateral facilitated by the UK Housing Association. Since the
Government is involved in these financial institutions, the credit risk spreads have remained stable and are homogeneous in this sector. The results arising from the
valuation model are checked against current market transactions.
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Level 3 financial instruments

Set forth below are the Group’s main financial instruments measured
using unobservable market data as significant inputs of the internal
models (Level 3):

» Instruments in Santander UK’s portfolio (loans, debt instruments
and derivatives) linked to the House Price Index (HPI). Even if
the valuation techniques used for these instruments may be the
same as those used to value similar products (present value in
the case of loans and debt instruments, and the Black-Scholes
model for derivatives), the main factors used in the valuation of
these instruments are the HPI spot rate, the growth and volatility
thereof, and the mortality rates, which are not always observable
in the market and, accordingly, these instruments are considered
illiquid.

= HPI spot rate: for some instruments the NSA HPI spot rate,
which is directly observable and published on a monthly basis,
is used. For other instruments where regional HPI rates must be
used (published quarterly), adjustments are made to reflect the
different composition of the rates and adapt them to the regional
composition of Santander UK’s portfolio.

HPI growth rate: this is not always directly observable in the
market, especially for long maturities, and is estimated in
accordance with existing quoted prices. To reflect the uncertainty
implicit in these estimates, adjustments are made based on

an analysis of the historical volatility of the HPI, incorporating
reversion to the mean.

HPI volatility: the long-term volatility is not directly observable

in the market but is estimated on the basis of shorter-term
quoted prices and by making an adjustment to reflect the
existing uncertainty, based on the standard deviation of historical
volatility over various time periods.

Mortality rates: these are based on published official tables and
adjusted to reflect the composition of the customer portfolio for
this type of product at Santander UK.

Illiquid CDOs and CLOs in the portfolio of the treasury unit in
Madrid. These are measured by grouping t